GOLGI PATHOLOGY IN NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES

EDITED BY: Catherine Rabouille and Georg Haase PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neuroscience







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2016 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-757-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-757-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**





"Memory Foam Pullover" (top and cover) by textil designer Nadine Goepfert (collection "The Garments May Vary", 2013) shows resemblance to the Golgi apparatus. Website http://nadinegoepfert.com

3D modeling of the Golgi apparatus (bottom) by biomed expert Dr. Vicente Díaz-Martínez (Web4Bio company) depicts stacked membrane compartments and vesicles associated with the Golgi. Website http://web4bio.com/en/3d-scientific.html

GOLGI PATHOLOGY IN NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES

Topic Editors:

Catherine Rabouille, Hubrecht Institute of the Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences & University Medical Center Utrecht & Department of Cell Biology, UMC Utrecht, Netherlands

Georg Haase, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique & Aix-Marseille University, UMR 7289, Marseille, France

The Golgi apparatus is a central organelle that lies at the heart of the secretory pathway. It ensures post-translational protein modifications such as glycosylation and cleavage as well as protein sorting to neuronal axons and dendrites.

Structural and functional alterations of the Golgi apparatus (fragmentation and atrophy), which are collectively termed Golgi pathology, are now recognized as a constant feature of many neurodegenerative diseases. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying these changes and their precise relevance to neurodegeneration have not yet been completely elucidated.

This eBook contains 13 reviews that address the molecular mechanisms of Golgi pathology in Parkinson and Alzheimer diseases, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and spinal muscular atrophies, and discuss their potential relevance to the pathological loss of neuronal cell bodies, axons and synapses.

Citation: Rabouille, C., Haase, G., eds. (2016). Golgi Pathology in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-757-6



The Golgi apparatus in neurons (panels from upper left to lower right).

Portrait of Camillo Golgi around 1905.

Internal reticular apparatus in ganglion cells partially stained with the black reaction. Original drawing by Camillo Golgi.

Golgi apparatus in nerve cells of mouse cerebral cortex. Original drawing preserved with Golgi's papers.

Original preparation from Golgi's lab showing dorsal root ganglion neurons stained by the black reaction.

3D surface modeling of the Golgi apparatus in a mouse spinal cord motor neuron after immunolabeling for the MG160 glycoprotein (in blue).

Fragmented Golgi apparatus in a cultured NSC-34 motor neuron several minutes after washout of the microtubule-disrupting drug Nocodazole. Golgi elements are labeled by GFP-tagged Mannosidase II (in green) and regrowing microtubules by antibodies against α -tubulin (in red).

Electron microscopy of stacked Golgi membranes and vesicles in a mouse spinal cord motor neuron.

The original Golgi drawings are from the Sistema Museale di Ateneo (Museum for the History of the University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy) and reproduced with the kind permission of Paolo Mazzarello. The immunolabeling and 3D modeling images are from Sarah Bellouze and Georg Haase at Institut de Neurosciences de la Timone, Marseille, France. The electron microscopy image is from Catherine Rabouille at Hubrecht Institute, Utrecht, Netherlands.

Table of Contents

<i>06</i>	Editorial: Golgi Pathology in Neurodegenerative Diseases
	Catherine Rabouille and Georg Haase
<i>09</i>	Diversifying the secretory routes in neurons
	José I. Valenzuela and Franck Perez
16	Nucleation and Dynamics of Golgi-derived Microtubules
	Anna A. W. M. Sanders and Irina Kaverina
23	Alpha-synuclein Toxicity in the Early Secretory Pathway: How It Drives
	Neurodegeneration in Parkinsons Disease
	Ting Wang and Jesse C. Hay
31	Golgi fragmentation in Alzheimer's disease
	Gunjan Joshi, Michael E. Bekier II and Yanzhuang Wang
39	Golgi fragmentation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, an overview of possible
	triggers and consequences
	Vinod Sundaramoorthy, Jessica M. Sultana and Julie D. Atkin
50	Defects in the COG complex and COG-related trafficking regulators affect
	neuronal Golgi function
	Leslie K. Climer, Maxim Dobretsov and Vladimir Lupashin
59	VPS54 and the wobbler mouse
	Thomas Schmitt-John
64	Golgi Fragmentation in ALS Motor Neurons. New Mechanisms Targeting
	Microtubules, Tethers, and Transport Vesicles
	Georg Haase and Catherine Rabouille
78	Cytoplasmic dynein and its regulatory proteins in Golgi pathology in nervous
	system disorders
	Dick Jaarsma and Casper C. Hoogenraad
87	Dominant spinal muscular atrophy is caused by mutations in BICD2, an
	important golgin protein
	Lilian A. Martinez-Carrera and Brunhilde Wirth
96	Alteration of Golgi Structure by Stress: A Link to Neurodegeneration?
	Eduardo A. Alvarez-Miranda, Markus Sinnl and Hesso Farhan
109	The GOLPH3 pathway regulates Golgi shape and function and is activated by
	DNA damage
	Matthew D. Buschman, Mengke Xing and Seth J. Field
115	The Golgi complex in stress and death
	Carolyn E. Machamer





Editorial: Golgi Pathology in Neurodegenerative Diseases

Catherine Rabouille^{1,2*} and Georg Haase^{3*}

¹ Hubrecht Institute of the KNAW (Royal Academy of Sciences) and UMC Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands, ² Department of Cell Biology, UMC Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands, ³ Institut de Neurosciences de la Timone, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique and Aix-Marseille Université UMR 7289, Marseille, France

Keywords: Golgi apparatus, neurodegenerative disease, microtubules, vesicle trafficking, cell death, signaling, axon degeneration, cellular stress

The Editorial on the Research Topic

Golgi Pathology in Neurodegenerative Diseases

The Golgi apparatus is a central organelle that lies at the heart of the secretory pathway sustaining the delivery of proteins from their site of synthesis in the endoplasmic reticulum to their final destination, the extracellular medium, the plasma membrane, and the endo-lysosomal system. It ensures post-translational protein modifications such as glycosylation and proteolytic cleavage and processing and acts as a sorting device including to neuronal axons and dendrites (Horton and Ehlers, 2003; Ye et al., 2007).

The mammalian Golgi apparatus was first described by Camillo Golgi in 1998 as "apparato reticolare interno," "a fine and elegant network within the cell body ... completely internal in the nerve cells" (Golgi, 1898a,b). This large reticulum comprises stacks of flattened membrane bound compartments called cisternae which are laterally linked to form the so-called Golgi ribbon.

Structural and functional alterations of the Golgi apparatus, which are here collectively termed Golgi pathology, are now recognized as a constant pathological hallmark of various neurodegenerative diseases including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), Parkinson, Alzheimer, Huntington, and prion diseases (Fan et al., 2008). In ALS, structural Golgi alterations have been revealed by the pioneering work of Gonatas and colleagues (Mourelatos et al., 1990; Gonatas et al., 1992; Fujita et al., 2002). They manifest as fragmentation—transformation of the Golgi ribbon into disconnected stacks, cisternae, tubules and vesicles, and as atrophy—loss of Golgi membrane material.

These morphological changes are often accompanied by functional Golgi alterations, such as those affecting the anterograde and retrograde transport in the early secretory pathway, both in cellular models of Parkinson (Cooper et al., 2006; Cho et al., 2014), Huntington (Caviston et al., 2007; Pardo et al., 2010), and Alzheimer (Annaert et al., 1999; Joshi et al., 2014) diseases as well as in ALS (Stieber et al., 2004; Soo et al., 2015).

At least in ALS, Golgi pathology manifests as an early pre-clinical feature in degenerating neurons both in affected patients and in animal models (Mourelatos et al., 1996), suggesting that it may be relevant to the disease process instead of just representing an epiphenomenon. Yet, neither the molecular mechanisms underlying the changes in the functional organization of the Golgi apparatus nor their precise relevance to neurodegeneration have yet been completely elucidated.

These important questions got a new boost by the discovery of mutations in genes encoding Golgi-related proteins as direct causes of neurodegeneration. For instance, mutations in Optineurin (Maruyama et al., 2010), VPS54/wobbler (Schmitt-John et al., 2005), and TBCE/pmn (Martin et al., 2002) have been identified in ALS and related motor neuron diseases. Furthermore, mutations in the Parkinson disease-associated proteins α -Synuclein (Cooper et al., 2006;

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Einar M. Sigurdsson, New York University School of Medicine, USA

*Correspondence:

Catherine Rabouille c.rabouille@hubrecht.eu; Georg Haase georg.haase@univ-amu.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 09 November 2015 Accepted: 09 December 2015 Published: 06 January 2016

Citation:

Rabouille C and Haase G (2016) Editorial: Golgi Pathology in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Front. Neurosci. 9:489. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00489 Thayanidhi et al., 2010), LRRK2 (Lin et al., 2009; Cho et al., 2014), Parkin (Shimura et al., 1999; Kubo et al., 2001), and VPS35 (McGough et al., 2014; Zavodszky et al., 2014; Malik et al., 2015) have been shown to affect Golgi structure or transport processes to and from the Golgi.

Furthermore, the recognition of Golgi-derived microtubules and their specific functions, the better understanding of Golgi transport processes, the recognition of the Golgi apparatus as a sensor of cellular stress and as trigger of Golgi-specific cell death pathways provide new hints to the molecular mechanisms underlying Golgi pathology.

To cover these emerging themes, this Frontiers Research Topic is organized as follows. The issue starts with a summary on Golgi functional organization in neurons (Valenzuela and Perez) and the relation of this organelle with microtubules (Sanders and Kaverina).

This is followed by pathological, genetic, and mechanistic descriptions of the major neurodegenerative diseases including Parkinson disease (Wang and Hay), Alzheimer disease by Wang and colleagues (Joshi et al.) and ALS by Atkin and colleagues (Sundaramoorthy et al.). The Research topic then focuses on Golgi fragmentation brought about by defects in vesicle biogenesis and dynamics to and through the Golgi by Lupashin and colleagues (Climer et al.) and by Schmitt-John, including those caused by defects in Golgi-derived microtubules in ALS (Haase and Rabouille) and microtubule-dependent motors in proximal SMA (Jaarsma and Hoogenraad; Wirth and Martinez-Carrera).

The third part of this issue starts by posing the hypothesis of Farhan and colleagues that cellular stress can be the cause of Golgi fragmentation, which in turn amplifies cellular stress and leads to neurodegeneration (Alvarez-Miranda et al.). This is argued by reviews on the effect of DNA damage on the Golgi by Field and colleagues (Buschman et al.) and on the role of the Golgi as a cell death trigger (Machamer).

Future studies on Golgi pathology in neurodegenerative diseases will continue to benefit not only from conceptual advances but also from new technical developements that have been gigantic since Golgi's original description of the black reaction (tissue hardening with potassium dichromate and cell staining by silver impregnation) (Mazzarello et al., 2009).

REFERENCES

- Altan-Bonnet, N., Sougrat, R., Liu, W., Snapp, E. L., Ward, T., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (2006). Golgi inheritance in mammalian cells is mediated through endoplasmic reticulum export activities. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 17, 990–1005. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E05-02-0155
- Annaert, W. G., Levesque, L., Craessaerts, K., Dierinck, I., Snellings, G., Westaway, D., et al. (1999). Presenilin 1 controls gamma-secretase processing of amyloid precursor protein in pre-golgi compartments of hippocampal neurons. *J. Cell Biol.* 147, 277–294. doi: 10.1083/jcb.147.2.277
- Bellouze, S., Schaefer, M. K., Buttigieg, D., Baillat, G., Rabouille, C., and Haase, G. (2014). Golgi fragmentation in pmn mice is due to a defective ARF1/TBCE cross-talk that coordinates COPI vesicle formation and tubulin polymerization. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 5961–5975. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ ddu320

Electron microscopy has been used to unravel Golgi fragmentation (Mourelatos et al., 1996) and in particular the Golgi fragmentation into tubules and vesicles observed in degenerating motor neurons (Bellouze et al., 2014), and its resolution may be further improved in tissues prepared by high pressure freezing (Walther et al., 2013). 3D reconstructions of the Golgi and its microtubules (Marsh et al., 2001; Efimov et al., 2007) may illustrate pathological changes in their intricate connections.

Golgi fragmentation can also be monitored by live imaging (Altan-Bonnet et al., 2006), and super resolution microscopy (Betzig et al., 2006; Lippincott-Schwartz and Manley, 2009) may help refining the process. Last, system biology approches may shed light on new pathways connecting Golgi fragmentation to neurodegeneration by identifying novel gene networks (Alvarez-Miranda et al.).

However, this field faces further challenges. It will be crucial to determine whether Golgi pathology is contributory, causative or homeostatic in neurodegeneration. In particular, it is important to understand whether Golgi alterations are linked to axonal degeneration and synapse loss or dysfunction.

It will also be crucial to analyze whether Golgi pathology in each neurodegenerative disease is restricted to the neuron types that are specifically affected, i.e., motor neurons in ALS, dopaminergic neurons in PD, striatal neurons in Huntington. If so, what may be the corresponding mechanisms of vulnerability and resistance?

Furthermore, we will need to determine whether Golgi alterations in degenerating neurons impact on the function of their non-neuronal cellular neighbors, including astrocytes, microglia and Schwann cells. Can this provide a potential explanation for the non-cell autonomous disease spread observed in numerous neurodegenerative diseases?

Finally and most importantly, can our burgeoning knowledge on the molecular mechanisms of Golgi pathology in neurodegenerative diseases be translated into earlier disease diagnosis and new therapies for these severe and hitherto untreatable disorders?

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CR and GH prepared and wrote the manuscript.

- Betzig, E., Patterson, G. H., Sougrat, R., Lindwasser, O. W., Olenych, S., Bonifacino, J. S., et al. (2006). Imaging intracellular fluorescent proteins at nanometer resolution. *Science* 313, 1642–1645. doi: 10.1126/science.1127344
- Caviston, J. P., Ross, J. L., Antony, S. M., Tokito, M., and Holzbaur, E. L. (2007). Huntingtin facilitates dynein/dynactin-mediated vesicle transport. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 10045–10050. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0610 628104
- Cho, H. J., Yu, J., Xie, C., Rudrabhatla, P., Chen, X., Wu, J., et al. (2014). Leucinerich repeat kinase 2 regulates Sec16A at ER exit sites to allow ER-Golgi export. *EMBO J.* 33, 2314–2331. doi: 10.15252/embj.201487807
- Cooper, A. A., Gitler, A. D., Cashikar, A., Haynes, C. M., Hill, K. J., Bhullar, B., et al. (2006). Alpha-synuclein blocks ER-Golgi traffic and Rab1 rescues neuron loss in Parkinson's models. *Science* 313, 324–328. doi: 10.1126/science.1129462
- Efimov, A., Kharitonov, A., Efimova, N., Loncarek, J., Miller, P. M., Andreyeva, N., et al. (2007). Asymmetric CLASP-dependent nucleation of noncentrosomal

microtubules at the trans-Golgi network. Dev. Cell 12, 917-930. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.04.002

- Fan, J., Hu, Z., Zeng, L., Lu, W., Tang, X., Zhang, J., et al. (2008). Golgi apparatus and neurodegenerative diseases. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 26, 523–534. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2008.05.006
- Fujita, Y., Okamoto, K., Sakurai, A., Kusaka, H., Aizawa, H., Mihara, B., et al. (2002). The Golgi apparatus is fragmented in spinal cord motor neurons of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with basophilic inclusions. *Acta Neuropathol.* (*Berl.*) 103, 243–247. doi: 10.1007/s004010100461
- Golgi, C. (1898a). Sur la structure des cellules nerveuses. Arch. Ital. Biol. 30, 60-71.
- Golgi, C. (1898b). Interno alle struttura delle cellule nervose. *Boll. Soc. Med. Chir. Pavia* 13, 1–14.
- Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., Mourelatos, Z., Chen, Y., Gonatas, J. O., Appel, S. H., et al. (1992). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 140, 731–737.
- Horton, A. C., and Ehlers, M. D. (2003). Neuronal polarity and trafficking. *Neuron* 40, 277–295. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00629-9
- Joshi, G., Chi, Y., Huang, Z., and Wang, Y. (2014). Abeta-induced Golgi fragmentation in Alzheimer's disease enhances Abeta production. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, E1230–E1239. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1320192111
- Kubo, S. I., Kitami, T., Noda, S., Shimura, H., Uchiyama, Y., Asakawa, S., et al. (2001). Parkin is associated with cellular vesicles. *J. Neurochem.* 78, 42–54. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00364.x
- Lin, X., Parisiadou, L., Gu, X. L., Wang, L., Shim, H., Sun, L., et al. (2009). Leucinerich repeat kinase 2 regulates the progression of neuropathology induced by Parkinson's-disease-related mutant alpha-synuclein. *Neuron* 64, 807–827. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.11.006
- Lippincott-Schwartz, J., and Manley, S. (2009). Putting super-resolution fluorescence microscopy to work. Nat. Methods 6, 21–23. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.f.233
- Malik, B. R., Godena, V. K., and Whitworth, A. J. (2015). VPS35 pathogenic mutations confer no dominant toxicity but partial loss of function in Drosophila and genetically interact with parkin. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 24, 6106–6117. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv322
- Marsh, B. J., Mastronarde, D. N., Buttle, K. F., Howell, K. E., and McIntosh, J. R. (2001). Organellar relationships in the Golgi region of the pancreatic beta cell line, HIT-T15, visualized by high resolution electron tomography. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 2399–2406. doi: 10.1073/pnas.051631998
- Martin, N., Jaubert, J., Gounon, P., Salido, E., Haase, G., Szatanik, M., et al. (2002). A missense mutation in Tbce causes progressive motor neuronopathy in mice. *Nat. Genet.* 32, 443–447. doi: 10.1038/ng1016
- Maruyama, H., Morino, H., Ito, H., Izumi, Y., Kato, H., Watanabe, Y., et al. (2010). Mutations of optineurin in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature*. 7295, 223–226. doi: 10.1038/nature08971
- Mazzarello, P., Garbarino, C., and Calligaro, A. (2009). How Camillo Golgi became "the Golgi." FEBS Lett. 583, 3732–3737. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009. 10.018
- McGough, I. J., Steinberg, F., Jia, D., Barbuti, P. A., McMillan, K. J., Heesom, K. J., et al. (2014). Retromer binding to FAM21 and the WASH complex is perturbed by the Parkinson disease-linked VPS35(D620N) mutation. *Curr. Biol.* 24, 1670–1676. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.06.024
- Mourelatos, Z., Adler, H., Hirano, A., Donnenfeld, H., Gonatas, J. O., and Gonatas, N. K. (1990). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of motor neurons in

amyotrophic lateral sclerosis revealed by organelle-specific antibodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 4393–4395. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.11.4393

- Mourelatos, Z., Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., Gurney, M. E., and Dal Canto, M. C. (1996). The Golgi apparatus of spinal cord motor neurons in transgenic mice expressing mutant Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase becomes fragmented in early, preclinical stages of the disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 5472–5477. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.11.5472
- Pardo, R., Molina-Calavita, M., Poizat, G., Keryer, G., Humbert, S., and Saudou, F. (2010). pARIS-htt: an optimised expression platform to study huntingtin reveals functional domains required for vesicular trafficking. *Mol. Brain* 3:17. doi: 10.1186/1756-6606-3-17
- Schmitt-John, T., Drepper, C., Mussmann, A., Hahn, P., Kuhlmann, M., Thiel, C., et al. (2005). Mutation of Vps54 causes motor neuron disease and defective spermiogenesis in the wobbler mouse. *Nat. Genet.* 37, 1213–1215. doi: 10.1038/ng1661
- Shimura, H., Hattori, N., Kubo, S., Yoshikawa, M., Kitada, T., Matsumine, H., et al. (1999). Immunohistochemical and subcellular localization of Parkin protein: absence of protein in autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism patients. *Ann. Neurol.* 45, 668–672.
- Soo, K. Y., Halloran, M., Sundaramoorthy, V., Parakh, S., Toth, R. P., Southam, K. A., et al. (2015). Rab1-dependent ER-Golgi transport dysfunction is a common pathogenic mechanism in SOD1, TDP-43 and FUS-associated ALS. *Acta Neuropathol.* 130, 679–697. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1468-2
- Stieber, A., Gonatas, J. O., Moore, J. S., Bantly, A., Yim, H. S., Yim, M. B., et al. (2004). Disruption of the structure of the Golgi apparatus and the function of the secretory pathway by mutants G93A and G85R of Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase (SOD1) of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 219, 45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2003.12.004
- Thayanidhi, N., Helm, J. R., Nycz, D. C., Bentley, M., Liang, Y., and Hay, J. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein delays endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-to-Golgi transport in mammalian cells by antagonizing ER/Golgi SNAREs. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 21, 1850–1863. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E09-09-0801
- Walther, P., Schmid, E., and Höhn, K. (2013). High-pressure freezing for scanning transmission electron tomography analysis of cellular organelles. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 931, 525–535. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-056-4_28
- Ye, B., Zhang, Y., Song, W., Younger, S. H., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2007). Growing dendrites and axons differ in their reliance on the secretory pathway. *Cell* 130, 717–729. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.06.032
- Zavodszky, E., Seaman, M. N., Moreau, K., Jimenez-Sanchez, M., Breusegem, S. Y., Harbour, M. E., et al. (2014). Mutation in VPS35 associated with Parkinson's disease impairs WASH complex association and inhibits autophagy. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 3828. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4828

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Rabouille and Haase. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Diversifying the secretory routes in neurons

José I. Valenzuela^{1,2} and Franck Perez^{1,2*}

¹ Cell Biology Department, Institut Curie, PSL Research University, UMR144, Paris, France, ² Dynamics of Intracellular Organisation, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique - UMR144, Paris, France

Nervous system homeostasis and synaptic function need dedicated mechanisms to locally regulate the molecular composition of the neuronal plasma membrane and allow the development, maintenance and plastic modification of the neuronal morphology. The cytoskeleton and intracellular trafficking lies at the core of all these processes. In most mammalian cells, the Golgi apparatus (GA) is at the center of the biosynthetic pathway, located in the proximity of the microtubule-organizing center. In addition to this central localization, the somatic GA in neurons is complemented by satellite Golgi outposts (GOPs) in dendrites, which are essential for dendritic morphogenesis and are emerging like local stations of membranes trafficking to synapses. Largely, GOPs participation in post-ER trafficking has been determined by imaging the transport of the exogenous protein VSVG. Here we review the diversity of neuronal cargoes that traffic through GOPs and the assortment of different biosynthetic routes to synapses. We also analyze the recent advances in understanding the role of cytoskeleton and Golgi matrix proteins in the biogenesis of GOPs and how the diversity of secretory routes can be generated.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Catherine Rabouille, Hubrecht Institute, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Alfredo Cáceres, INEMEC-CONICET, Argentina Cyril Hanus, Max Planck Institute for Brain Research, Germany

*Correspondence:

Franck Perez, Institut Curie, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique -UMR144, 26 Rue d'Ulm, F-75248 Paris Cedex 05, France franck.perez@curie.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 11 August 2015 Accepted: 18 September 2015 Published: 07 October 2015

Citation:

Valenzuela JI and Perez F (2015) Diversifying the secretory routes in neurons. Front. Neurosci. 9:358. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00358 Keywords: secretory route, endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, Golgi outposts, protein trafficking, neuronal trafficking

Introduction

The directional relay of information in the nervous system requires morphologically asymmetric synaptic contacts. Neurons are highly polarized cells composed of two major functional domains: the somatodendritic compartment, responsible for receiving signals, and the axonal compartment, responsible of transmitting information. In addition, neurons develop a diversity of functional and morphologic subdomains (e.g., dendritic spines, synaptic buttons, Ranvier nodes, etc.), which implies that, throughout their lifetime, neurons need to precisely control their local molecular composition. Neurons mature from small symmetrical progenitors and increase by more than 200 folds their plasma membrane area to reach cellular surfaces more than 10,000 times bigger than a typical epithelial cell (Horton and Ehlers, 2004). The intracellular machinery involved in the acquisition, maintenance and plastic modification of neuronal morphology depends on the proper coordination of the cytoskeleton and the intracellular membrane trafficking.

During neuronal development, fundamental processes such as axonal specification and differential outgrowth of dendrites and axons critically depend on the supply of proteins and lipids through the secretory route. It is composed of well-organized compartments that include the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), the ER-to-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC), the Golgi apparatus (GA) and the trans-Golgi network (TGN), in addition to membranebound intermediates that allow transport between compartments in a sequential and finely controlled way. In morphologically non-differentiated neurons, the selective supply of post-Golgi

vesicles to one particular neurite precedes its specification as the future axon (Bradke and Dotti, 1997). Perturbing the secretory pathway modulates axonal growth. For example, inhibiting the activity of the Sar1 small GTPase, a primary component for the COPII-mediated vesicular export from ER, generates neurons with smaller axons while its overexpression produces neurons with longer axons (Aridor and Fish, 2009). After axon specification, inhibition of the secretory pathway by expressing a GTPase deficient mutant of the Arf1 small GTPase, or by blocking the post-Golgi trafficking using a kinase-dead mutant of protein kinase D1 (PKD1), results in a decrease of dendrites outgrowth (Horton et al., 2005). Interestingly, a genetic screen carried out in Drosophila identified the homologs of Sec23, Sar1, and Rab1 as essentials for dendritic arbors outgrowth, but not for axons (Ye et al., 2007). These proteins are important for the ERto-Golgi transport mediated by COPII vesicles, hence revealing a differential susceptibility of dendrites and axons to perturbations of membrane traffic during development. Inhibition of the secretory pathway in mature neurons still decreases the average total dendritic length, indicating it is required to maintain the dendritic arbor (Horton et al., 2005).

The number and density of neurotransmitter receptors control the potency of synapses. Neurotransmitter receptors supply thus needs to be regulated with a high spatiotemporal precision (Kennedy and Ehlers, 2006). Although endocytosis and recycling of synaptic receptors has been extensively studied, little is known about their site of synthesis and secretory transport. In this context, two neighbor synapses, separated by a few micrometers, may present a very different protein landscape at steady state. For example, one single spine contains between several tens to several hundreds of glutamate receptors. Thus, addition or removal of just a few receptors from the synaptic surface may be enough to elicit changes in the neurotransmission (Newpher and Ehlers, 2008) indicating that a tight control of secretion and endocytosis has to be established. Indeed, the longterm potentiation and the NMDA-induced increase of AMPA receptors (AMPARs) expressed at the plasma membrane directly depend on the secretory transport of AMPARs (Broutman and Baudry, 2001), highlighting the relevance of intracellular trafficking in neuronal physiology.

Here, we analyze the particular organization of the secretory pathway in neurons, the different possibilities of cargo trafficking that it offers and review recent evidences that help to understand how this diversity is generated.

Organization of Secretory Routes in Dendrites

In neurons, the general principles underlying the control of the secretory pathway applies, but the arrangement of secretory organelles presents unique particularities in terms of the enormous distances involved and the distribution of these organelles, particularly the GA (Horton and Ehlers, 2004; Ramírez and Couve, 2011).

As in any eukaryotic cell, the starting point of the secretory route is the ER, where the synthesis of most of membrane

and secreted proteins occurs. Electron microscopy (EM) studies have reported the presence of a continuous endomembrane network of ER that spans the neuronal arborescence including soma, dendrites, axons, and in some cases reaching the inner of dendritic spines (Tsukita and Ishikawa, 1976; Broadwell and Cataldo, 1983; Spacek and Harris, 1997; Gardiol et al., 1999). Regions with a higher complexity of ER network have been described at dendritic branch points and near dendritic spines (Cui-Wang et al., 2012). The ER found in the soma is mainly composed of sheets of ribosome-decorated rough ER, while in dendrites the ER is constituted mostly by tubules of smooth ER running in parallel to the dendritic shaft with only few ribosomes attached (Broadwell and Cataldo, 1983; Martone et al., 1993; Krijnse-Locker et al., 1995; Spacek and Harris, 1997; Cooney et al., 2002). mRNAs translation of transmembrane proteins have been observed in dendrites and specialized compartments such as ERES, have been shown to be functional in the dendritic arbor (Gardiol et al., 1999; Aridor et al., 2004; Holt and Schuman, 2013).

The ERGIC is composed of long-lived structures that constitute sorting stations of anterograde and retrograde cargoes interconnected by highly mobile short-lived elements (Ben-Tekaya et al., 2005; Appenzeller-Herzog and Hauri, 2006). Several ERGIC markers are present in dendrites (Krijnse-Locker et al., 1995; Torre and Steward, 1996; Gardiol et al., 1999) forming stationary and mobile tubulo-vesicular structures whose distribution reaches territories distant from the soma (Hanus et al., 2014).

The GA is the main station of posttranslational modification, maturation and sorting. It consists of a polarized arrangement of stacked cisternae where occurs transport of proteins in lipids emanating from the ER and destined to post-Golgi station and the simultaneous retrograde flow of cargoes toward the ER (Farquhar and Palade, 1998; Johannes and Popoff, 2008). In neurons, as in many animal cells, the GA is found in a perinuclear area. In addition, a set of satellite Golgi outposts (GOPs) is present in around 18% of dendrites of matures neurons (Horton et al., 2005). 70-80% of mature hippocampal neurons display GOPs, which are preferentially localized to first-order segment of the apical dendrite in the cortex or to its corresponding major dendrite in hippocampal neurons in culture (Horton and Ehlers, 2003; Horton et al., 2005; Quassollo et al., 2015). They are discrete structures, discontinuous with the somatic Golgi, and some of them are composed of stacked cisternae (Horton and Ehlers, 2004; Pierce et al., 2001). Markers of cis, medial, and trans Golgi compartments have been detected in dendrites by immunofluorescence and EM (Pierce et al., 2001; Horton et al., 2005). Additionally, ER- and Golgi-dependent protein glycosylation can be carried out in isolated dendrites (Torre and Steward, 1996). Recent evidences point to the existence of punctate single-compartment GOPs (scGOPs) in dendritic shafts of Drosophila neurons in vivo in which cis, medial, and trans cisternae are thought to be disconnected from each other. This contrasts to multi-compartment GOPs (mcGOPs), localized in both shafts and dendritic branch points, which are organized as stacks in a GM130-dependent manner (Zhou et al., 2014). Further research will be needed to decipher whether the proposed scGOPs are transport carriers cycling within the secretory pathway or effectively correspond to *bona fide* GOPs.

The overall organization of secretory organelles in neurons allows the co-existence of two major routes for the secretory trafficking of proteins and membranes in dendrites, namely canonical and local routes that differ in the alternative usage of somatic GA or GOPs, respectively (**Figure 1**; Horton and Ehlers, 2003; Ramírez and Couve, 2011). The canonical trafficking is similar to the trafficking occurring in non-neuronal cells: newly synthesized secretory proteins are transported from the ER to the perinuclear GA where they mature to be sorted in post-Golgi intermediates to their insertion/secretion sites in later compartments (the plasma membrane, endosomes, lysosomes, etc.). In the local route, nascent secretory proteins are locally translated into dendritic ER (dER) structures, or transported inside the dER to peripheral sites. There, they are transported from the dER to satellite GOPs, hence establishing a local trafficking route for these cargoes in the dendritic compartment.

Diversity of Secretory Routes and Cargoes in Neurons

ER-to-Golgi transport has been classically studied using the thermosensitive mutant of VSVG (VSVG^{ts045}), a viral glycoprotein which is retained within the ER at the restrictive temperature of 39.5°C. Switching to the permissive temperature of 32°C enables its rapid export from the ER and synchronous



FIGURE 1 | Diversity of the secretory routes in dendrites. Known and suspected routes to the plasma membrane in dendrites are shown. For simplicity post-Golgi carriers are not shown. In the canonical secretory route (yellow arrows) cargoes can be synthetized and exported from the somatic endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and transported through the ER-to-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) in the cell body to the perinuclear Golgi apparatus (1). Alternatively they can be exported distally in the dendritic ER and use long-haul ER-to-Golgi transport (2, dashed lines) to reach the somatic Golgi apparatus. Several possibilities of local secretory trafficking coexist in neurons (pink arrows): protein cargoes can be synthetized within the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER) in somas and be transported over long-distances through the dendritic smooth endoplasmic reticulum (SER). They can then be preferentially exported from the ER at dendritic branching points (3) or synapses (4) where local zones of ER complexity confine cargo mobility and would favor secretion through GOPs. Cargo proteins can be also synthetized in ER-associated ribosomes in dendrities and transported locally using satellite GOPs. Export to GOPs will occur mainly at dendritic branching points (5) and synaptic contacts (6) where they are enriched and seems to support the dynamics of dendritic arborization and the synaptic delivery of neurotransmitter receptors respectively. Additionally, cargoes can use long-haul ER-to-Golgi transport before reaching GOPs (pink dashed lines). Subsequently, synaptic activity may restrict the scale of post-ER trafficking. Therefore, cargoes can be exported from the dendritic ER far away from GOPs (7) or from the somatic ER and travel in post-ER carriers to GOPs (8). Some more hypothetical secretory routes are also depicted (red arrows): the presence of single-compartment GOPs raises the possibility that particular cargoes may use only one Golgi compartment (cis, medial, or trans) in their way to the plasma membrane (9). Alternatively, they may sequentially use separated Golgi compartments before reaching their final destination (10). These options may increase the diversity of posttranslational modifications patterns of cargoes. Additionally, the ER dynamically explores the neck of dendritic spines, suggesting that cargoes may be transferred directly or indirectly from the ER to synapses within spines (11). Indeed, a specialization of the ER, called spine apparatus, has been reported in spines. Finally, GOPs formation may be driven by fission from the perinuclear Golgi, which would then be transported to remote areas, allowing the transport of large cargo loads within fissioned Golgi stacks to distal dendrites

transport to the cell surface (Presley et al., 1997; Scales et al., 1997). In neurons, live-cell imaging have shown that GFPtagged VSVG^{ts045} is exported from the dER and a fraction of post-ER carriers are fused with GOPs (Horton and Ehlers, 2003), suggesting that protein processing and secretion can be carried out far from the soma. Importantly, blocking Golgi export at 20°C accumulates VSVGts045 in dendritic branching points in primary neurons (Horton et al., 2005; Cui-Wang et al., 2012). Mannosidase II-positive GOPs are enriched in dendritic branching points of Drosophila neurons in vivo and their photoablation inhibits the dynamics of extension and retraction of dendritic branches. This suggests that GOPs locally support the membrane turnover required for dendritic remodeling (Ye et al., 2007), although this may also be explained by an indirect effect on microtubules polymerization in dendritic branching points (Ori-McKenney et al., 2012; Nguyen et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2014). Nevertheless, in mammalian neurons, Golgi-dependent trafficking supports dendrites outgrowth and the complete biosynthetic machinery is enriched in dendritic branch points (Cui-Wang et al., 2012; Horton et al., 2005). Indeed, ER and Golgi export of VSVG^{ts045} occurs preferentially in dendritic branching points (Cui-Wang et al., 2012; Horton et al., 2005) and local ER-release of a light-controlled VSVG leads to its accumulation within branch points, presumably in GOPs (Chen et al., 2013). Moreover, dendritic branching points represent hot spots of exocytosis for VAMP2 (Cui-Wang et al., 2012).

VSVG^{ts045} has been essential to unravel dendritic secretory routes, but it is an exogenous protein that represents only one category of cargo, limiting further physiological interpretations. Diverse cargo proteins needs dedicated routes to specifically manage their transport (Boncompain and Perez, 2013). For example, in contrast to VSVG^{ts045}, the voltage-gated potassium channel Kv4.2, which is crucial for the repolarization phase of action potentials, binds to its auxiliary subunit KChIP1 and traffic in COPI-dependent and COPII-independent post-ER carriers (Hasdemir et al., 2005). In hippocampal neurons, KChIP1 accumulates in GOPs (Hasdemir et al., 2005), highlighting the relevance of studying not only model cargos but also neuronal relevant proteins. Another neuronal cargo is the brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which has major roles in neuron survival, differentiation, dendritic outgrowth, synaptic formation, and memory. At 20°C BDNF localizes in both the somatic Golgi and GOPs (Horton and Ehlers, 2003) suggesting that remote BDNF secretion could locally regulate synaptic remodeling in nearby dendritic territories.

Biosynthesis at- and transport through- the dER is closely linked to local trafficking, constituting an early stage of protein sorting and synaptic regulation of membrane trafficking (Aridor et al., 2004; Jeyifous et al., 2009; Ramírez and Couve, 2011; Cui-Wang et al., 2012; Valenzuela et al., 2014). An example is the subunit α 7 of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, the trafficking of which can be locally coordinated in dendrites ER: at high levels, the Ric3 chaperone promotes ER retention and transport of α 7-receptors within the dER, while at low levels it stimulates the assembly, ER release and surface expression of α 7-receptors (Alexander et al., 2010). Another example is the GABA_B receptor (GABA_BR), an heterodimeric G protein-coupled receptor (GPCRs) that regulates the slow and tonic inhibition in the brain. The GABA_{B1} subunit has an ER retention signal (Margeta-Mitrovic et al., 2000), which allows its long-range transport through the dER by a mechanism that, in addition to diffusion, involves microtubule-dependent transport (Ramírez et al., 2009; Valenzuela et al., 2014). The GABA_BR traffics through both somatic and dendritic Golgi to the somatodendritic membrane (Valenzuela et al., 2014). Visualization of synchronized ER-to-Golgi trafficking of a GABA_{B1} mutant that lacks of the ER retention signals, revealed carriers traveling over a long distance prior to fusion with GOPs, suggesting that local dER export does not necessarily determine a local trafficking through GOPs and that different spatial ranges of ERGIC transport can regulate the local protein supply (Hanus et al., 2014; Valenzuela et al., 2014).

It has been proposed that bidirectional ER-to-Golgi transport constitutes a checkpoint to modulate the balance between local vs. long-range trafficking in dendrites (Hanus et al., 2014). The serotonin receptor 5-HT_{1A}R, which is a main target of psychotropic and antidepressant molecules, is transported to dendrites in a complex with Yip1A, Rab6 and molecular motors Kif5B and dynein (Carrel et al., 2008; Al Awabdh et al., 2012) suggesting that ER-to-GOPs trafficking is necessary for the transport of 5-HT_{1A}R to distal dendrites. It interacts with Yif1B that regulates specifically its anterograde ER-to-Golgi transport (Alterio et al., 2015). Interestingly, the amyotrophic lateral sclerosis related protein VAPB interacts with Yif1A. Although knockdown of either VAPB or Yif1A does not affects 5-HT_{1A}R transport, both proteins are required for the trafficking to dendrites of the transmembrane protein GFP-CD8 and for normal dendrite morphology (Kuijpers et al., 2013).

A fundamental issue is whether canonical and local routes present selectivity for a particular subset of cargoes. For example, AMPARs seems to be sorted apart from NMDA receptors (NMDARs) within the somatic ER. NMDARs are then transported by the kinesin Kif17 in a dER subcompartment as a complex with scaffold proteins CASK and SAP97, which leads to the exclusive fusion of pre-Golgi NMDARs carriers with GOPs (Jeyifous et al., 2009). Consistent with this local route, NMDARs accumulate in dendritic ERES far away from the soma after group I metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) stimulation (Aridor et al., 2004). Activity-dependent control of mRNA splicing or interaction with the chaperone BIP (for NR1 or GluN2A subunits respectively) regulates the supply of NMDARs from the dER to synapses, which is relevant for memory formation (Mu et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2015). In contrast, AMPARs seem to use specifically the canonical secretory route (Jeyifous et al., 2009). This specific sorting seems to depend on the conformation of the MAGUK-family protein SAP97, which associates with AMPARs early in the secretory pathway (Sans et al., 2001). Upon CASK binding, the conformation of SAP97 is altered, allowing its association to NMDARs and their sorting to GOPs (Jeyifous et al., 2009; Lin et al., 2013). ADAM10, the enzyme responsible for the α -secretase cleavage that prevents the formation of β -amyloid in neurons, associates with SAP97 in a protein kinase C (PKC) dependent fashion, which is essential for ADAM10 trafficking from GOPs to synapses, but not from the ER to GOPs (Saraceno et al., 2014). Importantly, regulatory proteins

seem to be involved in the local transport of several cargos. For example, Kif17 participates to the transport of NMDARs, Kv4.2 and VSVG^{ts045} (Setou et al., 2000; Chu et al., 2006; Hanus et al., 2014), raising the question of whether Kif17 is a main microtubule-dependent motor for pre-Golgi carriers during local trafficking. It will be interesting to examine if other Kif17 cargoes such as kainate receptors, also use local trafficking (Kayadjanian et al., 2007).

An outstanding question is whether the usage of GOPs is a wide mechanism for dendritic membrane transport. Notably, BDNF, VSVG^{ts045}, and GABA_BRs have been shown to be able to use both canonical and local trafficking paths (Horton and Ehlers, 2003; Valenzuela et al., 2014). An attractive possibility is that synaptic activity modulates the alternative usage of these pathways. In this context, mGluRs signaling locally confines the cargo mobility within the dER, increasing secretion by a mechanism involving PKC and the ER protein CLIMP63 (Cui-Wang et al., 2012). Similarly, ionotropic glutamate receptor activation restricts the spatial range of post-ER carriers transport in a CaMKII and Kif17 dependent fashion. This increases VSVG^{ts045} delivery to the plasma membrane, with a minor effect on cargo diffusion within the dER (Cui-Wang et al., 2012; Hanus et al., 2014), revealing a functional link between synaptic activity and the early secretory pathway in dendrites.

Generating the Trafficking Diversity: GOPs Biogenesis

GOPs formation is developmentally regulated in hippocampal neurons, meaning that it steadily increases during neuronal growth and differentiation (Horton and Ehlers, 2003; Horton et al., 2005). Two main options could explain the biogenesis of GOPs: (i) a local GOPs production from the dER or (ii) a somatic Golgi fragmentation and subsequent dispersion into dendrites. Recently, it has been shown that GOPs destined to the major dendrite are generated by a sequential process that involves polarized deployment and fission of tubules derived from the somatic GA, which are then transported and condensed in dendrites (Quassollo et al., 2015). In Drosophila neurons GOPs are transported by dynein through their interaction with the golgin Lava lamp (Lva; Ye et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2008). Parkinson's disease-associated kinase Lrrk binds toand phosphorylates Lva, inhibiting GOPs movement due to Lva/dynein dissociation (Lin et al., 2015). GOPs formation is controlled by the RhoA-Rock pathway through key components of the Golgi fission machinery, including the kinases LIMK1 and PKD1 which regulate the activity of the actin dynamizing factor Cofilin, its activating phosphatase slingshot-1, and dynamin-2 (Quassollo et al., 2015). Activation or inactivation of this pathway within the GA regulates GOPs biogenesis.

In *Drosophila* neurons, GM130 is both necessary and sufficient to generate mcGOPs (Zhou et al., 2014). Interestingly, scGOPs move faster than mcGOPs raising the question of whether GM130 is needed for GOPs transport or for condensation in dendrites (Zhou et al., 2014). During GOPs generation, some Golgi-emanating tubules contain markers of proximal and distal cisternae, implying that mcGOPs could be directly derived from the somatic GA (Quassollo et al., 2015). Interestingly, the RhoA-Rock pathway is not involved in Golgi-derived tubule formation, elongation or polarized distribution, suggesting that additional factors regulate these processes (Quassollo et al., 2015). Reelin stimulates Cdc42- or α-pix- mediated GA translocation into the apical dendrite (Matsuki et al., 2010; Meseke et al., 2013). This seems to be essential for apical dendrite orientation and dendritic development, suggesting that the reelin pathway may be involved in polarized Golgi-derived tubule deployment and GOPs generation during development (Meseke et al., 2013; Quassollo et al., 2015). Currently, the mechanisms of GOPs biogenesis in minor dendrites remain unknown. In this context, the overexpression of the Golgi structural protein GRASP65 causes Golgi dispersal into multiple dendrites, without inhibiting secretory trafficking, generating a marked reduction in the polarity of the dendritic arbor (Horton et al., 2005). Thus, Golgi stacking and ribbon linking may modulate GOPs formation in minor dendrites.

Projections

The multiplicity of GOPs compositions confers a range of possibilities for routing different cargoes, contributing to diversify their output in terms of dynamics, localization, and post-translational modifications patterns. How to balance the usage of canonical and local routes and what determines the specific use of local routes, or the trafficking through a scGOP, are outstanding questions. The emerging possibility of in situ detection of de novo synthesis of any interest protein (tom Dieck et al., 2015), in combination with systems that allow trafficking synchronization of specific cargoes (Rivera et al., 2000; Boncompain et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2013) coupled to super-resolution microscopy (Maglione and Sigrist, 2013) will give us an unprecedented opportunity to decipher the diversity of secretory routes in highly differentiated structures like dendrites and axons. A fundamental issue is how trafficking routes contribute to the synaptic function and neuronal physiology, and conversely, how synapses control these secretory routes. Combination of trafficking synchronization assays with optogenetic tools for the local manipulation of synaptic activity arise as suitable approaches to gain a better understanding of how changes in intracellular transport events could lead to changes in cognition, emotions, memory, and learning.

Funding

Institut Curie, CNRS, the French Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR-12-BSV2-0003-01), Fondation Recherche Médicale (DEQ20120323723), LabEx CelTisPhyBio (ANR-10-LBX-0038 part of the IDEX PSL no. ANR-10-IDEX-0001-02; to FP). Long-Term EMBO Fellowship (ALTF 607-2015) co-funded by the European Commission FP7 (Marie Curie Actions, LTFCOFUND2013, GA-2013-609409; to JIV).

References

- Al Awabdh, S., Miserey-Lenkei, S., Bouceba, T., Masson, J., Kano, F., Marinach-Patrice, C., et al. (2012). A new vesicular scaffolding complex mediates the Gprotein-coupled 5-HT1A receptor targeting to neuronal dendrites. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 14227–14241. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6329-11.2012
- Alexander, J. K., Sagher, D., Krivoshein, A. V., Criado, M., Jefford, G., and Green, W. N. (2010). Ric-3 promotes alpha7 nicotinic receptor assembly and trafficking through the ER subcompartment of dendrites. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 10112–10126. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6344-09.2010
- Alterio, J., Masson, J., Diaz, J., Chachlaki, K., Salman, H., Areias, J., et al. (2015). Yif1B is involved in the Anterograde traffic pathway and the Golgi Architecture. *Traffic* 16, 978–993. doi: 10.1111/tra.12306
- Appenzeller-Herzog, C., and Hauri, H. P. (2006). The ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC): in search of its identity and function. J. Cell Sci. 119, 2173–2183. doi: 10.1242/jcs.03019
- Aridor, M., and Fish, K. N. (2009). Selective targeting of ER exit sites supports axon development. *Traffic* 10, 1669–1684. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2009.00974.x
- Aridor, M., Guzik, A. K., Bielli, A., and Fish, K. N. (2004). Endoplasmic reticulum export site formation and function in dendrites. J. Neurosci. 24, 3770–3776. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4775-03.2004
- Ben-Tekaya, H., Miura, K., Pepperkok, R., and Hauri, H. P. (2005). Live imaging of bidirectional traffic from the ERGIC. J. Cell Sci. 118(Pt 2), 357–367. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01615
- Boncompain, G., Divoux, S., Gareil, N., de Forges, H., Lescure, A., Latreche, L., et al. (2012). Synchronization of secretory protein traffic in populations of cells. *Nat. Methods* 9, 493–498. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1928
- Boncompain, G., and Perez, F. (2013). The many routes of Golgi-dependent trafficking. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 140, 251–260. doi: 10.1007/s00418-013-1124-7
- Bradke, F., and Dotti, C. G. (1997). Neuronal polarity: vectorial cytoplasmic flow precedes axon formation. *Neuron* 19, 1175–1186. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80410-9
- Broadwell, R. D., and Cataldo, A. M. (1983). The neuronal endoplasmic reticulum: its cytochemistry and contribution to the endomembrane system. I. Cell bodies and dendrites. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* 31, 1077–1088. doi: 10.1177/31.9.6309951
- Broutman, G., and Baudry, M. (2001). Involvement of the secretory pathway for AMPA receptors in NMDA-induced potentiation in hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 21, 27–34.
- Carrel, D., Masson, J., Al Awabdh, S., Capra, C. B., Lenkei, Z., Hamon, M., et al. (2008). Targeting of the 5-HT1A serotonin receptor to neuronal dendrites is mediated by Yif1B. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 8063–8073. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4487-07.2008
- Chen, D., Gibson, E. S., and Kennedy, M. J. (2013). A light-triggered protein secretion system. J. Cell Biol. 201, 631–640. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201210119
- Chu, P. J., Rivera, J. F., and Arnold, D. B. (2006). A role for Kif17 in transport of Kv4.2. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 365–373. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M508897200
- Cooney, J. R., Hurlburt, J. L., Selig, D. K., Harris, K. M., and Fiala, J. C. (2002). Endosomal compartments serve multiple hippocampal dendritic spines from a widespread rather than a local store of recycling membrane. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 2215–2224.
- Cui-Wang, T., Hanus, C., Cui, T., Helton, T., Bourne, J., Watson, D., et al. (2012). Local zones of endoplasmic reticulum complexity confine cargo in neuronal dendrites. *Cell* 148, 309–321. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.056
- Farquhar, M. G., and Palade, G. E. (1998). The Golgi apparatus: 100 years of progress and controversy. *Trends Cell Biol.* 8, 2–10. doi: 10.1016/S0962-8924(97)01187-2
- Gardiol, A., Racca, C., and Triller, A. (1999). Dendritic and postsynaptic protein synthetic machinery. J. Neurosci. 19, 168–179.
- Hanus, C., Kochen, L., Tom Dieck, S., Racine, V., Sibarita, J. B., Schuman, E. M., et al. (2014). Synaptic control of secretory trafficking in dendrites. *Cell Rep.* 7, 1771–1778. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.05.028
- Hasdemir, B., Fitzgerald, D. J., Prior, I. A., Tepikin, A. V., and Burgoyne, R. D. (2005). Traffic of Kv4 K+ channels mediated by KChIP1 is via a novel post-ER vesicular pathway. *J. Cell Biol.* 171, 459–469. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200506005
- Holt, C. E., and Schuman, E. M. (2013). The central dogma decentralized: new perspectives on RNA function and local translation in neurons. *Neuron* 80, 648–657. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.036

- Horton, A. C., and Ehlers, M. D. (2003). Dual modes of endoplasmic reticulumto-Golgi transport in dendrites revealed by live-cell imaging. J. Neurosci. 23, 6188–6199.
- Horton, A. C., and Ehlers, M. D. (2004). Secretory trafficking in neuronal dendrites. Nat. Cell Biol. 6, 585–591. doi: 10.1038/ncb0704-585
- Horton, A. C., Rácz, B., Monson, E. E., Lin, A. L., Weinberg, R. J., and Ehlers, M. D. (2005). Polarized secretory trafficking directs cargo for asymmetric dendrite growth and morphogenesis. *Neuron* 48, 757–771. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.11.005
- Jeyifous, O., Waites, C. L., Specht, C. G., Fujisawa, S., Schubert, M., Lin, E. I., et al. (2009). SAP97 and CASK mediate sorting of NMDA receptors through a previously unknown secretory pathway. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 1011–1019. doi: 10.1038/nn.2362
- Johannes, L., and Popoff, V. (2008). Tracing the retrograde route in protein trafficking. *Cell* 135, 1175–1187. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.12.009
- Kayadjanian, N., Lee, H. S., Piña-Crespo, J., and Heinemann, S. F. (2007). Localization of glutamate receptors to distal dendrites depends on subunit composition and the kinesin motor protein KIF17. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 34, 219–230. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2006.11.001
- Kennedy, M. J., and Ehlers, M. D. (2006). Organelles and trafficking machinery for postsynaptic plasticity. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 29, 325–362. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.112808
- Krijnse-Locker, J., Parton, R. G., Fuller, S. D., Griffiths, G., and Dotti, C. G. (1995). The organization of the endoplasmic reticulum and the intermediate compartment in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 6, 1315–1332. doi: 10.1091/mbc.6.10.1315
- Kuijpers, M., Yu, K. L., Teuling, E., Akhmanova, A., Jaarsma, D., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2013). The ALS8 protein VAPB interacts with the ER-Golgi recycling protein YIF1A and regulates membrane delivery into dendrites. *EMBO J.* 32, 2056–2072. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.131
- Lin, C. H., Li, H., Lee, Y. N., Cheng, Y. J., Wu, R. M., and Chien, C. T. (2015). Lrrk regulates the dynamic profile of dendritic Golgi outposts through the golgin Lava lamp. J. Cell Biol. 210, 471–483. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201411033
- Lin, E. I., Jeyifous, O., and Green, W. N. (2013). CASK regulates SAP97 conformation and its interactions with AMPA and NMDA receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 12067–12076. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0816-13.2013
- Maglione, M., and Sigrist, S. J. (2013). Seeing the forest tree by tree: superresolution light microscopy meets the neurosciences. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 790–797. doi: 10.1038/nn.3403
- Margeta-Mitrovic, M., Jan, Y. N., and Jan, L. Y. (2000). A trafficking checkpoint controls GABA(B) receptor heterodimerization. *Neuron* 27, 97–106. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)00012-X
- Martone, M. E., Zhang, Y., Simpliciano, V. M., Carragher, B. O., and Ellisman, M. H. (1993). Three-dimensional visualization of the smooth endoplasmic reticulum in Purkinje cell dendrites. *J. Neurosci.* 13, 4636–4646.
- Matsuki, T., Matthews, R. T., Cooper, J. A., van der Brug, M. P., Cookson, M. R., Hardy, J. A., et al. (2010). Reelin and Stk25 have opposing roles in neuronal polarization and dendritic Golgi deployment. *Cell* 143, 826–836. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2010.10.029
- Meseke, M., Rosenberger, G., and Förster, E. (2013). Reelin and Cdc42/Rac1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor αPIX/Arhgef6 promote dendritic Golgi translocation in hippocampal neurons. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 37, 1404–1412. doi: 10.1111/ejn.12153
- Mu, Y., Otsuka, T., Horton, A. C., Scott, D. B., and Ehlers, M. D. (2003). Activitydependent mRNA splicing controls ER export and synaptic delivery of NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 40, 581–594. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00676-7
- Newpher, T. M., and Ehlers, M. D. (2008). Glutamate receptor dynamics in dendritic microdomains. *Neuron* 58, 472–497. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.04.030
- Nguyen, M. M., McCracken, C. J., Milner, E. S., Goetschius, D. J., Weiner, A. T., Long, M. K., et al. (2014). γ-Tubulin controls neuronal microtubule polarity independently of Golgi outposts. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 25, 2039–2050. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E13-09-0515
- Ori-McKenney, K. M., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2012). Golgi outposts shape dendrite morphology by functioning as sites of acentrosomal microtubule nucleation in neurons. *Neuron* 76, 921–930. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012. 10.008

- Pierce, J. P., Mayer, T., and McCarthy, J. B. (2001). Evidence for a satellite secretory pathway in neuronal dendritic spines. *Curr. Biol.* 11, 351–355. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(01)00077-X
- Presley, J. F., Cole, N. B., Schroer, T. A., Hirschberg, K., Zaal, K. J., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (1997). ER-to-Golgi transport visualized in living cells. *Nature* 389, 81–85. doi: 10.1038/38891
- Quassollo, G., Wojnacki, J., Salas, D. A., Gastaldi, L., Marzolo, M. P., Conde, C., et al. (2015). A RhoA signaling pathway regulates dendritic golgi outpost formation. *Curr. Biol.* 25, 971–982. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2015.01.075
- Ramírez, O. A., and Couve, A. (2011). The endoplasmic reticulum and protein trafficking in dendrites and axons. *Trends Cell Biol.* 21, 219–227. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2010.12.003
- Ramírez, O. A., Vidal, R. L., Tello, J. A., Vargas, K. J., Kindler, S., Härtel, S., et al. (2009). Dendritic assembly of heteromeric GABAB receptor subunits in hippocampal neurons. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 13077–13085. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M900575200
- Rivera, V. M., Wang, X., Wardwell, S., Courage, N. L., Volchuk, A., Keenan, T., et al. (2000). Regulation of protein secretion through controlled aggregation in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Science* 287, 826–830. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5454.826
- Sans, N., Racca, C., Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y. X., McCallum, J., and Wenthold, R. J. (2001). Synapse-associated protein 97 selectively associates with a subset of AMPA receptors early in their biosynthetic pathway. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 7506–7516.
- Saraceno, C., Marcello, E., Di Marino, D., Borroni, B., Claeysen, S., Perroy, J., et al. (2014). SAP97-mediated ADAM10 trafficking from Golgi outposts depends on PKC phosphorylation. *Cell Death Dis.* 5:e1547. doi: 10.1038/cddis. 2014.492
- Scales, S. J., Pepperkok, R., and Kreis, T. E. (1997). Visualization of ER-to-Golgi transport in living cells reveals a sequential mode of action for COPII and COPI. *Cell* 90, 1137–1148. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80379-7
- Setou, M., Nakagawa, T., Seog, D. H., and Hirokawa, N. (2000). Kinesin superfamily motor protein KIF17 and mLin-10 in NMDA receptor-containing vesicle transport. *Science* 288, 1796–1802. doi: 10.1126/science.288.5472.1796
- Spacek, J., and Harris, K. M. (1997). Three-dimensional organization of smooth endoplasmic reticulum in hippocampal CA1 dendrites and dendritic spines of the immature and mature rat. J. Neurosci. 17, 190–203.

- tom Dieck, S., Kochen, L., Hanus, C., Heumüller, M., Bartnik, I., Nassim-Assir, B., et al. (2015). Direct visualization of newly synthesized target proteins *in situ*. *Nat. Methods* 12, 411–414. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3319
- Torre, E. R., and Steward, O. (1996). Protein synthesis within dendrites: glycosylation of newly synthesized proteins in dendrites of hippocampal neurons in culture. J. Neurosci. 16, 5967–5978.
- Tsukita, S. I., and Ishikawa, H. (1976). Three-dimensional distribution of smooth endoplasmic reticulum in myelinated axons. J. Electron Microsc. (Tokyo). 25, 141–149.
- Valenzuela, J. I., Jaureguiberry-Bravo, M., Salas, D. A., Ramírez, O. A., Cornejo, V. H., Lu, H. E., et al. (2014). Transport along the dendritic endoplasmic reticulum mediates the trafficking of GABAB receptors. *J. Cell Sci.* 127(Pt 15), 3382–3395. doi: 10.1242/jcs.151092
- Ye, B., Zhang, Y., Song, W., Younger, S. H., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2007). Growing dendrites and axons differ in their reliance on the secretory pathway. *Cell* 130, 717–729. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.06.032
- Zhang, X. M., Yan, X. Y., Zhang, B., Yang, Q., Ye, M., Cao, W., et al. (2015). Activity-induced synaptic delivery of the GluN2A-containing NMDA receptor is dependent on endoplasmic reticulum chaperone Bip and involved in fear memory. *Cell Res.* 25, 818–836. doi: 10.1038/cr.2015.75
- Zheng, Y., Wildonger, J., Ye, B., Zhang, Y., Kita, A., Younger, S. H., et al. (2008). Dynein is required for polarized dendritic transport and uniform microtubule orientation in axons. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10, 1172–1180. doi: 10.1038/ncb1777
- Zhou, W., Chang, J., Wang, X., Savelieff, M. G., Zhao, Y., Ke, S., et al. (2014). GM130 is required for compartmental organization of dendritic golgi outposts. *Curr. Biol.* 24, 1227–1233. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.04.008

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Valenzuela and Perez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Nucleation and Dynamics of Golgi-derived Microtubules

Anna A. W. M. Sanders and Irina Kaverina*

Department of Cell and Developmental Biology, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, TN, USA

Integrity of the Golgi apparatus requires the microtubule (MT) network. A subset of MTs originates at the Golgi itself, which in this case functions as a MT-organizing center (MTOC). Golgi-derived MTs serve important roles in post-Golgi trafficking, maintenance of Golgi integrity, cell polarity and motility, as well as cell type-specific functions, including neurite outgrowth/branching. Here, we discuss possible models describing the formation and dynamics of Golgi-derived MTs. How Golgi-derived MTs are formed is not fully understood. A widely discussed model implicates that the critical step of the process is recruitment of molecular factors, which drive MT nucleation (γ -tubulin ring complex, or y-TuRC), to the Golgi membrane via specific scaffolding interactions. Based on recent findings, we propose to introduce an additional level of regulation, whereby MT-binding proteins and/or local tubulin dimer concentration at the Golgi helps to overcome kinetic barriers at the initial nucleation step. According to our model, emerging MTs are subsequently stabilized by Golgi-associated MT-stabilizing proteins. We discuss molecular factors potentially involved in all three steps of MT formation. To preserve proper cell functioning, a balance must be maintained between MT subsets at the centrosome and the Golgi. Recent work has shown that certain centrosomal factors are important in maintaining this balance, suggesting a close connection between regulation of centrosomal and Golgi-derived MTs. Finally, we will discuss potential functions of Golgi-derived MTs based on their nucleation site location within a Golgi stack.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Georg Haase, Carnegie Mellon University, France

Reviewed by:

Adam Linstedt, Carnegie Mellon University, USA Evelyn Ralston, National Institutes of Health, USA

> *Correspondence: Irina Kaverina irina.kaverina@vanderbilt.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 22 August 2015 Accepted: 23 October 2015 Published: 10 November 2015

Citation:

Sanders AAWM and Kaverina I (2015) Nucleation and Dynamics of Golgi-derived Microtubules. Front. Neurosci. 9:431. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00431 Keywords: microtubule dynamics, Golgi-derived microtubules, γ -TuRC, CLASP, microtubule nucleation, Golgi apparatus

INTRODUCTION

The intracellular microtubule (MT) network consisting of polarized alpha/beta tubulin polymer tubes plays important roles in intracellular trafficking, membrane dynamics, and organelle positioning. The textbook view of interphase microtubule organization is a radial array extending from a single juxtanuclear centrosome. Such organization is clearly dominant in proliferating cells where centrosome-based MTOCs are used to build mitotic spindles. Interphase cells, however, often develop non-centrosomal MT arrays. It is especially characteristic for differentiated cells that have specific function and morphology. In most specialized cell types, radial MT geometry is not ideal for precise delivery of cargos to specific cellular locations. Differentiation-related non-centrosomal microtubule networks have been described for more than 25 years; yet they remain understudied. In the last few years, the research field has started to understand the mechanisms that rearrange MTs in specialized cells and their functional significance. Non-centrosomal MT populations arise when MT-nucleating and/or stabilizing factors are

concentrated at cellular scaffolds alternative to the traditional scaffold (pericentrosomal material). In many cell types the role of scaffold can be acquired by the Golgi apparatus membrane, and non-centrosomal MTs are derived from the Golgi (Chabin-Brion et al., 2001; Efimov et al., 2007; Ori-Mckenney et al., 2012; Oddoux et al., 2013). Evolutionally, it can be explained by the convenience of direct association of MT tracks with the major cellular sorting and trafficking facility. Indeed, Golgi-derived MTs were shown to support both Golgi integrity and directionality of post-Golgi trafficking (Miller et al., 2009; Hurtado et al., 2011; Vinogradova et al., 2012).

To date, Golgi-derived MTs have been characterized in hepatocytes (Chabin-Brion et al., 2001), epithelial cells (Efimov et al., 2007; Rivero et al., 2009), neurons with their strikingly diverse axonal and dendritic MT bundles (Ori-Mckenney et al., 2012; Yalgin et al., 2015), skeletal muscle (Zaal et al., 2011; Oddoux et al., 2013), and pancreatic beta cells where this MT subpopulation fine-tunes insulin secretion (Zhu et al., 2015); it is very likely that abundance of this MT sub-population will expand as we learn more about cellular architecture in differentiated tissues. Thus, the functional significance of Golgi-derived MTs is undoubted. At the same time, much remains to be elucidated about the mechanisms underlying Golgi-derived MT nucleation, stabilization, dynamics, and regulation. This review aims to give an updated view on Golgi-derived MTs, including several possible mechanisms through which Golgi-derived MTs could be formed and regulated, and how they are important for proper cell function and behavior.

RECRUITMENT OF γ -TuRC TO THE GOLGI MEMBRANES

The first requirement for MT formation in a cell, where tubulin concentrations are relatively low, is availability of MT nucleation templates (Oakley et al., 2015; Petry and Vale, 2015). Solid evidence indicates that MT nucleation at the Golgi starts off γ-tubulin ring complexes (γ-TuRC; (Chabin-Brion et al., 2001; Efimov et al., 2007; Ori-Mckenney et al., 2012), similar to classic centrosomal MTOC. y-Tubulin was found associated with isolated Golgi membranes (Chabin-Brion et al., 2001; Ori-Mckenney et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2014), and only y-tubulinassociated Golgi elements were capable of MT nucleation during in vitro reconstitution assays (Chabin-Brion et al., 2001; Ori-Mckenney et al., 2012).In line with this, siRNA-driven depletion of y-tubulin eliminates Golgi-derived MT nucleation in cells (Efimov et al., 2007). To understand regulation of MT nucleation at the Golgi, multiple investigators addressed a decisive question of γ -tubulin (or, rather, γ -tubulin ring complexes (γ -TuRC)) recruitment to the Golgi membrane. Several proteins with y-TuRC-scaffolding capacity were identified in association with the Golgi membrane, including AKAP450 (also known as AKAP9, AKAP350, CG-NAP, Yotiao; Rivero et al., 2009), several isoforms of myomegalin (Roubin et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014), CDK5Rap2 (Rios, 2014) or its homolog centrosomin in Drosophila neurons (Yalgin et al., 2015), and pericentrin in skeletal muscle (Oddoux et al., 2013). Also, PTTG/securin

was identified as associated with this scaffolding complex (Moreno-Mateos et al., 2011). Depletion of each of these listed molecules has been demonstrated to attenuate Golgiderived MT formation. Most significantly, AKAP450 has proven to be essential for Golgi-derived MT formation in multiple experimental systems and organisms (Rivero et al., 2009; Hurtado et al., 2011; Ori-Mckenney et al., 2012; Maia et al., 2013), likely because it can recruit y-TuRC either directly, or indirectly via CDK5Rap2 or myomegalin interactions. However, AKAP450 function is not essential for MT nucleation at the Golgi in myotubes, likely because y-TuRC is recruited to the Golgi by pericentrin in this cell type (Oddoux et al., 2013). So far, y-TuRCscaffolding to the Golgi has been attributed to proteins known as components of pericentrosomal matrix (see also Rios, 2014, for detailed review). The exception is a myomegalin splice-variant, MMG8 (Wang et al., 2014), which therefore might be important for specific regulation of MT nucleation at the Golgi. In any case, the pool of MT-nucleating factors in cells is likely restricted and has to be redistributed between the centrosome and the Golgi via regulated scaffolding. For example, release of centrosomal nucleation machinery by Cep192 depletion facilitates Golgiderived nucleation (O'Rourke et al., 2014). This does not occur if the centrosomal nucleating complex is destroyed/denatured by laser ablation (Efimov et al., 2007).

This collected data prompted a widely accepted view that anchoring of y-TuRCs at Golgi membranes is essential for Golgiderived MT formation. The nucleation event might occur at the already Golgi-bound γ -TuRC; alternatively, MTs that are randomly nucleated at cytosolic y-TuRCs in the vicinity of the Golgi membrane might be recruited to the Golgi thereafter. However, it cannot be overlooked that the concentration of y-TuRCs at the Golgi is only slightly, if at all, higher than in the surrounding cytosol; it can only be detected on isolated Golgi membranes (Chabin-Brion et al., 2001; Ori-Mckenney et al., 2012), or after pre-extraction of cytosolic γ-tubulin (Wang et al., 2014), which is in sharp contrast to high y-TuRC concentration in the pericentrosomal material. Since molecular anchoring does not concentrate y-tubulin at the Golgi, it cannot be the reason for preferential nucleation of MTs at the Golgi as compared to other cytoplasmic sites, and the mechanism that allows the Golgi membrane to serve as a MTOC remains unclear. An attractive, though unexplored, possibility is that γ -TuRC structure and efficiency as a template requires specific stabilization/optimization of its structure by Golgi membrane-associated factors. Other mechanisms favoring MT nucleation at the Golgi might enhance MT formation at available templates. For example, Golgi environment could promote tubulin polymerization off the γ -TuRC templates and/or facilitate stabilization of MTs that already started to polymerize, preventing their immediate catastrophe. Such support of MT formation can be provided by MT plus tip tracking proteins (+TIPs) and stabilizing factors, if such factors are enriched at the MTOC. Indeed, similar to the centrosomebased MTOC, formation of Golgi-derived MT involves both types of molecular components. Below, we will briefly discuss the current knowledge on these two types of molecular components.

REGULATION OF MT POLYMERIZATION AS A FACTOR IN GOLGI-DERIVED MT NUCLEATION

While providing a template for MT nucleation is the initial condition for MT outgrowth, it has been recently proven to be insufficient for MT formation: additional factors are required to overcome the kinetic barrier and make MT nucleation kinetically favorable (Wieczorek et al., 2015). The process of "approval" of MT outgrowth from provided templates is referred to as "templated nucleation" and is tuned by MT +TIPs with variable activities.

One of the first MT-binding proteins implicated in MT nucleation at the Golgi is CLASP (Efimov et al., 2007), a known multi-functional MT stabilizer. CLASP functions include promotion of MT rescues, stabilization of MT seeds in fission yeast, capture of MTs at the cell cortex and kinetochores, and modification of polymerizing MT lattice (Galjart, 2005; Bratman and Chang, 2007; Kumar et al., 2009; Al-Bassam et al., 2010; Maia et al., 2012; Grimaldi et al., 2014). Both CLASP paralogs (CLASP1 and CLASP2 in mammals) strongly accumulate at the Trans-Golgi Network (TGN) membranes via scaffolding golgin GCC185, and are essential for efficient MT nucleation (Efimov et al., 2007). To date, the mechanistic role of CLASP in MT nucleation at the Golgi is not clear. We and others have proposed that CLASP stabilizes MTs as they start to form, based on the finding that newly-nucleated Golgi-derived MTs are coated with CLASP, which likely relocalized from the Golgi membrane. Now that CLASP is known to modify polymerizing MTs (Grimaldi et al., 2014), an alternative hypothesis arises that CLASP is essential for the initial polymerization steps of Golgi-derived MTs (templated nucleation), rather than simply stabilizing already assembled polymers. This function could be mediated through its TOG (tumor overexpressed gene) domains, which are MTbinding domains required for CLASP's MT-interaction (Slep, 2009; Maki et al., 2015). It is important in this regard that another TOG-domain containing protein, XMAP215, was recently shown to directly assist MT nucleation off a variety of templates (Wieczorek et al., 2015). Interestingly, another recent study indicates that XMAP215 synergizes in MT nucleation activity with TPX2 (Roostalu et al., 2015), a major stimulator of noncentrosomal MT formation in mitotic cells (Neumayer et al., 2014).

Furthermore, both Golgi-specific isoforms of myomegalin bind MT End Binding proteins (EB1 and/or EB3). These isoforms include MMG8, with both γ -TuRC and EB-binding motifs (Wang et al., 2014) and EB-MMG, with EB-binding motif only (Roubin et al., 2013). EBs are multi-functional + TIPs (Morrison, 2007; Slep, 2010), which cooperate with XMAP215 to promote MT polymerization (Zanic et al., 2013), actively regulate MT polymerization by modulating MT structure (Zhang et al., 2015), and are mutually regulated by CLASPs (Grimaldi et al., 2014). EB-binding myomegalins have recently emerged as critical regulators of MT nucleation at the Golgi (Roubin et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014); it is possible that myomegalin interaction creates a local pool of EB molecules that can readily relocalize to MT-nucleating sites to support templated nucleation. We suggest that regulation of Golgi-derived MTs at the level of templated nucleation at already available γ -TuRCs serves for fine modulation of this MT subpopulation because MT +TIPs are known as highly regulated by cell cycle and signaling cues. For example, both CLASP2 and EB1 are phosphorylated by cell cycle kinases (Maia et al., 2012; Banerjee et al., 2014). Also, the amount of CLASP2 at the Golgi membrane is tightly regulated by aPKC-driven phosphorylation (Matsui et al., 2015), indicating a potential link between polarity signaling and Golgi-derived MTs. Moreover, it was recently shown that during mitosis, one of the major Golgi components GM130 (among other molecules) is capable to promote TPX2-dependent MT nucleation, indicating a likely alternative mechanism of MT nucleation in the vicinity of Golgi membrane (Wei et al., 2015).

Besides MT + TIPs, an important factor that likely restricts MT nucleation efficiency of the Golgi is availability of functional alpha/beta tubulin dimers. Templated nucleation is kinetically favored at higher tubulin concentration than MT polymerization per se (Wieczorek et al., 2015). It has become clear recently that tubulin folding "quality control" performed by tubulin chaperones is important not only at the protein synthesis stage but also for tubulin recycling during dynamic MT reorganization (Nithianantham et al., 2015). One significant alpha-tubulin chaperone, TBCE, is concentrated at the Golgi membrane in an Arf1-regulated manner (Schaefer et al., 2007; Bellouze et al., 2014), and facilitates both nucleation rates and polymerization speed of Golgi-derived MTs (Bellouze et al., 2014). Because of low y-TuRC abundance at the Golgi, nucleation of MTs off these y-TuRCs templates may require high local concentration of functional tubulin dimers, which could be achieved by TBCE concentrating and reviving tubulin in the vicinity of nucleation sites. Regulation of TBCE via Arf1 activity (Bellouze et al., 2014) adds another level to potential signaling pathways that fine-tune the Golgi-derived MT population.

STABILIZATION OF GOLGI-DERIVED MICROTUBULES

MT function, in general, depends strongly on their lifespan, which can be extremely variable within a single cell and between different cell types. MTs associated with the Golgi are known to be more stable compared to the majority of cellular MTs, as has been detected both directly, in depolymerization resistance assays, and indirectly, via accumulated post-translational modifications of tubulin (see references below). A number of MT stabilizing factors have been identified as specifically active in the Golgi region. First of all, major Golgi-derived MT-promoting proteins AKAP450 and CLASP, which have been discussed above in conjunction with MT nucleation steps, are both capable of MT stabilization (Akhmanova et al., 2001; Larocca et al., 2006; Hurtado et al., 2011). Other factors, which specifically stabilize MTs in the Golgi region include: (1) recently identified microtubule cross-linking protein MTCL1, which interestingly can be recruited to the Golgi in both CLASP-dependent and AKAP450-dependent manner (Sato et al., 2013, 2014), (2) MT-stabilizing tumor suppressor RASSF1A (Arnette et al., 2014), (3) Golgi-anchored Cap-Gly-domain containing CAP350



(Hoppeler-Lebel et al., 2007), and (4) cytoskeletal linker dystonin, which localizes to the Golgi and nearby ER (Ryan et al., 2012) and stabilizes MTs in the Golgi area via interaction with MAP1b (Ryan et al., 2012).

In most studies, the origin of MTs, stabilized by specific proteins in the Golgi vicinity, has not been tested, and it would not be correct to imply that only MTs nucleated at the Golgi can be stabilized via these mechanisms. However, Golgi-derived MTs obviously fall into the category of MTs in the Golgi vicinity, and are stabilized by the described factors. Importantly, the pioneering study of the Pous group described rapid acetylation of newly-nucleated Golgi-derived MTs (Chabin-Brion et al., 2001), which suggests that these MTs can indeed be stabilized as soon as they form. Moreover, depletion of most MT stabilizers mentioned above, disturbs Golgi complex integrity (Hoppeler-Lebel et al., 2007; Oddoux et al., 2013; Arnette et al., 2014; Sato et al., 2014), a well-known function of Golgi-derived MTs (Miller et al., 2009; Vinogradova et al., 2012). Along the same lines, Golgi integrity also requires CAMSAP2 and 3 proteins (Tanaka et al., 2012), which specifically stabilize minus ends of MTs (Akhmanova and Hoogenraad, 2015) and have been recently implicated in stabilization and long lifespan of non-centrosomal MTs in neurons (Yau et al., 2014).

Mechanisms of MT stabilization at the Golgi, which are obviously numerous and probably redundant, likely serve to extend Golgi-derived MT lifetime, allowing for their robust function. Thus, we consider MT stabilization as an important step in MT formation at the Golgi (**Figure 1**). That being said, while we have grouped known molecular factors in two groups based on existing evidence, it is possible that many MT stabilizers are capable of templated MT nucleation support, and vice versa. It is also possible that increased stability of these MTs is essential for their specific functions because MT-dependent molecular motors often sense post-translational modifications at stable MT lattice, which influences motor affinity and/or activity (Reed et al., 2006; Verhey and Hammond, 2009).

FUNCTIONAL SIGNIFICANCE OF MT ANCHORING AT THE GOLGI

Evidence that factors localized both at the cis-Golgi (y-TuRC scaffolding complex; Rivero et al., 2009) and at the TGN (CLASPs; Efimov et al., 2007) are required for Golgi-derived MT nucleation, present an interesting, as of yet, not fully answered question: Where exactly are Golgi-derived MTs nucleated? As mentioned above, localization of MT minus ends at the Golgi is likely important for specialization of MT function in trafficking, and association with a specific compartment would predict Golgi-derived MT application in trafficking to/from this Golgi domain. Live-cell imaging of new MT formation during nocodazole washout reveals existence of nucleation "hot spots" within a single Golgi stack (Efimov et al., 2007). It is possible that Golgi-derived MTs are nucleated at extensions of the cis-Golgi and TGN membranes, which bring two protein pools into close proximity. It is plausible to hypothesize that MTCL1, which interacts with both cis-localized AKAP450 and TGN-bound CLASP (Sato et al., 2014), plays a role in organization of nucleation "hot spots"; however, the nature of the exact Golgi-derived MT nucleation/trapping sites is yet to be determined.

From the functional point of view, the exact localization of MT-nucleating sites is important because, in many cases, it defines localization of MT minus ends, and thus directionality of MT-dependent transport. It is known that when γ -TuRC scaffolding factor ninein is absent from the centrosome, MT anchoring is compromised despite remaining γ -TuRC abundance. This scenario is utilized at the daughter centriole in G2 cells (Delgehyr et al., 2005), where MTs are nucleated but rapidly released. Thus, tight γ -TuRC anchoring at the *cis*-Golgi could serve as a mechanism for retaining MT minus ends at the *cis*-Golgi membrane and maintaining perfect positioning of MT minus ends in regard to ER-to-Golgi and Golgi-to-ER transport. Similarly, because MT nucleation requires proximity of the TGNconcentrated factors, MTs are likely readily positioned to the

REFERENCES

- Akhmanova, A., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2015). Microtubule minus-end-targeting proteins. Curr. Biol. 25, R162–R171. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.12.027
- Akhmanova, A., Hoogenraad, C. C., Drabek, K., Stepanova, T., Dortland, B., Verkerk, T., et al. (2001). Clasps are CLIP-115 and -170 associating proteins involved in the regional regulation of microtubule dynamics in motile fibroblasts. *Cell* 104, 923–935. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00288-4
- Al-Bassam, J., Kim, H., Brouhard, G., van Oijen, A., Harrison, S. C., and Chang, F. (2010). CLASP promotes microtubule rescue by recruiting tubulin dimers to the microtubule. *Dev. Cell* 19, 245–258. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2010.07.016
- Arnette, C., Efimova, N., Zhu, X., Clark, G. J., and Kaverina, I. (2014). Microtubule segment stabilization by RASSF1A is required for proper microtubule dynamics and Golgi integrity. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 25, 800–810. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E13-07-0374
- Banerjee, B., Kestner, C. A., and Stukenberg, P. T. (2014). EB1 enables spindle microtubules to regulate centromeric recruitment of Aurora B. J. Cell Biol. 204, 947–963. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201307119
- Bellouze, S., Schäfer, M. K., Buttigieg, D., Baillat, G., Rabouille, C., and Haase, G. (2014). Golgi fragmentation in pmn mice is due to a defective ARF1/TBCE

sites of TGN carrier formation (Luini et al., 2008), or late endosome-TGN recycling (Itin et al., 1999).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

As mentioned above, the vast majority of molecules involved in Golgi-derived MT formation are also accumulated in the pericentrosomal material and facilitate MT nucleation at the centrosome. Thus, an important factor of Golgi-derived MT nucleation is the balance between the two pools: depletion of centrosomal scaffolding factors results in the boost of Golgi MTOC activity (O'Rourke et al., 2014). Similarly, in differentiating myotubes, pericentrosomal protein complexes relocate to the Golgi simultaneously with the centrosome silencing (Zaal et al., 2011; Oddoux et al., 2013).

Another implication of the knowledge discussed above is that while anchoring of γ -TuRCs to the Golgi membrane is essential for the Golgi-derived MT array, MT nucleation at this location must be triggered at the level of subsequent steps of MT formation: tubulin polymerization off the template and/or MT lattice stabilization, as it was described for other non-centrosomal MT nucleation sites (Petry and Vale, 2015). We favor these views simply because MT +TIPs and MT stabilizers are strongly concentrated in the Golgi region, in contrast to γ -TuRCs.

Finally, it is plausible to suggest that specific anchoring sites of MT minus ends at the Golgi are important for their function as cellular roadways, and involvement of both *cis*- and TGN membranes in organization of the nucleation sites might serve to provide routes for both *cis*- and *trans*-Golgi associated trafficking.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Kaverina lab is supported by NIH grant R01 GM078373 (to IK), American Heart Association grant-in-aid 13GRNT16980096 (to IK), and a P&F grant (to IK) from the Vanderbilt Diabetes Research and Training Center funded by NIH grant DK020593.

cross-talk that coordinates COPI vesicle formation and tubulin polymerization. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 5961–5975. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu320

- Bratman, S. V., and Chang, F. (2007). Stabilization of overlapping microtubules by fission yeast CLASP. *Dev. Cell* 13, 812–827. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.10.015
- Chabin-Brion, K., Marceiller, J., Perez, F., Settegrana, C., Drechou, A., Durand, G., et al. (2001). The Golgi complex is a microtubule-organizing organelle. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 12, 2047–2060. doi: 10.1091/mbc.12.7.2047
- Delgehyr, N., Sillibourne, J., and Bornens, M. (2005). Microtubule nucleation and anchoring at the centrosome are independent processes linked by ninein function. J. Cell Sci. 118, 1565–1575. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02302
- Efimov, A., Kharitonov, A., Efimova, N., Loncarek, J., Miller, P. M., Andreyeva, N., et al. (2007). Asymmetric CLASP-dependent nucleation of noncentrosomal microtubules at the trans-Golgi network. *Dev. Cell* 12, 917–930. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.04.002
- Galjart, N. (2005). CLIPs and CLASPs and cellular dynamics. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 6, 487–498. doi: 10.1038/nrm1664
- Grimaldi, A. D., Maki, T., Fitton, B. P., Roth, D., Yampolsky, D., Davidson, M. W., et al. (2014). CLASPs are required for proper microtubule localization of end-binding proteins. *Dev. Cell* 30, 343–352. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2014. 06.026

- Hoppeler-Lebel, A., Celati, C., Bellett, G., Mogensen, M. M., Klein-Hitpass, L., Bornens, M., et al. (2007). Centrosomal CAP350 protein stabilises microtubules associated with the Golgi complex. *J. Cell Sci.* 120, 3299–3308. doi: 10.1242/jcs.013102
- Hurtado, L., Caballero, C., Gavilan, M. P., Cardenas, J., Bornens, M., and Rios, R. M. (2011). Disconnecting the Golgi ribbon from the centrosome prevents directional cell migration and ciliogenesis. *J. Cell Biol.* 193, 917–933. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201011014
- Itin, C., Ulitzur, N., Mühlbauer, B., and Pfeffer, S. R. (1999). Mapmodulin, cytoplasmic dynein, and microtubules enhance the transport of mannose 6phosphate receptors from endosomes to the trans-golgi network. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 10, 2191–2197. doi: 10.1091/mbc.10.7.2191
- Kumar, P., Lyle, K. S., Gierke, S., Matov, A., Danuser, G., and Wittmann, T. (2009). GSK3beta phosphorylation modulates CLASP-microtubule association and lamella microtubule attachment. *J. Cell Biol.* 184, 895–908. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200901042
- Larocca, M. C., Jin, M., and Goldenring, J. R. (2006). AKAP350 modulates microtubule dynamics. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 85, 611–619. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2005.10.008
- Luini, A., Mironov, A. A., Polishchuk, E. V., and Polishchuk, R. S. (2008). Morphogenesis of post-Golgi transport carriers. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 129, 153–161. doi: 10.1007/s00418-007-0365-8
- Maia, A. R., Garcia, Z., Kabeche, L., Barisic, M., Maffini, S., Macedo-Ribeiro, S., et al. (2012). Cdk1 and Plk1 mediate a CLASP2 phospho-switch that stabilizes kinetochore-microtubule attachments. *J. Cell Biol.* 199, 285–301. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201203091
- Maia, A. R., Zhu, X., Miller, P., Gu, G., Maiato, H., and Kaverina, I. (2013). Modulation of Golgi-associated microtubule nucleation throughout the cell cycle. *Cytoskeleton* 70, 32–43. doi: 10.1002/cm.21079
- Maki, T., Grimaldi, A. D., Fuchigami, S., Kaverina, I., and Hayashi, I. (2015). CLASP2 has two distinct TOG domains that contribute differently to microtubule dynamics. *J. Mol. Biol.* 427, 2379–2395. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2015.05.012
- Matsui, T., Watanabe, T., Matsuzawa, K., Kakeno, M., Okumura, N., Sugiyama, I., et al. (2015). PAR3 and aPKC regulate Golgi organization through CLASP2 phosphorylation to generate cell polarity. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 26, 751–761. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E14-09-1382
- Miller, P. M., Folkmann, A. W., Maia, A. R., Efimova, N., Efimov, A., and Kaverina, I. (2009). Golgi-derived CLASP-dependent microtubules control Golgi organization and polarized trafficking in motile cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1069–1080. doi: 10.1038/ncb1920
- Moreno-Mateos, M. A., Espina, Á. G., Torres, B., Gámez del Estal, M. M., Romero-Franco, A., Ríos, R. M., et al. (2011). PTTG1/securin modulates microtubule nucleation and cell migration. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 22, 4302–4311. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E10-10-0838
- Morrison, E. E. (2007). Action and interactions at microtubule ends. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 64, 307–317. doi: 10.1007/s00018-00 7-6360-3
- Neumayer, G., Belzil, C., Gruss, O. J., and Nguyen, M. D. (2014). TPX2: of spindle assembly, DNA damage response, and cancer. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 71, 3027–3047. doi: 10.1007/s00018-014-1582-7
- Nithianantham, S., Le, S., Seto, E., Jia, W., Leary, J., Corbett, K. D., et al. (2015). Tubulin cofactors and Arl2 are cage-like chaperones that regulate the soluble alphabeta-tubulin pool for microtubule dynamics. *Elife* 4:e08811. doi: 10.7554/eLife.08811
- Oakley, B. R., Paolillo, V., and Zheng, Y. (2015). gamma-Tubulin complexes in microtubule nucleation and beyond. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 26, 2957–2962. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E14-11-1514
- Oddoux, S., Zaal, K. J., Tate, V., Kenea, A., Nandkeolyar, S. A., Reid, E., et al. (2013). Microtubules that form the stationary lattice of muscle fibers are dynamic and nucleated at Golgi elements. J. Cell Biol. 203, 205–213. doi: 10.1083/jcb.2013 04063
- Ori-McKenney, K. M., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2012). Golgi outposts shape dendrite morphology by functioning as sites of acentrosomal microtubule nucleation in neurons. *Neuron* 76, 921–930. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012. 10.008
- O'Rourke, B. P., Gomez-Ferreria, M. A., Berk, R. H., Hackl, A. M., Nicholas, M. P., O'Rourke, S. C., et al. (2014). Cep192 controls the balance of centrosome and

non-centrosomal microtubules during interphase. PLoS ONE 9:e101001. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101001

- Petry, S., and Vale, R. D. (2015). Microtubule nucleation at the centrosome and beyond. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 17, 1089–1093. doi: 10.1038/ncb3220
- Reed, N. A., Cai, D., Blasius, T. L., Jih, G. T., Meyhofer, E., Gaertig, J., et al. (2006). Microtubule acetylation promotes kinesin-1 binding and transport. *Curr. Biol.* 16, 2166–2172. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2006.09.014
- Rios, R. M. (2014). The centrosome-Golgi apparatus nexus. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 369:20130462. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0462
- Rivero, S., Cardenas, J., Bornens, M., and Rios, R. M. (2009). Microtubule nucleation at the cis-side of the Golgi apparatus requires AKAP450 and GM130. *EMBO J.* 28, 1016–1028. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.47
- Roostalu, J., Cade, N. I., and Surrey, T. (2015). Complementary activities of TPX2 and chTOG constitute an efficient importin-regulated microtubule nucleation module. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1422–1434. doi: 10.1038/ncb3241
- Roubin, R., Acquaviva, C., Chevrier, V., Sedjaï, F., Zyss, D., Birnbaum, D., et al. (2013). Myomegalin is necessary for the formation of centrosomal and Golgiderived microtubules. *Biol. Open* 2, 238–250. doi: 10.1242/bio.20123392
- Ryan, S. D., Bhanot, K., Ferrier, A., De Repentigny, Y., Chu, A., Blais, A., et al. (2012). Microtubule stability, Golgi organization, and transport flux require dystonin-a2-MAP1B interaction. *J. Cell Biol.* 196, 727–742. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201107096
- Sato, Y., Akitsu, M., Amano, Y., Yamashita, K., Ide, M., Shimada, K., et al. (2013). The novel PAR-1-binding protein MTCL1 has crucial roles in organizing microtubules in polarizing epithelial cells. *J. Cell Sci.* 126, 4671–4683. doi: 10.1242/jcs.127845
- Sato, Y., Hayashi, K., Amano, Y., Takahashi, M., Yonemura, S., Hayashi, I., et al. (2014). MTCL1 crosslinks and stabilizes non-centrosomal microtubules on the Golgi membrane. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 5266. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6266
- Schaefer, M. K., Schmalbruch, H., Buhler, E., Lopez, C., Martin, N., Guenet, J. L., et al. (2007). Progressive motor neuronopathy: a critical role of the tubulin chaperone TBCE in axonal tubulin routing from the Golgi apparatus. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 8779–8789. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1599-07.2007
- Slep, K. C. (2009). The role of TOG domains in microtubule plus end dynamics. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 37, 1002–1006. doi: 10.1042/BST0371002
- Slep, K. C. (2010). Structural and mechanistic insights into microtubule end-binding proteins. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 22, 88–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2009.10.009
- Tanaka, N., Meng, W., Nagae, S., and Takeichi, M. (2012). Nezha/CAMSAP3 and CAMSAP2 cooperate in epithelial-specific organization of noncentrosomal microtubules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 20029–20034. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1218017109
- Verhey, K. J., and Hammond, J. W. (2009). Traffic control: regulation of kinesin motors. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10, 765–777. doi: 10.1038/nrm2782
- Vinogradova, T., Paul, R., Grimaldi, A. D., Loncarek, J., Miller, P. M., Yampolsky, D., et al. (2012). Concerted effort of centrosomal and Golgiderived microtubules is required for proper Golgi complex assembly but not for maintenance. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 23, 820–833. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E11-06-0550
- Wang, Z., Zhang, C., and Qi, R. Z. (2014). A newly identified myomegalin isoform functions in Golgi microtubule organization and ER-Golgi transport. J. Cell Sci. 127, 4904–4917. doi: 10.1242/jcs.155408
- Wei, J. H., Zhang, Z. C., Wynn, R. M., and Seemann, J. (2015). GM130 regulates Golgi-derived spindle assembly by activating TPX2 and capturing microtubules. *Cell* 162, 287–299. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.06.014
- Wieczorek, M., Bechstedt, S., Chaaban, S., and Brouhard, G. J. (2015). Microtubule-associated proteins control the kinetics of microtubule nucleation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 17, 907–916. doi: 10.1038/ncb3188
- Yalgin, C., Ebrahimi, S., Delandre, C., Yoong, L. F., Akimoto, S., Tran, H., et al. (2015). Centrosomin represses dendrite branching by orienting microtubule nucleation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 18, 1437–1445. doi: 10.1038/nn.4099
- Yau, K. W., van Beuningen, S. F., Cunha-Ferreira, I., Cloin, B. M., van Battum, E. Y., Will, L., et al. (2014). Microtubule minus-end binding protein CAMSAP2 controls axon specification and dendrite development. *Neuron* 82, 1058–1073. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.04.019
- Zaal, K. J., Reid, E., Mousavi, K., Zhang, T., Mehta, A., Bugnard, E., et al. (2011). Who needs microtubules? Myogenic reorganization of MTOC, Golgi complex and ER exit sites persists despite lack of normal microtubule tracks. *PLoS ONE* 6:e29057. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029057

- Zanic, M., Widlund, P. O., Hyman, A. A., and Howard, J. (2013). Synergy between XMAP215 and EB1 increases microtubule growth rates to physiological levels. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 688–693. doi: 10.1038/ncb2744
- Zhang, R., Alushin, G. M., Brown, A., and Nogales, E. (2015). Mechanistic origin of microtubule dynamic instability and its modulation by EB proteins. *Cell* 162, 849–859. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.07.012
- Zhu, X., Hu, R., Brissova, M., Stein, R. W., Powers, A. C., Gu, G., et al. (2015). Microtubules negatively regulate insulin secretion in pancreatic beta cells. *Dev. Cell* 34, 656–668. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2015. 08.020

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Sanders and Kaverina. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Alpha-synuclein Toxicity in the Early Secretory Pathway: How It Drives Neurodegeneration in Parkinsons Disease

Ting Wang [†] and Jesse C. Hay ^{*}

Division of Biological Sciences, The University of Montana, Missoula, MT, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Catherine Rabouille, Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

José A. Martínez-Menárguez, University of Murcia, Spain Deborah Eileen Cabin, McLaughlin Research Institute of Biomedical Sciences, USA

> *Correspondence: Jesse C. Hay

jesse.hay@umontana.edu

[†]Present Address:

Ting Wang, Department of Neurobiology and Anatomy, The University of Texas Medical School at Houston, Houston, TX, USA

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 31 August 2015 Accepted: 26 October 2015 Published: 12 November 2015

Citation:

Wang T and Hay JC (2015) Alpha-synuclein Toxicity in the Early Secretory Pathway: How It Drives Neurodegeneration in Parkinsons Disease. Front. Neurosci. 9:433. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00433 Alpha-synuclein is a predominant player in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's Disease. However, despite extensive study for two decades, its physiological and pathological mechanisms remain poorly understood. Alpha-synuclein forms a perplexing web of interactions with lipids, trafficking machinery, and other regulatory factors. One emerging consensus is that synaptic vesicles are likely the functional site for alpha-synuclein, where it appears to facilitate vesicle docking and fusion. On the other hand, the dysfunctions of alpha-synuclein are more dispersed and numerous; when mutated or over-expressed, alpha-synuclein affects several membrane trafficking and stress pathways, including exocytosis, ER-to-Golgi transport, ER stress, Golgi homeostasis, endocytosis, autophagy, oxidative stress, and others. Here we examine recent developments in alpha-synuclein's toxicity in the early secretory pathway placed in the context of emerging themes from other affected pathways to help illuminate its underlying pathogenic mechanisms in neurodegeneration.

Keywords: alpha-synuclein, vesicle trafficking, golgi, ER stress response, neurodegenerative diseases, Parkinson disease, LRRK2, ER to golgi transport

INTRODUCTION

Alpha-synuclein (a-syn), a 14 kD cytosolic neuronal protein, has been a major focus of Parkinson's Disease (PD) pathological studies. As shown in **Figure 1**, a-syn consists of an N-terminal domain that adopts an alpha-helical conformation upon binding to membranes, and a charged C-terminus with multiple phosphorylation sites (Bendor et al., 2013; Snead and Eliezer, 2014). The N-terminal domain of alpha-syn contains seven membrane-interacting repeats, and can either bind the membrane as a long helix, or in a "broken helix" conformation with two helices connected by a linker (Bartels et al., 2010). Alpha-syn monomers can either assemble into tetramers (Bartels et al., 2011) or beta-sheet fibrils that aggregate to form Lewy bodies, a primary indicator of Parkinson's disease (PD) accompanied by neurodegeneration in the Substantia nigra, locus coeruleus, and dorsal vagal nucleus (Kingsbury et al., 2010). Using a prion-like mechanism, normal a-syn is converted to the aggregated form by a-syn molecules that have already been converted (Deleersnijder et al., 2013), a process mediated by the non-amyloid- β component (NAC) region of a-syn, comprising residues 61–95. Alpha-syn gene duplication, triplication, and several dominant mutations, including A30P, E46K, H50Q, and A53T cause familial PD (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997; Zarranz et al., 2004; Khalaf et al., 2014).



The alpha-, beta-, and gamma-synuclein genes are somewhat functionally redundant (Greten-Harrison et al., 2010; Ninkina et al., 2012; Vargas et al., 2014), which probably accounts for the lack of a significant phenotype from a-syn single knockout (Abeliovich et al., 2000; Cabin et al., 2002). Synuclein triple knockout, however, alters synapse structure and leads to age-dependent neuronal dysfunction in mice (Greten-Harrison et al., 2010). Alpha-syn participates in the maintenance of the presynaptic vesicle pool as well as the release of neurotransmitter (Murphy et al., 2000; Cabin et al., 2002; Ben Gedalya et al., 2009; Nemani et al., 2010; Cheng et al., 2011).

The neuronal toxicity of alpha-synuclein over-expression or mutation appears to involve a wide range of pathways and cellular functions including ER-to-Golgi transport, Golgi homeostasis, presynaptic trafficking, endocytosis, autophagy, the ubiquitinproteasome system, ER and oxidative stress (Snead and Eliezer, 2014). This review focuses primarily on the dysfunction of alpha-synuclein and pathogenically related proteins in the early secretory pathway.

PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS

Although present in various compartments of the cell, alphasynuclein accumulates at the synapse (Maroteaux et al., 1988; Kahle et al., 2000), and is recruited to synaptic vesicles through interactions with specific lipids and trafficking machinery (Fortin et al., 2004; Burré et al., 2010; Diao et al., 2013). In addition, a-syn is capable of sensing membrane curvature and lipid composition, with a preference for synaptic vesicle's small shape, high curvature, and charged lipid head groups (Pranke et al., 2011; Bendor et al., 2013). The Rab family of small GTPases appear to facilitate the recruitment process (Lee et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2013) as does C-terminal phosphorylation (Oueslati et al., 2010; Paleologou et al., 2010).

One emerging consensus is that a-syn, perhaps in cooperation with cysteine string protein (CSP) (Chandra et al., 2005), acts as a SNARE chaperone to potentiate SNARE assembly for fusion (Burré et al., 2010). Interactions between a-syn and synaptic SNAREs are established, and a-syn can promote SNAREmediated vesicle fusion in a manner that requires both lipid and SNARE interactions. The precise step modulated by a-syn seems to lie slightly upstream of final SNARE assembly during clustering, docking, and/or SNARE priming for assembly (Diao et al., 2013; Burré et al., 2014).

DYSFUNCTIONS I: THE SYNAPSE

Alpha-syn's potential dysfunctions at its native site, the synapse, have been intensely researched but will be briefly treated here. Confusingly and despite the positive functions in docking and fusion described above, a-syn has been shown to inhibit these steps as well. Large alpha-syn oligomers potently inhibit vesicle fusion (Choi et al., 2013, 2015) and soluble, non-aggregated a-syn also inhibits at higher concentrations (Lai et al., 2014). In some conditions, a-syn's interactions with lipids alone may inhibit SNARE-mediated fusion (DeWitt and Rhoades, 2013; Lai et al., 2014). Alpha-syn synaptic function vs. dysfunction is likely very sensitive to concentration and the aggregation state of a-syn species, keeping in mind that conversion to pathogenic forms will also deplete cells of the functional form. However, it remains to be established whether a-syn synaptic dysfunction is a major driver of neurodegeneration in PD.

DYSFUNCTIONS II: THE ER-GOLGI AXIS

The mechanism of a-syn toxicity leading to neurodegeneration is very complex, multi-pronged, and highly integrated with cellular stress pathways. Most likely, a-syn oligomers directly intoxicate several cellular membrane-dependent pathways, each of which causes damage and activation of unsuccessful stress responses leading to apoptosis.

Evidence has mounted that one of the initiating insults results from a-syn's disruption of ER-to-Golgi transport, the first and rate-limiting step in the biosynthetic secretory pathway. This effect was first identified in a yeast screen for genetic suppressors of a-syn toxicity (Cooper et al., 2006). Surprisingly, the most efficient group of suppressors were membrane trafficking proteins, including Ypt1p/rab1, which coordinates ER/Golgi vesicle tethering; and Ykt6p, a SNARE that mediates ER/Golgirelated fusions. That the most successful suppressors were ER/Golgi trafficking machinery suggested that this pathway is deeply involved in a-syn toxicity. Follow-up studies by multiple groups have demonstrated potent inhibition of ER-to-Golgi transport by physiologically relevant over-expression levels of a-syn in normal rat kidney cells, HeLa cells, neuroendocrine PC12 cells, and dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cells (Thayanidhi et al., 2010; Winslow et al., 2010; Oaks et al., 2013). The evidence supports a potent inhibition of the secretory pathway by mild over-expression of wildtype a-syn and at even lower concentrations by PD-associated mutants. The locus of a-syn inhibition appears to be post- ER budding, perhaps through interference with rab- and SNARE-dependent COPII vesicle tethering and/or fusion (Gitler et al., 2008; Thayanidhi et al., 2010). Interestingly, superoxide dismutase-1 (SOD1) mutants that cause neurodegeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) have also been shown to inhibit ER-to-Golgi transport in neurons resulting in ER stress that can be ameliorated by overexpression of ER/Golgi vesicle machinery (Atkin et al., 2014). Is there a common feature of aggregated cytosolic proteins that is fundamentally linked to ER export?

Normal neurons may thus be treading a delicate balance in which they must express a-syn at a sufficient level to promote synaptic trafficking yet below a threshold where it inhibits biosynthetic trafficking and causes stress in the cell body. How can a-syn be on the one hand a chaperone for facilitating SNARE-dependent synaptic vesicle docking/fusion, and on the other hand a disruptor of mechanistically similar membrane docking/fusion events in the early secretory pathway? One key could be the membrane binding properties of a-syn, which cause it to preferentially interact with post-Golgi, highly curved, charged membranes (Pranke et al., 2011) and lead the Nterminal region to adopt helical structure and self-aggregate (Burré et al., 2014). If these membrane interactions affect a-syn interactions with SNAREs and rabs, then perhaps only post-Golgi lipid compositions support positive effects. Conversely, asyn molecules that are not properly primed by lipid interactions would fail to exert positive effects, or even negatively affect SNARE assembly on pre-Golgi membranes. Both SNAREs and a-syn undergo binding-induced helix formation, which could make their coordinated assembly extremely context dependent. It would be very useful to know whether a-syn can have different effects at distinct membrane trafficking steps under the same expression conditions in the same cell.

Recently, the link between ER/Golgi trafficking and PD became even stronger. Mutations in Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2) are the most frequent genetic lesions associated with PD (Kumari and Tan, 2009). Strong genetic and possible physical interactions between a-syn and LRRK2 suggest that they may intoxicate a common pathway (Lin et al., 2009; Qing et al., 2009; Guerreiro et al., 2013). While the precise functions of LRRK2 are still emerging, they appear to be converging on ER export and secretory trafficking. Interactions between LRRK2 and the ER exit site (ERES) scaffold sec16 led to the discovery that LRRK2 is required for ERES assembly and efficient ER cargo exit (Cho et al., 2014). Sec16 is believed to work in concert with Sar1 GTPase to facilitate the assembly of COPII coat components (Watson et al., 2006). One of the common PDassociated LRRK2 mutants, R1441C, disrupts targeting of sec16 to ERES. In parallel, another mechanism by which LRRK2 may impact secretion has emerged. Screens for LRRK2 interactions identified BCL2-associated athanogene 5 (BAG5), Rab7L1, and cyclin-G-associated kinase (GAK) as binding partners. These proteins appeared to form a single complex targeted to the TGN that positively regulates TGN turnover (Beilina et al., 2014). Over-expression of any of these proteins alone, or expression of PD-associated mutations of LRRK2, led to ablation of TGN

markers, and presumably the organelle itself, via an autophagy mechanism (Beilina et al., 2014). Severe down-regulation of the TGN would disrupt secretory trafficking and ultimately lead to intracellular accumulation of secretory cargo at multiple steps. Elucidating the multiple cellular functions of LRRK2 is essential for understanding the secretory pathology of PD. Another development was that rab39b lesions are associated with earlyonset Parkinsonism (Wilson et al., 2014). Although still very early, it appears that rab39b and protein interacting with Ckinase 1 (PICK1) regulate ER-to-Golgi transport of synaptic machinery (Mignogna et al., 2015). To summarize, genetic lesions in a-syn, LRRK2 and other genes-including the most potent and frequent lesions causing PD-may initiate neuronal stress by disrupting early steps in secretion. It is urgent to elucidate the complex relationship between ER/Golgi trafficking, neuronal stress, and PD.

Alpha-syn probably disrupts intra-Golgi and post-Golgi secretory trafficking in addition to ER-to-Golgi trafficking. Alpha-syn interacts with Rab8 (Golgi), Rab3a (post-Golgi), and Rab5 (early endosomal) in a-syn A30P transgenic mice (Dalfó et al., 2004); in addition, Rab8 (Golgi), Rab3a (post-Golgi), and rab11 (recycling endosomal) overexpression rescue alphasyn's toxicity (Cooper et al., 2006; Gitler et al., 2008; Yin et al., 2014; Breda et al., 2015). That a-syn toxicity involves simultaneous block of multiple steps in the biosynthetic secretory pathway is also supported by the potent suppression of a-syn transport blocks by ykt6 (Cooper et al., 2006; Thayanidhi et al., 2010), an R-SNARE that can participate in multiple fusogenic SNARE complexes. One secretory cargo of particular importance to dopaminergic neurons is the dopamine transporter (DAT); indeed DAT accumulates in microsomal fractions upon a-syn over-expression and dopamine uptake is consequently inhibited (Oaks et al., 2013). However, as outlined below, ER accumulation, as opposed to lack of proper delivery of secretory and membrane proteins may drive neurodegeneration even more substantially.

DYSFUNCTIONS III: ER STRESS

Alpha-syn over-expression causes ER stress (ERS) and activation of the unfolded protein response (UPR) in cellular models (Smith et al., 2005), which causes apoptosis if unresolved. Accumulating evidence from many systems and approaches indicates that UPR plays a rate-limiting role in the progression of neurodegeneration and a-syn pathology (Mercado et al., 2013). UPR is activated in PD neurons and UPR modulation protects or potentiates PD progression. Low levels of UPR protects neurons from asyn toxicity, presumably by inducing chaperones and secretory machinery to counteract ERS (Fouillet et al., 2012; Valdés et al., 2014). Similarly, prevention of the adaptive response or inducing acute ERS accelerates a-syn-associated neuronal death (Colla et al., 2012a; Salganik et al., 2015). Phosphorylation of Ser129 on alpha-syn appears to be important for triggering UPR (Colla et al., 2012a). Interestingly, a-syn intoxication does not activate all three classical branches of the UPR equally, which could help explain why this particular ERS cannot be adapted to. Work in PD models found that induction of chaperones and CHOP occurs without phosphorylation of eIF2a by PERK (Colla et al., 2012a), perhaps indicating that adaptive and proapoptotic responses are out of balance. Other studies indicate that activation of IRE1/XBP1 is key to neuronal survival in PD, and that this particular UPR branch may be selectively important in neurons of the substantia nigra (Valdés et al., 2014). Still other work finds that a-syn toxicity involves the imbalanced outcomes of increased chaperones accompanied by decreased activation of the ATF6 pathway (Credle et al., 2015). A compelling correlate of this hypothesis is that activation of the ATF6 pathway requires ER/Golgi transport, and ATF6 export from the ER is potently inhibited by a-syn (Credle et al., 2015).

Precisely how does a-syn cause ERS in the first place? The most obvious mechanism would be inhibition of ER/Golgi transport and/or later steps in the biosynthetic secretory pathway, leading to ER overload. The finding that over-expression of secretory rabs and other machinery alleviates a-syn toxicity is consistent with ERS originating from a trafficking defect (Gitler et al., 2008; Yin et al., 2014). However, ER/Golgi transport could also be viewed as a relief valve for ERS caused by perturbation of other ER functions. In addition, some of the secretory machinery whose expression rescues stress, rab1a for example, may also more directly regulate UPR events or autophagy induction (Winslow et al., 2010; Chua and Tang, 2013).

Evidence exists for several modes by which a-syn could initiate ERS through mechanisms distinct from ER/Golgi trafficking. For example, it has been suggested that a-syn may find its way inside the lumen of the ER, where it could aggregate with chaperones to cause ERS (Colla et al., 2012b). A mechanism for a-syn to cross the ER membrane has not been demonstrated. One speculation could be uptake of extracellular a-syn aggregates by endocytosis followed by retrograde vesicular transport to the ER lumen, as in the case of certain bacterial toxins (Spooner and Lord, 2012). A completely distinct mechanism by which a-syn may trigger ERS is by inhibition of ER associated degradation (ERAD), which would cause buildup of excess unfolded proteins. Homocysteine-induced ER protein (Herp) is overexpressed in PD and is a component of Lewy bodies (Slodzinski et al., 2009) whose knockdown sensitizes PC12 cells to ERS-induced apoptosis and a-syn toxicity (Belal et al., 2012). Herp plays an essential role in ERAD (Schulze et al., 2005), particularly ERADdependent turnover of ER calcium channels (Belal et al., 2012). Herp inhibition or aggregation in PD could lead to general ERAD inhibition or ER calcium depletion, either of which could cause ERS. ERAD relies upon the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) for the disposal of ER-dislocated substrates, and there are many links between the UPS and PD, only discussed here as it relates to ERS. Several E3 ubiquitin ligases, for example parkin, HRD1 and Rsp5/Nedd4, can protect cells from a-syn intoxication and ERS (Tsai et al., 2003; Omura et al., 2013; Tardiff et al., 2013). The mechanism by which ubiquitin ligases protect neurons from ERS is unclear. One possibility is that the UPS contributes to the removal of specific stresscausing membrane proteins such as parkin-associated endothelin receptor-like receptor (Pael-R) that have been implicated in PD pathology (Kitao et al., 2007; Omura et al., 2013). Parkin also triggers mitophagy when recruited to defective mitochondria by the voltage sensor PINK (Kroemer et al., 2010). But there could also be more fundamental link(s) whereby the UPS promotes ER homeostasis, for example through a direct regulatory role in the initiation of UPR, ERAD, or ER-phagy. This could help explain why multiple neurodegenerative diseases involving aggregated cytosolic proteins result in UPR-a process conventionally viewed as initiated in the ER lumen.

DYSFUNCTIONS IV: GOLGI HOMEOSTASIS

Golgi fragmentation is commonly observed in PD as well as other neurodegenerative diseases (Gonatas et al., 2006; Fan et al., 2008; Bexiga and Simpson, 2013). Overexpression of asyn in cultured mammalian cell lines and neurons can lead to Golgi fragmentation; formation of a-syn prefibrillar aggregates correlates tightly with Golgi and microtubule disruption (Gosavi et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2006). Alpha-syn accumulation in yeast results in mislocalization of Golgi markers and aggregation of secretory vesicles (Soper et al., 2008, 2011). However, the functional and pathological significance of Golgi disruption remains unclear. In some cases, Golgi disruption seems to precede microtubule disruption and inhibition of ER/Golgi transport (Rendón et al., 2013), implying that Golgi disruption is not a result of the trafficking block, and could represent an independent branch of the pathology. In other cases the Golgi disruption seems to accompany and be due to the ER/Golgi transport inhibition (Coune et al., 2011) or be absent during transport inhibition (Thayanidhi et al., 2010).

The lack of a consistent correlation between ER/Golgi transport inhibition and Golgi disruption makes the role of Golgi homeostasis in PD hard to evaluate. However, an intriguing idea is that Golgi dispersal may be a means to propagate an asyn-caused Golgi-based stress signal. Increased neuronal firing activity causes reversible Golgi fragmentation, suggesting it may be part of a homeostatic stress signaling mechanism (Thayer et al., 2013). Furthermore, inhibition of Golgi dispersal through over-expression of Golgi tethering proteins can reduce the toxicity of chemically-induced ER or oxidative stress (Nakagomi et al., 2008). How Golgi fragmentation is initiated in response to a-syn remains unclear, but signaling mechanisms mediating other stress-related Golgi fragmentation have been outlined. For example, the small GTPase ADP-ribosylation factor 4 (ARF4) initiates Golgi dispersal in response to pathogens and chemical insults (Reiling et al., 2013), and Cdk5 kinase phosphorylation of Golgi matrix protein 130 (GM130) may mediate Golgi dispersal in neurons challenged with beta-amyloid (Sun et al., 2008). It would be exciting to test whether blockade of Golgi-dispersing signals can relieve a-syn toxicity.

THE ENDOLYSOSOMAL SYSTEM AND ALPHA-SYNUCLEIN CLEARANCE

The importance of the endolysosomal system in a-syn toxicity cannot be overstated but will only be briefly introduced. The clearance of a-syn largely depends upon the endosome-lysosome pathway (Flower et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2009;



Alvarez-Erviti et al., 2011). This process appears to be Rab11adependent (Liu et al., 2009), which likely explains Rab11a's involvement in synucleinopathy (Breda et al., 2015). Alpha-syn over-expression appears to interfere with endosomal trafficking (Soper et al., 2008, 2011; Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2014), and this likely exacerbates a-syn toxicity by potentiating a-syn accumulation. In addition, impaired lysosomal activity could contribute to PD (van Dijk et al., 2013).

Alpha-syn accumulation triggers macroautophagy, the process by which cytosolic proteins and organelles are imported into lysosomes. ERS triggered by a-syn accumulation probably contributes to autophagy activation since the PERK and ATF6 UPR signaling arms induce autophagy genes (He and Klionsky, 2009; Kroemer et al., 2010). However, aggregated or over-expressed alpha-syn inhibits autophagy and results in less efficient clearance, more accumulation and greater cell-to-cell spread of a-syn pathology (Winslow et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2013; Tanik et al., 2013).

OXIDATIVE STRESS

Oxidative stress is another outcome of alpha-syn accumulation, and is closely associated with disruption of ER proteostasis

(Exner et al., 2012). Similar to ERS, mitochondrial dysfunction is present in many neurodegenerative diseases (Lionaki et al., 2015), and will be important in disease intervention. Still, a key question remaining is whether the pathological oxidative stress is a downstream manifestation of other stresses, for example perturbed ER calcium or reduced autophagic clearance of defective mitochondria (Chigurupati et al., 2009; Su et al., 2010), or does it belie a more fundamental relationship with alpha-synuclein?

CONCLUSION

We have briefly summarized the multifaceted effects of alpha-syn on cellular membrane trafficking, with special emphasis on the ER-Golgi axis (see **Figure 2**). Many more studies will be required to unravel all of the mechanisms of alpha-syn toxicity, and the early secretory pathway will likely remain a major focus. One of the major issues to resolve is how a-syn manages to play positive as well negative roles in membrane trafficking due to its concentration, aggregation state, and SNARE- and lipid-binding properties. Another major issue is how a-syn triggers its unique kind of ERS and how this stress is modulated by ER/Golgi transport, ERAD, and the ubiquitin-proteasome system. In addition, it should be resolved whether there is a common pattern of dysfunction in the early secretory pathway lying at the heart of multiple neurodegenerative diseases.

REFERENCES

- Abeliovich, A., Schmitz, Y., Fariñas, I., Choi-Lundberg, D., Ho, W. H., Castillo, P. E., et al. (2000). Mice lacking alpha-synuclein display functional deficits in the nigrostriatal dopamine system. *Neuron* 25, 239–252. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80886-7
- Alvarez-Erviti, L., Seow, Y., Schapira, A. H., Gardiner, C., Sargent, I. L., Wood, M. J., et al. (2011). Lysosomal dysfunction increases exosome-mediated alpha-synuclein release and transmission. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 42, 360–367. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2011.01.029
- Atkin, J. D., Farg, M. A., Soo, K. Y., Walker, A. K., Halloran, M., Turner, B. J., et al. (2014). Mutant SOD1 inhibits ER-Golgi transport in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J. Neurochem. 129, 190–204. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12493
- Bartels, T., Ahlstrom, L. S., Leftin, A., Kamp, F., Haass, C., Brown, M. F., et al. (2010). The N-terminus of the intrinsically disordered protein α-synuclein triggers membrane binding and helix folding. *Biophys. J.* 99, 2116–2124. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2010.06.035
- Bartels, T., Choi, J. G., and Selkoe, D. J. (2011). α-Synuclein occurs physiologically as a helically folded tetramer that resists aggregation. *Nature* 477, 107–110. doi: 10.1038/nature10324
- Beilina, A., Rudenko, I. N., Kaganovich, A., Civiero, L., Chau, H., Kalia, S. K., et al. (2014). Unbiased screen for interactors of leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 supports a common pathway for sporadic and familial Parkinson disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 2626–2631. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1318306111
- Belal, C., Ameli, N. J., El Kommos, A., Bezalel, S., Al'Khafaji, A. M., Mughal, M. R., et al. (2012). The homocysteine-inducible endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress protein Herp counteracts mutant α-synuclein-induced ER stress via the homeostatic regulation of ER-resident calcium release channel proteins. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 963–977. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr502
- Bendor, J. T., Logan, T. P., and Edwards, R. H. (2013). The function of alphasynuclein. *Neuron* 79, 1044–1066. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.004
- Ben Gedalya, T., Loeb, V., Israeli, E., Altschuler, Y., Selkoe, D. J., and Sharon, R. (2009). Alpha-synuclein and polyunsaturated fatty acids promote clathrinmediated endocytosis and synaptic vesicle recycling. *Traffic* 10, 218–234. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2008.00853.x
- Bexiga, M. G., and Simpson, J. C. (2013). Human diseases associated with form and function of the Golgi complex. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 18670–18681. doi: 10.3390/ijms140918670
- Breda, C., Nugent, M. L., Estranero, J. G., Kyriacou, C. P., Outeiro, T. F., Steinert, J. R., et al. (2015). Rab11 modulates alpha-synuclein-mediated defects in synaptic transmission and behaviour. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 24, 1077–1091. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu521
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., and Südhof, T. C. (2014). alpha-Synuclein assembles into higher-order multimers upon membrane binding to promote SNARE complex formation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, E4274–E4283. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1416598111
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., and Sudhof, T. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Science 329, 1663–1667. doi: 10.1126/science.1195227
- Cabin, D. E., Shimazu, K., Murphy, D., Cole, N. B., Gottschalk, W., McIlwain, K. L., et al. (2002). Synaptic vesicle depletion correlates with attenuated synaptic responses to prolonged repetitive stimulation in mice lacking alpha-synuclein. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 8797–8807.
- Chandra, S., Gallardo, G., Fernández-Chacón, R., Schlüter, O. M., and Südhof, T. C. (2005). Alpha-synuclein cooperates with CSPalpha in preventing neurodegeneration. *Cell* 123, 383–396. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.09.028
- Chen, R. H., Wislet-Gendebien, S., Samuel, F., Visanji, N. P., Zhang, G., Marsilio, D., et al. (2013). alpha-Synuclein membrane association is regulated by the

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by NIH grant GM106323 (to JH) and by the University of Montana Center for Structural and Functional Neuroscience.

Rab3a recycling machinery and presynaptic activity. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 7438-7449. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.439497

- Cheng, F., Li, X., Li, Y., Wang, C., Wang, T., Liu, G., et al. (2011). alpha-Synuclein promotes clathrin-mediated NMDA receptor endocytosis and attenuates NMDA-induced dopaminergic cell death. J. Neurochem. 119, 815–825. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07460.x
- Chigurupati, S., Wei, Z., Belal, C., Vandermey, M., Kyriazis, G. A., Arumugam, T. V., et al. (2009). The homocysteine-inducible endoplasmic reticulum stress protein counteracts calcium store depletion and induction of CCAAT enhancer-binding protein homologous protein in a neurotoxin model of Parkinson disease. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 18323–18333. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.020891
- Cho, H. J., Yu, J., Xie, C., Rudrabhatla, P., Chen, X., Wu, J., et al. (2014). Leucinerich repeat kinase 2 regulates Sec16A at ER exit sites to allow ER-Golgi export. *EMBO J.* 33, 2314–2331. doi: 10.15252/embj.201487807
- Choi, B. K., Choi, M. G., Kim, J. Y., Yang, Y., Lai, Y., Kweon, D. H., et al. (2013). Large alpha-synuclein oligomers inhibit neuronal SNAREmediated vesicle docking. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 4087–4092. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1218424110
- Choi, B. K., Kim, J. Y., Cha, M. Y., Mook-Jung, I., Shin, Y. K., and Lee, N. K. (2015). beta-Amyloid and alpha-synuclein cooperate to block SNARE-dependent vesicle fusion. *Biochemistry* 54, 1831–1840. doi: 10.1021/acs.biochem.5b00087
- Chua, C. E., and Tang, B. L. (2013). Linking membrane dynamics and trafficking to autophagy and the unfolded protein response. J. Cell Physiol. 228, 1638–1640. doi: 10.1002/jcp.24341
- Colla, E., Coune, P., Liu, Y., Pletnikova, O., Troncoso, J. C., Iwatsubo, T., et al. (2012a). Endoplasmic reticulum stress is important for the manifestations of alpha-synucleinopathy *in vivo*. J. Neurosci. 32, 3306–3320. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5367-11.2012
- Colla, E., Jensen, P. H., Pletnikova, O., Troncoso, J. C., Glabe, C., and Lee, M. K. (2012b). Accumulation of toxic α-synuclein oligomer within endoplasmic reticulum occurs in α-synucleinopathy *in vivo. J. Neurosci.* 32, 3301–3305. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5368-11.2012
- Cooper, A. A., Gitler, A. D., Cashikar, A., Haynes, C. M., Hill, K. J., Bhullar, B., et al. (2006). Alpha-synuclein blocks ER-Golgi traffic and Rab1 rescues neuron loss in Parkinson's models. *Science* 313, 324–328. doi: 10.1126/science.1129462
- Coune, P. G., Bensadoun, J. C., Aebischer, P., and Schneider, B. L. (2011). Rab1A over-expression prevents Golgi apparatus fragmentation and partially corrects motor deficits in an alpha-synuclein based rat model of Parkinson's disease. *J. Parkinsons Dis.* 1, 373–387. doi: 10.3233/JPD-2011-11058
- Credle, J. J., Forcelli, P. A., Delannoy, M., Oaks, A. W., Permaul, E., Berry, D. L., et al. (2015). alpha-Synuclein-mediated inhibition of ATF6 processing into COPII vesicles disrupts UPR signaling in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 76, 112–125. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.02.005
- Dalfó, E., Gomez-Isla, T., Rosa, J. L., Nieto Bodelón, M., Cuadrado Tejedor, M., Barrachina, M., et al. (2004). Abnormal alpha-synuclein interactions with Rab proteins in alpha-synuclein A30P transgenic mice. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 63, 302–313.
- Deleersnijder, A., Gerard, M., Debyser, Z., and Baekelandt, V. (2013). The remarkable conformational plasticity of alpha-synuclein: blessing or curse? *Trends Mol. Med.* 19, 368–377. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2013.04.002
- DeWitt, D. C., and Rhoades, E. (2013). alpha-Synuclein can inhibit SNAREmediated vesicle fusion through direct interactions with lipid bilayers. *Biochemistry* 52, 2385–2387. doi: 10.1021/bi4002369
- Diao, J., Burré, J., Vivona, S., Cipriano, D. J., Sharma, M., Kyoung, M., et al. (2013). Native alpha-synuclein induces clustering of synaptic-vesicle mimics via binding to phospholipids and synaptobrevin-2/VAMP2. *Elife* 2:e00592. doi: 10.7554/eLife.00592

- Exner, N., Lutz, A. K., Haass, C., and Winklhofer, K. F. (2012). Mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: molecular mechanisms and pathophysiological consequences. *EMBO J.* 31, 3038–3062. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.170
- Fan, J., Hu, Z., Zeng, L., Lu, W., Tang, X., Zhang, J., et al. (2008). Golgi apparatus and neurodegenerative diseases. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 26, 523–534. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2008.05.006
- Flower, T. R., Clark-Dixon, C., Metoyer, C., Yang, H., Shi, R., Zhang, Z., et al. (2007). YGR198w (YPP1) targets A30P alpha-synuclein to the vacuole for degradation. J. Cell Biol. 177, 1091–1104. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200610071
- Fortin, D. L., Troyer, M. D., Nakamura, K., Kubo, S., Anthony, M. D., and Edwards, R. H. (2004). Lipid rafts mediate the synaptic localization of alpha-synuclein. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 6715–6723. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1594-04.2004
- Fouillet, A., Levet, C., Virgone, A., Robin, M., Dourlen, P., Rieusset, J., et al. (2012). ER stress inhibits neuronal death by promoting autophagy. *Autophagy* 8, 915–926. doi: 10.4161/auto.19716
- Gitler, A. D., Bevis, B. J., Shorter, J., Strathearn, K. E., Hamamichi, S., Su, L. J., et al. (2008). The Parkinson's disease protein alpha-synuclein disrupts cellular Rab homeostasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 145–150. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0710685105
- Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., and Gonatas, J. O. (2006). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus in neurodegenerative diseases and cell death. J. Neurol. Sci. 246, 21–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2006.01.019
- Gosavi, N., Lee, H. J., Lee, J. S., Patel, S., and Lee, S. J. (2002). Golgi fragmentation occurs in the cells with prefibrillar alpha-synuclein aggregates and precedes the formation of fibrillar inclusion. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 48984–48992. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M208194200
- Greten-Harrison, B., Polydoro, M., Morimoto-Tomita, M., Diao, L., Williams, A. M., Nie, E. H., et al. (2010). alphabetagamma-Synuclein triple knockout mice reveal age-dependent neuronal dysfunction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 19573–19578. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005005107
- Guerreiro, P. S., Huang, Y., Gysbers, A., Cheng, D., Gai, W. P., Outeiro, T. F., et al. (2013). LRRK2 interactions with alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease brains and in cell models. *J. Mol. Med. (Berl)*. 91, 513–522. doi: 10.1007/s00109-012-0984-y
- He, C., and Klionsky, D. J. (2009). Regulation mechanisms and signaling pathways of autophagy. Ann. Rev. Genet. 43, 67–93. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-102808-114910
- Kahle, P. J., Neumann, M., Ozmen, L., Muller, V., Jacobsen, H., Schindzielorz, A., et al. (2000). Subcellular localization of wild-type and Parkinson's diseaseassociated mutant alpha -synuclein in human and transgenic mouse brain. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 6365–6373.
- Khalaf, O., Fauvet, B., Oueslati, A., Dikiy, I., Mahul-Mellier, A.-L., Ruggeri, F. S., et al. (2014). The H50Q mutation enhances α-synuclein aggregation, secretion, and toxicity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 21856–21876. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114. 553297
- Kingsbury, A. E., Bandopadhyay, R., Silveira-Moriyama, L., Ayling, H., Kallis, C., Sterlacci, W., et al. (2010). Brain stem pathology in Parkinson's disease: an evaluation of the Braak staging model. *Mov. Disord.* 25, 2508–2515. doi: 10.1002/mds.23305
- Kitao, Y., Imai, Y., Ozawa, K., Kataoka, A., Ikeda, T., Soda, M., et al. (2007). Pael receptor induces death of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra via endoplasmic reticulum stress and dopamine toxicity, which is enhanced under condition of parkin inactivation. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 16, 50–60. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddl439
- Kroemer, G., Mariño, G., and Levine, B. (2010). Autophagy and the integrated stress response. *Mol. Cell.* 40, 280–293. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.023
- Kumari, U., and Tan, E. K. (2009). LRRK2 in Parkinson's disease: genetic and clinical studies from patients. FEBS J. 276, 6455–6463. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07344.x
- Lai, Y., Kim, S., Varkey, J., Lou, X., Song, J. K., Diao, J., et al. (2014). Nonaggregated alpha-synuclein influences SNARE-dependent vesicle docking via membrane binding. *Biochemistry* 53, 3889–3896. doi: 10.1021/bi5002536
- Lee, H. J., Cho, E. D., Lee, K. W., Kim, J. H., Cho, S. G., and Lee, S. J. (2013). Autophagic failure promotes the exocytosis and intercellular transfer of alphasynuclein. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 45, e22. doi: 10.1038/emm.2013.45
- Lee, H. J., Kang, S. J., Lee, K., and Im, H. (2011). Human alpha-synuclein modulates vesicle trafficking through its interaction with prenylated Rab

acceptor protein 1. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 412, 526-531. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.07.028

- Lee, H. J., Khoshaghideh, F., Lee, S., and Lee, S. J. (2006). Impairment of microtubule-dependent trafficking by overexpression of alpha-synuclein. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 24, 3153–3162. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.05210.x
- Lee, H. J., Suk, J. E., Bae, E. J., Lee, J. H., Paik, S. R., and Lee, S. J. (2008). Assemblydependent endocytosis and clearance of extracellular alpha-synuclein. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 40, 1835–1849. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2008.01.017
- Lin, X., Parisiadou, L., Gu, X.-L., Wang, L., Shim, H., Sun, L., et al. (2009). Leucinerich repeat kinase 2 regulates the progression of neuropathology induced by Parkinson's-disease-related mutant alpha-synuclein. *Neuron* 64, 807–827. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.11.006
- Lionaki, E., Markaki, M., Palikaras, K., and Tavernarakis, N. (2015). Mitochondria, autophagy and age-associated neurodegenerative diseases: new insights into a complex interplay. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1847, 1412–1423. doi: 10.1016/j. bbabio.2015.04.010
- Liu, J., Zhang, J. P., Shi, M., Quinn, T., Bradner, J., Beyer, R., et al. (2009). Rab11a and HSP90 regulate recycling of extracellular alpha-synuclein. J. Neurosci. 29, 1480–1485. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6202-08.2009
- Maroteaux, L., Campanelli, J. T., and Scheller, R. H. (1988). Synuclein: a neuronspecific protein localized to the nucleus and presynaptic nerve terminal. *J. Neurosci.* 8, 2804–2815.
- Mercado, G., Valdés, P., and Hetz, C. (2013). An ERcentric view of Parkinson's disease. Trends Mol. Med. 19, 165–175. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2012.12.005
- Mignogna, M. L., Giannandrea, M., Gurgone, A., Fanelli, F., Raimondi, F., Mapelli, L., et al. (2015). The intellectual disability protein RAB39B selectively regulates GluA2 trafficking to determine synaptic AMPAR composition. *Nat. Commun.* 6, 6504. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7504
- Murphy, D. D., Rueter, S. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M. (2000). Synucleins are developmentally expressed, and alpha-synuclein regulates the size of the presynaptic vesicular pool in primary hippocampal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 3214–3220.
- Nakagomi, S., Barsoum, M. J., Bossy-Wetzel, E., Sütterlin, C., Malhotra, V., and Lipton, S. A. (2008). A Golgi fragmentation pathway in neurodegeneration. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 29, 221–231. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2007.08.015
- Nemani, V. M., Lu, W., Berge, V., Nakamura, K., Onoa, B., Lee, M. K., et al. (2010). Increased expression of alpha-synuclein reduces neurotransmitter release by inhibiting synaptic vesicle reclustering after endocytosis. *Neuron* 65, 66–79. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.12.023
- Ninkina, N., Peters, O. M., Connor-Robson, N., Lytkina, O., Sharfeddin, E., and Buchman, V. L. (2012). Contrasting effects of alpha-synuclein and gammasynuclein on the phenotype of cysteine string protein alpha (CSPalpha) null mutant mice suggest distinct function of these proteins in neuronal synapses. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 44471–44477. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.422402
- Oaks, A. W., Marsh-Armstrong, N., Jones, J. M., Credle, J. J., and Sidhu, A. (2013). Synucleins antagonize endoplasmic reticulum function to modulate dopamine transporter trafficking. *PLoS ONE* 8:e70872. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070872
- Omura, T., Kaneko, M., Okuma, Y., Matsubara, K., and Nomura, Y. (2013). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and Parkinson's disease: the role of HRD1 in averting apoptosis in neurodegenerative disease. Oxid. Med. Cell Longev. 2013:239854. doi: 10.1155/2013/239854
- Oueslati, A., Fournier, M., and Lashuel, H. A. (2010). Role of post-translational modifications in modulating the structure, function and toxicity of alphasynuclein: implications for Parkinson's disease pathogenesis and therapies. *Prog. Brain Res.* 183, 115–145. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(10)83007-9
- Paleologou, K. E., Oueslati, A., Shakked, G., Rospigliosi, C. C., Kim, H. Y., Lamberto, G. R., et al. (2010). Phosphorylation at S87 is enhanced in synucleinopathies, inhibits alpha-synuclein oligomerization, and influences synuclein-membrane interactions. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 3184–3198. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5922-09.2010
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., et al. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science* 276, 2045–2047. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5321.2045
- Pranke, I. M., Morello, V., Bigay, J., Gibson, K., Verbavatz, J.-M., Antonny, B., et al. (2011). α-Synuclein and ALPS motifs are membrane curvature sensors whose contrasting chemistry mediates selective vesicle binding. *J. Cell Biol.* 194, 89–103. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201011118

- Qing, H., Wong, W., McGeer, E. G., and McGeer, P. L. (2009). Lrrk2 phosphorylates alpha synuclein at serine 129: Parkinson disease implications. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 387, 149–152. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.06.142
- Reiling, J. H., Olive, A. J., Sanyal, S., Carette, J. E., Brummelkamp, T. R., Ploegh, H. L., et al. (2013). A CREB3-ARF4 signalling pathway mediates the response to Golgi stress and susceptibility to pathogens. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 1473–1485. doi: 10.1038/ncb2865
- Rendón, W. O., Martinez-Alonso, E., Tomas, M., Martínez-Martínez, N., and Martínez-Menárguez, J. A. (2013). Golgi fragmentation is Rab and SNARE dependent in cellular models of Parkinson's disease. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 139, 671–684. doi: 10.1007/s00418-012-1059-4
- Salganik, M., Sergeyev, V. G., Shinde, V., Meyers, C. A., Gorbatyuk, M. S., Lin, J. H., et al. (2015). The loss of glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78) during normal aging or from siRNA knockdown augments human alpha-synuclein (alpha-syn) toxicity to rat nigral neurons. *Neurobiol. Aging* 36, 2213–2223. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.02.018
- Schulze, A., Standera, S., Buerger, E., Kikkert, M., van Voorden, S., Wiertz, E., et al. (2005). The ubiquitin-domain protein HERP forms a complex with components of the endoplasmic reticulum associated degradation pathway. *J. Mol. Biol.* 354, 1021–1027. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2005.10.020
- Slodzinski, H., Moran, L. B., Michael, G. J., Wang, B., Novoselov, S., Cheetham, M. E., et al. (2009). Homocysteine-induced endoplasmic reticulum protein (herp) is up-regulated in parkinsonian substantia nigra and present in the core of Lewy bodies. *Clin. Neuropathol.* 28, 333–343. doi: 10.2379/NPX08162
- Smith, W. W., Jiang, H., Pei, Z., Tanaka, Y., Morita, H., Sawa, A., et al. (2005). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondrial cell death pathways mediate A53T mutant alpha-synuclein-induced toxicity. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 14, 3801–3811. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi396
- Snead, D., and Eliezer, D. (2014). Alpha-synuclein function and dysfunction on cellular membranes. *Exp. Neurobiol.* 23, 292–313. doi: 10.5607/en.2014.23.4.292
- Soper, J. H., Kehm, V., Burd, C. G., Bankaitis, V. A., and Lee, V. M. (2011). Aggregation of alpha-synuclein in S. cerevisiae is associated with defects in endosomal trafficking and phospholipid biosynthesis. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 43, 391–405. doi: 10.1007/s12031-010-9455-5
- Soper, J. H., Roy, S., Stieber, A., Lee, E., Wilson, R. B., Trojanowski, J. Q., et al. (2008). Alpha-synuclein-induced aggregation of cytoplasmic vesicles in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 19, 1093–1103. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-08-0827
- Spooner, R. A., and Lord, J. M. (2012). How ricin and Shiga toxin reach the cytosol of target cells: retrotranslocation from the endoplasmic reticulum. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 357, 19–40. doi: 10.1007/82_2011_154
- Su, L. J., Auluck, P. K., Outeiro, T. F., Yeger-Lotem, E., Kritzer, J. A., Tardiff, D. F., et al. (2010). Compounds from an unbiased chemical screen reverse both ER-to-Golgi trafficking defects and mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease models. *Dis. Model. Mech.* 3, 194–208. doi: 10.1242/dmm.004267
- Sun, K.-H., de Pablo, Y., Vincent, F., Johnson, E. O., Chavers, A. K., and Shah, K. (2008). Novel genetic tools reveal Cdk5's major role in Golgi fragmentation in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 19, 3052–3069. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-11-1106
- Tanik, S. A., Schultheiss, C. E., Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Brunden, K. R., and Lee, V. M. (2013). Lewy body-like alpha-synuclein aggregates resist degradation and impair macroautophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 15194–15210. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.457408
- Tardiff, D. F., Jui, N. T., Khurana, V., Tambe, M. A., Thompson, M. L., Chung, C. Y., et al. (2013). Yeast reveal a "druggable" Rsp5/Nedd4 network that ameliorates α -synuclein toxicity in neurons. *Science* 342, 979–983. doi: 10.1126/science.1245321

- Thayanidhi, N., Helm, J. R., Nycz, D. C., Bentley, M., Liang, Y., and Hay, J. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein delays endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-to-Golgi transport in mammalian cells by antagonizing ER/Golgi SNAREs. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 21, 1850–1863. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E09-09-0801
- Thayer, D. A., Jan, Y. N., and Jan, L. Y. (2013). Increased neuronal activity fragments the Golgi complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110, 1482–1487. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1220978110
- Tsai, Y. C., Fishman, P. S., Thakor, N. V., and Oyler, G. A. (2003). Parkin facilitates the elimination of expanded polyglutamine proteins and leads to preservation of proteasome function. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 22044–22055. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M212235200
- Valdés, P., Mercado, G., Vidal, R. L., Molina, C., Parsons, G., Court, F. A., et al. (2014). Control of dopaminergic neuron survival by the unfolded protein response transcription factor XBP1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 6804–6809. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1321845111
- van Dijk, K. D., Persichetti, E., Chiasserini, D., Eusebi, P., Beccari, T., Calabresi, P., et al. (2013). Changes in endolysosomal enzyme activities in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 28, 747–754. doi: 10.1002/mds.25495
- Vargas, K. J., Makani, S., Davis, T., Westphal, C. H., Castillo, P. E., and Chandra, S. S. (2014). Synucleins regulate the kinetics of synaptic vesicle endocytosis. J. Neurosci. 34, 9364–9376. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4787-13.2014
- Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Gamble, K. L., Schultheiss, C. E., Riddle, D. M., West, A. B., and Lee, V. M. (2014). Formation of alpha-synuclein Lewy neurite-like aggregates in axons impedes the transport of distinct endosomes. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 25, 4010–4023. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E14-02-0741
- Watson, P., Townley, A. K., Koka, P., Palmer, K. J., and Stephens, D. J. (2006). Sec16 defines endoplasmic reticulum exit sites and is required for secretory cargo export in mammalian cells. *Traffic* 7, 1678–1687. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2006.00493.x
- Wilson, G. R., Sim, J. C. H., McLean, C., Giannandrea, M., Galea, C. A., Riseley, J. R., et al. (2014). Mutations in RAB39B cause X-linked intellectual disability and early-onset Parkinson disease with α-synuclein pathology. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 95, 729–735. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.10.015
- Winslow, A. R., Chen, C. W., Corrochano, S., Acevedo-Arozena, A., Gordon, D. E., Peden, A. A., et al. (2010). alpha-Synuclein impairs macroautophagy: implications for Parkinson's disease. *J. Cell Biol.* 190, 1023–1037. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201003122
- Yin, G., Lopes da Fonseca, T., Eisbach, S. E., Anduaga, A. M., Breda, C., Orcellet, M. L., et al. (2014). alpha-Synuclein interacts with the switch region of Rab8a in a Ser129 phosphorylation-dependent manner. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 70, 149–161. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.06.018
- Zarranz, J. J., Alegre, J., Gómez-Esteban, J. C., Lezcano, E., Ros, R., Ampuero, I., et al. (2004). The new mutation, E46K, of alpha-synuclein causes Parkinson and Lewy body dementia. *Ann. Neurol.* 55, 164–173. doi: 10.1002/ana. 10795

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Wang and Hay. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Golgi fragmentation in Alzheimer's disease

Gunjan Joshi^{1†}, Michael E. Bekier II^{1†} and Yanzhuang Wang^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA, ² Department of Neurology, University of Michigan School of Medicine, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

The Golgi apparatus is an essential cellular organelle for post-translational modifications, sorting, and trafficking of membrane and secretory proteins. Proper functionality of the Golgi requires the formation of its unique cisternal-stacking morphology. The Golgi structure is disrupted in a variety of neurodegenerative diseases, suggesting a common mechanism and contribution of Golgi defects in neurodegenerative disorders. A recent study on Alzheimer's disease (AD) revealed that phosphorylation of the Golgi stacking protein GRASP65 disrupts its function in Golgi structure formation, resulting in Golgi fragmentation. Inhibiting GRASP65 phosphorylation restores the Golgi morphology from A β -induced fragmentation and reduces A β production. Perturbing Golgi structure and function in neurons may directly impact trafficking, processing, and sorting of a variety of proteins essential for synaptic and dendritic integrity. Therefore, Golgi defects may ultimately promote the development of AD. In the current review, we focus on the cellular impact of impaired Golgi morphology and its potential relationship to AD disease development.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, amyloid precursor protein, amyloid beta, Golgi, GRASP65, phosphorylation

Introduction

The Golgi apparatus is a membranous cellular organelle that mediates proper trafficking, posttranslational processing, and sorting of membrane and secretory proteins. The Golgi is often localized to the perinuclear region of the cell, which depends on an intact microtubule network and a motor protein dynein. Golgi membranes form multilayer stacks that are laterally linked into a ribbon. Formation of stable multilayer stacks and ribbons appears to be essential for proper functioning of the Golgi (Rambourg et al., 1987; Ladinsky et al., 1999; Klumperman, 2011; Klute et al., 2011). The Golgi structure is controlled by Golgi matrix proteins, a group of peripheral and membrane proteins localized on the cytoplasmic surface of Golgi membranes, including the coiled-coil domain-containing golgins and the stacking proteins GRASP55/65 (Ramirez and Lowe, 2009; Xiang and Wang, 2011; Wong and Munro, 2014). Depletion of Golgi matrix proteins such as GRASP65 (Xiang et al., 2013; Veenendaal et al., 2014), GRASP55 (Feinstein and Linstedt, 2008; Xiang and Wang, 2010), GM130 (Puthenveedu et al., 2006), golgin-84 (Diao et al., 2003), and golgin-160 (Williams et al., 2006), or treatment of cells with pharmacological drugs such as Brefeldin A (BFA) (Klausner et al., 1992), results in an abnormal, fragmented Golgi morphology. Disruption of normal Golgi morphology directly impacts protein trafficking and processing. For example, breaking down the Golgi ribbon of mammalian cells by nocodazole treatment strongly inhibits intra-Golgi transport of large cargoes without altering the rate of transport of smaller cargoes (Lavieu et al., 2014), while inhibition of stack formation by knocking down GRASP55/65

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Catherine Rabouille, Hubrecht Institute of the KNAW, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Nigel Hooper, University of Manchester, UK Peng Lei, The University of Melbourne, Australia Martin Lowe, University of Manchester, UK

*Correspondence:

Yanzhuang Wang, Department of Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology, University of Michigan, 830 North University Avenue, Ann Arbor, MI 48109-1048, USA yzwang@umich.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 23 July 2015 Accepted: 08 September 2015 Published: 24 September 2015

Citation:

Joshi G, Bekier ME II and Wang Y (2015) Golgi fragmentation in Alzheimer's disease. Front. Neurosci. 9:340. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00340 by RNA interference (RNAi) accelerates protein trafficking, impairs proper glycosylation, and leads to missorting and delivery of lysosomal proteins to the extracellular space (Xiang et al., 2013). Thus, the structure of the Golgi is closely linked to vital cellular processes.

Golgi fragmentation has been observed in neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's (AD) (Stieber et al., 1996; Huse et al., 2002), Parkinson's (PD) (Mizuno et al., 2001), and Huntington's (HD) (Hilditch-Maguire et al., 2000) diseases and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Mourelatos et al., 1996; Gonatas et al., 1998; Fujita and Okamoto, 2005). However, the molecular basis of Golgi fragmentation and its role in disease progression remain largely unexplored. Golgi defects may impact the trafficking and processing of many proteins essential for neuronal functions. Thus, morphological and subsequent functional impairments of the Golgi may contribute to the neurotoxicity associated with neurodegenerative diseases. Understanding the mechanisms that cause Golgi fragmentation and its downstream effects on neuronal functions are likely important for understanding the molecular basis of the diseases. Furthermore, targeting Golgi structural defects may represent a novel approach to treating or preventing related diseases with Golgi defects. In this review, we summarize the current literature on the cause and effect of Golgi fragmentation in AD, the leading cause of dementia in adults (Alzheimer's, 2015).

Golgi and Amyloid Plaque Formation

One neuropathological hallmark of AD is the formation of extracellular amyloid plaques by secreted amyloid beta (Aβ) peptides (Nelson et al., 2009), which is highly related to Golgi structure and function (Figure 1). A β is derived from the amyloid precursor protein (APP), a type I membrane protein that travels through the exocytic and endocytic pathways and undergoes sequential proteolysis by the action of β - and γ secretases (Vassar et al., 1999). In neurons, APP is transported from the Golgi to many sub-cellular compartments (Haass et al., 1992), including the soma, dendrites and axons, through the exocytic and endocytic pathways. Despite the abundant literature demonstrating the critical role of endosomes in APP processing (for review see Suh and Checler, 2002; Small and Gandy, 2006), it has been indicated that the Golgi (in particular the trans-Golgi network) may be a site where $A\beta$ is generated in the cell (Greenfield et al., 1999; Burgos et al., 2010; Choy et al., 2012). In addition, proper functioning of the Golgi is required for trafficking and maturation of both APP and its processing enzymes. For instance, the activity of the γ -secretase depends on the trafficking and maturation of nicastrin (Chung and Struhl, 2001) and other components of the γ -secretase complex through the Golgi (Herreman et al., 2003). Nicastrin is not catalytically active, but is important for the maturation and proper trafficking of the γ -secretase complex (Zhang et al., 2005). Nicastrin functions to stabilize presenilins (PSs), the catalytic subunit of the y-secretase complex, and mediates PS trafficking to the cell surface by an unknown mechanism (Edbauer et al., 2002; Hu et al., 2002). Nicastrin also binds to the N-terminal domain of APP, and facilitates APP trafficking and cleavage (Yu et al., 2000; Kimberly et al., 2002). APP travels from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) through the Golgi to the plasma membrane. The majority of APP localizes to the Golgi where it undergoes post-translational modifications and only a small fraction resides in the ER and the plasma membrane (Thinakaran and Koo, 2008). Finally, the α -secretates ADAM10 is transported from dendritic Golgi outposts to synaptic membranes, a reaction modulated by the synapse-associated protein-97 (SAP97) (Saraceno et al., 2014). Thus, APP processing and A β production are intrinsically linked to the proper morphology and functionality of the Golgi.

Golgi and Tau Pathology in AD

Another pathological distinction in AD is the formation of neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) caused by precipitation of hyperphosphorylated tau protein, which is also related to Golgi structure and function (**Figure 1**) (Morishima-Kawashima and Ihara, 2002). Tau is an abundant protein that binds and stabilizes microtubules in neurons (Gong and Alonso Adel, 2013). Neurons have long protrusions such as axons; transport of membrane organelles and proteins into and from these protrusions highly depends on an intact microtubule network (Baas, 2002). Long microtubules emanate out of the centrosomes and function as the track for rapid transport of membranes by kinesin and dynein motors (Hancock, 2014). Membranes and proteins for synaptic vesicle formation and synaptic function are essentially all transported in this way (Gallant, 2000; Goldstein and Yang, 2000).

In AD, hyperphosphorylation of tau results in NFT formation, which impairs microtubule integrity and blocks membrane transport (Patrick et al., 1999; Avila, 2006; Baloyannis, 2014). Interestingly, the Golgi, whose formation relies on an intact microtubule network (Rios and Bornens, 2003), may also function as an important microtubule organization center (Lewis and Polleux, 2012; Ori-McKenney et al., 2012; Zhu and Kaverina, 2013). Multiple microtubule-binding proteins, such as y-tubulin (Radulescu et al., 2011), CLASP (Liu et al., 2007; Miller et al., 2009), GMAP-210 (Infante et al., 1999; Roboti et al., 2015), and GM130 (Rivero et al., 2009), are localized on the Golgi membranes and modulate microtubule network formation and membrane trafficking in neurons (Rios, 2014; Tang et al., 2015) and astrocytes (Yoshiyama et al., 2003). It has been reported that tau interacts with Golgi membranes and mediates their association with microtubules (Farah et al., 2006). Overexpression of wild-type and mutant human tau proteins causes Golgi fragmentation in primary hippocampal neurons (Liazoghli et al., 2005), implying that overabundance of tau, and potentially NFT formation, precedes Golgi morphological defects. Additionally, Golgi fragmentation may affect tau phosphorylation (Jiang et al., 2014) and promote NFTs formation in AD (Grundke-Iqbal et al., 1986). Therefore, there is a close connection between Golgi morphology and function, microtubule organization, and tau pathology in AD.

Golgi Morphological Defects in AD

Golgi morphological alterations have been observed in neurons of AD patients (Dal Canto, 1996; Stieber et al., 1996; Gonatas



which are essential for neuronal function, are properly sorted and transported. Together, these factors maintain neuronal functionality and viability. (B) In AD, the Golgi is fragmented due to inactivation of Golgi structural proteins, such as degradation or phosphorylation of GRASP65 (pGRASP65), or tau hyper phosphorylation (pTau) and NFT formation that disrupt MT dynamics and protein trafficking. Golgi fragmentation impairs trafficking, processing, and sorting of APP and APP-processing enzymes, which stimulates amyloidogenic APP cleavage and further inactivates GRASP65. Additionally, Golgi fragmentation is predicted to alter trafficking, processing, and sorting of proteins, lipids, and polysaccharides that are essential for neuronal function; which could ultimately promote neuronal dysfunction and/or cell death.

et al., 1998; Huse et al., 2002), which occur even before the formation of NFTs and neuritic plaques (Baloyannis, 2014). Golgi fragmentation has been recently confirmed in AD tissue culture and mouse models (Joshi et al., 2014). Expression of the Swedish mutant APP (APPswe) and the exon 9-deletion mutant PS1 (PS1 E9) in cells and mouse brain, or treatment of neurons with synthetic Aß peptides, resulted in Golgi fragmentation. Under fluorescence microscopy, Golgi elements are unlinked and dispersed into the cytoplasm. Under electron microscopy (EM), the disconnected Golgi stacks exhibit reduced number of cisternae per stack, shorter cisternae, more vesicles surrounding each stack and a dilated Golgi structure compared with wild type cells and untreated neurons (Joshi et al., 2014). In this study, the direct cause of Golgi fragmentation is $A\beta$ accumulation, as AB treatment causes Golgi fragmentation in cultured neurons and other cell types; this effect is reversible upon removal of AB from the tissue culture medium (Joshi et al., 2014). Golgi fragmentation has also been observed under physiological conditions, such as during migration, upon growth factor treatment, and in neurons with increased neuronal activity (Bisel et al., 2008; Thayer et al., 2013), suggesting that Golgi fragmentation may not be an immediate pathological response, but rather a compensatory reaction to allow fast transport of proteins to their final destinations when the cells are under stress. Golgi fragmentation, however, impacts protein glycosylation and sorting (Wang et al., 2008; Xiang et al., 2013), as we discuss below.

Mechanisms of Golgi Morphological Defects in AD

The formation and maintenance of the perinuclear localization of the Golgi ribbon rely on an intact microtubule cytoskeleton emanating from the perinuclear centrosomes (Glick and Nakano, 2009; Yadav and Linstedt, 2011; Rios, 2014). The minus enddirected motor dynein associates with the Golgi and moves the membranes along the microtubules toward the centrosomes, leading to the concentration of the Golgi stacks in the pericentriolar region and formation of the Golgi ribbon (Rios and Bornens, 2003; Miller et al., 2009). The basic structural and functional unit of the Golgi is a stack of flattened cisternae. The exact mechanism for Golgi stack formation is not fully understood, but is believed to rely on Golgi structural proteins (Wang and Seemann, 2011; Xiang and Wang, 2011). Among the well characterized Golgi structural proteins, GRASP65 (Wang et al., 2003) and GRASP55 (Xiang and Wang, 2010) play

essential roles in Golgi structure formation, whereas others, including GM130 (Lowe et al., 1998), golgin-160 (Hicks and Machamer, 2002), and p115 (Chiu et al., 2002), are more important for trafficking across the Golgi stack (Xiang and Wang, 2011). For example, GRASP65 forms oligomers that tether the cisternae into stacks (Wang et al., 2003; Tang et al., 2010; Lavieu et al., 2013) and ribbons (Puthenveedu et al., 2006). Recently a GRASP65 knockout mouse has been reported, with defects in cis-Golgi ribbon-linking and no apparent neurological phenotype (Veenendaal et al., 2014). One potential concern regarding this mouse strain is that some mRNA encoding exon 1–3 is still present (\sim 20% of the mRNA level in wild-type mice). This truncated mRNA encodes a 115 aa N-terminal fragment of GRASP65. If translated (although not detected by available antibodies raised against the full length protein), this fragment would be sufficient for Golgi stacking, according to biochemical and structural studies (Tang et al., 2010; Truschel et al., 2011). However, a more recent structure (Feng et al., 2013) indicates that a longer fragment is needed for GRASP65 function in Golgi stack formation (Wang et al., 2003, 2005). The lack of a more prominent Golgi stacking and neurological phenotype may also be due to the complementation by GRASP55, the homolog of GRASP65 that shares some redundancy in stacking (Shorter et al., 1999; Lee et al., 2014).

The mechanism of Golgi fragmentation in AD has not been well studied, but likely involves multiple mechanisms (Figure 1). One possibility is through the disruption of the microtubule network by tau precipitation and NFT formation (Liazoghli et al., 2005). Microtubule defects may affect both the central localization of the Golgi in the cell and ER-Golgiplasma membrane trafficking that indirectly impacts the size and morphology of the Golgi (Fokin et al., 2014). Tau could also affect vesicle trafficking by inhibiting the binding of motor proteins such as kinesins to microtubules (Seitz et al., 2002). Another possibility is through modulation of Golgi structural proteins (Figure 2). Both mitotic phosphorylation and apoptotic cleavage of Golgi proteins results in Golgi fragmentation (Wang and Seemann, 2011). For instance, GRASP65 is phosphorylated by mitotic kinases Cdk1 and Polo-like kinase (Plk1) during mitosis (Wang et al., 2003) and cleaved by caspase-3 in apoptosis (Lane et al., 2002), both of which cause Golgi fragmentation (Tang et al., 2008; Wang and Seemann, 2011). In tissue culture and mouse models of AD, GRASP65 phosphorylation was implicated as a major cause of Golgi fragmentation (Joshi et al., 2014; Joshi and Wang, 2015). At the molecular level, $A\beta$ accumulation triggers Ca²⁺ influx (Zempel et al., 2010), which activates Calpain, a protease known to increase the cleavage of p35 to p25 (Lee et al., 2000), p25 then activates Cdk5. It has been previously reported that p35 and Cdk5 are associated with Golgi membranes and regulate membrane traffic (Paglini et al., 2001). Subsequently, Cdk5 (also known to phosphorylate tau in AD) phosphorylates GRASP65, which negatively regulates GRASP65, leading to Golgi fragmentation. Consequently, Golgi fragmentation enhances APP trafficking and increases AB production (Joshi et al., 2014). Fragmentation of the Golgi was rapidly reversible by the use of Cdk5-specific inhibitors, or by expression of nonphosphorylatable GRASP proteins, both of which significantly reduced APP trafficking and $A\beta$ production (**Figure 2**). In the same study, degradation of Golgi structural proteins was not detected (Joshi et al., 2014). These results suggest that Golgi fragmentation in AD, at least in the early stage, is caused by phosphorylation of Golgi structural proteins, an event that occurs in parallel with tau hyper-phosphorylation during the development of the disease. Overall, the causes of Golgi structural defects in AD are expected to be manifold and require further investigation to determine the precise mechanisms.

Functional Consequences of Golgi Fragmentation in AD

Proper Golgi structure formation controls the sequence and speed of protein transport through the Golgi membranes for proper trafficking, maturation, sorting, and processing of not only APP, but also many neuronal proteins (Dries and Yu, 2008; Joshi and Wang, 2015). When BACE1 activity is increased or AB clearance is decreased, AB accumulation induces Golgi fragmentation through modification of GRASP65, and other Golgi structural proteins (Joshi et al., 2014; Joshi and Wang, 2015). Fragmentation of the Golgi, as one possible outcome, enhances vesicle budding from the Golgi membranes, accelerates protein trafficking, and impairs accurate glycosylation (Wang et al., 2008; Xiang et al., 2013), and thus increases Aβ production by enhancing amyloidogenic cleavage (Figure 2). APP and the β-secretase BACE1 are sorted by the Golgi into different compartments and the loss of the sorting function of the Golgi by fragmentation in AD results in defective trafficking of APP and BACE1, which promotes AB production (Tan and Evin, 2012; Das et al., 2013; Joshi et al., 2014). This deleterious feedback loop may impair the integrity of the secretory pathway for sorting, trafficking and modifications of many essential neuronal proteins. For example, many AD-related proteins that are essential for neuronal function, such as NMDA and AMPA receptors (Pérez-Otaño and Ehlers, 2005; Greger and Esteban, 2007; Shepherd and Huganir, 2007), and synaptic integrity proteins such as neurexins (Fairless et al., 2008; Reissner et al., 2013), are processed and trafficked through the Golgi. Thus, Golgi fragmentation might impair trafficking of membrane receptors and ion channels that regulate neuronal function and/or viability (Figure 1).

Long term Golgi defects might also result in a significant change in the composition of proteins, lipids, and polysaccharides at the cell surface (**Figure 1**). A change in the composition of cell-surface molecules could not only directly impair neuronal activity and synaptic integrity, but also potentially trigger an immune response against neurons with Golgi defects that leads to cell death. In addition, Golgi defects may impact microtubule organization, tau function, and cell polarity. The Golgi also functions as a storage reservoir for Ca^{2+} (Pinton et al., 1998; Griesbeck et al., 2001), a small molecule essential for neurotransmission. Ca^{2+} is a key regulator of membrane fusion (Pang and Sudhof, 2010), synaptic plasticity (Neher and Sakaba, 2008), and neurite growth (Tojima et al., 2011). Defects in calcium signaling has been observed



in neurodegeneration (Wojda et al., 2008), and prolonged neuronal hyperexcitability and neuronal activity lead to Golgi fragmentation (Thayer et al., 2013). Taken together, Golgi defects may compromise neuron activity and survival through multiple pathways and serve as an important mechanism of pathogenesis in AD and other neurodegenerative diseases.

Conclusion

The Golgi apparatus plays an essential role in trafficking and sorting of proteins that are vital for neuronal functions. The Golgi is fragmented in many neurodegenerative diseases, suggesting that Golgi defects may contribute to neurodegeneration. Golgi fragmentation likely involves multiple mechanisms. In a recent study on AD, Golgi fragmentation is caused by phosphorylation of the Golgi structural protein GRASP65 and Golgi fragmentation results in enhanced APP trafficking and A β production. Golgi fragmentation is predicted to impair

References

- Alzheimer's, A. (2015). 2015 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers. Dement. 11, 332-384. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2015.02.003
- Avila, J. (2006). Tau phosphorylation and aggregation in Alzheimer's disease pathology. FEBS Lett. 580, 2922–2927. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2006.02.067

intracellular trafficking of many proteins that are essential for neuronal function. Restoring Golgi morphological defects might be an attractive approach to treating, or even preventing, AD. Understanding the impact of Golgi pathology and determining the molecular mechanisms that cause Golgi fragmentation is expected to shed insight into novel therapeutic approaches for treating AD and potentially other neurodegenerative disorders.

Acknowledgments

We thank Drs. Henry Paulson, Raymond Scott Turner, Geoffrey Murphy, and Wang lab members for insightful discussions. This work was supported in part by the National Institutes of Health (Grants GM087364, GM105920, and GM112786), the American Cancer Society (Grant RGS-09-278-01-CSM), the National Institutes of Health-funded Michigan Alzheimer's Disease Research Center (Grant P50 AG08761), MCubed and the Fastforward Protein Folding Disease Initiative of the University of Michigan, and an anonymous donation to YW.

Baas, P. W. (2002). Microtubule transport in the axon. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 212, 41–62. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7696(01)12003-6

- Baloyannis, S. J. (2014). Golgi apparatus and protein trafficking in Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 42(Suppl. 3), S153–S162. doi: 10.3233/JAD-132660
- Bisel, B., Wang, Y., Wei, J. H., Xiang, Y., Tang, D., Miron-Mendoza, M., et al. (2008). ERK regulates Golgi and centrosome orientation towards the leading
edge through GRASP65. J. Cell Biol. 182, 837–843. doi: 10.1083/jcb.2008 05045

- Burgos, P. V., Mardones, G. A., Rojas, A. L., Dasilva, L. L., Prabhu, Y., Hurley, J. H., et al. (2010). Sorting of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid precursor protein mediated by the AP-4 complex. *Dev. Cell* 18, 425–436. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2010.01.015
- Chiu, R., Novikov, L., Mukherjee, S., and Shields, D. (2002). A caspase cleavage fragment of p115 induces fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus and apoptosis. *J. Cell Biol.* 159, 637–648. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200208013
- Choy, R. W., Cheng, Z., and Schekman, R. (2012). Amyloid precursor protein (APP) traffics from the cell surface via endosomes for amyloid beta (Abeta) production in the trans-Golgi network. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, E2077–E2082. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1208635109
- Chung, H. M., and Struhl, G. (2001). Nicastrin is required for Presenilin-mediated transmembrane cleavage in Drosophila. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3, 1129–1132. doi: 10.1038/ncb1201-1129
- Dal Canto, M. C. (1996). The Golgi apparatus and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Am. J. Pathol. 148, 355–360.
- Das, U., Scott, D. A., Ganguly, A., Koo, E. H., Tang, Y., and Roy, S. (2013). Activity-induced convergence of APP and BACE-1 in acidic microdomains via an endocytosis-dependent pathway. *Neuron* 79, 447–460. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.05.035
- Diao, A., Rahman, D., Pappin, D. J., Lucocq, J., and Lowe, M. (2003). The coiledcoil membrane protein golgin-84 is a novel rab effector required for Golgi ribbon formation. J. Cell Biol. 160, 201–212. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200207045
- Dries, D. R., and Yu, G. (2008). Assembly, maturation, and trafficking of the gamma-secretase complex in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 5, 132–146. doi: 10.2174/156720508783954695
- Edbauer, D., Winkler, E., Haass, C., and Steiner, H. (2002). Presenilin and nicastrin regulate each other and determine amyloid beta-peptide production via complex formation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 8666–8671. doi: 10.1073/pnas.132277899
- Fairless, R., Masius, H., Rohlmann, A., Heupel, K., Ahmad, M., Reissner, C., et al. (2008). Polarized targeting of neurexins to synapses is regulated by their C-terminal sequences. J. Neurosci. 28, 12969–12981. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5294-07.2008
- Farah, C. A., Perreault, S., Liazoghli, D., Desjardins, M., Anton, A., Lauzon, M., et al. (2006). Tau interacts with Golgi membranes and mediates their association with microtubules. *Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton* 63, 710–724. doi: 10.1002/cm.20157

Feinstein, T. N., and Linstedt, A. D. (2008). GRASP55 regulates Golgi ribbon formation. Mol. Biol. Cell 19, 2696–2707. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-11-1200

- Feng, Y., Yu, W., Li, X., Lin, S., Zhou, Y., Hu, J., et al. (2013). Structural insight into Golgi membrane stacking by GRASP65 and GRASP55 proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 28418–28427. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.478024
- Fokin, A. I., Brodsky, I. B., Burakov, A. V., and Nadezhdina, E. S. (2014). Interaction of early secretory pathway and Golgi membranes with microtubules and microtubule motors. *Biochemistry (Mosc)* 79, 879–893. doi: 10.1134/S0006297914090053
- Fujita, Y., and Okamoto, K. (2005). Golgi apparatus of the motor neurons in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and in mice models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neuropathology* 25, 388–394. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1789.2005.00616.x
- Gallant, P. E. (2000). Axonal protein synthesis and transport. J. Neurocytol. 29, 779-782. doi: 10.1023/A:1010961022455
- Glick, B. S., and Nakano, A. (2009). Membrane traffic within the Golgi apparatus. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 25, 113–132. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.24.110707.175421
- Goldstein, L. S., and Yang, Z. (2000). Microtubule-based transport systems in neurons: the roles of kinesins and dyneins. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 23, 39–71. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.39
- Gonatas, N. K., Gonatas, J. O., and Stieber, A. (1998). The involvement of the Golgi apparatus in the pathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Alzheimer's disease, and ricin intoxication. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 109, 591–600. doi: 10.1007/s004180050257
- Gong, C. X., and Alonso Adel, C. (2013). Tau and beyond for Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 37, 465–466. doi: 10.3233/JAD-130490
- Greenfield, J. P., Tsai, J., Gouras, G. K., Hai, B., Thinakaran, G., Checler, F., et al. (1999). Endoplasmic reticulum and trans-Golgi network generate distinct

populations of Alzheimer beta-amyloid peptides. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96, 742–747. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.2.742

- Greger, I. H., and Esteban, J. A. (2007). AMPA receptor biogenesis and trafficking. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 17, 289–297. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2007.04.007
- Griesbeck, O., Baird, G. S., Campbell, R. E., Zacharias, D. A., and Tsien, R. Y. (2001). Reducing the environmental sensitivity of yellow fluorescent protein. Mechanism and applications. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 29188–29194. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M102815200
- Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Tung, Y. C., Quinlan, M., Wisniewski, H. M., and Binder, L. I. (1986). Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 83, 4913–4917. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.13.4913
- Haass, C., Koo, E. H., Mellon, A., Hung, A. Y., and Selkoe, D. J. (1992). Targeting of cell-surface beta-amyloid precursor protein to lysosomes: alternative processing into amyloid-bearing fragments. *Nature* 357, 500–503. doi: 10.1038/357500a0
- Hancock, W. O. (2014). Bidirectional cargo transport: moving beyond tug of war. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 15, 615–628. doi: 10.1038/nrm3853
- Herreman, A., Van Gassen, G., Bentahir, M., Nyabi, O., Craessaerts, K., Mueller, U., et al. (2003). gamma-Secretase activity requires the presenilin-dependent trafficking of nicastrin through the Golgi apparatus but not its complex glycosylation. J. Cell Sci. 116, 1127–1136. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00292
- Hicks, S. W., and Machamer, C. E. (2002). The NH2-terminal domain of Golgin-160 contains both Golgi and nuclear targeting information. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 35833–35839. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M206280200
- Hilditch-Maguire, P., Trettel, F., Passani, L. A., Auerbach, A., Persichetti, F., and Macdonald, M. E. (2000). Huntingtin: an iron-regulated protein essential for normal nuclear and perinuclear organelles. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 9, 2789–2797. doi: 10.1093/hmg/9.19.2789
- Hu, Y., Ye, Y., and Fortini, M. E. (2002). Nicastrin is required for gammasecretase cleavage of the Drosophila Notch receptor. *Dev. Cell* 2, 69–78. doi: 10.1016/S1534-5807(01)00105-8
- Huse, J. T., Liu, K., Pijak, D. S., Carlin, D., Lee, V. M., and Doms, R. W. (2002). Beta-secretase processing in the trans-Golgi network preferentially generates truncated amyloid species that accumulate in Alzheimer's disease brain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 16278–16284. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111141200
- Infante, C., Ramos-Morales, F., Fedriani, C., Bornens, M., and Rios, R. M. (1999). GMAP-210, A cis-Golgi network-associated protein, is a minus end microtubule-binding protein. J. Cell Biol. 145, 83–98. doi: 10.1083/jcb.145.1.83
- Jiang, Q., Wang, L., Guan, Y., Xu, H., Niu, Y., Han, L., et al. (2014). Golgin-84associated Golgi fragmentation triggers tau hyperphosphorylation by activation of cyclin-dependent kinase-5 and extracellular signal-regulated kinase. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 1352–1363. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.11.022
- Joshi, G., Chi, Y., Huang, Z., and Wang, Y. (2014). Abeta-induced Golgi fragmentation in Alzheimer's disease enhances Abeta production. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, E1230–E1239. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1320192111
- Joshi, G., and Wang, Y. (2015). Golgi defects enhance APP amyloidogenic processing in Alzheimer's disease. *Bioessays* 37, 240–247. doi: 10.1002/bies.201400116
- Kimberly, W. T., Lavoie, M. J., Ostaszewski, B. L., Ye, W., Wolfe, M. S., and Selkoe, D. J. (2002). Complex N-linked glycosylated nicastrin associates with active gamma-secretase and undergoes tight cellular regulation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 35113–35117. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M204446200
- Klausner, R. D., Donaldson, J. G., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (1992). Brefeldin A: insights into the control of membrane traffic and organelle structure. J. Cell Biol. 116, 1071–1080. doi: 10.1083/jcb.116.5.1071
- Klumperman, J. (2011). Architecture of the mammalian Golgi. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3:a005181. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005181
- Klute, M. J., Melançon, P., and Dacks, J. B. (2011). Evolution and diversity of the Golgi. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3:a007849. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a007849
- Ladinsky, M. S., Mastronarde, D. N., McIntosh, J. R., Howell, K. E., and Staehelin, L. A. (1999). Golgi structure in three dimensions: functional insights from the normal rat kidney cell. *J. Cell Biol.* 144, 1135–1149. doi: 10.1083/jcb.144.6.1135
- Lane, J. D., Lucocq, J., Pryde, J., Barr, F. A., Woodman, P. G., Allan, V. J., et al. (2002). Caspase-mediated cleavage of the stacking protein GRASP65 is required for Golgi fragmentation during apoptosis. *J. Cell Biol.* 156, 495–509. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200110007

- Lavieu, G., Dunlop, M. H., Lerich, A., Zheng, H., Bottanelli, F., and Rothman, J. E. (2014). The Golgi ribbon structure facilitates anterograde transport of large cargoes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 25, 3028–3036. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E14-04-0931
- Lavieu, G., Zheng, H., and Rothman, J. E. (2013). Stapled Golgi cisternae remain in place as cargo passes through the stack. *Elife* 2:e00558. doi: 10.7554/eLife.00558
- Lee, I., Tiwari, N., Dunlop, M. H., Graham, M., Liu, X., and Rothman, J. E. (2014). Membrane adhesion dictates Golgi stacking and cisternal morphology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 1849–1854. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1323895111
- Lee, M. S., Kwon, Y. T., Li, M., Peng, J., Friedlander, R. M., and Tsai, L. H. (2000). Neurotoxicity induces cleavage of p35 to p25 by calpain. *Nature* 405, 360–364. doi: 10.1038/35012636
- Lewis, T. L. Jr., and Polleux, F. (2012). Neuronal morphogenesis: Golgi outposts, acentrosomal microtubule nucleation, and dendritic branching. *Neuron* 76, 862–864. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.11.019
- Liazoghli, D., Perreault, S., Micheva, K. D., Desjardins, M., and Leclerc, N. (2005). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus induced by the overexpression of wildtype and mutant human tau forms in neurons. *Am. J. Pathol.* 166, 1499–1514. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62366-8
- Liu, Z., Vong, Q. P., and Zheng, Y. (2007). CLASPing Microtubules at the trans-Golgi Network. Dev. Cell 12, 839–840. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.05.007
- Lowe, M., Rabouille, C., Nakamura, N., Watson, R., Jackman, M., Jamsa, E., et al. (1998). Cdc2 kinase directly phosphorylates the cis-Golgi matrix protein GM130 and is required for Golgi fragmentation in mitosis. *Cell* 94, 783–793. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81737-7
- Miller, P. M., Folkmann, A. W., Maia, A. R., Efimova, N., Efimov, A., and Kaverina, I. (2009). Golgi-derived CLASP-dependent microtubules control Golgi organization and polarized trafficking in motile cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1069–1080. doi: 10.1038/ncb1920
- Mizuno, Y., Hattori, N., Kitada, T., Matsumine, H., Mori, H., Shimura, H., et al. (2001). Familial Parkinson's disease. Alpha-synuclein and parkin. Adv. Neurol. 86, 13–21.
- Morishima-Kawashima, M., and Ihara, Y. (2002). Alzheimer's disease: beta-Amyloid protein and tau. J. Neurosci. Res. 70, 392–401. doi: 10.1002/jnr.10355
- Mourelatos, Z., Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., Gurney, M. E., and Dal Canto, M. C. (1996). The Golgi apparatus of spinal cord motor neurons in transgenic mice expressing mutant Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase becomes fragmented in early, preclinical stages of the disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 5472–5477. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.11.5472
- Neher, E., and Sakaba, T. (2008). Multiple roles of calcium ions in the regulation of neurotransmitter release. *Neuron* 59, 861–872. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.08.019
- Nelson, P. T., Braak, H., and Markesbery, W. R. (2009). Neuropathology and cognitive impairment in Alzheimer disease: a complex but coherent relationship. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 68, 1–14. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181919a48
- Ori-McKenney, K. M., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2012). Golgi outposts shape dendrite morphology by functioning as sites of acentrosomal microtubule nucleation in neurons. *Neuron* 76, 921–930. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.10.008
- Paglini, G., Peris, L., Diez-Guerra, J., Quiroga, S., and Caceres, A. (2001). The Cdk5-p35 kinase associates with the Golgi apparatus and regulates membrane traffic. *EMBO Rep.* 2, 1139–1144. doi: 10.1093/embo-reports/kve250
- Pang, Z. P., and Südhof, T. C. (2010). Cell biology of Ca2+-triggered exocytosis. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 22, 496–505. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2010. 05.001
- Patrick, G. N., Zukerberg, L., Nikolic, M., De La Monte, S., Dikkes, P., and Tsai, L. H. (1999). Conversion of p35 to p25 deregulates Cdk5 activity and promotes neurodegeneration. *Nature* 402, 615–622. doi: 10.1038/45159
- Pérez-Otaño, I., and Ehlers, M. D. (2005). Homeostatic plasticity and NMDA receptor trafficking. *Trends Neurosci.* 28, 229–238. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2005.03.004
- Pinton, P., Pozzan, T., and Rizzuto, R. (1998). The Golgi apparatus is an inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate-sensitive Ca2+ store, with functional properties distinct from those of the endoplasmic reticulum. *EMBO J.* 17, 5298–5308. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.18.5298
- Puthenveedu, M. A., Bachert, C., Puri, S., Lanni, F., and Linstedt, A. D. (2006). GM130 and GRASP65-dependent lateral cisternal fusion allows uniform Golgi-enzyme distribution. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 238–248. doi: 10.1038/ ncb1366

- Radulescu, A. E., Mukherjee, S., and Shields, D. (2011). The Golgi protein p115 associates with gamma-tubulin and plays a role in Golgi structure and mitosis progression. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 21915–21926. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.209460
- Rambourg, A., Clermont, Y., Hermo, L., and Segretain, D. (1987). Tridimensional structure of the Golgi apparatus of nonciliated epithelial cells of the ductuli efferentes in rat: an electron microscope stereoscopic study. *Biol. Cell* 60, 103–115. doi: 10.1111/j.1768-322X.1987.tb00550.x
- Ramirez, I. B., and Lowe, M. (2009). Golgins and GRASPs: holding the Golgi together. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 770–779. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2009.03.011
- Reissner, C., Runkel, F., and Missler, M. (2013). Neurexins. *Genome Biol.* 14:213. doi: 10.1186/gb-2013-14-9-213
- Rios, R. M. (2014). The centrosome-Golgi apparatus nexus. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 369:20130462. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0462
- Rios, R. M., and Bornens, M. (2003). The Golgi apparatus at the cell centre. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 15, 60–66. doi: 10.1016/S0955-0674(02)00013-3
- Rivero, S., Cardenas, J., Bornens, M., and Rios, R. M. (2009). Microtubule nucleation at the cis-side of the Golgi apparatus requires AKAP450 and GM130. *EMBO J.* 28, 1016–1028. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.47
- Roboti, P., Sato, K., and Lowe, M. (2015). The golgin GMAP-210 is required for efficient membrane trafficking in the early secretory pathway. J. Cell Sci. 128, 1595–1606. doi: 10.1242/jcs.166710
- Saraceno, C., Marcello, E., Di Marino, D., Borroni, B., Claeysen, S., Perroy, J., et al. (2014). SAP97-mediated ADAM10 trafficking from Golgi outposts depends on PKC phosphorylation. *Cell Death Dis.* 5:e1547. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.492
- Seitz, A., Kojima, H., Oiwa, K., Mandelkow, E. M., Song, Y. H., and Mandelkow, E. (2002). Single-molecule investigation of the interference between kinesin, tau and MAP2c. *EMBO J.* 21, 4896–4905. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdf503
- Shepherd, J. D., and Huganir, R. L. (2007). The cell biology of synaptic plasticity: AMPA receptor trafficking. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 23, 613–643. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.23.090506.123516
- Shorter, J., Watson, R., Giannakou, M. E., Clarke, M., Warren, G., and Barr, F. A. (1999). GRASP55, a second mammalian GRASP protein involved in the stacking of Golgi cisternae in a cell-free system. *EMBO J.* 18, 4949–4960. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.18.4949
- Small, S. A., and Gandy, S. (2006). Sorting through the cell biology of Alzheimer's disease: intracellular pathways to pathogenesis. *Neuron* 52, 15–31. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.09.001
- Stieber, A., Mourelatos, Z., and Gonatas, N. K. (1996). In Alzheimer's disease the Golgi apparatus of a population of neurons without neurofibrillary tangles is fragmented and atrophic. Am. J. Pathol. 148, 415–426.
- Suh, Y. H., and Checler, F. (2002). Amyloid precursor protein, presenilins, and alpha-synuclein: molecular pathogenesis and pharmacological applications in Alzheimer's disease. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 54, 469–525. doi: 10.1124/pr.54.3.469
- Tan, J., and Evin, G. (2012). Beta-site APP-cleaving enzyme 1 trafficking and Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. J. Neurochem. 120, 869–880. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07623.x
- Tang, D., Mar, K., Warren, G., and Wang, Y. (2008). Molecular mechanism of mitotic Golgi disassembly and reassembly revealed by a defined reconstitution assay. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 6085–6094. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M707715200
- Tang, D., Yuan, H., and Wang, Y. (2010). The role of GRASP65 in Golgi cisternal stacking and cell cycle progression. *Traffic* 11, 827–842. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2010.01055.x
- Tang, Z., Ioja, E., Bereczki, E., Hultenby, K., Li, C., Guan, Z., et al. (2015). mTor mediates tau localization and secretion: implication for Alzheimer's disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1853, 1646–1657. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.03.003
- Thayer, D. A., Jan, Y. N., and Jan, L. Y. (2013). Increased neuronal activity fragments the Golgi complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 1482–1487. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1220978110
- Thinakaran, G., and Koo, E. H. (2008). Amyloid precursor protein trafficking, processing, and function. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 29615–29619. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R800019200
- Tojima, T., Hines, J. H., Henley, J. R., and Kamiguchi, H. (2011). Second messengers and membrane trafficking direct and organize growth cone steering. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 191–203. doi: 10.1038/nrn2996
- Truschel, S. T., Sengupta, D., Foote, A., Heroux, A., MacBeth, M. R., and Linstedt, A. D. (2011). Structure of the membrane-tethering GRASP domain reveals a unique PDZ ligand interaction that mediates Golgi biogenesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 20125–20129. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C111.245324

- Vassar, R., Bennett, B. D., Babu-Khan, S., Kahn, S., Mendiaz, E. A., Denis, P., et al. (1999). Beta-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by the transmembrane aspartic protease BACE. *Science* 286, 735–741. doi: 10.1126/science.286.5440.735
- Veenendaal, T., Jarvela, T., Grieve, A. G., Van Es, J. H., Linstedt, A. D., and Rabouille, C. (2014). GRASP65 controls the cis Golgi integrity *in vivo. Biol. Open* 3, 431–443. doi: 10.1242/bio.20147757
- Wang, Y., Satoh, A., and Warren, G. (2005). Mapping the functional domains of the Golgi stacking factor GRASP65. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 4921–4928. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M412407200
- Wang, Y., and Seemann, J. (2011). Golgi biogenesis. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3:a005330. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005330
- Wang, Y., Seemann, J., Pypaert, M., Shorter, J., and Warren, G. (2003). A direct role for GRASP65 as a mitotically regulated Golgi stacking factor. *EMBO J.* 22, 3279–3290. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg317
- Wang, Y., Wei, J. H., Bisel, B., Tang, D., and Seemann, J. (2008). Golgi cisternal unstacking stimulates COPI vesicle budding and protein transport. *PLoS ONE* 3:e1647. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001647
- Williams, D., Hicks, S. W., MacHamer, C. E., and Pessin, J. E. (2006). Golgin-160 is required for the Golgi membrane sorting of the insulin-responsive glucose transporter GLUT4 in adipocytes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 17, 5346–5355. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E06-05-0386
- Wojda, U., Salinska, E., and Kuznicki, J. (2008). Calcium ions in neuronal degeneration. *IUBMB Life* 60, 575–590. doi: 10.1002/iub.91
- Wong, M., and Munro, S. (2014). Membrane trafficking. The specificity of vesicle traffic to the Golgi is encoded in the golgin coiled-coil proteins. *Science* 346:1256898. doi: 10.1126/science.1256898
- Xiang, Y., and Wang, Y. (2010). GRASP55 and GRASP65 play complementary and essential roles in Golgi cisternal stacking. J. Cell Biol. 188, 237–251. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200907132
- Xiang, Y., and Wang, Y. (2011). New components of the Golgi matrix. *Cell Tissue Res.* 344, 365–379. doi: 10.1007/s00441-011-1166-x

- Xiang, Y., Zhang, X., Nix, D. B., Katoh, T., Aoki, K., Tiemeyer, M., et al. (2013). Regulation of protein glycosylation and sorting by the Golgi matrix proteins GRASP55/65. *Nat. Commun.* 4:1659. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2669
- Yadav, S., and Linstedt, A. D. (2011). Golgi positioning. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3:a005322. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005322
- Yoshiyama, Y., Zhang, B., Bruce, J., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M. (2003). Reduction of detyrosinated microtubules and Golgi fragmentation are linked to tau-induced degeneration in astrocytes. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 10662–10671.
- Yu, G., Nishimura, M., Arawaka, S., Levitan, D., Zhang, L., Tandon, A., et al. (2000). Nicastrin modulates presenilin-mediated notch/glp-1 signal transduction and betaAPP processing. *Nature* 407, 48–54. doi: 10.1038/35024009
- Zempel, H., Thies, E., Mandelkow, E., and Mandelkow, E. M. (2010). Abeta oligomers cause localized Ca(2+) elevation, missorting of endogenous Tau into dendrites, Tau phosphorylation, and destruction of microtubules and spines. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 11938–11950. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2357-10.2010
- Zhang, Y. W., Luo, W. J., Wang, H., Lin, P., Vetrivel, K. S., Liao, F., et al. (2005). Nicastrin is critical for stability and trafficking but not association of other presenilin/gamma-secretase components. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 17020–17026. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M409467200
- Zhu, X., and Kaverina, I. (2013). Golgi as an MTOC: making microtubules for its own good. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 140, 361–367. doi: 10.1007/s00418-013-1119-4

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Joshi, Bekier and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Golgi fragmentation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, an overview of possible triggers and consequences

Vinod Sundaramoorthy¹, Jessica M. Sultana¹ and Julie D. Atkin^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Macquarie University Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ² Department of Biochemistry and Genetics, La Trobe Institute for Molecular Science, La Trobe University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) is an invariably fatal neurodegenerative disorder, which specifically targets motor neurons in the brain, brain stem and spinal cord. Whilst the etiology of ALS remains unknown, fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus is detected in ALS patient motor neurons and in animal/cellular disease models. The Golgi is a highly dynamic organelle that acts as a dispatching station for the vesicular transport of secretory/transmembrane proteins. It also mediates autophagy and maintains endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and axonal homeostasis. Both the trigger for Golgi fragmentation and the functional consequences of a fragmented Golgi apparatus in ALS remain unclear. However, recent evidence has highlighted defects in vesicular trafficking as a pathogenic mechanism in ALS. This review summarizes the evidence describing Golgi fragmentation in ALS, with possible links to other disease processes including cellular trafficking, ER stress, defective autophagy, and axonal degeneration.

Keywords: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Golgi fragmentation, ER stress, axonal degeneration, secretory trafficking inhibition, autophagy dysfunction

INTRODUCTION

The Golgi apparatus (referred to as "Golgi" hereafter) acts as a dispatching station whereby proteins and lipids newly synthesized in the ER are transported to the endosomal system, secretory granules, or plasma membrane. In spite of being a highly dynamic organelle (Griffiths et al., 1989), the Golgi normally maintains a characteristic morphology, consisting of flattened membrane stacks known as cisternae, and associated vesicles. The stacks of Golgi cisternae are interconnected laterally by tubules, forming a ribbon-like network (Rambourg and Clermont, 1990; Polishchuk and Mironov, 2004), usually in the perinuclear region of the cell, adjacent to the centrosome (Linstedt, 2004). The Golgi comprises of three functional compartments: the cis-Golgi, which being the nearest compartment to the ER, forms the entry face to the Golgi, the medial-Golgi, which is responsible for the modification, sorting and packaging of proteins for transportation, and finally the trans Golgi network, which forms the exit face of the Golgi (Rothman and Wieland, 1996; Glick and Nakano, 2009). Specific types of intracellular vesicles are associated with the Golgi. Secretory protein cargo buds from the ER via coat protein complex II (COPII) coated vesicles, to form tubulovesicular structures known as the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC), which eventually fuse with the cis-Golgi (Appenzeller-Herzog and Hauri, 2006). In contrast, the reticular trans-Golgi network (TGN) produces clathrin-coated vesicles which are targeted to endosomes and secretory vesicles in specialized cell types such as neurons (De Matteis and Luini, 2008).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Georg Haase, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Roland Brandt, University of Osnabrück, Germany Bruno Goud, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

> ***Correspondence:** Julie D. Atkin julie.atkin@mq.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 28 August 2015 Accepted: 09 October 2015 Published: 27 October 2015

Citation:

Sundaramoorthy V, Sultana JM and Atkin JD (2015) Golgi fragmentation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, an overview of possible triggers and consequences. Front. Neurosci. 9:400. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00400 In addition to secretory trafficking, the Golgi is also responsible for the post-translational modification of proteins and lipids, including glycosylation (Stanley, 2011), sulfation (Baeuerle and Huttner, 1987), and proteolytic cleavage (Xu and Shields, 1993).

THE GOLGI IN NEURONS

Neurons are highly specialized cells with unique functional and morphological characteristics. Interestingly, in neurons the Golgi forms specialized "Golgi outposts" localized in axons and dendrites, which are discrete structures that are discontinuous from the somatic Golgi (**Figure 1**). These Golgi outposts are not fully characterized, but are thought to facilitate local secretory trafficking within neurites (Horton and Ehlers, 2003; Merianda et al., 2009). Axonal transport is an important property in neurons which involves trafficking of cellular proteins and vesicles within the axon, towards or away from the cell body. The relationship between axonal transport and transport within the soma is not fully understood, but these processes are clearly linked and involve the Golgi (Hirokawa and Takemura, 2005; Schwarz, 2013).

FRAGMENTATION OF THE GOLGI APPARATUS

The Golgi is capable of undergoing profound morphological changes during normal cellular processes such as mitosis, as well as in pathological conditions. These morphological changes result in disruption of its characteristic ribbon-like network, forming a fragmented Golgi. Golgi fragmentation during mitosis facilitates equal distribution of the Golgi into the resulting daughter cells (Sütterlin et al., 2002). However, irreversible Golgi fragmentation occurs in pathological situations, when apoptosis is activated. Under these conditions, structural proteins within the Golgi are cleaved by the action of caspases (Lane et al., 2002). The Golgi also fragments when vesicular secretory trafficking is perturbed (Dascher and Balch, 1994; Wilson et al., 1994), which may also occur in pathological conditions. The morphological changes evident during fragmentation of the Golgi are attributed to two possibilities, either the Golgi membranes break into smaller dispersed vesicular structures (Figure 1), or the Golgi fuses with the ER upon fragmentation, which is then recycled, and it remerges at ER exit sites, dispersed throughout the cytoplasm (Cole et al., 1996; Storrie et al., 1998; Pelletier et al., 2000; Glick, 2002).

Golgi pathology is a feature of neurodegenerative diseases including Alzheimer's disease (Sun et al., 2008), Parkinson's disease (Fujita et al., 2006), Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (Sakurai et al., 2000), multiple system atrophy (Sakurai et al., 2002), and ALS. Interestingly, Golgi fragmentation is often detected as an early event in these conditions, prior to apoptosis (Gosavi et al., 2002; Liazoghli et al., 2005; Atkin et al., 2014; van Dis et al., 2014), suggesting that Golgi fragmentation could be a trigger for neurodegeneration rather than a simple consequence of neuronal death. We review here the evidence describing Golgi fragmentation in ALS, and discuss recent studies implicating impairment of ER-Golgi mediated vesicular trafficking as a possible trigger. We also predict possible downstream consequences of Golgi fragmentation in ALS, and we examine links to other pathologies, including ER stress, autophagy dysfunction, and axonal degeneration.

AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCLEROSIS

Whilst 90% of ALS cases are sporadic, 10% of cases are familial, caused by mutations in genes encoding ubiquitously expressed proteins, including transactive response DNA binding protein (TDP-43), fused in sarcoma (FUS), optineurin, superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1), and Chromosome 9 open reading frame 72 (C9orf72) (Renton et al., 2014) (Table 1). Although, the etiology of ALS remains unknown, RNA dysfunction and disruption to proteostasis are widely implicated as pathogenic mechanisms (Ling et al., 2013). Dysfunction to proteostasis includes protein misfolding and aggregation, ER stress, Golgi fragmentation, autophagy dysfunction, inhibition of cellular trafficking, and axonal degeneration. Like other neurodegenerative disorders, a pathological hallmark of ALS is the accumulation of intracellular inclusions containing misfolded protein aggregates (Wood et al., 2003; Blokhuis et al., 2013). Interestingly, wildtype (WT) forms of TDP-43, FUS, optineurin, and SOD1 may be recruited into ubiquitinated protein inclusions in sporadic ALS patients (Neumann et al., 2006; Deng et al., 2010; Blokhuis et al., 2013). Cytoplasmic accumulation, hyperphosphorylation and/or aggregation of TDP-43 is present in almost all cases of ALS (approximately 97%) (Ling et al., 2013). Transgenic mice overexpressing mutant SOD1^{G93A} are the most widely used animal models of disease, which recapitulate many clinical and pathological features of ALS (Gurney et al., 1994). Increasing evidence now links ALS to frontotemporal dementia (FTD), with recent studies suggesting that ALS and FTD represent opposite ends of the disease spectrum (Ling et al., 2013).

Defects in intracellular trafficking, particularly within the axon, are implicated in ALS (Bilsland et al., 2010; Ikenaka et al., 2012; Alami et al., 2014). The "dying back" or slow degeneration of distal to proximal axons is associated with loss of motor neurons in ALS (Fischer et al., 2004; Dadon-Nachum et al., 2011; Moloney et al., 2014). In SOD1 mice, distal axonopathy and denervation of neuromuscular junctions are observed prior to the onset of clinical manifestations (Fischer et al., 2004). Fast-fatigable motor neurons with the longest axons and highest metabolic demands, are the most susceptible to axonal degeneration (Frey et al., 2000; Fischer et al., 2004). It has been suggested that lack of supply of essential proteins and lipids to distal axons is associated with axonal degeneration (Perlson et al., 2010).

Autophagy is an important proteostatic mechanism to degrade misfolded proteins in post-mitotic neurons (Thomas et al., 2013). It is therefore not surprising that defects in autophagy are present in ALS, however the nature of autophagy defects in ALS remains unclear. Autophagosomes accumulate



dysfunction, impaired axonal secretory trafficking, and loss of axonal homeostasis.

in ALS patient brain tissues (Sasaki, 2011), implying that both induction of autophagy and inhibition of clearance of autophagsomes exist in ALS. However, more recent studies have demonstrated that formation of the autophagosome is impaired in cells expressing ALS mutant FUS (Soo et al., 2015b) and in cells with reduced C9orf72 expression (Farg et al., 2014). Furthermore, mutations in proteins involved in endosomal sorting and trafficking which are required for the formation of autophagosomes (VCP, p62, dynactin, and RAB7) are also associated with ALS (Otomo et al., 2012). Activation of the unfolded protein response (UPR) and ER stress are welldocumented pathogenic features in human ALS patients (Ilieva et al., 2007; Atkin et al., 2008; Oyanagi et al., 2008; Walker et al., 2010) and in animal/cellular disease models associated with mutant FUS, TDP-43, C9orf72, optineurin, and SOD1 (Atkin et al., 2006; Oh et al., 2008; Walker and Atkin, 2011; Farg et al., 2012; Walker et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2014; Sundaramoorthy et al., 2015). Interestingly ER stress develops first in the most vulnerable motor neurons in SOD1^{G93A} mice, 60 days before disease onset (Saxena et al., 2009), thus implicating ER stress as an active mechanism inducing cell death in ALS. Similarly, Golgi fragmentation is a prominent pathological feature in human ALS, and appears at a similar time point in SOD1 mice models (Gonatas et al., 1992; Mourelatos et al., 1994; van Dis et al., 2014). **•** • • • • • • • • • •

Major ALS genes	Chromosome location	Disease feature	Percentage of ALS		References
			Familial	Sporadic	
C9ORF72	9p21	ALS, FTD, ALS with FTD	40	7	DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011; Renton et al., 2011
SOD1	21q22	ALS	12	1–2	Rosen et al., 1993
TARDBP	1p36	ALS, FTD, ALS with FTD	4	1	Sreedharan et al., 2008
FUS	16p11	ALS, FTD, ALS with FTD	4	1	Kwiatkowski et al., 2009; Vance et al., 2009

ALS-linked proteins					
C9ORF72	 Possible involvement in Rab-mediated membrane trafficking processes. Predicted to function as a Rab guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF). 	Zhang et al., 2012; Levine et al., 2013; Farg et al., 2014			
Optineurin	• Vesicular trafficking of secretory proteins, autophagosomes and lysosomes.	Sahlender et al., 2005; Tumbarello et al., 2012; Sundaramoorthy et al., 2015			
VCP	 Secretory protein trafficking. Translocation of misfolded proteins from the ER to cytoplasm for proteosome degradation. 	Ballar et al., 2011; Arita et al., 2012; Yi et al., 2012			
Profilin1	Polymerization of the actin cytoskeleton.	Pantaloni and Carlier, 1993			
VAPB	 Vesicular ER-Golgi trafficking, dendritic membrane protein trafficking. Also involved in microtubule organization. 	Skehel et al., 2000; Kuijpers et al., 2013			
SQSTM1/p62	 Mediates AMPA receptor trafficking at the synapse and and also dynein-linked cellular trafficking. Mediates Cargo recognition and trafficking in autophagy. 	Jiang et al., 2009; Calderilla-Barbosa et al., 2014			
Alsin	• Functions as a GEF for Rab5 and Rac1.				
	 Involved in in Rab5-endocytic trafficking and Rac1 regulation of the actin cytoskeleton. 	Otomo et al., 2003; Topp et al., 2004			
CHMP2B	Component of endosomal sorting complex required for transport-III (ESCRT-III), essential for endocytic trafficking.	Urwin et al., 2010			
Dynactin	 Mediates dynein and kinesin 2 driven intracellular and axonal trafficking on microtubules. 	Schroer, 2004; Ross et al., 2008			
Neurofilament heavy chain	• Essential for maintaining axon structure and function.	Liu et al., 2004			
TUBA4A	Component of microtubule cytoskeleton.	Oakley, 2000			
Peripherin	 Type III neuronal intermediate filament involved in peripheral axon outgrowth and regeneration. 	Oblinger et al., 1989			
Spatacsin	 Involved in axonal anterograde vesicular trafficking. 	Pérez-Brangulí et al., 2014			
Phosphoinositide 5 phosphatase	Associated with late endosome/lysosomal membrane trafficking pathways.	Chow et al., 2007; Ruscher and Wieloch, 2015			
Sigma-1 receptor	 Involved in lipid rafts associated transport of proteins and lipids to plasma membrane. 	Pabba et al., 2014; Ruscher and Wieloch, 2015			

GOLGI FRAGMENTATION IN ALS

Fragmentation of the Golgi was first identified in ALS patient motor neurons over 20 years ago (Gonatas et al., 1992). In contrast to control patients, the Golgi in ALS patients was reduced and fragmented, appearing as disconnected punctate structures, similar to its morphology in cells treated with microtubule depolymerisation agents (Mourelatos et al., 1990; Gonatas et al., 1992). Since then, other studies have confirmed Golgi fragmentation in 10–50% sporadic patients (Gonatas et al., 2006; van Dis et al., 2014) and up to 70% of familial ALS patient motor neurons, bearing SOD1, FUS or optineurin mutations (Fujita et al., 2008; Ito et al., 2011). Interestingly, Golgi fragmentation is more prominent in larger human motor neurons, such as those in the cerebral cortex (Fujita et al., 1999) and anterior horn (Fujita et al., 2000), suggesting they are specifically vulnerable to disturbances in Golgi function.

Golgi fragmentation is also present in spinal anterior horn cells in sporadic ALS patients with cytoplasmic mislocalization of WT TDP-43, implying that a link exists between TDP-43 and Golgi pathologies (Fujita et al., 2008). Similarly, Golgi fragmentation is present in transgenic rats expressing mutant TDP-43^{M337V} (Tong et al., 2012), in mutant SOD1^{G93A} transgenic mice and in neuronal cells expressing SOD1^{G93A,G85R} mutants (Mourelatos et al., 1996; Stieber et al., 2004). Interestingly, Golgi fragmentation precedes SOD1 inclusion formation, neuromuscular denervation, and mitochondrialmediated apoptosis in low-copy number SOD1^{G93A} transgenic mice, implying it is upstream in pathogenesis (van Dis et al., 2014). Similarly, ALS patients with optineurin mutations (<1% familial cases) demonstrate Golgi fragmentation in \sim 70% of anterior horn cells (Ito et al., 2011). Furthermore, Golgi fragmentation is present in cells expressing ALS-linked mutant FUS, optineurin and vesicle-associated membrane protein B (VAPB) (Teuling et al., 2007; Farg et al., 2013; Sundaramoorthy et al., 2015). However, despite being widely associated with ALS, the cellular events triggering Golgi fragmentation and the resulting consequences are not established. Increasing evidence implicates inhibition of vesicular trafficking between the ER-Golgi in ALS, which may explain the previous observations of Golgi fragmentation.

IMPAIRMENT OF CELLULAR TRAFFICKING IS A TRIGGER FOR GOLGI FRAGMENTATION IN ALS

The ER-Golgi compartments form the first part of the cellular secretory pathway, hence they are sensitive to alterations in the rate of trafficking (Pelletier et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2004), and trafficking inhibition leads to dysfunction in both compartments. In the ER, accumulation of unfolded nascent secretory proteins in the lumen triggers the UPR. The UPR initially aims to reduce protein synthesis and increase protein folding (Graves et al., 2001; Preston et al., 2009). However, when impairment of trafficking persists, prolonged UPR results in activation of apoptosis (Szegezdi et al., 2006; Hetz, 2012). Similarly the organization of the Golgi depends on efficient bidirectional vesicular transport with the ER (Nassif et al., 2010). The formation of Golgi stacks requires continuous recycling of Golgi proteins to/from the ER (Lippincott-Schwartz et al., 2000). Inhibition of protein export from the ER disrupts Golgi organization (Storrie et al., 1998), resulting in the formation of tubulovesicular Golgi clusters, some of which fuse with the ER (Puri and Linstedt, 2003), which can further increase ER stress. Similarly, inhibition of vesicular trafficking from the Golgi to plasma membrane leads to protein accumulation within the Golgi. If prolonged, this can fragment the Golgi (Persson et al., 1992; Zolov and Lupashin, 2005; Zhou et al., 2013). Approximately one-third of the human proteome transverses through the Golgi destined for transmembrane, synaptic, axonal, or extracellular locations (Braakman and Bulleid, 2011). Hence disruption to intracellular trafficking involving the Golgi could severely compromise neuronal function and viability.

We recently demonstrated that Golgi-associated vesicular trafficking is inhibited in cells expressing ALS-mutant proteins: SOD1, FUS, TDP-43, and optineurin, providing an intriguing mechanism explaining Golgi fragmentation in patient tissues (Sundaramoorthy et al., 2013, 2015; Atkin et al., 2014; Soo et al., 2015a). Furthermore, inhibition of ER-Golgi transport by mutant SOD1 preceded all other cellular pathologies examined in neuronal cells, including ER stress, Golgi fragmentation, protein aggregation, inclusion formation, and apoptosis (Atkin et al., 2014). This implies that ER-Golgi trafficking defects may trigger ER-Golgi pathology in SOD1-ALS cases. More recently we demonstrated that mutant forms of both FUS and TDP-43 impair the incorporation of secretory cargo into COPII vesicles budding off from the ER, impeding protein export from the ER, while

mutant SOD1 was shown to inhibit ERGIC-Golgi trafficking by destabilizing microtubules (Soo et al., 2015a). Furthermore, we have also demonstrated that misfolded WT SOD1 also impairs ER-Golgi trafficking similar to mutant SOD1, resulting in ER stress and Golgi fragmentation (Sundaramoorthy et al., 2015), although it remains controversial whether misfolded WT SOD1 is present in sporadic ALS tissues (Liu et al., 2009; Forsberg et al., 2010; Grad et al., 2014). However, it is tempting to speculate that impairment of ER-Golgi trafficking is a common trigger for Golgi fragmentation in sporadic and familial ALS. Similarly, we have also shown that expression of ALS-optineurin mutants impair myosin VI-mediated protein trafficking from the Golgi to plasma membrane, also inducing Golgi fragmentation (Sundaramoorthy et al., 2015). Hence these results imply that impairment of distinct protein trafficking pathways by different ALS-linked proteins are specific triggers for Golgi fragmentation in ALS (Figure 1).

Consistent with this notion, mutations in genes encoding proteins directly involved in intracellular trafficking are present in familial ALS (Table 1). Firstly, mutations in the gene encoding the p150^{Glued} subunit of the dynein/dynactin complex were reported in sporadic and familial ALS (Münch et al., 2004). The ALS causing mutation impedes binding of p150^{Glued} to microtubules, resulting in dysfunctional dynein/dynactinmediated transport (Levy et al., 2006). Similarly, mutations in proteins directly involved in the ER-Golgi secretory pathway, including VAPB and VCP, are present in ALS (Nishimura et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2010; Yi et al., 2012; Kuijpers et al., 2013). Recent findings of mutations in ALS-associated genes that encode cytoskeletal associated proteins provide additional evidence for trafficking disruption in ALS. Mutations in profilin 1, which mediates the conversion of soluble G-actin to functional Factin, (Wu et al., 2012), and in tubulin alpha 4A (TUBA4A), a component of microtubules, were recently reported in familial ALS (Smith et al., 2014).

The identification of hexanucleotide (GGGGCC) repeat expansion mutations in C9ORF72 as the major cause of familial ALS and FTD (40%), further links cellular trafficking to ALS. Whilst the normal cellular function of C9orf72 was initially unknown, bioinformatics studies first predicted that C9orf72 functions in Rab-mediated trafficking (Zhang et al., 2012; Levine et al., 2013). Rab proteins form a large family of small guanosine triphosphate (GTP)ases that regulate vesicular trafficking at distinct cellular membranes (Stenmark and Olkkonen, 2001). Rab proteins are activated by conversion from an inactive guanosine diphosphate (GDP)-bound state to an active GTP-bound form, which is catalyzed by guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) (Stenmark and Olkkonen, 2001; Cherfils and Zeghouf, 2013). Bioinformatics predicted that C9orf72 functions as a RabGEF, because of the strong sequence and structural similarity to other evolutionary conserved differentially expressed in normal and neoplastic cells (DENN) domain-containing RabGEFs (Zhang et al., 2012; Levine et al., 2013). Consistent with these predictions, we demonstrated that C9orf72 associates with multiple Rabs including Rab1, which mediates ER-Golgi transport (Farg et al., 2014). Furthermore, we also found that depletion of C9orf72 using siRNA impaired

autophagy and endocytic trafficking from the plasma membrane to Golgi (Farg et al., 2014). Whilst the hexanucleotide repeat expansion is present within an intronic region of C9ORF72, expression of C9orf72 protein is reduced in ALS patients causing haploinsufficiency (DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011; Haeusler et al., 2014). Hence this would disrupt the normal trafficking function of C9orf72 in ALS. However, recent studies have argued against this mechanism of pathogenesis (Koppers et al., 2015). Nevertheless, we also demonstrated increased association of C9orf72 with Rab7 and Rab11 in C9orf72-ALS patients, implying that intracellular trafficking is dysregulated in C9orf72-ALS, although the mechanism remains unclear (Farg et al., 2014). However, further studies are required to examine the relationship between C9orf72 and trafficking defects, including whether the Golgi is fragmented in C9orf72-ALS patients.

GOLGI FRAGMENTATION AND AUTOPHAGY DYSFUNCTION

The initial step in autophagy is the formation of a doublemembraned phagophore, which then expands in size, engulfing defective proteins, damaged cellular organelles, or pathogens, forming the autophagosome (Reggiori and Klionsky, 2005). Although the membranes forming the autophagosome originate from multiple cellular organelles, the ER is implicated as the primary source of membrane because the omegasome, the autophagosome precursor, originates from ER cisternae (Hayashi-Nishino et al., 2009). However, the Golgi is necessary for subsequent autophagosome elongation, and Golgi-mediated trafficking provides membrane components for autophagosome biogenesis. Beclin1, which is located in the trans-Golgi network, recruits other autophagy-related (Atg) proteins for assembly into the autophagosome, (Kihara et al., 2001) and Atg9positive vesicles cycle from the Golgi to deliver membranes to the developing autophagosome (Young et al., 2006; Webber et al., 2007). Blocking ER to cis-Golgi transport, or transport from the trans-Golgi to plasma membrane/endosomes, reduces autophagosome formation in mammalian cells (Zoppino et al., 2010; Guo et al., 2012). Furthermore, the Golgi recognizes and sorts lysosomal enzymes, which are then packaged into vesicles that bud from the trans-Golgi, forming lysosomes (Griffiths et al., 1988; Kornfeld and Mellman, 1989; Riederer et al., 1994). Hence these observations imply that disruption of Golgi-associated trafficking may impair autophagosome formation.

In contrast, fragmentation of the Golgi has also been shown to increase autophagosome biogenesis by feeding Atg9-positive fragmented Golgi membranes during starvationinduced autophagy (Takahashi et al., 2011). Pharmacological induction of Golgi fragmentation with Brefeldin A or Golgicide increases autophagosome biogenesis and induces accumulation of autophagosomes (Naydenov et al., 2012), but it can also block autophagosome formation in some cases (Nishida et al., 2009). Observations of Golgi fragmentation and autophagy dysfunction imply a possible link between these two pathologies in ALS. Hence examination of the pathological relationship between Golgi fragmentation and autophagy in ALS is warranted.

GOLGI FRAGMENTATION AND AXONAL HOMEOSTASIS

Motor neurons differ from other neurons in that they are exceptionally large, with long axons, up to 1 m in length in an adult human. These distal axons require membrane and cytoskeletal proteins, neurotransmitter receptors, and lipids to maintain synaptic plasticity, synaptogenesis, excitability, dendritic, and neurite outgrowth (Horton and Ehlers, 2004; Tuck and Cavalli, 2010; Ori-McKenney et al., 2012). These components must be transported from the ER/Golgi in the cell body over long distances along the axon. In addition to this traditional route, proteins are also synthesized via axonal ribosomes (Koenig et al., 2000; Kun et al., 2007) and mRNA (Taylor et al., 2009; Jung et al., 2012), thus facilitating local protein synthesis. Proteins synthesized in neurites are processed and secreted via Golgi outposts (Horton and Ehlers, 2003; Merianda et al., 2009) (Figure 1). These Golgi outposts share similar molecular markers to the somatic Golgi (Gardiol et al., 1999; Horton and Ehlers, 2003) and they handle secretion of essential axonal/dendritic membrane proteins (Lu et al., 2001; Passafaro et al., 2001). Similarly, cytoskeletal proteins processed via Golgi outposts are essential for axonal regeneration and plasticity of dendritic spines (Matus, 2000; Gu et al., 2008; Tuck and Cavalli, 2010; Shirao and González-Billault, 2013). Fragmentation of the neuronal Golgi would therefore be expected to impair normal axonal functions. In support of this notion, induction of Golgi fragmentation with Brefeldin A reduces synaptic potentiation and AMPA receptor expression on the postsynaptic membrane (Broutman and Baudry, 2001), and reduces axonal outgrowth (Jareb and Banker, 1997). Interestingly, fragmentation of somatic and dendritic Golgi in motor neurons accompanied by trafficking defects, preceded axonal retraction and muscle denervation in mice models of ALS (van Dis et al., 2014). Therefore, Golgi fragmentation may be an important trigger for loss of axonal homeostasis and degeneration of motor neurons in ALS.

CONCLUSION

An emerging concept in ALS is that the diverse mechanisms implicated in pathology are inter-linked, and that disturbances in one pathway induce other pathogenic mechanisms, resulting in neurodegeneration. Increasing evidence links Golgi fragmentation to recent pathological mechanisms implicated in ALS, including disruption of intracellular trafficking and ER stress. This warrants future studies examining the relationship between Golgi fragmentation to other somatic Golgi functions, including autophagy, and specific neuronal functions of the Golgi, such as axonal homeostasis (**Figure 1**). The unique characteristics of neurons and the existence of Golgi outposts may confer additional, more specialized functions of the Golgi in these cells which may render these cells more vulnerable to neurodegeneration in ALS.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (NHMRC) Project grants

REFERENCES

- Alami, N. H., Smith, R. B., Carrasco, M. A., Williams, L. A., Winborn, C. S., Han, S. S., et al. (2014). Axonal transport of TDP-43 mRNA granules is impaired by ALS-causing mutations. *Neuron* 81, 536–543. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.12.018
- Appenzeller-Herzog, C., and Hauri, H.-P. (2006). The ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC): in search of its identity and function. J. Cell Sci. 119, 2173–2183. doi: 10.1242/jcs.03019
- Arita, M., Wakita, T., and Shimizu, H. (2012). Valosin-containing protein (VCP/p97) is required for poliovirus replication and is involved in cellular protein secretion pathway in poliovirus infection. J. Virol. 86, 5541–5553. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00114-12
- Atkin, J. D., Farg, M. A., Soo, K. Y., Walker, A. K., Halloran, M., Turner, B. J., et al. (2014). Mutant SOD1 inhibits ER–Golgi transport in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J. Neurochem. 129, 190–204. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12493
- Atkin, J. D., Farg, M. A., Turner, B. J., Tomas, D., Lysaght, J. A., Nunan, J., et al. (2006). Induction of the unfolded protein response in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and association of protein-disulfide isomerase with superoxide dismutase 1. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 30152–30165. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M6033 93200
- Atkin, J. D., Farg, M. A., Walker, A. K., McLean, C., Tomas, D., and Horne, M. K. (2008). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and induction of the unfolded protein response in human sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 30, 400–407. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2008.02.009
- Baeuerle, P. A., and Huttner, W. B. (1987). Tyrosine sulfation is a trans-Golgi-specific protein modification. J. Cell Biol. 105, 2655–2664. doi: 10.1083/jcb.105.6.2655
- Ballar, P., Pabuccuoglu, A., and Kose, F. A. (2011). Different p97/VCP complexes function in retrotranslocation step of mammalian ERassociated degradation (ERAD). *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 43, 613–621. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2010.12.021
- Bilsland, L. G., Sahai, E., Kelly, G., Golding, M., Greensmith, L., and Schiavo, G. (2010). Deficits in axonal transport precede ALS symptoms *in vivo*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 20523–20528. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1006869107
- Blokhuis, A. M., Groen, E. J., Koppers, M., van den Berg, L. H., and Pasterkamp, R. J. (2013). Protein aggregation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol.* 125, 777–794. doi: 10.1007/s00401-013-1125-6
- Braakman, I., and Bulleid, N. J. (2011). Protein folding and modification in the mammalian endoplasmic reticulum. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 80, 71–99. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-062209-093836
- Broutman, G., and Baudry, M. (2001). Involvement of the secretory pathway for AMPA receptors in NMDA-induced potentiation in hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 21, 27–34.
- Calderilla-Barbosa, L., Seibenhener, M. L., Du, Y., Diaz-Meco, M.-T., Moscat, J., Yan, J., et al. (2014). Interaction of SQSTM1 with the motor protein dynein– SQSTM1 is required for normal dynein function and trafficking. *J. Cell Sci.* 127, 4052–4063. doi: 10.1242/jcs.152363
- Cherfils, J., and Zeghouf, M. (2013). Regulation of small GTPases by GEFs, GAPs, and GDIs. *Physiol. Rev.* 93, 269–309. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00003.2012
- Chow, C. Y., Zhang, Y., Dowling, J. J., Jin, N., Adamska, M., Shiga, K., et al. (2007). Mutation of FIG4 causes neurodegeneration in the pale tremor mouse and patients with CMT4J. *Nature* 448, 68–72. doi: 10.1038/nature05876
- Cole, N. B., Sciaky, N., Marotta, A., Song, J., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (1996). Golgi dispersal during microtubule disruption: regeneration of Golgi stacks at peripheral endoplasmic reticulum exit sites. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 7, 631–650. doi: 10.1091/mbc.7.4.631
- Dadon-Nachum, M., Melamed, E., and Offen, D. (2011). The "dying-back" phenomenon of motor neurons in ALS. J. Mol. Neurosci. 43, 470–477. doi: 10.1007/s12031-010-9467-1

(1006141, 1030513, and 1086887), Bethlehem Griffiths Research Foundation, and Motor Neurone Disease Research Institute of Australia Angie Cunningham Laugh to Cure MND Grant, Zo-ee Research Grant and Grant-in-Aid.

- Dascher, C., and Balch, W. E. (1994). Dominant inhibitory mutants of ARF1 block endoplasmic reticulum to Golgi transport and trigger disassembly of the Golgi apparatus. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 1437–1448.
- DeJesus-Hernandez, M., Mackenzie, I. R., Boeve, B. F., Boxer, A. L., Baker, M., Rutherford, N. J., et al. (2011). Expanded GGGGCC hexanucleotide repeat in noncoding region of *C9ORF72* causes Chromosome 9p-linked FTD and ALS. *Neuron* 72, 245–256. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.011
- De Matteis, M. A., and Luini, A. (2008). Exiting the Golgi complex. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 9, 273–284. doi: 10.1038/nrm2378
- Deng, H. X., Zhai, H., Bigio, E. H., Yan, J., Fecto, F., Ajroud, K., et al. (2010). FUS-immunoreactive inclusions are a common feature in sporadic and non-SOD1 familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann. Neurol.* 67, 739–748. doi: 10.1002/ana.22051
- Farg, M. A., Soo, K. Y., Walker, A. K., Pham, H., Orian, J., Horne, M. K., et al. (2012). Mutant FUS induces endoplasmic reticulum stress in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and interacts with protein disulfide-isomerase. *Neurobiol. Aging* 33, 2855–2868. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.02.009
- Farg, M. A., Soo, K. Y., Warraich, S. T., Sundaramoorthy, V., Blair, I. P., and Atkin, J. D. (2013). Ataxin-2 interacts with FUS and intermediatelength polyglutamine expansions enhance FUS-related pathology in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 717–728. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds479
- Farg, M. A., Sundaramoorthy, V., Sultana, J. M., Yang, S., Atkinson, R. A., Levina, V., et al. (2014). C9ORF72, implicated in amytrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia, regulates endosomal trafficking. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 3579–3595. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu068
- Fischer, L. R., Culver, D. G., Tennant, P., Davis, A. A., Wang, M., Castellano-Sanchez, A., et al. (2004). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis is a distal axonopathy: evidence in mice and man. *Exp. Neurol.* 185, 232–240. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2003.10.004
- Forsberg, K., Jonsson, P. A., Andersen, P. M., Bergemalm, D., Graffmo, K. S., Hultdin, M., et al. (2010). Novel antibodies reveal inclusions containing non-native SOD1 in sporadic ALS patients. *PLoS ONE* 5:e11552. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011552
- Frey, D., Schneider, C., Xu, L., Borg, J., Spooren, W., and Caroni, P. (2000). Early and selective loss of neuromuscular synapse subtypes with low sprouting competence in motoneuron diseases. J. Neurosci. 20, 2534–2542.
- Fujita, Y., Mizuno, Y., Takatama, M., and Okamoto, K. (2008). Anterior horn cells with abnormal TDP-43 immunoreactivities show fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus in ALS. J. Neurol. Sci. 269, 30–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2007.12.016
- Fujita, Y., Ohama, E., Takatama, M., Al-Sarraj, S., and Okamoto, K. (2006). Fragmentation of Golgi apparatus of nigral neurons with α-synuclein-positive inclusions in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 112, 261–265. doi: 10.1007/s00401-006-0114-4
- Fujita, Y., Okamoto, K., Sakurai, A., Amari, M., Nakazato, Y., and Gonatas, N. K. (1999). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of Betz cells in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 163, 81–85. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(99)00014-3
- Fujita, Y., Okamoto, K., Sakurai, A., Gonatas, N. K., and Hirano, A. (2000). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of the anterior horn cells in patients with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with SOD1 mutations and posterior column involvement. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 174, 137–140. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(00)00265-3
- Gardiol, A., Racca, C., and Triller, A. (1999). Dendritic and postsynaptic protein synthetic machinery. J. Neurosci. 19, 168–179.
- Glick, B. S. (2002). Can the Golgi form *de novo? Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 3, 615–619. doi: 10.1038/nrm877
- Glick, B. S., and Nakano, A. (2009). Membrane traffic within the Golgi apparatus. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 25, 113. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.24.110707.175421

- Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., and Gonatas, J. O. (2006). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus in neurodegenerative diseases and cell death. J. Neurol. Sci. 246, 21–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2006.01.019
- Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., Mourelatos, Z., Chen, Y., Gonatas, J. O., Appel, S. H., et al. (1992). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 140, 731.
- Gosavi, N., Lee, H.-J., Lee, J. S., Patel, S., and Lee, S.-J. (2002). Golgi fragmentation occurs in the cells with prefibrillar α-synuclein aggregates and precedes the formation of fibrillar inclusion. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 48984–48992. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M208194200
- Grad, L. I., Yerbury, J. J., Turner, B. J., Guest, W. C., Pokrishevsky, E., O'Neill, M. A., et al. (2014). Intercellular propagated misfolding of wildtype Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase occurs via exosome-dependent andindependent mechanisms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 3620–3625. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1312245111
- Graves, T. K., Patel, S., Dannies, P. S., and Hinkle, P. M. (2001). Misfolded growth hormone causes fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus and disrupts endoplasmic reticulum-to-Golgi traffic. J. Cell Sci. 114, 3685–3694.
- Griffiths, G., Fuller, S. D., Back, R., Hollinshead, M., Pfeiffer, S., and Simons, K. (1989). The dynamic nature of the Golgi complex. J. Cell Biol. 108, 277–297. doi: 10.1083/jcb.108.2.277
- Griffiths, G., Hoflack, B., Simons, K., Mellman, I., and Kornfeld, S. (1988). The mannose 6-phosphate receptor and the biogenesis of lysosomes. *Cell* 52, 329–341. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(88)80026-6
- Gu, J., Firestein, B. L., and Zheng, J. Q. (2008). Microtubules in dendritic spine development. J. Neurosci. 28, 12120–12124. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2509-08.2008
- Guo, Y., Chang, C., Huang, R., Liu, B., Bao, L., and Liu, W. (2012). AP1 is essential for generation of autophagosomes from the trans-Golgi network. J. Cell Sci. 125, 1706–1715. doi: 10.1242/jcs.093203
- Gurney, M. E., Pu, H., Chiu, A. Y., Dal Canto, M. C., Polchow, C. Y., Alexander, D. D., et al. (1994). Motor neuron degeneration in mice that express a human Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase mutation. *Science* 264, 1772–1775. doi: 10.1126/science.8209258
- Haeusler, A. R., Donnelly, C. J., Periz, G., Simko, E. A., Shaw, P. G., Kim, M.-S., et al. (2014). C9orf72 nucleotide repeat structures initiate molecular cascades of disease. *Nature* 507, 195–200. doi: 10.1038/nature13124
- Hayashi-Nishino, M., Fujita, N., Noda, T., Yamaguchi, A., Yoshimori, T., and Yamamoto, A. (2009). A subdomain of the endoplasmic reticulum forms a cradle for autophagosome formation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1433–1437. doi: 10.1038/ncb1991
- Hetz, C. (2012). The unfolded protein response: controlling cell fate decisions under ER stress and beyond. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 13, 89–102. doi: 10.1038/nrm3270
- Hirokawa, N., and Takemura, R. (2005). Molecular motors and mechanisms of directional transport in neurons. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 6, 201–214. doi: 10.1038/nrn1624
- Horton, A. C., and Ehlers, M. D. (2003). Dual modes of endoplasmic reticulumto-Golgi transport in dendrites revealed by live-cell imaging. J. Neurosci. 23, 6188–6199.
- Horton, A. C., and Ehlers, M. D. (2004). Secretory trafficking in neuronal dendrites. Nat. Cell Biol. 6, 585–591. doi: 10.1038/ncb0704-585
- Ikenaka, K., Katsuno, M., Kawai, K., Ishigaki, S., Tanaka, F., and Sobue, G. (2012). Disruption of axonal transport in motor neuron diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 13, 1225–1238. doi: 10.3390/ijms13011225
- Ilieva, E. V., Ayala, V., Jové, M., Dalfó, E., Cacabelos, D., Povedano, M., et al. (2007). Oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stress interplay in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain* 130, 3111–3123. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm190
- Ito, H., Nakamura, M., Komure, O., Ayaki, T., Wate, R., Maruyama, H., et al. (2011). Clinicopathologic study on an ALS family with a heterozygous E478G optineurin mutation. *Acta Neuropathol.* 122, 223–229. doi: 10.1007/s00401-011-0842-y
- Jareb, M., and Banker, G. (1997). Inhibition of axonal growth by brefeldin A in hippocampal neurons in culture. J. Neurosci. 17, 8955–8963.
- Jiang, J., Parameshwaran, K., Seibenhener, M. L., Kang, M. G., Suppiramaniam, V., Huganir, R. L., et al. (2009). AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity require SQSTM1/p62. *Hippocampus* 19, 392–406. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20528

- Johnson, J. O., Mandrioli, J., Benatar, M., Abramzon, Y., Van Deerlin, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., et al. (2010). Exome sequencing reveals VCP mutations as a cause of familial ALS. *Neuron* 68, 857–864. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2010.11.036
- Jung, H., Yoon, B. C., and Holt, C. E. (2012). Axonal mRNA localization and local protein synthesis in nervous system assembly, maintenance and repair. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 13, 308–324. doi: 10.1038/nrn3274
- Kihara, A., Kabeya, Y., Ohsumi, Y., and Yoshimori, T. (2001). Beclinphosphatidylinositol 3-kinase complex functions at the trans-Golgi network. *EMBO Rep.* 2, 330-335. doi: 10.1093/embo-reports/kve061
- Koenig, E., Martin, R., Titmus, M., and Sotelo-Silveira, J. R. (2000). Cryptic peripheral ribosomal domains distributed intermittently along mammalian myelinated axons. J. Neurosci. 20, 8390–8400.
- Koppers, M., Blokhuis, A. M., Westeneng, H. J., Terpstra, M. L., Zundel, C. A., Vieira de Sá, R., et al. (2015). C9orf72 ablation in mice does not cause motor neuron degeneration or motor deficits. *Ann. Neurol.* 78, 426–438. doi: 10.1002/ana.24453
- Kornfeld, S., and Mellman, I. (1989). The biogenesis of lysosomes. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 5, 483–525. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cb.05.110189.002411
- Kuijpers, M., Yu, K. L., Teuling, E., Akhmanova, A., Jaarsma, D., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2013). The ALS8 protein VAPB interacts with the ER–Golgi recycling protein YIF1A and regulates membrane delivery into dendrites. *EMBO J.* 32, 2056–2072. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.131
- Kun, A., Otero, L., Sotelo-Silveira, J. R., and Sotelo, J. R. (2007). Ribosomal distributions in axons of mammalian myelinated fibers. J. Neurosci. Res. 85, 2087–2098. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21340
- Kwiatkowski, T. J. Jr., Bosco, D., Leclerc, A., Tamrazian, E., Vanderburg, C. R., Russ, C., et al. (2009). Mutations in the FUS/TLS gene on chromosome 16 cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 323, 1205–1208. doi: 10.1126/science.1166066
- Lane, J. D., Lucocq, J., Pryde, J., Barr, F. A., Woodman, P. G., Allan, V. J., et al. (2002). Caspase-mediated cleavage of the stacking protein GRASP65 is required for Golgi fragmentation during apoptosis. *J. Cell Biol.* 156, 495–509. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200110007
- Lee, M. C., Miller, E. A., Goldberg, J., Orci, L., and Schekman, R. (2004). Bidirectional protein transport between the ER and Golgi. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 87–123. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.20.010403.105307
- Levine, T. P., Daniels, R. D., Gatta, A. T., Wong, L. H., and Hayes, M. J. (2013). The product of C9orf72, a gene strongly implicated in neurodegeneration, is structurally related to DENN Rab-GEFs. *Bioinformatics* 29, 499–503. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts725
- Levy, J. R., Sumner, C. J., Caviston, J. P., Tokito, M. K., Ranganathan, S., Ligon, L. A., et al. (2006). A motor neuron disease–associated mutation in p150Glued perturbs dynactin function and induces protein aggregation. *J. Cell Biol.* 172, 733–745. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200511068
- Liazoghli, D., Perreault, S., Micheva, K. D., Desjardins, M., and Leclerc, N. (2005). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus induced by the overexpression of wildtype and mutant human tau forms in neurons. *Am. J. Pathol.* 166, 1499–1514. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62366-8
- Ling, S.-C., Polymenidou, M., and Cleveland, D. W. (2013). Converging mechanisms in ALS and FTD: disrupted RNA and protein homeostasis. *Neuron* 79, 416–438. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.07.033
- Linstedt, A. D. (2004). Positioning the Golgi apparatus. Cell 118, 271–272. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.07.015
- Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Roberts, T. H., and Hirschberg, K. (2000). Secretory protein trafficking and organelle dynamics in living cells 1. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 16, 557–589. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.16.1.557
- Liu, H. N., Sanelli, T., Horne, P., Pioro, E. P., Strong, M. J., Rogaeva, E., et al. (2009). Lack of evidence of monomer/misfolded superoxide dismutase-1 in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann. Neurol.* 66, 75–80. doi: 10.1002/ ana.21704
- Liu, Q., Xie, F., Siedlak, S. L., Nunomura, A., Honda, K., Moreira, P. I., et al. (2004). Neurofilament proteins in neurodegenerative diseases. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 61, 3057–3075. doi: 10.1007/s00018-004-4268-8
- Lu, W.-Y., Man, H.-Y., Ju, W., Trimble, W. S., MacDonald, J. F., and Wang, Y. T. (2001). Activation of synaptic NMDA receptors induces membrane insertion of new AMPA receptors and LTP in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 29, 243–254. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00194-5

- Matus, A. (2000). Actin-based plasticity in dendritic spines. Science 290, 754–758. doi: 10.1126/science.290.5492.754
- Merianda, T. T., Lin, A. C., Lam, J. S., Vuppalanchi, D., Willis, D. E., Karin, N., et al. (2009). A functional equivalent of endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi in axons for secretion of locally synthesized proteins. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 40, 128–142. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2008.09.008
- Moloney, E. B., de Winter, F., and Verhaagen, J. (2014). ALS as a distal axonopathy: molecular mechanisms affecting neuromuscular junction stability in the presymptomatic stages of the disease. *Front. Neurosci.* 8:252. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00252
- Mourelatos, Z., Adler, H., Hirano, A., Donnenfeld, H., Gonatas, J. O., and Gonatas, N. K. (1990). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis revealed by organelle-specific antibodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 4393–4395. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.11.4393
- Mourelatos, Z., Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., Gurney, M. E., and Dal Canto, M. C. (1996). The Golgi apparatus of spinal cord motor neurons in transgenic mice expressing mutant Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase becomes fragmented in early, preclinical stages of the disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 5472–5477. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.11.5472
- Mourelatos, Z., Hirano, A., Rosenquist, A. C., and Gonatas, N. K. (1994). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Clinical studies in ALS of Guam and experimental studies in deafferented neurons and in beta, beta'-iminodipropionitrile axonopathy. Am. J. Pathol. 144, 1288.
- Münch, C., Sedlmeier, R., Meyer, T., Homberg, V., Sperfeld, A. D., Kurt, A., et al. (2004). Point mutations of the p150 subunit of dynactin (DCTN1) gene in ALS. *Neurology* 63, 724–726. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000134608.83927.B1
- Nassif, M., Matus, S., Castillo, K., and Hetz, C. (2010). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis pathogenesis: a journey through the secretory pathway. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 13, 1955–1989. doi: 10.1089/ars.2009.2991
- Naydenov, N. G., Harris, G., Morales, V., and Ivanov, A. I. (2012). Loss of a membrane trafficking protein α SNAP induces non-canonical autophagy in human epithelia. *Cell Cycle* 11, 4613–4625. doi: 10.4161/cc.22885
- Neumann, M., Sampathu, D. M., Kwong, L. K., Truax, A. C., Micsenyi, M. C., Chou, T. T., et al. (2006). Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 314, 130–133. doi: 10.1126/science.1134108
- Nishida, Y., Arakawa, S., Fujitani, K., Yamaguchi, H., Mizuta, T., Kanaseki, T., et al. (2009). Discovery of Atg5/Atg7-independent alternative macroautophagy. *Nature* 461, 654–658. doi: 10.1038/nature08455
- Nishimura, A. L., Mitne-Neto, M., Silva, H. C., Richieri-Costa, A., Middleton, S., Cascio, D., et al. (2004). A mutation in the vesicle-trafficking protein VAPB causes late-onset spinal muscular atrophy and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 75, 822–831. doi: 10.1086/425287
- Oakley, B. R. (2000). An abundance of tubulins. *Trends Cell Biol.* 10, 537–542. doi: 10.1016/S0962-8924(00)01857-2
- Oblinger, M. M., Wong, J., and Parysek, L. M. (1989). Axotomy-induced changes in the expression of a type III neuronal intermediate filament gene. J. Neurosci. 9, 3766–3775.
- Oh, Y. K., Shin, K. S., Yuan, J., and Kang, S. J. (2008). Superoxide dismutase 1 mutants related to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis induce endoplasmic stress in neuro2a cells. *J. Neurochem.* 104, 993–1005. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.05053.x
- Ori-McKenney, K. M., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y.-N. (2012). Golgi outposts shape dendrite morphology by functioning as sites of acentrosomal microtubule nucleation in neurons. *Neuron* 76, 921–930. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.10.008
- Otomo, A., Hadano, S., Okada, T., Mizumura, H., Kunita, R., Nishijima, H., et al. (2003). ALS2, a novel guanine nucleotide exchange factor for the small GTPase Rab5, is implicated in endosomal dynamics. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 12, 1671–1687. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddg184
- Otomo, A., Pan, L., and Hadano, S. (2012). Dysregulation of the autophagyendolysosomal system in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and related motor neuron diseases. *Neurol. Res. Int.* 2012:498428. doi: 10.1155/2012/498428
- Oyanagi, K., Yamazaki, M., Takahashi, H., Watabe, K., Wada, M., Komori, T., et al. (2008). Spinal anterior horn cells in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis show ribosomal detachment from, and cisternal distention of the rough endoplasmic reticulum. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 34, 650–658. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.2008.00941.x

- Pabba, M., Wong, A. Y., Ahlskog, N., Hristova, E., Biscaro, D., Nassrallah, W., et al. (2014). NMDA receptors are upregulated and trafficked to the plasma membrane after Sigma-1 receptor activation in the rat hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 11325–11338. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0458-14.2014
- Pantaloni, D., and Carlier, M.-F. (1993). How profilin promotes actin filament assembly in the presence of thymosin β4. *Cell* 75, 1007–1014. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)90544-Z
- Passafaro, M., Piëch, V., and Sheng, M. (2001). Subunit-specific temporal and spatial patterns of AMPA receptor exocytosis in hippocampal neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 917–926. doi: 10.1038/nn0901-917
- Pelletier, L., Jokitalo, E., and Warren, G. (2000). The effect of Golgi depletion on exocytic transport. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2, 840–846. doi: 10.1038/35041089
- Pérez-Brangulí, F., Mishra, H. K., Prots, I., Havlicek, S., Kohl, Z., Saul, D., et al. (2014). Dysfunction of spatacsin leads to axonal pathology in SPG11 linked hereditary spastic paraplegia. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 4859–4874. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu200
- Perlson, E., Maday, S., Fu, M.-M., Moughamian, A. J., and Holzbaur, E. L. (2010). Retrograde axonal transport: pathways to cell death? *Trends Neurosci.* 33, 335–344. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2010.03.006
- Persson, R., Schnell, C. R., Borg, L. A., and Fries, E. (1992). Accumulation of Golgi-processed secretory proteins in an organelle of high density upon reduction of ATP concentration in rat hepatocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 2760–2766.
- Polishchuk, R. S., and Mironov, A. (2004). Structural aspects of Golgi function. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 61, 146–158. doi: 10.1007/s00018-003-3353-8
- Preston, A. M., Gurisik, E., Bartley, C., Laybutt, D. R., and Biden, T. J. (2009). Reduced endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-to-Golgi protein trafficking contributes to ER stress in lipotoxic mouse beta cells by promoting protein overload. *Diabetologia* 52, 2369–2373. doi: 10.1007/s00125-009-1506-5
- Puri, S., and Linstedt, A. D. (2003). Capacity of the Golgi apparatus for biogenesis from the endoplasmic reticulum. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 14, 5011–5018. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E03-06-0437
- Rambourg, A., and Clermont, Y. (1990). Three-dimensional electron microscopy: structure of the Golgi apparatus. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 51, 189.
- Reggiori, F., and Klionsky, D. J. (2005). Autophagosomes: biogenesis from scratch? *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 17, 415–422. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2005.06.007
- Renton, A. E., Chiò, A., and Traynor, B. J. (2014). State of play in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis genetics. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 17–23. doi: 10.1038/nn.3584
- Renton, A. E., Majounie, E., Waite, A., Simón-Sánchez, J., Rollinson, S., Gibbs, J. R., et al. (2011). A hexanucleotide repeat expansion in C9ORF72 is the cause of chromosome 9p21-linked ALS-FTD. Neuron 72, 257–268. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.010
- Riederer, M. A., Soldati, T., Shapiro, A. D., Lin, J., and Pfeffer, S. R. (1994). Lysosome biogenesis requires Rab9 function and receptor recycling from endosomes to the trans-Golgi network. *J. Cell Biol.* 125, 573–582. doi: 10.1083/jcb.125.3.573
- Rosen, D. R., Siddique, T., Patterson, D., Figlewicz, D. A., Sapp, P., Hentati, A., et al. (1993). Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature* 362, 59–62. doi: 10.1038/362059a0
- Ross, J. L., Shuman, H., Holzbaur, E. L., and Goldman, Y. E. (2008). Kinesin and dynein-dynactin at intersecting microtubules: motor density affects dynein function. *Biophys. J.* 94, 3115–3125. doi: 10.1529/biophysj.107.120014
- Rothman, J. E., and Wieland, F. T. (1996). Protein sorting by transport vesicles. *Science* 272, 227–234. doi: 10.1126/science.272.5259.227
- Ruscher, K., and Wieloch, T. (2015). The involvement of the sigma-1 receptor in neurodegeneration and neurorestoration. J. Pharmacol. Sci. 127, 30–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jphs.2014.11.011
- Sahlender, D. A., Roberts, R. C., Arden, S. D., Spudich, G., Taylor, M. J., Luzio, J. P., et al. (2005). Optineurin links myosin VI to the Golgi complex and is involved in Golgi organization and exocytosis. *J. Cell Biol.* 169, 285–295. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200501162
- Sakurai, A., Okamoto, K., Fujita, Y., Nakazato, Y., Wakabayashi, K., Takahashi, H., et al. (2000). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of the ballooned neurons in patients with corticobasal degeneration and Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. Acta Neuropathol. 100, 270–274. doi: 10.1007/s004010000182
- Sakurai, A., Okamoto, K., Yaguchi, M., Fujita, Y., Mizuno, Y., Nakazato, Y., et al. (2002). Pathology of the inferior olivary nucleus in patients with multiple

system atrophy. Acta Neuropathol. 103, 550–554. doi: 10.1007/s00401-001-0500-x

- Sasaki, S. (2011). Autophagy in spinal cord motor neurons in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 70, 349–359. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e3182160690
- Saxena, S., Cabuy, E., and Caroni, P. (2009). A role for motoneuron subtypeselective ER stress in disease manifestations of FALS mice. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 627–636. doi: 10.1038/nn.2297
- Schroer, T. A. (2004). Dynactin. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 759–779. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.20.012103.094623
- Schwarz, T. L. (2013). Mitochondrial trafficking in neurons. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 5:a011304. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011304
- Shirao, T., and González-Billault, C. (2013). Actin filaments and microtubules in dendritic spines. J. Neurochem. 126, 155–164. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12313
- Skehel, P. A., Fabian-Fine, R., and Kandel, E. R. (2000). Mouse VAP33 is associated with the endoplasmic reticulum and microtubules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 1101–1106. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.3.1101
- Smith, B. N., Ticozzi, N., Fallini, C., Gkazi, A. S., Topp, S., Kenna, K. P., et al. (2014). Exome-wide rare variant analysis identifies TUBA4A mutations associated with familial ALS. *Neuron* 84, 324–331. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.09.027
- Soo, K. Y., Halloran, M., Sundaramoorthy, V., Parakh, S., Toth, R. P., Southam, K. A., et al. (2015a). Rab1-dependent ER–Golgi transport dysfunction is a common pathogenic mechanism in SOD1, TDP-43 and FUS-associated ALS. *Acta Neuropathol.* 130, 679–697. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1468-2
- Soo, K. Y., Sultana, J., King, A. E., Atkinson, R. A. K., Warraich, S. T., et al. (2015b). ALS-associated mutant FUS inhibits macroautophagy which is restored by overexpression of Rab1. *Cell Death Discovery* 1, 15030. doi: 10.1038/cddiscovery.2015.30
- Sreedharan, J., Blair, I. P., Tripathi, V. B., Hu, X., Vance, C., Rogelj, B., et al. (2008). TDP-43 mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 319, 1668–1672. doi: 10.1126/science.1154584
- Stanley, P. (2011). Golgi glycosylation. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3:a005199. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005199
- Stenmark, H., and Olkkonen, V. M. (2001). The rab gtpase family. *Genome Biol.* 2:S3007. doi: 10.1186/gb-2001-2-5-reviews3007
- Stieber, A., Gonatas, J. O., Moore, J. S., Bantly, A., Yim, H.-S., Yim, M. B., et al. (2004). Disruption of the structure of the Golgi apparatus and the function of the secretory pathway by mutants G93A and G85R of Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase (SOD1) of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 219, 45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2003.12.004
- Storrie, B., White, J., Röttger, S., Stelzer, E. H., Suganuma, T., and Nilsson, T. (1998). Recycling of Golgi-resident glycosyltransferases through the ER reveals a novel pathway and provides an explanation for nocodazole-induced Golgi scattering. J. Cell Biol. 143, 1505–1521. doi: 10.1083/jcb.143.6.1505
- Sun, K.-H., de Pablo, Y., Vincent, F., Johnson, E. O., Chavers, A. K., and Shah, K. (2008). Novel genetic tools reveal Cdk5's major role in Golgi fragmentation in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 3052–3069. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-11-1106
- Sundaramoorthy, V., Walker, A. K., Tan, V., Fifita, J. A., Mccann, E. P., Williams, K. L., et al. (2015). Defects in optineurin- and myosin VI-mediated cellular trafficking in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 24, 3830–3846. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv126
- Sundaramoorthy, V., Walker, A. K., Yerbury, J., Soo, K. Y., Farg, M. A., Hoang, V., et al. (2013). Extracellular wildtype and mutant SOD1 induces ER-Golgi pathology characteristic of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in neuronal cells. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 70, 4181–4195. doi: 10.1007/s00018-013-1385-2
- Sütterlin, C., Hsu, P., Mallabiabarrena, A., and Malhotra, V. (2002). Fragmentation and dispersal of the pericentriolar Golgi complex is required for entry into mitosis in mammalian cells. *Cell* 109, 359–369. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00720-1
- Szegezdi, E., Logue, S. E., Gorman, A. M., and Samali, A. (2006). Mediators of endoplasmic reticulum stress—induced apoptosis. *EMBO Rep.* 7, 880–885. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.7400779
- Takahashi, Y., Meyerkord, C. L., Hori, T., Runkle, K., Fox, T. E., Kester, M., et al. (2011). Bif-1 regulates Atg9 trafficking by mediating the fission of Golgi membranes during autophagy. *Autophagy* 7, 61–73. doi: 10.4161/auto.7.1.14015

- Taylor, A. M., Berchtold, N. C., Perreau, V. M., Tu, C. H., Jeon, N. L., and Cotman, C. W. (2009). Axonal mRNA in uninjured and regenerating cortical mammalian axons. J. Neurosci. 29, 4697–4707. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6130-08.2009
- Teuling, E., Ahmed, S., Haasdijk, E., Demmers, J., Steinmetz, M. O., Akhmanova, A., et al. (2007). Motor neuron disease-associated mutant vesicle-associated membrane protein-associated protein (VAP) B recruits wild-type VAPs into endoplasmic reticulum-derived tubular aggregates. J. Neurosci. 27, 9801–9815. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2661-07.2007
- Thomas, M., Alegre-Abarrategui, J., and Wade-Martins, R. (2013). RNA dysfunction and aggrephagy at the centre of an amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/frontotemporal dementia disease continuum. *Brain* 136, 1345–1360. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt030
- Tong, J., Huang, C., Bi, F., Wu, Q., Huang, B., and Zhou, H. (2012). XBP1 depletion precedes ubiquitin aggregation and Golgi fragmentation in TDP-43 transgenic rats. J. Neurochem. 123, 406-416. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12014
- Topp, J. D., Gray, N. W., Gerard, R. D., and Horazdovsky, B. F. (2004). Alsin is a Rab5 and Rac1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 24612–24623. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M313504200
- Tuck, E., and Cavalli, V. (2010). Roles of membrane trafficking in nerve repair and regeneration. *Commun. Integr. Biol.* 3, 209–214. doi: 10.4161/cib.3.3.11555
- Tumbarello, D. A., Waxse, B. J., Arden, S. D., Bright, N. A., Kendrick-Jones, J., and Buss, F. (2012). Autophagy receptors link myosin VI to autophagosomes to mediate Tom1-dependent autophagosome maturation and fusion with the lysosome. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 14, 1024–1035. doi: 10.1038/ncb2589
- Urwin, H., Authier, A., Nielsen, J. E., Metcalf, D., Powell, C., Froud, K., et al. (2010). Disruption of endocytic trafficking in frontotemporal dementia with CHMP2B mutations. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 19, 2228–2238. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq100
- van Dis, V., Kuijpers, M., Haasdijk, E. D., Teuling, E., Oakes, S. A., Hoogenraad, C. C., et al. (2014). Golgi fragmentation precedes neuromuscular denervation and is associated with endosome abnormalities in SOD1-ALS mouse motor neurons. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 2:38. doi: 10.1186/2051-5960-2-38
- Vance, C., Rogelj, B., Hortobágyi, T., De Vos, K. J., Nishimura, A. L., Sreedharan, J., et al. (2009). Mutations in FUS, an RNA processing protein, cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 6. *Science* 323, 1208–1211. doi: 10.1126/science.1165942
- Walker, A. K., and Atkin, J. D. (2011). Stress signaling from the endoplasmic reticulum: a central player in the pathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *IUBMB Life* 63, 754–763. doi: 10.1002/iub.520
- Walker, A. K., Farg, M. A., Bye, C. R., McLean, C. A., Horne, M. K., and Atkin, J. D. (2010). Protein disulphide isomerase protects against protein aggregation and is S-nitrosylated in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain* 133, 105–116. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp267
- Walker, A. K., Soo, K. Y., Sundaramoorthy, V., Parakh, S., Ma, Y., Farg, M. A., et al. (2013). ALS-associated TDP-43 induces endoplasmic reticulum stress, which drives cytoplasmic TDP-43 accumulation and stress granule formation. *PLoS ONE* 8:e81170. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081170
- Webber, J. L., Young, A. R., and Tooze, S. A. (2007). Atg9 trafficking in mammalian cells. *Autophagy* 3, 54–56. doi: 10.4161/auto.3419
- Wilson, B. S., Nuoffer, C., Meinkoth, J. L., McCaffery, M., Feramisco, J. R., Balch, W. E., et al. (1994). A Rab1 mutant affecting guanine nucleotide exchange promotes disassembly of the Golgi apparatus. J. Cell Biol. 125, 557–571. doi: 10.1083/jcb.125.3.557
- Wood, J. D., Beaujeux, T. P., and Shaw, P. J. (2003). Protein aggregation in motor neurone disorders. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 29, 529–545. doi: 10.1046/j.0305-1846.2003.00518.x
- Wu, C.-H., Fallini, C., Ticozzi, N., Keagle, P. J., Sapp, P. C., Piotrowska, K., et al. (2012). Mutations in the profilin 1 gene cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature* 488, 499–503. doi: 10.1038/nature11280
- Xu, H., and Shields, D. (1993). Prohormone processing in the trans-Golgi network: endoproteolytic cleavage of prosomatostatin and formation of nascent secretory vesicles in permeabilized cells. J. Cell Biol. 122, 1169–1184. doi: 10.1083/jcb.122.6.1169
- Yi, P., Higa, A., Taouji, S., Bexiga, M. G., Marza, E., Arma, D., et al. (2012). Sorafenib-mediated targeting of the AAA+ ATPase p97/VCP leads to disruption of the secretory pathway, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and

hepatocellular cancer cell death. Mol. Cancer Ther. 11, 2610-2620. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0516

- Young, A. R., Chan, E. Y., Hu, X. W., Köchl, R., Crawshaw, S. G., High, S., et al. (2006). Starvation and ULK1-dependent cycling of mammalian Atg9 between the TGN and endosomes. J. Cell Sci. 119, 3888–3900. doi: 10.1242/ jcs.03172
- Zhang, D., Iyer, L. M., He, F., and Aravind, L. (2012). Discovery of novel DENN proteins: implications for the evolution of eukaryotic intracellular membrane structures and human disease. *Front. Genet.* 3:283. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00283
- Zhang, Y.-J., Jansen-West, K., Xu, Y.-F., Gendron, T. F., Bieniek, K. F., Lin, W.-L., et al. (2014). Aggregation-prone c9FTD/ALS poly (GA) RAN-translated proteins cause neurotoxicity by inducing ER stress. Acta Neuropathol. 128, 505–524. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1336-5
- Zhou, Z., Mogensen, M. M., Powell, P. P., Curry, S., and Wileman, T. (2013). Foot-and-mouth disease virus 3C protease induces fragmentation of the Golgi compartment and blocks intra-Golgi transport. J. Virol. 87, 11721–11729. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01355-13

- Zolov, S. N., and Lupashin, V. V. (2005). Cog3p depletion blocks vesicle-mediated Golgi retrograde trafficking in HeLa cells. J. Cell Biol. 168, 747–759. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200412003
- Zoppino, F. C. M., Militello, R. D., Slavin, I., Álvarez, C., and Colombo, M. I. (2010). Autophagosome formation depends on the small GTPase Rab1 and functional ER exit sites. *Traffic* 11, 1246–1261. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2010.01086.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Sundaramoorthy, Sultana and Atkin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Defects in the COG complex and COG-related trafficking regulators affect neuronal Golgi function

Leslie K. Climer¹, Maxim Dobretsov² and Vladimir Lupashin^{1*}

¹ Department of Physiology and Biophysics, College of Medicine, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, USA, ² Department of Anesthesiology, College of Medicine, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, USA

The Conserved Oligomeric Golgi (COG) complex is an evolutionarily conserved hetero-octameric protein complex that has been proposed to organize vesicle tethering at the Golgi apparatus. Defects in seven of the eight COG subunits are linked to Congenital Disorders of Glycosylation (CDG)-type II, a family of rare diseases involving misregulation of protein glycosylation, alterations in Golgi structure, variations in retrograde trafficking through the Golgi and system-wide clinical pathologies. A troublesome aspect of these diseases are the neurological pathologies such as low IQ, microcephaly, and cerebellar atrophy. The essential function of the COG complex is dependent upon interactions with other components of trafficking machinery, such as Rab-GTPases and SNAREs. COG-interacting Rabs and SNAREs have been implicated in neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. Defects in Golgi maintenance disrupts trafficking and processing of essential proteins, frequently associated with and contributing to compromised neuron function and human disease. Despite the recent advances in molecular neuroscience, the subcellular bases for most neurodegenerative diseases are poorly understood. This article gives an overview of the potential contributions of the COG complex and its Rab and SNARE partners in the pathogenesis of different neurodegenerative disorders.

Keywords: conserved oligomeric Golgi complex, COG, congenital disorders of glycosylation, neurodegeneration, glycosylation, vesicular trafficking, Rab, SNARE

INTRODUCTION

The Conserved Oligomeric Golgi (COG) complex is an evolutionarily conserved heterooctameric protein complex that is a proposed membrane tether during vesicular trafficking at the Golgi apparatus (Lupashin and Ungar, 2008; Reynders et al., 2011; Miller and Ungar, 2012; Willett et al., 2013b). COG is composed of two functionally distinct subcomplexes lobe A (COG1-4) and lobe B (COG5-8) (Fotso et al., 2005; Ungar et al., 2005). Secretory and transmembrane proteins make up 30–50% of all cellular proteins, and are trafficked through the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to the Golgi for folding and modifications before delivery to their final destination. Secretory cargo molecules are thought to travel through the Golgi complex mostly inside flat cisternae that are constantly maturing in a *cis*-to-*trans* (anterograde) fashion via the so called cisternal maturation mechanism (Glick and Malhotra, 1998). However, resident Golgi proteins and Soluble NSF Attachment protein Receptors (SNAREs) are constantly recycled back in vesicular

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Catherine Rabouille, Hubrecht Institute, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Wim Annaert, Catholic University of Leuven, Belgium Rainer Duden, University of Luebeck, Germany

> *Correspondence: Vladimir Lupashin vvlupashin@uams.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 14 August 2015 Accepted: 12 October 2015 Published: 27 October 2015

Citation:

Climer LK, Dobretsov M and Lupashin V (2015) Defects in the COG complex and COG-related trafficking regulators affect neuronal Golgi function. Front. Neurosci. 9:405. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00405 carriers to replenish the content of newly formed ciscisternae. COG regulates the recycling of vesicles containing glycosylation enzymes and other resident Golgi proteins in a trans-to-cis (retrograde) direction. An intricate assortment of trafficking machineries including small Rab-GTPases, SNAREs, Sec1/Munc18 (SM) proteins, vesicular coat proteins, and tethering proteins are required for vesicular transport (Bonifacino and Glick, 2004). Intracellular pathways rely on these protein families at each step of vesicular transport. Though the functional interaction between the tethers and other trafficking regulators is not completely understood, a multi-subunit tethering complex (MTC), like the COG complex, may coordinate the interactions between all other components of the trafficking machinery at the site of vesicle docking on the target membrane for efficient fusion of the two membranes (Cottam and Ungar, 2012; Willett et al., 2013b).

SNAREs are an essential COG partner. SNAREs catalyze the fusion of the vesicle membrane with the target membrane by the assembly of a quaternary SNARE complex that functions as a zipper to coalesce the opposing lipid bilayers While SNAREs alone have an innate ability to fuse membranes, the SNARE regulatory proteins and tethering complexes are thought to be necessary for physiologically relevant fusion events (Rizo and Südhof, 2012). The COG complex interacts with at least two Golgi SNARE complexes: the cis-Golgi STX5/GOSR1(GS28)/YKT6/BET1L(GS15) complex; and the trans-Golgi STX16/STX6/VTI1a/VAMP4 complex (Shestakova et al., 2007; Laufman et al., 2009, 2013b). Additionally, SNARE complexes that contain Sec22b, GOSR2(GS27), or SNAP29 are evidenced to interact with COG (Kudlyk et al., 2013; Willett et al., 2013a). SNARE partner transitions connect all compartments of the endocytic and secretory pathways. Thus, it is likely that a defect in one trafficking step may have a cascading effect on all other cargo trafficking steps. In this review we will focus on those SNAREs where deficiency was shown to be associated with neuronal abnormalities, i.e., Ykt6, Sec22b, STX5, SNAP29, GS27, GS28, and Vti1a/b (Table 1).

The essential function of the COG complex has been proposed to depend not only upon SNAREs interactions, but also interactions with Rabs (Miller et al., 2013; Willett et al., 2013a; Figure 1). Within this context, Rabs are believed to act as molecular switches that cycle between GDP-bound (inactive) and GTP-bound (active) states and regulate cargo trafficking by acting in an intracellular compartment-specific manner. Active (GTP-bound) Rabs regulate trafficking by binding effector molecules like tethering factors and motor proteins (D'Adamo et al., 2014). Binding to some effectors leads to the activation of other Rabs, in a sequence known as the Rab Cascade (Pfeffer, 2013). Nine distinct, Golgi-localized Rabs are known to interact with COG (Miller et al., 2013; Willett et al., 2013b, 2014). The compartment-specific nature of these different Rabs makes them a potential landmark for COG membrane localization and interaction. As with the SNAREs, this review will limit the discussion to COG partners Rab1a, Rab1b, Rab2, Rab4a, and Rab6a that are implicated in neuronal abnormalities (Table 1).

NEUROPHYSIOLOGICAL ABNORMALITIES AND COG DEFECTS

Since 2004, defects in seven out of the eight COG subunits have been associated with human Congenital Disorders of Glycosylation (CDG)-type II, a growing family of diseases involving malfunctions in the processing of N- and O-linked glycans and resulting from mutations in proteins involved with glycosylation (Wu et al., 2004; Spaapen et al., 2005; Foulquier et al., 2006, 2007; Kranz et al., 2007; Ng et al., 2007, 2011; Paesold-Burda et al., 2009; Reynders et al., 2009; Richardson et al., 2009; Lübbehusen et al., 2010; Fung et al., 2012; Huybrechts et al., 2012; Rymen et al., 2012, 2015; Kodera et al., 2015; Table 1). Glycosylation is a highly dynamic process that occurs in the ER and Golgi which requires an estimated two percent of the human genome to encode the enzymes and trafficking components for the proper maturation of newly formed glycan chains (Freeze et al., 2014). COG deficiency can cause a redistribution of COG-dependent Golgi resident proteins, including glycosylation enzymes. Most COG-CDG patients have defects in sialylation and galactosylation, as indicated by fluorescent lectin staining of plasma membrane glycoconjugates from patient fibroblasts and MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry of serum glycoproteins (Foulquier et al., 2007; Kranz et al., 2007; Paesold-Burda et al., 2009; Reynders et al., 2009; Zeevaert et al., 2009a,b). Along with other multi-system pathologies, COG-CDG patients display mild to severe neurological defects including hypotonia, intellectual disability, developmental delays, epilepsy, and ataxia (Table 1). Specific symptoms and the severity of condition appears to relate to the COG subunit that is deficient with COG6 and COG7 patients demonstrating the most severe phenotypes (Rymen et al., 2015). Additionaly, COG defects have not yet been attributed to any other subtype of CDG.

Several CDGs result from mutated COG subunits that are either severely truncated or rapidly degraded. Loss of one COG subunit can destabilize the remaining subunits and reduce their expression and association with the Golgi. Early studies of the COG3 subunit invoked participation of the COG complex in the proper distribution of Golgi enzymes. COG3 depletion by siRNA in HeLa cells causes extensive Golgi fragmentation and destabilization of the COG complex (Zolov and Lupashin, 2005). COG3 and COG7 knockdown generates an accumulation of COG complex-dependent (CCD) vesicles carrying the SNAREs GS15 and GS28, and Golgi enzymes MAN2A1 and GALNT2 (Zolov and Lupashin, 2005; Shestakova et al., 2006). The accumulation of CCD vesicles suggests that in COG deficient cells a significant fraction of Golgi glycosylation enzymes are separated from the proteins they need to modify. COG8-CDG patient fibroblasts have decreased levels of the other lobe B subunits (COG5, COG6, and COG7) all of which have lost their association with the Golgi (Foulquier et al., 2007; Kranz et al., 2007). COG lobe B destabilization was also seen in COG7-CDG patient fibroblasts, resulting in the loss of COG6 association with the Golgi (Kudlyk et al., 2013). The loss of COG also challenges the function of interacting SNAREs. The endosome-to-trans-Golgi Network (TGN) SNARE protein STX16 was mislocalized in COG8-CDG patient fibroblasts (Willett et al., 2013a), and the

TABLE 1 | Neurological phenotypes associated with COG and COG-interacting Rabs and SNAREs.

Protein	Disorder	Associated neurological manifestation	References
COG PRO	DTEINS		
COG1	CDG-IIg (COG1-CDG)	Cerebral atrophy, developmental delay, hypotonia	Foulquier et al., 2006
COG2	CDG-II (COG2-CDG)	Developmental delay, epilepsy	Kodera et al., 2015
COG4	CDG-IIj (COG4-CDG)	Developmental delay, epilepsy, hypotonia, lack of speech, nystagmus	Reynders et al., 2009; Ng et al., 2011
COG5	CDG-Ili (COG5-CDG)	Ataxia, cerebral atrophy, developmental delay, epilepsy, hypotonia	Paesold-Burda et al., 2009; Fung et al., 2012; Rymen et al., 2012
COG6	CDG-III (COG6-CDG) Shaheen syndrome (SHNS)	Ataxia, cerebral atrophy, developmental delay, epilepsy, hypotonia, optic nerve atrophy, sensoneural hearing loss Intellectual disability	Lübbehusen et al., 2010; Huybrechts et al., 2012; Shaheen et al., 2013; Rymen et al., 2015
COG7	CDG-lle (COG7-CDG)	Cerebral atrophy, developmental delay, epilepsy, hypotonia	Wu et al., 2004; Morava et al., 2007; Ng et al., 2007; Zeevaert et al., 2009a
COG8	CDG-IIh (COG8-CDG)	Cerebral atrophy, developmental delay, hypotonia	Foulquier et al., 2007; Kranz et al., 2007
SNARE P	ROTEINS		
Ykt6	Parkinson's Disease	Trafficking defects and cytotoxicity in vitro in NRK and PC12 cell lines	Hasegawa et al., 2003, 2004
Sec22b	Parkinson's Disease	Trafficking defects and cytotoxicity in vitro in NRK and PC12 cell lines	Hasegawa et al., 2003, 2004
STX5	Parkinson's Disease Alzheimer's Disease	Trafficking defects and cytotoxicity <i>in vitro</i> in NRK and PC12 cell lines Regulates processing of APP in PC12, HeLa, COS-7, and NG108-15 cell lines and primary cultures of rat hippocampal neurons	Suga et al., 2005b; Thayanidhi et al., 2010; Rendón et al., 2013; Suga et al., 2015
SNAP29	CEDNIK-Neuro-cutaneous syndrome	Cerebral Dysgenesis, Neuropathy, Ichthyosis, and Keratoderma	Sprecher et al., 2005; Fuchs-Telem et al., 2011
GS27	Myoclonus epilepsy/early ataxia Parkinson's Disease	Action myoclonus, mild cerebral atrophy, and early ataxia Trafficking defects and cytotoxicity <i>in vitro</i> in NRK and PC12 cell lines	Thayanidhi et al., 2010; Corbett et al., 2011
GS28	Neurodegeneration	Retinal degeneration in in vivo Drosophila photoreceptors	Rosenbaum et al., 2014
Vti1a/b	Neurodegeneration	Perinatal lethality in double knockouts in an <i>in vivo</i> mouse model. Neuronal axon tracks missing, reduced in size or misrouted	Kunwar et al., 2011; Walter et al., 2014
RAB PRO	TEINS		
Rab1a	Parkinson's Disease	Neuroprotective in C. elegans, D. melanogaster and primary rat neuron cultures. Rescue from the neurotoxic effects of α -synuclein	Cooper et al., 2006; Gitler et al., 2008
Rab1b	Alzheimer's Disease	Dominant negative mutant of Rab1b blocks trafficking of APP and decreases the secretion of $A\beta$	Dugan et al., 1995
Rab2	Parkinson's Disease	Reduced expression of Rab2 can rescue Golgi fragmentation in PD models	Rendón et al., 2013
Rab4a	Neumann-Pick disease Alzheimer's Disease Down's syndrome	Reduced Rab4-dependent recycling <i>in vitro</i> in Neumann-Pick type A and type C fibroblasts. Postmortem samples: increased Rab4 in patients with AD and mild cognitive disorder Aβ partially co-localizes with Rab4 in a mouse model of Down Syndrome	Cataldo et al., 2000; Choudhury et al., 2004; Arriagada et al., 2010; Ginsberg et al., 2010
Rab6a	Alzheimer's Disease	Dominant negative mutant of Rab6 increases the secretion of soluble APP and decreased A β secretion	McConlogue et al., 1996

STX5/GS28/Ykt6/GS15 and STX6/STX16/Vti1a/VAMP4 SNARE complexes were destabilized in both COG7- and COG8-CDG patient fibroblasts (Laufman et al., 2013a). In a non-CDG patient presenting intellectual disability, Shaheen et al. identified a mutation in COG6 which resulted in reduced COG6 and STX6 protein expression (Shaheen et al., 2013). Anterograde trafficking does not appear to be affected in cells with COG mutations, but retrograde trafficking is affected as indicated by a partial resistance to treatment with the transport inhibitor brefeldin A (Steet and Kornfeld, 2006; Foulquier et al., 2007; Kranz et al., 2007; Ng et al., 2007; Paesold-Burda et al., 2009; Reynders et al., 2009) and by endosome-to-TGN trafficking defects elucidated by application of Shiga toxin and SubAB toxin (Zolov and Lupashin, 2005; Smith et al., 2009). Therefore, retrograde intra-Golgi and endosome-to-TGN sorting are particularly impaired by COG deficiency.

NEUROPATHOLOGY AND DEFECTS IN COG-ASSOCIATED PROTEINS

Extensive *in vitro* analyses in control and disease models demonstrate that genetic deficiency in SNARE and Rab COG partners may also result in disintegration of the Golgi apparatus, thereby potentially influencing neurological impairment (**Table 1**). Interestingly, the therapeutic implications of studying neurodegeneration associated with defective COG function is broader than the COG-CDG patient population (D'Adamo et al., 2014; Rymen et al., 2015). Golgi fragmentation is a common feature of neurodegenerative diseases (Gonatas et al., 2006). Current theories argue that the Golgi fragmentation seen in Alzheimer's Disease (AD) and Parkinson's Disease (PD) is either a result of misfolded or aggregated proteins, or that fragmented Golgi causes etiologically important proteins



to aggregate and misfold leading to further progression of these diseases (Gonatas et al., 2006; Nakagomi et al., 2008; Bellouze et al., 2014; Joshi and Wang, 2015). However, Golgi fragmentation has also been linked to SNARE and Rab proteins making it difficult to pinpoint a single disease progression. Thus, the COG-Rab-SNARE dynamic is important for understanding neurodegenerative phenotypes.

SNARES

Genetic deficiency in SNAREs was shown to be associated with the progression of neurodegenerative diseases like AD and PD. PD is marked by the presence of Lewy bodies which are principally composed of aggregated α -synuclein. Under physiological conditions, α -synuclein may regulate vesicle trafficking and promote synaptic transmission by binding directly to SNAREs and stimulating SNARE complex formation (Burré et al., 2010; Thayanidhi et al., 2010). Overexpression of wild type or the PD-associated mutant of α -synuclein (A53T) leads to cytotoxicity and inhibition of ER-to-Golgi trafficking in *in vitro* models which can be partially suppressed by co-overexpression of SNAREs Ykt6 or Sec22. Ykt6—a protein enriched in neurons—was more protective than Sec22 and suggests a specialized role in mammals (Hasegawa et al., 2003, 2004). *In vitro* binding experiments also point toward the direct interaction of α -synuclein with STX5 and GS27 along with mutant α -synuclein which destabilizes the STX5-GS27-rbet1sec22b SNARE complex (Thayanidhi et al., 2010). This line of evidence further implicates trafficking defects in bringing about neurodegenerative cytotoxicity.

Although the exact molecular mechanisms connecting Golgi fragmentation and disease mutations is still much under investigation, *in vitro* models can be used to recapitulate Golgi fragmentation seen in neurodegenerative disorders (Suga et al., 2005a). Fragmentation has been recreated *in vitro* and can be rescued by regulating levels of SNAREs. A STX5 knockdown is known to induce Golgi fragmentation in HeLa cells and cultured neurons (Suga et al., 2005a; Amessou et al., 2007). On the other hand, in PC12 cells treated with 6-hydroxydopamine or methamphetamine (an established *in vitro* PD model), a decrease in the level of STX5 rescues Golgi fragmentation (Rendón et al., 2013). This same study also demonstrated

that Golgi fragmentation could intensify disease progression by inducing α -synuclein aggregation and the formation of Lewy bodies.

STX5 defects have also been shown to affect processing of AD-related proteins. In AD, amyloid precursor protein (APP) undergoes a series of proteolytic events by β - and γ secretases to create the amyloidogenic variants of β-amyloid $(A\beta)$ that are longer and more likely to form aggregates (Peric and Annaert, 2015). Presenilins form a complex with γ -secretase, and mutations in presenilin 1 (PS1) are the most frequently associated mutations found in AD which result in increased production of AB, or altered ratios of amyloid peptide species (Hardy, 2006; Saito et al., 2011; De Strooper et al., 2012). Overexpressed STX5 was shown to co-localize with and directly bind to PS1. Further, STX5 overexpression increased the accumulation of APP in the ER and cis-Golgi and inhibited Aß secretion in a neuroblastoma cell line (NG108-15)(Suga et al., 2005b). In NG108-15 cells expressing the familial AD mutation PS1AE9, STX5 was shown to have a decreased association with presenilin. A study of ER stress in an AD model demonstrated that ER stressors can increase synthesis of STX5 and its accumulation in the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) and transport vesicles. Thus, upregulation of trafficking machinery induced by ER stress could be a cellular mechanism for correcting the accumulation of the amyloidogenic cleavage products of APP (Suga et al., 2015).

As stated above, the *cis*-Golgi SNARE GS27 (GOSR2) binds to α -synuclein and is part of a SNARE complex that is destabilized by mutant α -synuclein. GS27 has also been shown to be associated with a neurological disorder in humans. Six patient were identified baring a mutation that results in improper subcellular localization and loss of function of GS27 leading to symptoms common in COG-CDG patients such as cerebral atrophy, epilepsy, and early ataxia (Corbett et al., 2011; **Table 1**).

GS28 (GOSR1) is a Golgi SNARE involved in both ERto-Golgi and intra-Golgi transport (Nagahama et al., 1996; Subramaniam et al., 1996), and accordingly has been shown to be associated with three SNARE complexes (Zhang and Hong, 2001; Parlati et al., 2002; Xu et al., 2002; Siddiqi et al., 2010). GS28 mutants have been used to study retinal degeneration in *Drosophila* photoreceptors (Rosenbaum et al., 2014). Lack of expression of GS28 in mutant flies alters trafficking and glycosylation of rhodopsin (Rh1). The photoreceptors in these mutants also exhibit enlarged ER and Golgi membranes and retinal degeneration over time.

Vtila is a TGN-localized SNARE that functions in vesicle generation and Ca2+ channel trafficking (von Mollard et al., 1997; Lupashin et al., 1997; Walter et al., 2014). A double knockout of Vtila and Vtilb genes results in progressive neurodegeneration and perinatal lethality in a mouse model (Kunwar et al., 2011). Single knockout of Vtila or Vtilb does not result in a lethal phenotype indicating overlapping functions of these proteins. The death-after-birth clearly demonstrates that these SNAREs are not required during organismal development, indicating a specialized requirement for Vtila and Vtilb in neurons leading to neurodegeneration in the double-knockout animals (Walter et al., 2014). Vtila SNARE partners, STX6 and STX16, are also required for neurite outgrowth (Chua and Tang, 2008; Kabayama et al., 2008).

In humans, a disease known as CEDNIK (Cerebral Dysgenesis, Neuropathy, Ichthyosis, and Keratoderma) syndrome has been linked with loss of function mutations in SNAP29 (Sprecher et al., 2005; Fuchs-Telem et al., 2011). SNAP29 is a member of the SNAP25 family that localizes to the Golgi, endosomal, and lysosomal compartments (Steegmaier et al., 1998). CEDNIK patients exhibit severe neuropathy likely due to the loss of SNAP29 functional involvement in neurotransmission (Pan et al., 2005) and trafficking within neuroglia during active myelination (Schardt et al., 2009).

RABS

As for SNAREs, regulating levels of Rabs has been shown to rescue Golgi fragmentation in multiple *in vitro* models of AD and PD. For example, overexpression of Rab1 can rescue Golgi fragmentation while reduced expression of Rab2 has the same affect in PD models which demonstrates the delicate balance in the regulatory functions of Golgi-associated Rabs (Rendón et al., 2013). Overexpression of Rab1 was shown to be neuroprotective in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, *Drosophila melanogaster* and primary rat neuron cultures (Cooper et al., 2006; Gitler et al., 2008). Rab1 is a key protein in maintaining Golgi architecture and function (Haas et al., 2007). It can also promote the restoration of ERto-Golgi trafficking and thus afford rescue from the neurotoxic effects of α -synuclein (Cooper et al., 2006; Gitler et al., 2008).

Multiple Rabs are associated with processing of APP. For example, ERGIC and *cis*-Golgi Rab1b-dependent trafficking could modulate the processing of APP as demonstrated in an *in vitro* system in which a dominant-negative mutant of Rab1b blocked trafficking of APP and decreased the secretion of A β (Dugan et al., 1995). *trans*-Golgi Rab6A is also implicated in APP trafficking. The dominant negative mutant of Rab6 increased the secretion of soluble APP and decreased A β secretion (McConlogue et al., 1996). Rab6 membrane association is dependent upon PS1 based on studies using PS1 knockout fibroblasts, thus implicating PS1 in vesicular trafficking (Scheper et al., 2004).

Golgi-associated and endosomal Rab4 is important for a specific pool of constitutively recycling endosomes which are apparently critical for dendritic spine size. Rab4-dependent recycling is greatly reduced in fibroblasts of patients with type A/B Niemann-Pick disease, a sphingolipid storage disorder which commonly manifests with neurological symptoms such as developmental delay and dementia (Choudhury et al., 2004). Postmortem samples revealed that Rab4 is upregulated in patients with AD and mild cognitive disorder (Cataldo et al., 2000; Ginsberg et al., 2010), and A β is known to partially colocalize within Rab4 positive compartments in a mouse model of Down Syndrome (Arriagada et al., 2010) indicating that defects in endosomal sorting may underpin these disorders (Peric and Annaert, 2015).

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

The COG complex and its Rab and SNARE partners are evolutionarily conserved and ubiquitously expressed across multiple tissues and organ systems in humans. Yet, neurological symptoms are the most debilitating and troublesome clinical manifestations of COG-associated disorders. Why is this the case? We propose that brain-specific manifestations of COG defects result from either COG-dependent (a) glycosylation defects and/or, (b) trafficking defects and/or, (c) a yet unknown neuron/neuroglia-specific function of the COG complex and its partners.

Neuronal function critically depends on coordinated delivery of properly modified ion channels, transporters and components of the synaptic apparatus at the appropriate rates and over long distances, to specific subcellular compartments. Remarkably, the localization of the synaptobrevin homolog Snc1 is altered in COG deficient yeast cells (Whyte and Munro, 2002). In addition, underglycosylated low density lipoprotein receptor is severely destabilized in CHO cells deficient for COG1 or COG2 proteins (Kingsley et al., 1986). Since glycosylation of channels, transporters and transport regulators is essential for their correct delivery, stability and/or activity (Gong et al., 2002; Watanabe et al., 2004; Scott and Panin, 2014), it is reasonable to predict that a majority of underglycosylated ion channels and transporters may similarly be destabilized, thus altering the functionality of COG-CDG patient neurons.

Smooth transport of cargo by the trafficking machinery is very important during development and synaptic transmission. Defective glycosylation of proteins and lipids disrupts development pathways and alters brain function (Freeze et al., 2012). COG deficient cells also display altered glycosphingolipid biosynthesis. Complex gangliosides are sialic acid containing glycosphingolipids synthesized sequentially, beginning with GM3 and then extended by glycosyltransferases to the more elaborate GM1 gangliosides. Biochemical studies revealed decreased levels of sphingomyelin and GM3 gangliosides in

REFERENCES

- Amessou, M., Fradagrada, A., Falguières, T., Lord, J. M., Smith, D. C., Roberts, L. M., et al. (2007). Syntaxin 16 and syntaxin 5 are required for efficient retrograde transport of several exogenous and endogenous cargo proteins. *J. Cell Sci.* 120, 1457–1468. doi: 10.1242/jcs.03436
- Arriagada, C., Bustamante, M., Atwater, I., Rojas, E., Caviedes, R., and Caviedes, P. (2010). Apoptosis is directly related to intracellular amyloid accumulation in a cell line derived from the cerebral cortex of a trisomy 16 mouse, an animal model of Down syndrome. *Neurosci. Lett.* 470, 81–85. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.12.062
- Bellouze, S., Schäfer, M. K., Buttigieg, D., Baillat, G., Rabouille, C., and Haase, G. (2014). Golgi fragmentation in pmn mice is due to a defective ARF1/TBCE cross-talk that coordinates COPI vesicle formation and tubulin polymerization. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 5961–5975. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu320
- Bonifacino, J. S., and Glick, B. S. (2004). The mechanisms of vesicle budding and fusion. *Cell* 116, 153–166. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)01079-1
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., and Südhof, T. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Science 329, 1663–1667. doi: 10.1126/science.1195227

COG2 deficient CHO cells (Spessott et al., 2010a,b). Gangliosides are ubiquitously expressed, but in the brain the expression of gangliosides and their glycosyltransferases change dramatically during development, from an abundance in of the precursor GM3 to a greater abundance of GM1 (Yu et al., 1988; Kracun et al., 1991, 1992; Ngamukote et al., 2007). Therefore, altered glycosphingolipid biosynthesis could be another reason for the specific neurological manifestation in COG-related congenital disorders.

An additional factor that may add to the apparently higher neuronal vulnerability to COG deficiency is that unlike many other cells, neurons are non-dividing cells and hence cannot easily dilute toxic proteins, peptides, and organelles. Another possibility is that COG is playing a specific and yet uncovered role in neuronal cells. Although the COG complex has been largely detected at the established perinuclear Golgi location in neurons (**Figure 1**) this does not exclude some sort of moonlighting function for COG subunits at other neuron-specific locations where it could be involved in tethering of specialized vesicles.

Considering the systemic and complex character of COGrelated diseases, multiple questions regarding the associated neurological symptoms remain to be addressed. Thus, more *in vivo* studies are needed to dissect the role of COG and its Rab and SNARE partners in these symptoms. Input from COG deficiencies within neuroglia and subtypes of neuroglia presents yet another poorly studied field and avenue requiring further studies. Further research is also needed to establish in which diseases COG-deficiency-associated neurological syndromes are secondary manifestations of some other primary disease state.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful to Rachel D. Hendrix and Wezley C. Griffin for critical reading of the manuscript. This work was supported by the NIH grants GM083144 and U54 GM105814, and by the Pilot grant from the Arkansas Biosciences Institute.

- Cataldo, A. M., Peterhoff, C. M., Troncoso, J. C., Gomez-Isla, T., Hyman, B. T., and Nixon, R. A. (2000). Endocytic pathway abnormalities precede amyloid beta deposition in sporadic Alzheimer's disease and down syndrome: differential effects of APOE genotype and presenilin mutations. *Am. J. Pathol.* 157, 277–286. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64538-5
- Choudhury, A., Sharma, D. K., Marks, D. L., and Pagano, R. E. (2004). Elevated endosomal cholesterol levels in Niemann-Pick cells inhibit rab4 and perturb membrane recycling. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 15, 4500–4511. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E04-05-0432
- Chua, C. E., and Tang, B. L. (2008). Syntaxin 16 is enriched in neuronal dendrites and may have a role in neurite outgrowth. *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 25, 35–45. doi: 10.1080/09687680701504649
- Cooper, A. A., Gitler, A. D., Cashikar, A., Haynes, C. M., Hill, K. J., Bhullar, B., et al. (2006). Alpha-synuclein blocks ER-Golgi traffic and Rab1 rescues neuron loss in Parkinson's models. *Science* 313, 324–328. doi: 10.1126/science.11 29462
- Corbett, M. A., Schwake, M., Bahlo, M., Dibbens, L. M., Lin, M., Gandolfo, L. C., et al. (2011). A mutation in the Golgi Qb-SNARE gene GOSR2 causes progressive myoclonus epilepsy with early ataxia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 88, 657–663. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.04.011

Cottam, N. P., and Ungar, D. (2012). Retrograde vesicle transport in the Golgi. Protoplasma 249, 943–955. doi: 10.1007/s00709-011-0361-7

- D'Adamo, P., Masetti, M., Bianchi, V., Morè, L., Mignogna, M. L., Giannandrea, M., et al. (2014). RAB GTPases and RAB-interacting proteins and their role in the control of cognitive functions. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 46(Pt 2), 302–314. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.12.009
- De Strooper, B., Iwatsubo, T., and Wolfe, M. S. (2012). Presenilins and gammasecretase: structure, function, and role in Alzheimer Disease. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2:a006304. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006304
- Dugan, J. M., deWit, C., McConlogue, L., and Maltese, W. A. (1995). The Ras-related GTP-binding protein, Rab1B, regulates early steps in exocytic transport and processing of beta-amyloid precursor protein. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 10982–10989. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.18.10982
- Fotso, P., Koryakina, Y., Pavliv, O., Tsiomenko, A. B., and Lupashin, V. V. (2005). Cog1p plays a central role in the organization of the yeast conserved oligomeric Golgi complex. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 27613–27623. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M504597200
- Foulquier, F., Ungar, D., Reynders, E., Zeevaert, R., Mills, P., García-Silva, M. T., et al. (2007). A new inborn error of glycosylation due to a Cog8 deficiency reveals a critical role for the Cog1-Cog8 interaction in COG complex formation. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 16, 717–730. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddl476
- Foulquier, F., Vasile, E., Schollen, E., Callewaert, N., Raemaekers, T., Quelhas, D., et al. (2006). Conserved oligomeric Golgi complex subunit 1 deficiency reveals a previously uncharacterized congenital disorder of glycosylation type II. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 3764–3769. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0507685103
- Freeze, H. H., Chong, J. X., Bamshad, M. J., and Ng, B. G. (2014). Solving glycosylation disorders: fundamental approaches reveal complicated pathways. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 94, 161–175. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.10.024
- Freeze, H. H., Eklund, E. A., Ng, B. G., and Patterson, M. C. (2012). Neurology of inherited glycosylation disorders. *Lancet Neurol.* 11, 453–466. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70040-6
- Fuchs-Telem, D., Stewart, H., Rapaport, D., Nousbeck, J., Gat, A., Gini, M., et al. (2011). CEDNIK syndrome results from loss-of-function mutations in SNAP29. Br. J. Dermatol. 164, 610–616. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2010.10133.x
- Fung, C. W., Matthijs, G., Sturiale, L., Garozzo, D., Wong, K. Y., Wong, R., et al. (2012). COG5-CDG with a mild neurohepatic presentation. *JIMD Rep.* 3, 67–70. doi: 10.1007/8904_2011_61
- Ginsberg, S. D., Alldred, M. J., Counts, S. E., Cataldo, A. M., Neve, R. L., Jiang, Y., et al. (2010). Microarray analysis of hippocampal CA1 neurons implicates early endosomal dysfunction during Alzheimer's disease progression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 68, 885–893. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.030
- Gitler, A. D., Bevis, B. J., Shorter, J., Strathearn, K. E., Hamamichi, S., Su, L. J., et al. (2008). The Parkinson's disease protein alpha-synuclein disrupts cellular Rab homeostasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 145–150. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0710685105
- Glick, B. S., and Malhotra, V. (1998). The curious status of the Golgi apparatus. *Cell* 95, 883–889. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81713-4
- Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., and Gonatas, J. O. (2006). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus in neurodegenerative diseases and cell death. J. Neurol. Sci. 246, 21–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2006.01.019
- Gong, Q., Anderson, C. L., January, C. T., and Zhou, Z. (2002). Role of glycosylation in cell surface expression and stability of HERG potassium channels. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 283, H77–H84. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00008.2002
- Haas, A. K., Yoshimura, S., Stephens, D. J., Preisinger, C., Fuchs, E., and Barr, F. A. (2007). Analysis of GTPase-activating proteins: Rab1 and Rab43 are key Rabs required to maintain a functional Golgi complex in human cells. *J. Cell Sci.* 120, 2997–3010. doi: 10.1242/jcs.014225
- Hardy, J. (2006). A hundred years of Alzheimer's disease research. *Neuron* 52, 3–13. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.09.016
- Hasegawa, H., Yang, Z., Oltedal, L., Davanger, S., and Hay, J. C. (2004). Intramolecular protein-protein and protein-lipid interactions control the conformation and subcellular targeting of neuronal Ykt6. *J. Cell Sci.* 117, 4495–4508. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01314
- Hasegawa, H., Zinsser, S., Rhee, Y., Vik-Mo, E. O., Davanger, S., and Hay, J. C. (2003). Mammalian ykt6 is a neuronal SNARE targeted to a specialized compartment by its profilin-like amino terminal domain. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 14, 698–720. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E02-09-0556

- Huybrechts, S., De Laet, C., Bontems, P., Rooze, S., Souayah, H., Sznajer, Y., et al. (2012). Deficiency of subunit 6 of the conserved oligomeric Golgi complex (COG6-CDG): second patient, different phenotype. *JIMD Rep.* 4, 103–108. doi: 10.1007/8904_2011_79
- Joshi, G., and Wang, Y. (2015). Golgi defects enhance APP amyloidogenic processing in Alzheimer's disease. *Bioessays* 37, 240–247. doi: 10.1002/bies.201400116
- Kabayama, H., Tokushige, N., Takeuchi, M., and Mikoshiba, K. (2008). Syntaxin 6 regulates nerve growth factor-dependent neurite outgrowth. *Neurosci. Lett.* 436, 340–344. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008.03.061
- Kingsley, D. M., Kozarsky, K. F., Segal, M., and Krieger, M. (1986). Three types of low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mutant have pleiotropic defects in the synthesis of N-linked, O-linked, and lipid- linked carbohydrate chains. *J. Cell Biol.* 102, 1576–1585. doi: 10.1083/jcb.102.5.1576
- Kodera, H., Ando, N., Yuasa, I., Wada, Y., Tsurusaki, Y., Nakashima, M., et al. (2015). Mutations in COG2 encoding a subunit of the conserved oligomeric golgi complex cause a congenital disorder of glycosylation. *Clin. Genet.* 87, 455–460. doi: 10.1111/cge.12417
- Kracun, I., Rosner, H., Drnovsek, V., Heffer-Lauc, M., Cosovic, C., and Lauc, G. (1991). Human brain gangliosides in development, aging and disease. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 35, 289–295.
- Kracun, I., Rosner, H., Drnovsek, V., Vukelic, Z., Cosovic, C., Trbojevic-Cepe, M., et al. (1992). Gangliosides in the human brain development and aging. *Neurochem. Int.* 20, 421–431. doi: 10.1016/0197-0186(92)90057-X
- Kranz, C., Ng, B. G., Sun, L., Sharma, V., Eklund, E. A., Miura, Y., et al. (2007). COG8 deficiency causes new congenital disorder of glycosylation type IIh. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 16, 731–741. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddm028
- Kudlyk, T., Willett, R., Pokrovskaya, I. D., and Lupashin, V. (2013). COG6 interacts with a subset of the Golgi SNAREs and is important for the Golgi complex integrity. *Traffic* 14, 194–204. doi: 10.1111/tra.12020
- Kunwar, A. J., Rickmann, M., Backofen, B., Browski, S. M., Rosenbusch, J., Schöning, S., et al. (2011). Lack of the endosomal SNAREs vti1a and vti1b led to significant impairments in neuronal development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 2575–2580. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1013891108
- Laufman, O., Freeze, H. H., Hong, W., and Lev, S. (2013a). Deficiency of the Cog8 subunit in normal and CDG-derived cells impairs the assembly of the COG and Golgi SNARE complexes. *Traffic* 14, 1065–1077. doi: 10.1111/tra.12093
- Laufman, O., Hong, W., and Lev, S. (2013b). The COG complex interacts with multiple Golgi SNAREs and enhances fusogenic assembly of SNARE complexes. J. Cell Sci. 126, 1506–1516. doi: 10.1242/jcs.122101
- Laufman, O., Kedan, A., Hong, W., and Lev, S. (2009). Direct interaction between the COG complex and the SM protein, Sly1, is required for Golgi SNARE pairing. *EMBO J.* 28, 2006–2017. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.168
- Lübbehusen, J., Thiel, C., Rind, N., Ungar, D., Prinsen, B. H., de Koning, T. J., et al. (2010). Fatal outcome due to deficiency of subunit 6 of the conserved oligomeric Golgi complex leading to a new type of congenital disorders of glycosylation. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 19, 3623–3633. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ ddq278
- Lupashin, V., and Ungar, D. (2008). "COG complex," in *The Golgi Apparatus*, eds A. Mironov and M. Pavelka (Vienna: Springer), 120–129. doi: 10.1007/978-3-211-76310-0_9
- Lupashin, V. V., Pokrovskaya, I. D., McNew, J. A., and Waters, M. G. (1997). Characterization of a novel yeast SNARE protein implicated in Golgi retrograde traffic. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 8, 2659–2676. doi: 10.1091/mbc.8.12.2659
- McConlogue, L., Castellano, F., deWit, C., Schenk, D., and Maltese, W. A. (1996). Differential effects of a Rab6 mutant on secretory versus amyloidogenic processing of Alzheimer's beta-amyloid precursor protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 1343–1348. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.3.1343
- Miller, V. J., Sharma, P., Kudlyk, T. A., Frost, L., Rofe, A. P., Watson, I. J., et al. (2013). Molecular insights into vesicle tethering at the Golgi by the conserved oligomeric Golgi (COG) complex and the golgin TATA element modulatory factor (TMF). J. Biol. Chem. 288, 4229–4240. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.426767
- Miller, V. J., and Ungar, D. (2012). Re'COG'nition at the Golgi. *Traffic* 13, 891–897. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2012.01338.x
- Morava, E., Zeevaert, R., Korsch, E., Huijben, K., Wopereis, S., Matthijs, G., et al. (2007). A common mutation in the COG7 gene with a consistent phenotype including microcephaly, adducted thumbs, growth retardation,

VSD and episodes of hyperthermia. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 15, 638-645. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejhg.5201813

- Nagahama, M., Orci, L., Ravazzola, M., Amherdt, M., Lacomis, L., Tempst, P., et al. (1996). A v-SNARE implicated in intra-Golgi transport. J. Cell Biol. 133, 507–516. doi: 10.1083/jcb.133.3.507
- Nakagomi, S., Barsoum, M. J., Bossy-Wetzel, E., Sütterlin, C., Malhotra, V., and Lipton, S. A. (2008). A Golgi fragmentation pathway in neurodegeneration. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 29, 221–231. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2007.08.015
- Ng, B. G., Kranz, C., Hagebeuk, E. E., Duran, M., Abeling, N. G., Wuyts, B., et al. (2007). Molecular and clinical characterization of a Moroccan Cog7 deficient patient. *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 91, 201–204. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2007.02.011
- Ng, B. G., Sharma, V., Sun, L., Loh, E., Hong, W., Tay, S. K., et al. (2011). Identification of the first COG-CDG patient of Indian origin. *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 102, 364–367. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2010.11.161
- Ngamukote, S., Yanagisawa, M., Ariga, T., Ando, S., and Yu, R. K. (2007). Developmental changes of glycosphingolipids and expression of glycogenes in mouse brains. *J. Neurochem.* 103, 2327–2341. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04910.x
- Paesold-Burda, P., Maag, C., Troxler, H., Foulquier, F., Kleinert, P., Schnabel, S., et al. (2009). Deficiency in COG5 causes a moderate form of congenital disorders of glycosylation. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, 4350–4356. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp389
- Pan, P. Y., Cai, Q., Lin, L., Lu, P. H., Duan, S., and Sheng, Z. H. (2005). SNAP-29-mediated modulation of synaptic transmission in cultured hippocampal neurons. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 25769–25779. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M502356200
- Parlati, F., Varlamov, O., Paz, K., McNew, J. A., Hurtado, D., Söllner, T. H., et al. (2002). Distinct SNARE complexes mediating membrane fusion in Golgi transport based on combinatorial specificity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 5424–5429. doi: 10.1073/pnas.082100899
- Peric, A., and Annaert, W. (2015). Early etiology of Alzheimer's disease: tipping the balance toward autophagy or endosomal dysfunction? *Acta Neuropathol.* 129, 363–381. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1379-7
- Pfeffer, S. R. (2013). Rab GTPase regulation of membrane identity. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 25, 414–419. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2013.04.002
- Rendón, W. O., Martínez-Alonso, E., Tomás, M., Martínez-Martínez, N., and Martínez-Menárguez, J. A. (2013). Golgi fragmentation is Rab and SNARE dependent in cellular models of Parkinson's disease. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 139, 671–684. doi: 10.1007/s00418-012-1059-4
- Reynders, E., Foulquier, F., Annaert, W., and Matthijs, G. (2011). How Golgi glycosylation meets and needs trafficking: the case of the COG complex. *Glycobiology* 21, 853–863. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwq179
- Reynders, E., Foulquier, F., Leão Teles, E., Quelhas, D., Morelle, W., Rabouille, C., et al. (2009). Golgi function and dysfunction in the first COG4-deficient CDG type II patient. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, 3244–3256. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp262
- Richardson, B. C., Smith, R. D., Ungar, D., Nakamura, A., Jeffrey, P. D., Lupashin, V. V., et al. (2009). Structural basis for a human glycosylation disorder caused by mutation of the COG4 gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 13329–13334. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901966106
- Rizo, J., and Südhof, T. C. (2012). The membrane fusion enigma: SNAREs, Sec1/Munc18 proteins, and their accomplices–guilty as charged? Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 28, 279–308. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101011-155818
- Rosenbaum, E. E., Vasiljevic, E., Cleland, S. C., Flores, C., and Colley, N. J. (2014). The Gos28 SNARE protein mediates intra-Golgi transport of rhodopsin and is required for photoreceptor survival. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 32392–32409. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.585166
- Rymen, D., Keldermans, L., Race, V., Régal, L., Deconinck, N., Dionisi-Vici, C., et al. (2012). COG5-CDG: expanding the clinical spectrum. *Orphanet J. Rare Dis.* 7:94. doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-7-94
- Rymen, D., Winter, J., van Hasselt, P. M., Jaeken, J., Kasapkara, C., Gokcay, G., et al. (2015). Key features and clinical variability of COG6-CDG. *Mol. Genet. Metab.* doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2015.07.003. [Epub ahead of print].
- Saito, T., Suemoto, T., Brouwers, N., Sleegers, K., Funamoto, S., Mihira, N., et al. (2011). Potent amyloidogenicity and pathogenicity of Abeta43. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1023–1032. doi: 10.1038/nn.2858
- Schardt, A., Brinkmann, B. G., Mitkovski, M., Sereda, M. W., Werner, H. B., and Nave, K. A. (2009). The SNARE protein SNAP-29 interacts with the GTPase Rab3A: implications for membrane trafficking in myelinating glia. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 87, 3465–3479. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22005

- Scheper, W., Zwart, R., and Baas, F. (2004). Rab6 membrane association is dependent of Presenilin 1 and cellular phosphorylation events. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 122, 17–23. doi: 10.1016/j.molbrainres.2003.11.013
- Scott, H., and Panin, V. M. (2014). N-glycosylation in regulation of the nervous system. Adv. Neurobiol. 9, 367–394. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-1154-7_17
- Shaheen, R., Ansari, S., Alshammari, M. J., Alkhalidi, H., Alrukban, H., Eyaid, W., et al. (2013). A novel syndrome of hypohidrosis and intellectual disability is linked to COG6 deficiency. *J. Med. Genet.* 50, 431–436. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2013-101527
- Shestakova, A., Suvorova, E., Pavliv, O., Khaidakova, G., and Lupashin, V. (2007). Interaction of the conserved oligomeric Golgi complex with t-SNARE Syntaxin5a/Sed5 enhances intra-Golgi SNARE complex stability. J. Cell Biol. 179, 1179–1192. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200705145
- Shestakova, A., Zolov, S., and Lupashin, V. (2006). COG complex-mediated recycling of Golgi glycosyltransferases is essential for normal protein glycosylation. *Traffic* 7, 191–204. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2005.00376.x
- Siddiqi, S., Mani, A. M., and Siddiqi, S. A. (2010). The identification of the SNARE complex required for the fusion of VLDL-transport vesicle with hepatic cis-Golgi. *Biochem. J.* 429, 391–401. doi: 10.1042/BJ20100336
- Smith, R. D., Willett, R., Kudlyk, T., Pokrovskaya, I., Paton, A. W., Paton, J. C., et al. (2009). The COG complex, Rab6 and COPI define a novel Golgi retrograde trafficking pathway that is exploited by SubAB toxin. *Traffic* 10, 1502–1517. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2009.00965.x
- Spaapen, L. J. M., Bakker, J. A., van der Meer, S. B., Sijstermans, H. J., Steet, R. A., Wevers, R. A., et al. (2005). Clinical and biochemical presentation of siblings with COG-7 deficiency, a lethal multiple O- and N-glycosylation disorder. *J. Inherit. Metab. Dis.* 28, 707–714. doi: 10.1007/s10545-005-0015-z
- Spessott, W., Uliana, A., and Maccioni, H. J. (2010a). Cog2 null mutant CHO cells show defective sphingomyelin synthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 41472–41482. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.150011
- Spessott, W., Uliana, A., and MacCioni, H. J. (2010b). Defective GM3 synthesis in Cog2 null mutant CHO cells associates to mislocalization of lactosylceramide sialyltransferase in the Golgi complex. *Neurochem. Res.* 35, 2161–2167. doi: 10.1007/s11064-010-0319-8
- Sprecher, E., Ishida-Yamamoto, A., Mizrahi-Koren, M., Rapaport, D., Goldsher, D., Indelman, M., et al. (2005). A mutation in SNAP29, coding for a SNARE protein involved in intracellular trafficking, causes a novel neurocutaneous syndrome characterized by cerebral dysgenesis, neuropathy, ichthyosis, and palmoplantar keratoderma. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 77, 242–251. doi: 10.1086/ 432556
- Steegmaier, M., Yang, B., Yoo, J. S., Huang, B., Shen, M., Yu, S., et al. (1998). Three novel proteins of the syntaxin/SNAP-25 family. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 34171–34179. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.51.34171
- Steet, R., and Kornfeld, S. (2006). COG-7-deficient human fibroblasts exhibit altered recycling of golgi proteins. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 17, 2312–2321. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E05-08-0822
- Subramaniam, V. N., Peter, F., Philp, R., Wong, S. H., and Hong, W. (1996). GS28, a 28-kilodalton Golgi SNARE that participates in ER-Golgi transport. *Science* 272, 1161–1163. doi: 10.1126/science.272.5265.1161
- Suga, K., Hattori, H., Saito, A., and Akagawa, K. (2005a). RNA interferencemediated silencing of the syntaxin 5 gene induces Golgi fragmentation but capable of transporting vesicles. *FEBS Lett.* 579, 4226–4234. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.06.053
- Suga, K., Saito, A., and Akagawa, K. (2015). ER stress response in NG108-15 cells involves upregulation of syntaxin 5 expression and reduced amyloid beta peptide secretion. *Exp. Cell Res.* 332, 11–23. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr. 2015.01.001
- Suga, K., Saito, A., Tomiyama, T., Mori, H., and Akagawa, K. (2005b). Syntaxin 5 interacts specifically with presenilin holoproteins and affects processing of betaAPP in neuronal cells. *J. Neurochem.* 94, 425–439. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03210.x
- Thayanidhi, N., Helm, J. R., Nycz, D. C., Bentley, M., Liang, Y., and Hay, J. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein delays endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-to-Golgi transport in mammalian cells by antagonizing ER/Golgi SNAREs. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 21, 1850–1863. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E09-09-0801
- Ungar, D., Oka, T., Vasile, E., Krieger, M., and Hughson, F. M. (2005). Subunit architecture of the conserved oligomeric Golgi complex. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 32729–32735. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M504590200

- von Mollard, G. F., Nothwehr, S. F., and Stevens, T. H. (1997). The yeast v-SNARE Vti1p mediates two vesicle transport pathways through interactions with the t-SNAREs Sed5p and Pep12p. *J. Cell Biol.* 137, 1511–1524. doi: 10.1083/jcb.137.7.1511
- Walter, A. M., Kurps, J., de Wit, H., Schoning, S., Toft-Bertelsen, T. L., Lauks, J., et al. (2014). The SNARE protein vti1a functions in dense-core vesicle biogenesis. *EMBO J.* 33, 1681–1697. doi: 10.15252/embj.201387549
- Watanabe, I., Zhu, J., Recio-Pinto, E., and Thornhill, W. B. (2004). Glycosylation affects the protein stability and cell surface expression of Kv1.4 but Not Kv1.1 potassium channels. A pore region determinant dictates the effect of glycosylation on trafficking. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 8879–8885. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M309802200
- Whyte, J. R., and Munro, S. (2002). Vesicle tethering complexes in membrane traffic. J. Cell Sci. 115, 2627–2637.
- Willett, R., Kudlyk, T., Pokrovskaya, I., Schönherr, R., Ungar, D., Duden, R., et al. (2013a). COG complexes form spatial landmarks for distinct SNARE complexes. *Nat. Commun.* 4, 1553. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2535
- Willett, R., Pokrovskaya, I., Kudlyk, T., and Lupashin, V. (2014). Multipronged interaction of the COG complex with intracellular membranes. *Cell. Logist.* 4:e27888. doi: 10.4161/cl.27888
- Willett, R., Ungar, D., and Lupashin, V. (2013b). The Golgi puppet master: COG complex at center stage of membrane trafficking interactions. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 140, 271–283. doi: 10.1007/s00418-013-1117-6
- Wu, X., Steet, R. A., Bohorov, O., Bakker, J., Newell, J., Krieger, M., et al. (2004). Mutation of the COG complex subunit gene COG7 causes a lethal congenital disorder. *Nat. Med.* 10, 518–523. doi: 10.1038/nm1041
- Xu, Y., Martin, S., James, D. E., and Hong, W. (2002). GS15 forms a SNARE complex with syntaxin 5, GS28, and Ykt6 and is implicated in traffic in the early cisternae of the Golgi apparatus. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 13, 3493–3507. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E02-01-0004

- Yu, R. K., Macala, L. J., Taki, T., Weinfield, H. M., and Yu, F. S. (1988). Developmental changes in ganglioside composition and synthesis in embryonic rat brain. *J. Neurochem.* 50, 1825–1829. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1988.tb02484.x
- Zeevaert, R., Foulquier, F., Cheillan, D., Cloix, I., Guffon, N., Sturiale, L., et al. (2009a). A new mutation in COG7 extends the spectrum of COG subunit deficiencies. *Eur. J. Med. Genet.* 52, 303–305. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmg.2009.06.006
- Zeevaert, R., Foulquier, F., Dimitrov, B., Reynders, E., Van Damme-Lombaerts, R., Simeonov, E., et al. (2009b). Cerebrocostomandibularlike syndrome and a mutation in the conserved oligomeric Golgi complex, subunit 1. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, 517–524. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ ddn379
- Zhang, T., and Hong, W. (2001). Ykt6 forms a SNARE complex with syntaxin 5, GS28, and Bet1 and participates in a late stage in endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi transport. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 27480–27487. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M10 2786200
- Zolov, S. N., and Lupashin, V. V. (2005). Cog3p depletion blocks vesicle-mediated Golgi retrograde trafficking in HeLa cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 168, 747–759. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200412003

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Climer, Dobretsov and Lupashin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





VPS54 and the wobbler mouse

Thomas Schmitt-John 1, 2*

¹ Neurogenetics, Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ² Tauros-Diagnostik, Bielefeld, Germany

The wobbler mouse is an animal model for human motor neuron disease, such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). The spontaneous, recessive wobbler mutation causes degeneration of upper and lower motor neurons leading to progressive muscle weakness with striking similarities to the ALS pathology. The wobbler mutation is a point mutation affecting Vps54, a component of the Golgi-associated retrograde protein (GARP) complex. The GARP complex is a ubiquitously expressed Golgi-localized vesicle tethering complex, tethering endosome-derived vesicles to the trans Golgi network. The wobbler point mutation leads to a destabilization of the Vps54 protein and thereby the whole GARP complex. This effectuates impairments of the retrograde vesicle transport, mis-sorting of Golgi- and endosome localized proteins and on the long run defects in Golgi morphology and function. It is currently largely unknown how the destabilization of the GARP complex interferes with the pathological hallmarks, reported for the wobbler motor neuron degeneration, like neurofilament aggregation, axonal transport defects, hyperexcitability, mitochondrial dysfunction, and how these finally lead to motor neuron death. However, the impairments of the retrograde vesicle transport and the Golgi-function appear to be critical phenomena in the molecular pathology of the wobbler motor neuron disease.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Catherine Rabouille, Hubrecht Institute, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Alejandro Federico De Nicola, Instituto de Biologia y Medicina Experimental, Argentina Juan S. Bonifacino, National Institutes of Health, USA

*Correspondence:

Thomas Schmitt-John tsj@mbg.au.dk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 24 July 2015 Accepted: 02 October 2015 Published: 21 October 2015

Citation:

Schmitt-John T (2015) VPS54 and the wobbler mouse. Front. Neurosci. 9:381. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00381 Keywords: wobbler, GARP, Vps54, Golgi, vesicle transport, ALS, neurodegeneration

INTRODUCTION

Vps54 was connected with the wobbler motor neuron degeneration by positional cloning (Schmitt-John et al., 2005; **Figures 1A,B**). Vps54 (vacuolar protein sorting 54) was first identified in yeast in the course of a screening for mutants with mis-sorting of vacuolar proteins (Conboy and Cyert, 2000; Conibear and Stevens, 2000). Vps54 was found to be a component of the Golgi-associated retrograde protein (GARP) complex (Conibear and Stevens, 2000; **Figure 1C**) and a mammalian homolog was reported (Liewen et al., 2005). The GARP complex belongs to the CATCHR (complexes associated with tethering containing helical rods) group of multi subunit tethering complexes (MTCs) like Dsl1-, COG- and Exocyst complexes (Bonifacino and Hierro, 2011) and specifically tethers endosome derived vesicles to the trans Golgi network. The GARP complex interferes with Rab6 protein and supports the vSNARE-tSNARE dependent fusion of the incoming transport vesicles with the trans Golgi membrane (**Figure 1D**) and thus has a function in the retrograde vesicle transport. The identification of the mutation causing the motor neuron degeneration of the wobbler mouse in Vps54 suggested a critical role for Vps54, the GARP complex and the retrograde vesicle transport for motor neuron survival (Schmitt-John et al., 2005; Moser et al., 2013).



Vps54 AND THE WOBBLER PHENOTYPE

impairments of the retrograde vesicle transport, but it is still unclear how these impairments induce motor neuron death.

The wobbler mouse was first described by Falconer (1956) and has recently been reviewed (Moser et al., 2013; Ott et al., 2015) as animal model for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS; **Figure 1A**). The spontaneous, recessive wobbler mutation (*wr*) was mapped to the proximal mouse chromosome 11 (Kaupmann et al., 1992) and the critical region was refined to a region homologous to human chromosome 2p13 (Korthaus et al., 1997; Resch et al., 1998; Fuchs et al., 2002). By positional cloning the wobbler mutation was identified as a point mutation in the last exon of Vps54 leading to a single amino acid exchange (Schmitt-John et al., 2005; **Figure 1B**). A successful transgenic rescue approach proved that Vps54 is the wobbler gene (Schmitt-John et al., 2005). A Vps54 null-mutation caused embryonic lethality around day 10.5 of the embryonic development, indicating that

the wobbler point mutation is a partial loss-of function allele of Vps54 (Schmitt-John et al., 2005). However, it was demonstrated that the wobbler point mutation causes a destabilization of Vps54 protein and thereby the whole GARP complex (Pérez-Victoria et al., 2010). This leads to a decreased abundance of GARP tethering complexes in wobbler mutant cells, resulting in impairments of the retrograde vesicle transport (Pérez-Victoria et al., 2010; Karlsson et al., 2013). Since the wobbler phenotype closely resembles the human motor neuron disease ALS, the retrograde vesicle traffic is to be considered critical for motor neuron degeneration.

Even though no ALS cases with mutations in VPS54 have been identified yet (Meisler et al., 2008), there is growing evidence that the vesicle transport plays a critical role in human ALS. A subset of familial ALS forms have been attributed to proteins involved in vesicle trafficking, such as Alsin (ALS2; Yang et al., 2001),

VABP (ALS8; Nishimura et al., 2004), and CHMP2B (ALS17; Parkinson et al., 2006). Furthermore, Palmisano et al. (2011) could demonstrate accumulation of APP (amyloid precursor protein) in enlarged endosomes in degenerating motor neurons of both wobbler mice and ALS patients, suggesting similar impairments of the vesicle transport.

In case of wobbler mice the primary cause of motor neuron degeneration is the point mutation of Vps54 (Schmitt-John et al., 2005) leading to a destabilization of the GARP complex (Pérez-Victoria et al., 2010) and impairment of the retrograde vesicle transport (Karlsson et al., 2013), which results in protein mis-sorting and accumulation in enlarged endosomal structures (Palmisano et al., 2011). Despite these facts, it is not that simple to explain how the destabilization of a ubiquitously expressed vesicle tethering factor finally leads to the death of motor neurons.

The wobbler motor neuron degeneration shares a number of pathologic features with human ALS like muscle atrophy, astrogliosis, microgliosis (Duchen and Strich, 1968), hyperexcitability (Nieto-Gonzalez et al., 2011), mitochondrial dysfunction (Santoro et al., 2004), axonal transport defects (Mitsumoto et al., 1990), neurofilament aggregations (Pernas-Alonso et al., 2001), and ubiquitin-positive protein aggregations (Dennis and Citron, 2009), as summarized by Moser et al. (2013). All these cellular effects are directly or indirectly connected to the primary cause, the GARP dysfunction, and contribute more or less to the progression of motor neuron death. It is always difficult to distinguish cause from effect or contributing-from concomitant phenomena. However, all mentioned cellular effects are surely interconnected in a complex manner and the GARP complex and Golgi apparatus appear to play a central role in the wobbler motor neuron pathology.

Vps54 AND THE GARP COMPLEX

Vps54 interacts with Vps51, -52, and -53 in a 1:1:1:1 ratio and forms the GARP complex (Conboy and Cyert, 2000; Conibear and Stevens, 2000) and appears to be predominantly Golgilocalized, tethering retrograde vesicles derived from early and late endosomes (Quenneville et al., 2006). Vps52, -53, and -54 appear to form a core complex, while Vps51 is loosely associated and links the complex to the SNARE Tlg1p (Siniossoglou and Pelham, 2002). Loss-of-function mutations of either of the core components lead to the same phenotype in yeast, decreased growth rate and mis-sorting of vacuolar proteins (Conibear and Stevens, 2000). Double and triple mutants show the same phenotype, while Vps51 mutants display a milder phenotype (Conibear and Stevens, 2000), indicating that the GARP function depends on the function of each of the core components and to a lesser extent on Vps51 (Conibear et al., 2003). In mammals the GARP complex has a similar structure and function (Pérez-Victoria and Bonifacino, 2009; Bonifacino and Hierro, 2011).

Knock down experiments of GARP components in mammalian cell culture (Pérez-Victoria et al., 2008; Pérez-Victoria and Bonifacino, 2009) and the analysis of wobbler mutant cells (Karlsson et al., 2013) clearly indicate that the mammalian GARP complex has an important role for the retrograde vesicle transport and the sorting of proteins, using this transport route as well as sorting receptors like mannose-6-phosphate receptors (Pérez-Victoria et al., 2008). Recent loss-of-function analysis of the GARP complex in HEK293 cells indicated not only retrograde transport defects but also impairments of the anterograde post-Golgi transport of GPI-anchored and transmembrane proteins (Hirata et al., 2015). GARP dysfunction appears to have an impact on both the retrograde and the anterograde vesicle transport and might affect the integrity and function of the whole Golgi apparatus. Complete loss-of-function mutations of murine GARP components cause embryonic lethality. Homozygous deletion of either Vps54 or Vps53 leads to embryonic lethality around day 10.5 of the embryonic development (Schmitt-John et al., 2005; Karlsson et al., 2013), while the null-mutation of Vps52 however, causes even earlier lethality during gastrulation (Sugimoto et al., 2012). This might suggest an additional function of Vps52 in mammals, independent from the GARP complex. Recently, it was reported that Vps51, -52, and -53, but not Vps54, assemble with syndetin to form the EARP complex, which appears to be localized on Rab4-positive recycling endosomes (Schindler et al., 2015). Syndetin appears to fulfil a Vps54-like function in the endosome-associated protein (EARP) complex and binds preferentially to Vps53 (Schindler et al., 2015). Syndetin and Vps54 are probably responsible for the interaction with a specific Rab protein, Rab4 or Rab6 and thereby directing the complex to a specific localization. Heterozygous mutations in Vps53 have been associated with pontocerebellar hypoplasia type 2E (PCH2E) and thus with mental retardation, microcephaly, spastic quadriplegia, and early onset seizures (Feinstein et al., 2014). This finding suggests impairments of both GARP and EARP function due to Vps53 haploinsufficiency. For both PCH2E and the wobbler motor neuron disease swollen vesicles are reported, but no evidence for lysosomal abnormality or lysosomal storage problems was seen (Palmisano et al., 2011; Feinstein et al., 2014).

GOLGI PATHOLOGY AND MOTOR NEURON DISEASE

Golgi function and integrity might have a fundamental significance for neuron function and survival. However, GARP mutant mammalian cells in cell culture show no obvious morphological indications for Golgi-dysfunction or disintegration (Karlsson et al., 2013). In degenerating wobbler motor neurons we observed on electron micrographs enlarged vesicles derived from the Golgi apparatus (Figure 2) in early stages of degeneration and massive vacuolization and fragmentation of the Golgi in late stages (Palmisano et al., 2011). Andrews et al. observed electron dense granular material in close proximity to the Golgi in degenerating wobbler motor neurons (Andrews et al., 1974). In final stages the wobbler characteristic vacuolization is very prominent and the vesicular structures appear to originate not only from the Golgi, but also from the ER (Palmisano et al., 2011). The increased blebbingout of enlarged vesicles from the Golgi or alternatively the



(WT) and a symptomatic wobbler mouse (WR) is shown. The normal WT- and morphologically affected WR Golgi are indicated by arrows. The image is a gift from Dr. Peter Heimann and shows swollen areas of the WR Golgi, similar to those published by Palmisano et al. (2011).

abnormal fusion of incoming vesicles in close proximity to the Golgi argue for a Golgi-dysfunction and in later stages a Golgi fragmentation, which might be a hallmark of the wobbler motor neuron degeneration. Whether the enlarged Rab7-positive, APP containing structures, described by Palmisano et al. (2011), are identical with the vacuoles with low electron density (Andrews et al., 1974; Palmisano et al., 2011) is not yet proven but likely, since these structures are found in the same subcellular location and size range.

Golgi fragmentation has been shown for ALS patients (Stieber et al., 1998) and SOD1 G93A transgenic fALS animal models (Mourelatos et al., 1996) by immunostaining for MG160, a Golgi-resident marker protein. It could also been shown that ALS neurons with TDP-43 aggregates also display Golgi-fragmentation (Fujita et al., 2008). For wobbler mice Golgi-fragmentation has not yet been investigated by anti MG160

REFERENCES

- Andrews, J. M., Gardner, M. B., Wolfgram, F. J., Ellison, G. W., Porter, D. D., and Brandkamp, W. W. (1974). Studies on a murine form of spontaneous lower motor neuron degeneration-the wobbler (wa) mouse. Am. J. Pathol. 76, 63–78.
- Bonifacino, J. S., and Hierro, A. (2011). Transport according to GARP: receiving retrograde cargo at the trans-Golgi network. *Trends Cell Biol.* 21, 159–167. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2010.11.003
- Conboy, M. J., and Cyert, M. S. (2000). Luv1p/Rki1p/Tcs3p/Vps54p, a yeast protein that localizes to the late Golgi and early endosome, is required for normal vacuolar morphology. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 11, 2429–2443. doi: 10.1091/mbc.11.7.2429
- Conibear, E., Cleck, J. N., and Stevens, T. H. (2003). Vps51p mediates the association of the GARP (Vps52/53/54) complex with the late Golgi t-SNARE Tlg1p. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 14, 1610–1623. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E02-10-0654
- Conibear, E., and Stevens, T. H. (2000). Vps52p, Vps53p, and Vps54p form a novel multisubunit complex required for protein sorting at the yeast late Golgi. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 11, 305–323. doi: 10.1091/mbc.11.1.305
- Dennis, J. S., and Citron, B. A. (2009). Wobbler mice modeling motor neuron disease display elevated transactive response DNA binding protein. *Neuroscience* 158, 745–750. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2008.10.030

immunostaining, but the evidence from electron microscopy (Andrews et al., 1974; Palmisano et al., 2011) and the observation of cytoplasmic TDP-43 aggregations in degenerating wobbler motor neurons (Dennis and Citron, 2009), makes it likely that the Golgi-fragmentation in wobbler mice resembles that found in ALS patients and SOD1 transgenic mice.

Taken together, wobbler mice develop motor neuron degeneration, which closely resembles human ALS and the primary cause is a partial loss-of-function mutation of Vps54. The wobbler point mutation destabilizes Vps54 protein and thereby the GARP vesicle tethering complex leading to impairments of the retrograde vesicle transport. While most cell types can cope with these impairments, motor neurons develop a number of pathological phenomena. In motor neurons the retrograde vesicle transport defects lead to enlarged endosomal structures (Palmisano et al., 2011), Golgi-dysfunction, impairments of the anterograde and retrograde axonal transport (Mitsumoto et al., 1990), TDP-43- and ubiquitin positive protein aggregations (Dennis and Citron, 2009), neurofilament aggregations (Pernas-Alonso et al., 1996), mitochondrial dysfunction (Santoro et al., 2004), and hyperexcitability (Nieto-Gonzalez et al., 2011). In the final stage motor neurons display a pronounced vacuolation (Duchen and Strich, 1968; Palmisano et al., 2011). The wobbler motor neuron degeneration is even in early stages associated with pronounced astrogliosis and microgliosis (Laage et al., 1988; Rathke-Hartlieb et al., 1999), which might exacerbate the neurodegeneration. However, it is still unclear how the various phenomena cohere or interdepend and which role the Golgi-dysfunction plays in wobbler motor neuron disease.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report was financially supported by Riisfort Foundation, Denmark, and the author thanks Dr. Peter Heimann, Bielefeld University, Germany for **Figure 2**.

- Duchen, L. W., and Strich, S. J. (1968). An hereditary motor neuron disease with progressive denervation of muscle in mouse: the mutant "wobbler." J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 31, 535–542. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.31.6.535
- Falconer, D. S. (1956). Wobbler (wr). Mouse News Lett. 15, 22.
- Feinstein, M., Flusser, H., Lerman-Sagie, T., Ben-Zeev, B., Lev, D., Agamy, O., et al. (2014). VPS53 mutations cause progressive cerebello-cerebral atrophy type 2 (PCCA2). J. Med. Genet. 51, 303–308. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2013-101823
- Fuchs, S., Resch, K., Thiel, C., Ulbrich, M., Platzer, M., Jockusch, H., et al. (2002). Comparative transcription map of the wobbler critical region on mouse chromosome 11 and the homologous region on human chromosome 2p13-14. *BMC Genet.* 3:14. doi: 10.1186/1471-2156-3-14
- Fujita, Y., Mizuno, Y., Takatama, M., and Okamoto, K. (2008). Anterior horn cells with abnormal TDP-43 immunoreactivities show fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus in ALS. J. Neurol. Sci. 269, 30–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2007.12.016
- Hirata, T., Fujita, M., Nakamura, S., Gotoh, K., Motooka, D., Murakami, Y., et al. (2015). Post-Golgi anterograde transport requires GARP-dependent endosome-to-TGN retrograde transport. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 26, 3071–3084. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E14-11-1568
- Karlsson, P., Droce, A., Moser, J. M., Cuhlmann, S., Padilla, C. O., Heimann, P., et al. (2013). Loss of Vps54 function leads to vesicle traffic impairment protein mis-sorting and embryonic lethality. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 10908–10925. doi: 10.3390/ijms140610908

- Kaupmann, K., Simon-Chazottes, D., Guénet, J. L., and Jockusch, H. (1992). Wobbler, a mutation affecting motoneuron survival and gonadal functions in the mouse, maps to proximal chromosome 11. *Genomics* 13, 39–43. doi: 10.1016/0888-7543(92)90199-3
- Korthaus, D., Wedemeyer, N., Lengeling, A., Ronsiek, M., Jockusch, H., and Schmitt-John, T. (1997). Integrated radiation hybrid map of human chromosome 2p13: possible involvement of dynactin in neuromuscular diseases. *Genomics* 43, 242–244. doi: 10.1006/geno.1997.4789
- Laage, S., Zobel, G., and Jockusch, H. (1988). Astrocyte overgrowth in the brain stem and spinal cord of mice affected by spinal atrophy, wobbler. *Dev. Neurosci.* 10, 190–198. doi: 10.1159/000111969
- Liewen, H., Meinhold-Heerlein, I., Oliveira, V., Schwarzenbacher, R., Luo, G., Wadle, A., et al. (2005). Characterization of the human GARP (Golgi associated retrograde protein) complex. *Exp. Cell Res.* 306, 24–34. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2005.01.022
- Meisler, M. H., Russ, C., Montgomery, K. T., Greenway, M., Ennis, S., Hardiman, O., et al. (2008). Evaluation of the Golgi trafficking protein VPS54 (wobbler) as a candidate for ALS. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler.* 9, 141–148. doi: 10.1080/17482960801934403
- Mitsumoto, H., Ferut, A. L., Kurahashi, K., and McQuarrie, I. G. (1990). Impairment of retrograde axonal transport in wobbler mouse motor neuron disease. *Muscle Nerve* 13, 121–126. doi: 10.1002/mus.880130206
- Moser, J. M., Bigini, P., and Schmitt-John, T. (2013). The wobbler mouse, an ALS animal model. *Mol. Genet. Genomics* 288, 207–229. doi: 10.1007/s00438-013-0741-0
- Mourelatos, Z., Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., Gurney, M. E., and Dal Canto, M. C. (1996). The Golgi apparatus of spinal cord motor neurons in transgenic mice expressing mutant Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase becomes fragmented in early, preclinical stages of the disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 5472–5477. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.11.5472
- Nieto-Gonzalez, J., Moser, J. M., Laurtizen, M., Schmitt-John, T., and Jensen, K. (2011). Reduced GABAergic inhibition underlies cortical hyperexcitability in the wobbler mouse model of ALS. *Cereb. Cortex* 21, 625–635. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhq134
- Nishimura, A. L., Mitne-Neto, M., Silva, H. C., Richieri-Costa, A., Middleton, S., Cascio, D., et al. (2004). A mutation in the vesicle-trafficking protein VAPB causes late-onset spinal muscular atrophy and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 75, 822–831. doi: 10.1086/425287
- Ott, B., Dahlke, C., Meller, K., Napirei, M., Schmitt-John, T., Brand-Saberi, B., et al. (2015). Implementation of a manual for working with wobbler mice and criteria for discontinuation of the experiment. *Ann. Anat.* 200, 118–124. doi: 10.1016/j.aanat.2015.03.007
- Palmisano, R., Golfi, P., Heimann, P., Shaw, C. E., Troakes, C., Schmitt-John, T., et al. (2011). Endosomal accumulation of APP in wobbler motor neurons reflects impaired vesicle trafficking: implications for human motor neuron disease pathologies. *BMC Neurosci.* 12:24. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-12-24
- Parkinson, N., Ince, P. G., Smith, M. O., Highley, R., Skibinski, G., Andersen, P. M., et al. (2006). ALS phenotypes with mutations in CHMP2B (charged multivesicular body protein 2B). *Neurology* 67, 1074–1077. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000231510.89311.8b
- Pérez-Victoria, F. J., Abascal-Palacios, G., Tascón, I., Kajava, A., Magadán, J. G., Pioro, E. P., et al. (2010). Structural basis for the wobbler mouse neurodegenerative disorder caused by mutation in the Vps54 subunit of the GARP complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 12860–12865. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1004756107
- Pérez-Victoria, F. J., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2009). Dual roles of the mammalian GARP complex in tethering and SNARE complex assembly at the trans-golgi network. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 29, 5251–5263. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00495-09
- Pérez-Victoria, F. J., Mardones, G. A., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2008). Requirement of the human GARP complex for mannose 6-phosphate-receptor-dependent

sorting of cathepsin D to lysosomes. Mol. Biol. Cell 19, 2350-2362. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-11-1189

- Pernas-Alonso, R., Perrone-Capano, C., Volpicelli, F., and di Porzio, U. (2001). Regionalized neurofilament accumulation and motoneuron degeneration are linked phenotypes in wobbler neuromuscular disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 8, 581–589. doi: 10.1006/nbdi.2001.0403
- Pernas-Alonso, R., Schaffner, A. E., Perrone-Capano, C., Orlando, A., Morelli, F., Hansen, C. T., et al. (1996). Early upregulation of medium neurofilament gene expression in developing spinal cord of the wobbler mouse mutant. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 38, 267–275. doi: 10.1016/0169-328X(95)00344-R
- Quenneville, N. R., Chao, T. Y., McCaffery, J. M., and Conibear, E. (2006). Domains within the GARP subunit Vps54 confer separate functions in complex assembly and early endosome recognition. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 17, 1859–1870. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E05-11-1002
- Rathke-Hartlieb, S., Schmidt, V. C., Jockusch, H., Schmitt-John, T., and Bartsch, J. W. (1999). Spatiotemporal progression of neurodegeneration and glia activation in the wobbler neuropathy of the mouse. *Neuroreport* 10, 3411–3416. doi: 10.1097/00001756-199911080-00028
- Resch, K., Korthaus, D., Wedemeyer, N., Lengeling, A., Ronsiek, M., Thiel, C., et al. (1998). Homology between human chromosome 2p13.3 and the wobbler critical region on mouse chromosome 11: comparative high-resolution mapping of STS and EST loci on YAC/BAC contigs. *Mamm. Genome* 9, 893–898. doi: 10.1007/s003359900890
- Santoro, B., Bigini, P., Levandis, G., Nobile, V., Biggiogera, M., Botti, F., et al. (2004). Evidence for chronic mitochondrial impairment in the cervical spinal cord of a murine model of motor neuron disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 17, 349–357. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2004.07.003
- Schindler, C., Chen, Y., Pu, J., Guo, X., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2015). EARP is a multisubunit tethering complex involved in endocytic recycling. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 17, 639–650. doi: 10.1038/ncb3129
- Schmitt-John, T., Drepper, C., Mussmann, A., Hahn, P., Kuhlmann, M., Thiel, C., et al. (2005). Mutation of Vps54 causes motor neuron disease and defective spermiogenesis in the wobbler mouse. *Nat. Genet.* 37, 1213–1215. doi: 10.1038/ng1661
- Siniossoglou, S., and Pelham, H. R. (2002). Vps51p links the VFT complex to the SNARE Tlg1p. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 48318–48324. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209428200
- Stieber, A., Chen, Y., Wei, S., Mourelatos, Z., Gonatas, J., Okamoto, K., et al. (1998). The fragmented neuronal Golgi apparatus in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis includes the trans-Golgi-network: functional implications. *Acta Neuropathol.* 95, 245–253. doi: 10.1007/s004010050794
- Sugimoto, M., Kondo, M., Hirose, M., Suzuki, M., Mekada, K., Abe, T., et al. (2012). Molecular identification of t(w5): Vps52 promotes pluripotential cell differentiation through cell-cell interactions. *Cell Rep.* 2, 1363–1374. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.10.004
- Yang, Y., Hentati, A., Deng, H. X., Dabbagh, O., Sasaki, T., Hirano, M., et al. (2001). The gene encoding alsin, a protein with three guanine-nucleotide exchange factor domains, is mutated in a form of recessive amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat. Genet.* 29, 160–165. doi: 10.1038/ng1001-160

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Schmitt-John. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Golgi Fragmentation in ALS Motor Neurons. New Mechanisms Targeting Microtubules, Tethers, and Transport Vesicles

Georg Haase^{1*} and Catherine Rabouille^{2*}

¹ Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique and Aix-Marseille Université UMR 7289, Institut de Neurosciences de la Timone, Marseille, France, ² The Department of Cell Biology, Hubrecht Institute of the Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences and University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tibor Hortobágyi, University of Debrecen, Hungary

Reviewed by:

Catherine Jackson, Université Paris Diderot - Paris 7, France Dick Jaarsma, Erasmus University Medical Center, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Georg Haase georg.haase@univ-amu.fr; Catherine Rabouille c.rabouille@hubrecht.eu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 03 September 2015 Accepted: 13 November 2015 Published: 08 December 2015

Citation:

Haase G and Rabouille C (2015) Golgi Fragmentation in ALS Motor Neurons. New Mechanisms Targeting Microtubules, Tethers, and Transport Vesicles. Front. Neurosci. 9:448. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00448

Pathological alterations of the Golgi apparatus, such as its fragmentation represent an early pre-clinical feature of many neurodegenerative diseases and have been widely studied in the motor neuron disease amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Yet, the underlying molecular mechanisms have remained cryptic. In principle, Golgi fragmentation may result from defects in three major classes of proteins: structural Golgi proteins, cytoskeletal proteins and molecular motors, as well as proteins mediating transport to and through the Golgi. Here, we present the different mechanisms that may underlie Golgi fragmentation in animal and cellular models of ALS linked to mutations in SOD1, TARDBP (TDP-43), VAPB, and C9Orf72 and we propose a novel one based on findings in progressive motor neuronopathy (pmn) mice. These mice are mutated in the TBCE gene encoding the cis-Golgi localized tubulin-binding cofactor E, one of five chaperones that assist in tubulin folding and microtubule polymerization. Loss of TBCE leads to alterations in Golgi microtubules, which in turn impedes on the maintenance of the Golgi architecture. This is due to down-regulation of COPI coat components, dispersion of Golgi tethers and strong accumulation of ER-Golgi SNAREs. These effects are partially rescued by the GTPase ARF1 through recruitment of TBCE to the Golgi. We hypothesize that defects in COPI vesicles, microtubules and their interaction may also underlie Golgi fragmentation in human ALS linked to other mutations, spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), and related motor neuron diseases. We also discuss the functional relevance of pathological Golgi alterations, in particular their potential causative, contributory, or compensatory role in the degeneration of motor neuron cell bodies, axons and synapses.

Keywords: Golgi fragmentation, neurodegeneration, ALS, microtubules, SOD1, TDP-43, TBCE, C9orf72

INTRODUCTION

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) is a severe neurodegenerative disease characterized by progressive degeneration of motor neurons in spinal cord, brainstem and cerebral cortex and of their corresponding axons in the corticospinal tract and in peripheral nerves. Degeneration of motor axons and loss of neuromuscular synapses leads to denervation of skeletal muscle fibers

which causes progressive muscle weakness and paralysis and becomes fatal when it reaches critical muscle groups, usually within 2–5 years after disease onset (Robberecht and Philips, 2013).

ALS can be caused by mutations in more than 20 genes, including the major ones SOD1, TARDBP (TDP-43), FUS and C9ORF72, or manifest as apparently sporadic form. In ALS motor neurons, many cellular functions are altered as illustrated by defects in nucleocytoplasmic transport (Freibaum et al., 2015; Jovicic et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2015), in processing of mRNAs (Lourenco et al., 2015) and miRNAs (Emde et al., 2015), in formation of stress granules (Li et al., 2013), ER stress (Matus et al., 2013), mitochondrial dysfunction (Pasinelli et al., 2004), and alterations in almost all steps of membrane traffic. For instance, autophagy (Ferrucci et al., 2011; Song et al., 2012; Majcher et al., 2015), endocytosis (Rusten and Simonsen, 2008), and secretory function (Gonatas et al., 1998; Nassif et al., 2010) have been shown to be affected. In this review, we will focus on structural and functional alterations of the Golgi apparatus.

The Golgi apparatus is a unique organelle comprising stacks of flattened discrete membrane-bound compartments called cisternae forming the so-called Golgi stacks. In mammalian cells, these stacks are laterally connected by tubules to form a large Golgi ribbon capping the nucleus (**Figure 1A**) and (Képès et al., 2005; Glick and Nakano, 2009). Furthermore, the Golgi apparatus is polarized with a cis-entry site facing the ER and the ERGIC (ER-Golgi intermediate compartment) and a transexit face facing the endosomal system (Polishchuk and Mironov, 2004). In motor neurons, the Golgi apparatus forms a very large network that extends into axons and dendrites (Bellouze et al., 2014; Valenzuela and Perez, 2015).

In motor neurons of ALS patients, the Golgi apparatus often appears either fragmented, i.e., transformed into multiple disconnected elements or tubular-vesicular clusters, or atrophied, i.e., reduced in its membrane content (Mourelatos et al., 1990; Gonatas et al., 1992). These pathological changes are detectable in all types of motor neurons located in spinal cord, brainstem and cerebral cortex (Mourelatos et al., 1996; Fujita et al., 1999, 2000). Furthermore, they are common to both sporadic (Gonatas et al., 1992) and familial (Mourelatos et al., 1996; Fujita et al., 1999, 2000) forms of the disease, including ALS with Bunina bodies (Stieber et al., 1998), juvenile ALS (Fujita et al., 2002), and ALS with posterior column involvement (Fujita et al., 2000).

Golgi fragmentation has been found to be closely associated with other neuropathological hallmarks of ALS, such as cytoplasmic basophilic inclusions (Fujita et al., 2002), ubiquitin aggregates (Vlug et al., 2005), SOD1 aggregates (Fujita et al., 2000) and TDP-43 pathology (Fujita et al., 2008). Importantly, Golgi alterations occur at an early preclinical stage in human ALS patients (Maruyama et al., 2010) and in rodent ALS models (Mourelatos et al., 1996; Vlug et al., 2005; Tong et al., 2012; van Dis et al., 2014), suggesting that Golgi fragmentation precedes the degenerative loss of motor neuron cell bodies and axons. By contrast, conspicuous Golgi alterations in motor neurons are not observed after chemical poisoning (Mourelatos et al., 1994) or axonal injury (Bellouze et al., 2014), ruling out that they are a mere consequence of neuronal damage.

The main function of the Golgi apparatus in healthy cells is to ensure the processing (enzymatic modification and proteolytic cleavage) and sorting of proteins from their site of synthesis in the endoplasmic reticulum to their final destination, plasma membrane, extracellular space and endosomal/lysosomal compartments (Bonifacino and Glick, 2004). The Golgi apparatus also ensures the polarity of protein and lipid transport to axons and dendrites (Tang, 2001; Ramírez and Couve, 2011; Bonifacino, 2014). In particular, the Golgi apparatus is required for the assembly and axonal transport of synaptic vesicle precursors (Maas et al., 2012). Alterations of the Golgi apparatus could therefore be accompanied by loss or gain of function in protein sorting, processing and transport to the axons and synapses, leading to their degeneration. Furthermore, Golgi fragmentation leads to activation of apoptotic pathways (Hicks and Machamer, 2005; Machamer, 2015) that can contribute to axonal degeneration and ultimately to cell death.

Despite their early occurrence and high frequency, the precise relevance of these pathological Golgi alterations remains unclear. Future studies have to clarify whether they have a causative, contributory or homeostatic role in motor neuron degeneration, in particular with respect to the loss of cell bodies, axons and synapses. To be able to address this in a meaningful manner, it is crucial to better understand the precise mechanisms of Golgi pathology in ALS.

THREE CLASSES OF PROTEINS ARE IMPORTANT FOR GOLGI MAINTENANCE

In theory, Golgi morphology depends on three classes of proteins: The microtubules (MTs) and MT-associated motor proteins; the structural Golgi proteins; and the proteins of the Golgi transport machinery. Of note, most of the knowledge on these alterations comes from studies in mitotic non-neuronal cells and only few data are available from motor neurons.

The Microtubule Cytoskeleton

It has been known for 30 years that microtubule depolymerization (for instance with nocodazole or colchicine) alters the Golgi morphology of mammalian cells. Instead of the single copy organelle capping the nucleus in non-treated cells, the Golgi ribbon appears fragmented leading to single stacks or group of stacks (Ellinger and Pavelka, 1984; Rogalski and Singer, 1984; Turner and Tartakoff, 1989; Cole et al., 1996; Scales et al., 1997).

It is also increasingly recognized that in addition to the centrosome, the Golgi is a major site of microtubule formation in various cell types (Chabin-Brion et al., 2001; Efimov et al., 2007; Miller et al., 2009), including hippocampal neurons (Stiess et al., 2010; Yau et al., 2014) and motor neurons (Bellouze et al., 2014), see for review (Zhu and Kaverina, 2013; Rios, 2014; Kapitein and Hoogenraad, 2015; Sanders and Kaverina, 2015).

During neuronal differentiation, the centrosome is dismantled and becomes dispensable for the formation of microtubules and for the establishment of proper axonal



FIGURE 1 | The Golgi apparatus in wild type motor neurons. (A) An electron micrograph showing part of the typical Golgi ribbon in a mouse lumbar spinal cord motor neuron. (B) Schematic representation of some of the molecular players involved in the organization of the wild type Golgi. Polymerization of microtubules (MT) at the cis-Golgi depends on TBCE which mediates cross talk with ARF1-mediated COPI vesicle biogenesis [box 1]. Golgi microtubules nucleated by GCC185/CLASPs at the trans-Golgi play a role in Golgi ribbon linking [box 2]. The formation of the Golgi ribbon at the cis side is mediated by the tethering complex p115/GM130 and SNARE complexes containing GS15, GS28, and Syntaxin 5 [box4].

and neuronal morphology (Basto et al., 2006; Stiess et al., 2010; Nguyen et al., 2011). The Golgi however expands and rearranges (Horton et al., 2005) and may thus become increasingly for the correct formation, nucleation and dynamics of microtubules.

The formation of microtubules involves the folding of alphaand beta-tubulins, their dimerization and polymerization. The last steps of this complex process are assisted by five tubulinspecific chaperones termed tubulin-binding cofactors TBCA-TBCE (Tian et al., 1996, 1997). Among these, TBCE is expressed at high levels in motor neurons (Schaefer et al., 2007) where it is associated to the cis-Golgi (**Figure 1B**) and is critical for the polymerization of Golgi-derived microtubules (Bellouze et al., 2014). The nucleation of Golgi-microtubules then involves the Golgi proteins GM130 (Kodani and Sütterlin, 2008), AKAP-450 (Rivero et al., 2009), and CLASP1/2 (Efimov et al., 2007) (**Figure 1B**).

The Golgi Structural Proteins

The second class of proteins that could be affected are the socalled Golgi structural proteins. These are the Golgins, extended coiled-coil proteins that form a proteinaceous matrix around the Golgi (Munro, 2011; Gillingham et al., 2014). Their knock down leads to a structural alteration of the Golgi. This is the case for p115, GM130, but also Golgin 84 (Diao et al., 2003) and Giantin (Koreishi et al., 2013). In addition, two non-Golgin proteins have been shown to be critical for the Golgi architecture, GRASP65 and 55 with a role in the formation of tubular connections between Golgi stacks to form the Golgi ribbon (Vinke et al., 2011; Jarvela and Linstedt, 2012, 2014; Veenendaal et al., 2014; Figure 1B) as well as in cisternal stacking (Xiang and Wang, 2010). Of note, it is sometimes difficult to tease apart the strict role of these proteins in Golgi structure from their role in trafficking thus precisely pin-pointing the primary cause for Golgi fragmentation.

Interestingly, some of these proteins are the targets of specific modifications that occur at the onset of mitosis when the Golgi becomes physiologically fragmented in a controlled and reversible manner. For instance, GM130 is phosphorylated, leading to dissociation of the GM130/p115 complex. As a result, COPI vesicles are no longer tethered and cannot fuse, leading to Golgi fragmentation and generation of mitotic clusters (Nakamura et al., 1997). Furthermore, GM130 (Walker et al., 2004), p115 (Chiu et al., 2002), and GRASP65 (Lane et al., 2002; Cheng et al., 2010) are targets of apoptotic caspase-mediated proteolysis leading to Golgi fragmentation.

The Golgi Transport Machinery

The third class of proteins that, when altered, could lead to a loss of the typical Golgi architecture are the proteins functioning in the traffic between the ER and the Golgi, especially COPI and COPII coat complexes as well as their tethering/docking/fusion machinery. Trafficking between the ER and the Golgi is mediated by at least two coat complexes.

The COPII coat assembles at specific sites of the ER, called ER exit sites, where COPII coated vesicles form and bud (Miller

and Schekman, 2013; Sprangers and Rabouille, 2015). The COPI complex or coatomer assembles at the surface of the Golgi and the ERGIC. The coatomer comprises 6 structural subunits alpha, beta, beta, delta, gamma, and epsilon COP (Beck et al., 2009) and their formation requires the small GTPase Arf1 and its GEF GBF1 (Popoff et al., 2011). There is a strong consensus that COPI coated vesicles mediate the retrograde transport from the Golgi to the ER, but it is also possible that they may also participate in specific anterograde transport steps from the ERGIC to the cis Golgi cisterna and/or within the Golgi cisternae (Aguilera-Gomez and Rabouille, 2015).

After budding from their respective compartments, the COPI and COPII coated vesicles fuse with their target compartments and this requires tethering (p115/GM130), docking (using Rab proteins, Pfeffer, 2013a,b) and fusion proteins, such as the SNAREs. The SNAREs are type II c-tail anchored transmembrane proteins with almost all their mass in the cytoplasm. They belong to two classes, v-SNAREs (present on vesicles) and t-SNAREs (present on target compartments), roughly corresponding to R-and Q-SNAREs. Usually, three Q-SNAREs and one R-SNARE form a tight parallel helix that mediates vesicle fusion (Malsam and Söllner, 2011).

Impairment of the balance between vesicle budding and fusion either at the Golgi or the ER leads to a loss of Golgi architecture and its complete vesiculation. For instance, when COPII vesicle budding is inhibited, the Golgi vesiculates (Prescott et al., 2001). The Golgi appears similarly vesiculated when COPI formation is impaired by BFA treatment or depletion of COPI subunits (Guo et al., 2008; Razi et al., 2009). Last, impaired Golgi SNARE function like depletion of Syntaxin 5 (Suga et al., 2005) also leads to strong Golgi fragmentation, as observed in cellular models of Parkinson disease (Rendón et al., 2013).

Furthermore, at least one caspase (caspase 2) is localized to the Golgi (O'Reilly et al., 2002), suggesting that the Golgi can sense cell death signals and transduce them via cleavage of structural Golgi proteins (Galluzzi et al., 2014).

PROPOSED TRIGGERS OF GOLGI FRAGMENTATION IN ALS AND RELATED MOTOR NEURON DISEASES

The precise mechanisms of Golgi fragmentation in degenerating motor neurons are not fully understood but first insights arise from studies in animal and cellular models of ALS and related motor neuron diseases linked to mutations in SOD1, Dynein/Dynactin, TARDBP (TDP-43), and VAP-B.

Schematically, four mechanisms of Golgi fragmentation can be distinguished: The first one involves defective microtubules or microtubule-dependent transporters due to mutations in SOD1 (Soo et al., 2015), Dynein/Dynactin (Hafezparast et al., 2003; Puls et al., 2003), and BICD2 (Neveling et al., 2013; Peeters et al., 2013). Dynein and BICD2 will not be discussed further as two excellent reviews have just been published on that topic (Jaarsma and Hoogenraad, 2015; Wirth and Martinez-Carrera, 2015). The second one postulates the cleavage of Golgi structural proteins by activation of caspases (SOD1). The third and fourth ones hypothesize that Golgi fragmentation is due to toxic protein aggregates (TDP-43, SOD1) or dysfunctional proteins (VAP-B), which potentially impair trafficking within the early secretory pathway.

Here, we first summarize these data before describing a novel mechanism that involves both microtubules, Golgi vesicles and structural Golgi proteins, and which is potentially shared by several forms of human ALS, spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), and related motor neuron diseases.

Microtubule Disruption by Mutant SOD1

Mutations in the human SOD1 (Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase 1) gene account for ~5% of familial forms of ALS (Andersen and Al-Chalabi, 2011) and are at the origin of the most widely used animal and cellular models of ALS. Transgenic mice expressing ALS-linked SOD1 mutations manifest signs of motor neuron degeneration such as early axonal dying back and loss of neuromuscular synapses (Fischer et al., 2004; Schaefer et al., 2005; Pun et al., 2006). In these mice, Golgi fragmentation occurs at an early preclinical stage and precedes most other histopathological alterations (Mourelatos et al., 1996; Vlug et al., 2005; van Dis et al., 2014).

Earlier studies suggested that mutant SOD1-linked Golgi fragmentation may originate from microtubule alterations. Indeed, the mean diameter of Golgi cisternae was found to be shorter in mice overexpressing mutant SOD1 G93A when compared to those expressing wildtype SOD1 (Gonatas et al., 1992), an effect similar to that of the microtubule-disrupting drug colchicine (Mourelatos et al., 1990). A recent study further shows that cellular overexpression of mutant SOD1 is associated with unstable microtubules and decreased levels of acetylated tubulins (Soo et al., 2015).

Furthermore, the microtubule-severing protein Stathmin-1 of the Stathmin family that regulates microtubule transition from growing to shrinking phases, some of which are also associated with the Golgi membrane (Gavet et al., 1998) has been found to be up-regulated both at the RNA (Ferraiuolo et al., 2007) and the protein (Strey et al., 2004) level in mutant SOD1-expressing mouse motor neurons. Finally, the most acidic isoform of Stathmin-1, which probably corresponds to the inactive phosphorylated protein, was found selectively down-regulated (Strey et al., 2004).

However appealing, this hypothesis is not yet proven since no conspicuous microtubule alterations have been detected in mutant SOD1 motor neurons with a fragmented Golgi following standard tissue preparation (Strey et al., 2004). To detect SOD1triggered microtubule alterations *in vivo*, better techniques for microtubule preservation and visualization such as high pressure freezing and EM-based 3D reconstruction (Marsh et al., 2001) may be required. To firmly establish the role of Stathmin-1 and the related Stathmins 2–4 as potential mediators of mutant SOD1-triggered Golgi pathology, it will be necessary to recapitulate Golgi fragmentation by Stathmin overexpression and to rescue mutant SOD1-linked Golgi fragmentation by Stathmin knock down.

Caspase-mediated Cleavage of Structural Golgi Proteins by Mutant SOD1

Mutant SOD1-linked Golgi fragmentation in motor neurons may involve defects in structural Golgi proteins that have been shown to be targets of caspases as described above. We have previously shown that mutant SOD1 sensitizes motor neurons to Fas-triggered cell death involving caspases 8 and 3 (Raoul et al., 2002, 2006). Additional studies have shown that caspases 1, 3, 9, and 12 are activated in mutant SOD1 spinal cord (Li et al., 2000; Inoue et al., 2003; Kikuchi et al., 2006). Whether mutant SOD1 triggers caspase-cleavage of Golgi proteins and thereby contributes to Golgi fragmentation in motor neurons remains however to be investigated.

Protein Aggregates and Golgi Fragmentation: TDP-43

Typical ALS is characterized by cytoplasmic inclusions made of irreversible protein aggregates comprising the nuclear transactivation response (TAR) DNA-binding protein of 43kDa (TDP-43; Neumann et al., 2006). Furthermore, TARDBP (TDP-43) mutations are associated with sporadic and familial forms of ALS (Sreedharan et al., 2008; Van Deerlin et al., 2008) and were reported to form cytosolic protein aggregates in human postmortem tissues (Lee et al., 2012) and in iPScderived motor neurons (Egawa et al., 2012) of patients. The TDP-43 protein aggregates occur in many, albeit not all, neuronal types in patients (Toyoshima and Takahashi, 2014) and in animal models (Tsao et al., 2012). The formation of these inclusions is thought to impair TDP-43 critical nuclear function in neuronal RNA metabolism, including the splicing and stability of numerous RNAs encoding proteins involved in neuronal development, synaptic function and neurodegeneration (Lagier-Tourenne et al., 2012; Jovicic and Gitler, 2014; Lee et al., 2015; Ludolph and Brettschneider, 2015; Scotter et al., 2015; Smethurst et al., 2015). Thus, a loss of these functions through cytoplasmic irreversible protein aggregation is an attractive hypothesis regarding the role of TDP-43 in neurodegeneration (Dewey et al., 2012).

Interestingly, the presence of TDP-43 positive cytoplasmic inclusions has been associated with Golgi fragmentation in spinal motor neurons of ALS patients (Fujita et al., 2008). Similarly, in transgenic rats overexpressing mutant human TDP-43, Golgi fragmentation is detected in a concomitant manner with the formation of TDP-43 aggregates (also positive for ubiquitin) in the same neuron (Tong et al., 2012). Whether and how cytoplasmic TDP-43 protein aggregates are mechanistically linked to Golgi fragmentation is however not known, and the potential Golgi targets and stress signaling pathways of TDP-43 inclusions remain to be identified.

Golgi Fragmentation Due to Impairment in the Early Secretory Pathway Trafficking Aggregated SOD1 and Golgi Fragmentation

Overexpressed mutant SOD1 in CHO cells is also shown to aggregate, thus trapping key proteins of the early secretory pathway (see below Atkin et al., 2014). In contrast, mutant

SOD1 is seen diffuse in the cytoplasm in Neuro2a cells but its aggregation is triggered upon overexpression of chromogranins, components of neurosecretory vesicles. Interestingly, this aggregation pattern is consistent with the Golgi/TGN that appears disrupted in large vesicles (Urushitani et al., 2006), a result that can be explained by the interaction between chromogranins and mutant SOD1.

This suggests that mutant SOD1 is recruited to the Golgi through its interactions with chromogranins. This could be consistent with an association of SOD1 on the cytoplasmic leaflet of the Golgi membrane, but the authors show that mutant SOD1 is secreted to the extracellular medium together with the chromogranins. This suggests that mutant SOD1 has somehow reached the lumen of these large vesicles, an event proposed to occur early in the early secretory pathway (Urushitani et al., 2008). In this specific case, however, the observed Golgi disruption is not due to expression of mutant SOD1, but to the co-expression of chromogranins. The mechanism for the chromogranin-mediated mutant SOD1 translocation remains to be elucidated.

Several studies also indicate that misfolded mutant forms of SOD1 can impede ER-to-Golgi transport (Stieber et al., 2004). Indeed, using NSC-34 motor neurons cell in culture, expression of mutant SOD1 was shown to first inhibit ER-Golgi trafficking, an event that preceded ER stress (Turner and Atkin, 2006; Atkin et al., 2014), and Golgi fragmentation. Interestingly, four different mutant forms of SOD1 (but not wildtype SOD1) have been shown to bind the COPII subunit Sec23 that co-localizes with aggregated mutant SOD1. This presumably renders it nonfunctional (Atkin et al., 2014) and leads to Golgi fragmentation that was rescued upon overexpression of the small GTPase Sar1. The interaction between mutant SOD1 and Sec23 was also reported in SOD1 mouse spinal cord at the early age of 10 days. These findings may thus link Golgi fragmentation to the early disruption of ER exit in mutant SOD1 expressing cells (Atkin et al., 2014).

Loss VAP-B Induces Golgi Fragmentation

Atypical forms of familial ALS (ALS8) and late-onset SMA have been associated with a dominant missense mutation (P56S) in the VAPB gene (Nishimura et al., 2004, 2005; Marques et al., 2006; Funke et al., 2010). Additional VAP-B mutations have reported been in few patients with typical ALS (Kabashi et al., 2013).

VAP-B and its homolog VAP-A are members of the highly conserved and ubiquitously expressed VAP (Vesicle-Associated Membrane Protein (VAMP)-Associated Protein) family of ER Ctail anchored proteins. This class of proteins has been shown to interact with the FFAT motif (two phenylalanines in an acidic tract) characteristic of lipid transfer proteins enriched at membrane contact sites between the ER and the Golgi (Mesmin et al., 2013) and other organelles (Levine and Loewen, 2006). In addition, VAP proteins seem implicated in membrane trafficking, ER/cytoskeleton interactions, the unfolded protein response (reviewed in (Lev et al., 2008), calcium homeostasis (De Vos et al., 2012; Stoica et al., 2014), axonal transport of mitochondria (Mórotz et al., 2012) as well as neurite extension and neurotransmitter release (Saita et al., 2009; Ohnishi et al., 2014). When overexpressed, the ALS-linked VAP-B mutant P56S favors the formation of clusters of paired ER cisternae (Fasana et al., 2010; Kuijpers et al., 2013b) that are located close to the Golgi (Genevini et al., 2014). This leads to ER stress and disrupts ER to ERGIC to Golgi trafficking (Kuijpers et al., 2013b). It also causes Golgi fragmentation in a small number (15%) of primary rat hippocampal neurons (Teuling et al., 2007), although this was not observed (albeit not quantified) in spinal motor neurons on sections (Kuijpers et al., 2013a) or in cell culture (Genevini et al., 2014).

One reason is that overexpression of P56S VAP-B does not completely recapitulate the ALS situation. In fact, P56S VAP-B leads to the degradation of wildtype VAP-B (and probably VAP-A) and a consequent reduced level of the functional protein (Suzuki et al., 2009; Papiani et al., 2012) but not the formation of aberrant ER structures. Similarly, the endogenous mutant P56S allele causes a reduction of VAP-B levels in patient-derived iPSc motor neurons (Mitne-Neto et al., 2011) and its fly equivalent P58S leads to aggregation of wildtype VAP-B (Ratnaparkhi et al., 2008). This is also observed in Vapb P56S knockin mice (Larroquette et al., 2015) where cleaved ubiquitinated VAP-B accumulates in insoluble complexes.

Loss of VAP-B function may also be involved in other forms of ALS since reduced VAP-B levels have been reported in the spinal cord of mutant SOD1 mice and of patients with sporadic ALS (Teuling et al., 2007; Anagnostou et al., 2010). Furthermore, overexpression of VAP-B P56S in mice leads to pathological TDP-43 aggregates both in the nucleus and the cytoplasm of motor neurons (Tudor et al., 2010), which, as reported above, may contribute to disruption of ER to Golgi transport.

Importantly, VAP-B depletion in HeLa cells leads to strong Golgi fragmentation (Peretti et al., 2008). This is likely due to the pleiotropic effects of VAP-B on Golgi-mediated transport pathways (Peretti et al., 2008) where it interacts with numerous Golgi-associated proteins (Huttlin et al., 2015) and microtubules (Skehel et al., 2000). ER stress and autophagy (Larroquette et al., 2015) may be further involved in pathogenesis.

A NOVEL MECHANISM OF GOLGI FRAGMENTATION: DEFECTIVE CROSS TALK BETWEEN THE MICROTUBULE NETWORK AND COPI VESICLES

Progressive Motor Neuronopathy (pmn)

Recently, studies in *pmn* mice carrying a missense mutation in the tubulin-binding cofactor TBCE have led to the elucidation of a mechanism where microtubules, structural Golgi proteins and the Golgi transport machinery are altered, and illustrated a molecular cross talk between these three classes of proteins (Bellouze et al., 2014). Loss of TBCE function in *pmn* mice causes axonal dying back of motor neurons (Schaefer et al., 2007) and loss of cochlear outer hair cells (Rak et al., 2013), growth and mental retardation in human patients with Sanjad-Sakati/Kenny-Caffey syndrome (Parvari et al., 2002) and impaired development of motor axons and neuromucular synapses in Drosophila (Jin et al., 2009). Both the TBCE *pmn* mutation, which leads to protein destabilization and degradation (Martin et al., 2002; Schaefer et al., 2007), and cellular TBCE depletion (Bellouze et al., 2014) result in a general loss of microtubules including Golgi-derived ones.

Mutant *pmn* mice display clear signs of Golgi fragmentation in lumbar spinal motor neurons at 10 days of age i.e., 5 days before first clinical, electrical or pathological signs of axon degeneration (Schmalbruch et al., 1991; Kennel et al., 1996; Bellouze et al., 2014), confirming the early preclinical occurrence of structural Golgi alterations. During disease course, Golgi membranes are progressively transformed into vesicles and tubules (**Figure 2A**) and the percentage of motor neurons with signs of Golgi fragmentation increases massively (Bellouze et al., 2014).

Biochemical and microscopic analysis of *pmn* associated Golgi defects shows three critical aspects of Golgi fragmentation: a strong decrease in the protein levels of the beta and epsilon COPI vesicle subunits, a dispersion of the Golgi tethers p115 and GM130 away from Golgi membrane and an about 15-fold increase in the protein levels of Golgi v-SNAREs GS15 and GS28 (Bellouze et al., 2014). This accumulation is due to protein stabilization rather than transcriptional up-regulation, and is nevertheless associated with compromised formation of v-/t-SNARE complexes (Bellouze et al., 2014; Figure 2B).

Taken together, loss of TBCE leads to loss of Golgi-associated microtubules, a fragmented Golgi and associated molecular defects reported above. This suggests that defects in TBCE-mediated microtubule polymerization at the Golgi impede the COPI coat assembly that in turn causes mislocalization of associated tethers and accumulation of Golgi SNAREs resulting in Golgi fragmentation. This scenario of Golgi fragmentation is further supported by reports showing that depletion of β -COP causes accumulation of small vesicles containing Golgi enzymes at the cell center (Guo et al., 2008) and redistribution of GM130 (Razi et al., 2009), potentially through dysfunction of the ER/Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC; Horstmann et al., 2002; Xu and Hay, 2004).

Intriguingly, COPI dynamics feeds back on microtubule polymerization at the Golgi. Expression of constitutionally active GTP-locked ARF1 following TBCE knock down (not knock out) stimulates recruitment of remaining TBCE to the Golgi, polymerization of microtubules and rescue of the Golgi defects (Bellouze et al., 2014). This may be due to an interaction between Arf1 and TBCE, at least upon overexpression of both proteins, making TBCE an Arf1 effector. We therefore propose that the cross talk between microtubules in the cell soma and COPI vesicle dynamics at the Golgi maintains the Golgi structure and that the interruption of this cross talk causes microtubule disruption and Golgi fragmentation observed in *pmn* mice.

Other Mouse Mutants with Motor Neuron Degeneration

Is the interruption of the cross talk also the mechanism of Golgi fragmentation in other disease models? Microtubule and COPI defects may indeed contribute to Golgi fragmentation in *mdf* (*muscle deficient*) mice mutated in the Scyl1 gene. Scyl1 encodes a protein that normally interacts with α -COP and β -COP (Burman et al., 2008, 2010), suggesting that Golgi fragmentation in motor neurons of *mdf* mice involves defective COPI vesicle formation

which may interrupt the COPI/MT cross talk with ensuing Golgi fragmentation.

Furthermore, SNARE-mediated vesicle tethering may be defective in *wobbler* mice with motor neuron degeneration. Indeed the mutant gene product VPS54 (Schmitt-John et al., 2005) is a subunit of the Golgi-associated retrograde protein (GARP) complex that normally tethers vesicle budding from late endosomes to the TGN through interaction with the v-SNAREs Syntaxin-6, Syntaxin-16, and VAMP4 (Pérez-Victoria et al., 2008; Pérez-Victoria and Bonifacino, 2009).

Human ALS Linked to TUBA4A Mutations

Rare forms of human ALS have recently been associated with mutations in the tubulin gene TUBA4A that encodes a major alpha-tubulin isoform of adult spinal cord and brain (Smith et al., 2014). *In vitro* overexpression of several ALS-linked TUBA4A mutations causes severe alterations in the somatic microtubule network (Smith et al., 2014). Additional forms of human ALS and SMA are due to mutations in the microtubule motors Dynein (Hafezparast et al., 2003), its regulator BICD2 (Neveling et al., 2013; Peeters et al., 2013), or in Optineurin (Maruyama et al., 2010), a protein known to bind microtubules and to mediate vesicle transport in the secretory pathway. So, defective microtubule-dependent transport as well as impairment in trafficking through the Golgi may be the basis for Golgi fragmentation in these diseases.

SMA

Defective cross talk between microtubules and COPI vesicles may also be involved in classical SMA caused by deletion of the SMN (Survival Motor Neuron) gene (Lefebvre et al., 1995). Although Golgi fragmentation has not yet been reported in SMN-linked SMA, increased levels of Stathmin-1 (see above) are associated with microtubule loss, axon degeneration and loss of neuromuscular synapses in mouse and cellular models of SMA (Wen et al., 2010, 2013). Furthermore, SMN has been shown to bind the COPI subunit α -COP and to co-traffic with the latter in motor axons (Peter et al., 2011). Interrupting SMN/ α -COP interaction leads to SMN accumulation at the Golgi (Ting et al., 2012), reduced neurite outgrowth and altered growth cones (Custer et al., 2013). We therefore hypothesize that the Golgi is fragmented in SMA mice and patients through SMN/COPI/microtubule dysfunction.

ALS Linked to C9Orf72 Mutations

The most frequent forms of human ALS are caused by novel GGGGCC (G_4C_2) hexanucleotide repeat expansions in the first intron of the C9Orf72 gene (DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011; Renton et al., 2011). Patients with this form of ALS typically carry several hundred to more than thousand G_4C_2 repeats (Beck et al., 2013; Dols-Icardo et al., 2014), although symptoms may be caused by as few as 20 G_4C_2 repeats (Gómez-Tortosa et al., 2013).

According to the main current hypotheses, G_4C_2 repeat expansions may cause disease through formation of Gquadruplex RNA structures leading to nucleolar stress (Haeusler et al., 2014), formation of nuclear RNA foci sequestering essential RNA-binding proteins (DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011; Polymenidou et al., 2012), repeat-associated non-AUG (RAN)



FIGURE 2 | The fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus in *pmn* motor neurons. (A) An electron micrograph showing vesiculation of the Golgi stack in a lumbar spinal cord motor neuron from a *pmn* mouse aged 35 days. (B) Schematic representation of the molecular defects leading to Golgi fragmentation. Loss of TBCE function impedes polymerization of microtubules at the cis-Golgi [box 1] and potentially also their GCC185/CLASP-dependent nucleation at the trans-Golgi [box 2]. Levels of β -COP and ϵ -COP are reduced [box 1], vesicles containing high amounts of Golgi SNAREs GS15 and GS28 accumulate [box3] and tethers p115 and GM130 disperse away from membranes [box 4].
unconventional translation into toxic poly-dipeptides (DPRs; Cleary and Ranum, 2013; Mori et al., 2013; Zu et al., 2013), or by impeding nucleocytoplasmic transport (Freibaum et al., 2015; Jovicic et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2015).

It should be stressed that Golgi fragmentation has not yet been reported in mutant C9Orf72-linked ALS. However, several findings point to a role of the wildtype C9ORF72 protein in vesicle trafficking. Indeed, bioinformatic analyses predict the presence of DENN (differentially expressed in normal and neoplastic cells) domains in C9Orf72 (Zhang et al., 2012; Levine et al., 2013). DENN domains bear sequence and structural homology with guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) for Rab GTPases, some of which are involved in regulating vesicle trafficking at the Golgi (Liu and Storrie, 2012). A recent study has reported that the C9Orf72 protein associates with Rab1, Rab7 and Rab11 (Farg et al., 2014). In addition to impairment of autophagy and endocytic trafficking upon C9ORF72 knockdown, the GM130 pattern is altered potentially consistent with Golgi alterations (Farg et al., 2014).

Since gain of function rather than loss of function mechanisms appear to drive motor neuron degeneration in C9Orf72-linked ALS (Koppers et al., 2015), future studies need to address the toxic consequences of G₄C₂ repeat expansions and DPRs on vesicle trafficking and maintenance of the Golgi apparatus. The G_4C_2 repeat expansions can be associated with the formation of TDP-43 nuclear and cytoplasmic inclusions (Mori et al., 2013; but see Al-Sarraj et al., 2011), which possibly affects ER to Golgi transport. In addition, the C9Orf72 ALS-associated DPR Gly-Ala has recently been shown to sequester the cargo adaptor Unc119/HRG4 into protein aggregates (May et al., 2014). This may disrupt the ternary complex that is normally formed by Unc119/HRG4, the tubulin-binding co-factor D (TBCD) and the ARF-subfamily member ARL2 (Veltel et al., 2008; Ismail et al., 2012). These data suggest that defects in the MT/COPI cross talk may be implicated in this frequent form of human ALS.

WHAT IS THE RELEVANCE OF GOLGI FRAGMENTATION TO MOTOR NEURON DEGENERATION?

While Golgi fragmentation is now recognized as an early and constant hallmark of degenerating motor neurons in ALS and related motor neuron diseases, its relationship to the neurodegenerative process remains to be clarified. Numerous studies indicate that structural and functional Golgi alterations are not simply a consequence of neurodegeneration. For instance, the drug β , β' -iminodiproprionitrile (IDPN) that causes severe proximal axonopathy does not induce any morphometric changes of the Golgi in rat motor neurons (Mourelatos et al., 1994). Furthermore, surgical transection of the rat facial nerve

REFERENCES

Aguilera-Gomez, A., and Rabouille, C. (2015). "Intra golgi transport," *Encyclopedia of Cell Biology*, Vol. 2, eds R. Bradshaw and P. Stahl (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 354–362. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-394447-4.20034-5

does not trigger the fine Golgi fragmentation typically observed in human ALS patients (Fujita et al., 2011). Last, transection of the sciatic nerve in mice does not alter the cellular levels or distribution of β -COP, the Golgi tether p115 or the Golgi SNARES GS28 and GS15 in the corresponding motor neuron cell bodies (Bellouze et al., 2014), suggesting that the microtubule/COPI cross talk is unaffected by axonal injury, in contrast to the situation in *pmn* mice.

Conversely, mounting evidence suggests that Golgi alterations may contribute to, or in some cases even cause, aspects of motor neuron degeneration. In particular, alterations in the microtubule/COPI cross talk may impact on the normal function of the Golgi apparatus in the transport of proteins, lipids and RNAs that are essential for axon and synapse maintenance. The COPI subunits α -, β -, and γ -COP for instance bind numerous mRNAs (Bi et al., 2007; Todd et al., 2013) and facilitate their axonal transport along microtubules (Bi et al., 2007). Furthermore, ARF1 function is critical for axon growth and maintenance (Jareb and Banker, 1997), suggesting a role of COPI in vesicle biogenesis and/or axonal transport.

In conclusion, more work is needed to understand the relevance of Golgi fragmentation for onset and progression of motor neuron degeneration. One way forward is to experimentally inhibit Golgi fragmentation in model systems, whether *in vitro* or *in vivo*, and to subsequently assess the specific consequences on axon degeneration, loss of synaptic vesicles and synaptic dysfunction. To achieve this, we need to gain deeper insights into the mechanisms driving this fragmentation.

Defects in the cross talk between the Golgi microtubule network and the Golgi transport COPI machinery seem an early common mechanism shared by human ALS, SMA, and other motor neuron diseases and thus appear as exciting new molecular targets for the development of biomarkers and pharmacological or gene-based therapies in these severe and currently incurable disorders.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GH and CR prepared and wrote this manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Work in GH's lab is supported by Centre National pour la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), Aix-Marseille University and project grants from Association Française contre les Myopathies (AFM), Agence Nationale pour la Recherche, and ERANET Neuron. Work in CR's lab is supported by NWO (Nederlandse Organisatie voor Wetenschappelijke Onderzoek).

Anagnostou, G., Akbar, M. T., Paul, P., Angelinetta, C., Steiner, T. J., and de Belleroche, J. (2010). Vesicle associated membrane protein B (VAPB) is decreased in ALS spinal cord. *Neurobiol. Aging* 31, 969–985. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008. 07.005

- Andersen, P. M., and Al-Chalabi, A. (2011). Clinical genetics of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: what do we really know? *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 7, 603–615. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2011.150
- Al-Sarraj, S., King, A., Troakes, C., Smith, B., Maekawa, S., Bodi, I., et al. (2011). p62 positive, TDP-43 negative, neuronal cytoplasmic and intranuclear inclusions in the cerebellum and hippocampus define the pathology of C9orf72-linked FTLD and MND/ALS. Acta Neuropathol. 122, 691–702. doi: 10.1007/s00401-011-0911-2
- Atkin, J. D., Farg, M. A., Soo, K. Y., Walker, A. K., Halloran, M., Turner, B. J., et al. (2014). Mutant SOD1 inhibits ER-Golgi transport in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J. Neurochem. 129, 190–204. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12493
- Basto, R., Lau, J., Vinogradova, T., Gardiol, A., Woods, C. G., Khodjakov, A., et al. (2006). Flies without centrioles. *Cell* 125, 1375–1386. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.025
- Beck, J., Poulter, M., Hensman, D., Rohrer, J. D., Mahoney, C. J., Adamson, G., et al. (2013). Large C9orf72 hexanucleotide repeat expansions are seen in multiple neurodegenerative syndromes and are more frequent than expected in the UK population. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 92, 345–353. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.01.011
- Beck, R., Rawet, M., Wieland, F. T., and Cassel, D. (2009). The COPI system: molecular mechanisms and function. *FEBS Lett.* 583, 2701–2709. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.07.032
- Bellouze, S., Schäfer, M. K., Buttigieg, D., Baillat, G., Rabouille, C., and Haase, G. (2014). Golgi fragmentation in pmn mice is due to a defective ARF1/TBCE cross-talk that coordinates COPI vesicle formation and tubulin polymerization. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 5961–5975. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu320
- Bi, J., Tsai, N. P., Lu, H. Y., Loh, H. H., and Wei, L. N. (2007). Copb1-facilitated axonal transport and translation of kappa opioid-receptor mRNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 13810–13815. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0703805104
- Bonifacino, J. S. (2014). Adaptor proteins involved in polarized sorting. J. Cell Biol. 204, 7–17. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201310021
- Bonifacino, J. S., and Glick, B. S. (2004). The mechanisms of vesicle budding and fusion. *Cell* 116, 153–166. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)01079-1
- Burman, J. L., Bourbonniere, L., Philie, J., Stroh, T., Dejgaard, S. Y., Presley, J. F., et al. (2008). Scyl1, mutated in a recessive form of spinocerebellar neurodegeneration, regulates COPI-mediated retrograde traffic. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 22774–22786. doi:10.1074/jbc.M801869200
- Burman, J. L., Hamlin, J. N., and McPherson, P. S. (2010). Scyl1 regulates Golgi morphology. *PLoS ONE* 5:e9537. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009537
- Chabin-Brion, K., Marceiller, J., Perez, F., Settegrana, C., Drechou, A., Durand, G., et al. (2001). The Golgi complex is a microtubule-organizing organelle. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 12, 2047–2060. doi: 10.1091/mbc.12.7.2047
- Cheng, J. P., Betin, V. M., Weir, H., Shelmani, G. M., Moss, D. K., and Lane, J. D. (2010). Caspase cleavage of the Golgi stacking factor GRASP65 is required for Fas/CD95-mediated apoptosis. *Cell Death Dis.* 1, e82. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2010.59
- Chiu, R., Novikov, L., Mukherjee, S., and Shields, D. (2002). A caspase cleavage fragment of p115 induces fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus and apoptosis. *J. Cell Biol.* 159, 637–648. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200208013
- Cleary, J. D., and Ranum, L. P. (2013). Repeat-associated non-ATG (RAN) translation in neurological disease. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, R45–R51. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt371
- Cole, N. B., Sciaky, N., Marotta, A., Song, J., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (1996). Golgi dispersal during microtubule disruption: regeneration of Golgi stacks at peripheral endoplasmic reticulum exit sites. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 7, 631–650.
- Custer, S. K., Todd, A. G., Singh, N. N., and Androphy, E. J. (2013). Dilysine motifs in exon 2b of SMN protein mediate binding to the COPI vesicle protein alpha-COP and neurite outgrowth in a cell culture model of spinal muscular atrophy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 4043–4052. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ ddt254
- De Vos, K. J., Morotz, G. M., Stoica, R., Tudor, E. L., Lau, K. F., Ackerley, S., et al. (2012). VAPB interacts with the mitochondrial protein PTPIP51 to regulate calcium homeostasis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 1299–1311. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr559
- DeJesus-Hernandez, M., Mackenzie, I. R., Boeve, B. F., Boxer, A. L., Baker, M., Rutherford, N. J., et al. (2011). Expanded GGGGCC hexanucleotide repeat in noncoding region of C9ORF72 causes chromosome 9p-linked FTD and ALS. *Neuron* 72, 245–256. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.011

- Dewey, C. M., Cenik, B., Sephton, C. F., Johnson, B. A., Herz, J., and Yu, G. (2012). TDP-43 aggregation in neurodegeneration: are stress granules the key? *Brain Res.* 1462, 16–25. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.02.032
- Diao, A., Rahman, D., Pappin, D. J., Lucocq, J., and Lowe, M. (2003). The coiledcoil membrane protein golgin-84 is a novel rab effector required for Golgi ribbon formation. J. Cell Biol. 160, 201–212. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200207045
- Dols-Icardo, O., García-Redondo, A., Rojas-García, R., Sánchez-Valle, R., Noguera, A., Gómez-Tortosa, E., et al. (2014). Characterization of the repeat expansion size in C9orf72 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 749–754. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt460
- Efimov, A., Kharitonov, A., Efimova, N., Loncarek, J., Miller, P. M., Andreyeva, N., et al. (2007). Asymmetric CLASP-dependent nucleation of noncentrosomal microtubules at the trans-Golgi network. *Dev. Cell* 12, 917–930. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.04.002
- Egawa, N., Kitaoka, S., Tsukita, K., Naitoh, M., Takahashi, K., Yamamoto, T., et al. (2012). Drug screening for ALS using patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Sci. Trans. Med. 4, 145ra104. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3004052
- Ellinger, A., and Pavelka, M. (1984). Colchicine-induced tubular, vesicular and cisternal organelle aggregates in absorptive cells of the small intestine of the rat. Morphology, I., and phosphatase cytochemistry. *Bio. Cell* 52, 43–52.
- Emde, A., Eitan, C., Liou, L. L., Libby, R. T., Rivkin, N., Magen, I., et al. (2015). Dysregulated miRNA biogenesis downstream of cellular stress and ALScausing mutations: a new mechanism for ALS. *Embo J.* 34, 2633–2651. doi: 10.15252/embj.201490493
- Farg, M. A., Sundaramoorthy, V., Sultana, J. M., Yang, S., Atkinson, R. A., Levina, V., et al. (2014). C9ORF72, implicated in amytrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia, regulates endosomal trafficking. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 3579–3595. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu068
- Fasana, E., Fossati, M., Ruggiano, A., Brambillasca, S., Hoogenraad, C. C., Navone, F., et al. (2010). A VAPB mutant linked to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis generates a novel form of organized smooth endoplasmic reticulum. *FASEB J.* 24, 1419–1430. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-147850
- Ferraiuolo, L., Heath, P. R., Holden, H., Kasher, P., Kirby, J., and Shaw, P. J. (2007). Microarray analysis of the cellular pathways involved in the adaptation to and progression of motor neuron injury in the SOD1 G93A mouse model of familial ALS. J. Neurosci. 27, 9201–9219. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1470-07.2007
- Ferrucci, M., Fulceri, F., Toti, L., Soldani, P., Siciliano, G., Paparelli, A., et al. (2011). Protein clearing pathways in ALS. Arch. Ital. Biol. 149, 121–149. doi: 10.4449/aib.v149i1.1258
- Fischer, L. R., Culver, D. G., Tennant, P., Davis, A. A., Wang, M., Castellano-Sanchez, A., et al. (2004). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis is a distal axonopathy: evidence in mice and man. *Exp. Neurol.* 185, 232–240. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2003.10.004
- Freibaum, B. D., Lu, Y., Lopez-Gonzalez, R., Kim, N. C., Almeida, S., Lee, K. H., et al. (2015). GGGGCC repeat expansion in C9orf72 compromises nucleocytoplasmic transport. *Nature* 525, 129–133. doi:10.1038/nature14974
- Fujita, Y., Mizuno, Y., Takatama, M., and Okamoto, K. (2008). Anterior horn cells with abnormal TDP-43 immunoreactivities show fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus in ALS. J. Neurol. Sci. 269, 30–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2007.12.016
- Fujita, Y., Okamoto, K., Sakurai, A., Amari, M., Nakazato, Y., and Gonatas, N. K. (1999). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of Betz cells in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 163, 81–85. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(00)00265-3
- Fujita, Y., Okamoto, K., Sakurai, A., Gonatas, N. K., and Hirano, A. (2000). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of the anterior horn cells in patients with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with SOD1 mutations and posterior column involvement. J. Neurol. Sci. 174, 137–140. doi: 10.1007/s004010100461
- Fujita, Y., Okamoto, K., Sakurai, A., Kusaka, H., Aizawa, H., Mihara, B., et al. (2002). The Golgi apparatus is fragmented in spinal cord motor neurons of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with basophilic inclusions. *Acta Neuropathol*. 103, 243–247. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1789.2010.01123.x
- Fujita, Y., Watabe, K., Ikeda, K., Mizuno, Y., and Okamoto, K. (2011). Morphological changes of Golgi apparatus in adult rats after facial nerve injuries. *Neuropathology* 31, 42–47. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1789.2010.01123.x
- Funke, A. D., Esser, M., Kruttgen, A., Weis, J., Mitne-Neto, M., Lazar, M., et al. (2010). The p.P56S mutation in the VAPB gene is not due to a single founder: the first European case. *Clin. Genet.* 77, 302–303. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0004.2009.01319.x

- Galluzzi, L., Bravo-San Pedro, J. M., and Kroemer, G. (2014). Organelle-specific initiation of cell death. Nat. Cell Biol. 16, 728–736. doi: 10.1038/ncb3005
- Gavet, O., Ozon, S., Manceau, V., Lawler, S., Curmi, P., and Sobel, A. (1998). The stathmin phosphoprotein family: intracellular localization and effects on the microtubule network. J. Cell Sci. 111, 3333–3346.
- Genevini, P., Papiani, G., Ruggiano, A., Cantoni, L., Navone, F., and Borgese, N. (2014). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-linked mutant VAPB inclusions do not interfere with protein degradation pathways or intracellular transport in a cultured cell model. *PLoS ONE* 9:e113416. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113416
- Gillingham, A. K., Sinka, R., Torres, I. L., Lilley, K. S., and Munro, S. (2014). Toward a comprehensive map of the effectors of rab GTPases. *Dev. Cell* 31, 358–373. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2014.10.007
- Glick, B. S., and Nakano, A. (2009). Membrane traffic within the Golgi apparatus. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 25, 113–132. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.24.110707.175421
- Gómez-Tortosa, E., Gallego, J., Guerrero-López, R., Marcos, A., Gil-Neciga, E., Sainz, M. J., et al. (2013). C9ORF72 hexanucleotide expansions of 20-22 repeats are associated with frontotemporal deterioration. *Neurology* 80, 366–370. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31827f08ea
- Gonatas, N. K., Gonatas, J. O., and Stieber, A. (1998). The involvement of the Golgi apparatus in the pathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Alzheimer's disease, and ricin intoxication. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 109, 591–600.
- Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., Mourelatos, Z., Chen, Y., Gonatas, J. O., Appel, S. H., et al. (1992). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 140, 731–737.
- Guo, Y., Punj, V., Sengupta, D., and Linstedt, A. D. (2008). Coat-tether interaction in Golgi organization. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 2830–2843. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-12-1236
- Haeusler, A. R., Donnelly, C. J., Periz, G., Simko, E. A., Shaw, P. G., Kim, M. S., et al. (2014). C9orf72 nucleotide repeat structures initiate molecular cascades of disease. *Nature* 507, 195–200. doi: 10.1038/nature13124
- Hafezparast, M., Klocke, R., Ruhrberg, C., Marquardt, A., Ahmad-Annuar, A., Bowen, S., et al. (2003). Mutations in dynein link motor neuron degeneration to defects in retrograde transport. *Science* 300, 808–812. doi: 10.1126/science.1083129
- Hicks, S. W., and Machamer, C. E. (2005). Golgi structure in stress sensing and apoptosis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1744, 406–414. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2005.03.002
- Horstmann, H., Ng, C. P., Tang, B. L., and Hong, W. (2002). Ultrastructural characterization of endoplasmic reticulum–Golgi transport containers (EGTC). *J. Cell Sci.* 115, 4263–4273. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00115
- Horton, A. C., Rácz, B., Monson, E. E., Lin, A. L., Weinberg, R. J., and Ehlers, M. D. (2005). Polarized secretory trafficking directs cargo for asymmetric dendrite growth and morphogenesis. *Neuron* 48, 757–771. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.11.005
- Huttlin, E. L., Ting, L., Bruckner, R. J., Gebreab, F., Gygi, M. P., Szpyt, J., et al. (2015). The bioplex network: a systematic exploration of the human interactome. *Cell* 162, 425–440. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.06.043
- Inoue, H., Tsukita, K., Iwasato, T., Suzuki, Y., Tomioka, M., Tateno, M., et al. (2003). The crucial role of caspase-9 in the disease progression of a transgenic ALS mouse model. *EMBO J.* 22, 6665–6674. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg634
- Ismail, S. A., Chen, Y. X., Miertzschke, M., Vetter, I. R., Koerner, C., and Wittinghofer, A. (2012). Structural basis for Arl3-specific release of myristoylated ciliary cargo from UNC119. *EMBO J.* 31, 4085–4094. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.257
- Jaarsma, D., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2015). Cytoplasmic dynein and its regulatory proteins in nervous system disorders. *Front Neurosci.* 9:397. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00397
- Jareb, M., and Banker, G. (1997). Inhibition of axonal growth by brefeldin A in hippocampal neurons in culture. J. Neurosci. 17, 8955–8963.
- Jarvela, T., and Linstedt, A. D. (2012). Irradiation-induced protein inactivation reveals Golgi enzyme cycling to cell periphery. J. Cell Sci. 125, 973–980. doi: 10.1242/jcs.094441
- Jarvela, T., and Linstedt, A. D. (2014). Isoform-specific tethering links the Golgi ribbon to maintain compartmentalization. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 25, 133–144. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E13-07-0395
- Jin, S., Pan, L., Liu, Z., Wang, Q., Xu, Z., and Zhang, Y. Q. (2009). Drosophila Tubulin-specific chaperone E functions at neuromuscular synapses and is

required for microtubule network formation. *Development* 136, 1571–1581. doi: 10.1242/dev.029983

- Jovicic, A., and Gitler, A. D. (2014). TDP-43 in ALS: stay on target...almost there. *Neuron* 81, 463–465. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.01.034
- Jovicic, A., Mertens, J., Boeynaems, S., Bogaert, E., Chai, N., Yamada, S. B., et al. (2015). Modifiers of C9orf72 dipeptide repeat toxicity connect nucleocytoplasmic transport defects to FTD/ALS. *Nat. Neurosci.* 18, 1226–1229. doi: 10.1038/nn.4085
- Kabashi, E., El Oussini, H., Bercier, V., Gros-Louis, F., Valdmanis, P. N., McDearmid, J., et al. (2013). Investigating the contribution of VAPB/ALS8 loss of function in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 2350–2360. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt080
- Kapitein, L. C., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2015). Building the Neuronal Microtubule Cytoskeleton. *Neuron* 87, 492–506. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.05.046
- Kennel, P. F., Fonteneau, P., Martin, E., Schmidt, J. M., Azzouz, M., Borg, J., et al. (1996). Electromyographical and motor performance studies in the pmn mouse model of neurodegenerative disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 3, 137–147.
- Képès, F., Rambourg, A., and Satiat-Jeunemaître, B. (2005). Morphodynamics of the secretory pathway. Int. Rev. Cytol. 242, 55–120. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7696(04)42002-6
- Kikuchi, H., Almer, G., Yamashita, S., Guégan, C., Nagai, M., Xu, Z., et al. (2006). Spinal cord endoplasmic reticulum stress associated with a microsomal accumulation of mutant superoxide dismutase-1 in an ALS model. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 6025–6030. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0509227103
- Kodani, A., and Sütterlin, C. (2008). The Golgi protein GM130 regulates centrosome morphology and function. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 745–753. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-08-0847
- Koppers, M., Blokhuis, A. M., Westeneng, H. J., Terpstra, M. L., Zundel, C. A., Vieira de Sa R., et al. (2015). C9orf72 ablation in mice does not cause motor neuron degeneration or motor deficits. *Ann. Neurol.* 78, 426–438. doi: 10.1002/ana.24453
- Koreishi, M., Gniadek, T. J., Yu, S., Masuda, J., Honjo, Y., and Satoh, A. (2013). The golgin tether giantin regulates the secretory pathway by controlling stack organization within Golgi apparatus. *PLoS ONE* 8:e59821. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059821
- Kuijpers, M., van Dis, V., Haasdijk, E. D., Harterink, M., Vocking, K., Post, J. A., W., et al. (2013a). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)-associated VAPB-P56S inclusions represent an ER quality control compartment. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 1:24. doi: 10.1186/2051-5960-1-24
- Kuijpers, M., Yu, K. L., Teuling, E., Akhmanova, A., Jaarsma, D., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2013b). The ALS8 protein VAPB interacts with the ER-Golgi recycling protein YIF1A and regulates membrane delivery into dendrites. *EMBO J.* 32, 2056–2072. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.131
- Lagier-Tourenne, C., Polymenidou, M., Hutt, K. R., Vu, A. Q., Baughn, M., Huelga, S. C., et al. (2012). Divergent roles of ALS-linked proteins FUS/TLS and TDP-43 intersect in processing long pre-mRNAs. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 1488–1497. doi: 10.1038/nn.3230
- Lane, J. D., Lucocq, J., Pryde, J., Barr, F. A., Woodman, P. G., Allan, V. J., et al. (2002). Caspase-mediated cleavage of the stacking protein GRASP65 is required for Golgi fragmentation during apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. 156, 495–509. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200110007
- Larroquette, F., Seto, L., Gaub, P. L., Kamal, B., Wallis, D., Larivière, R., et al. (2015). Vapb/Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis 8 knock-in mice display slowly progressive motor behavior defects accompanying ER stress and autophagic response. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 24, 6515–6529. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv360
- Lee, E. B., Lee, V. M., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (2012). Gains or losses: molecular mechanisms of TDP43-mediated neurodegeneration. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 13, 38–50. doi: 10.1038/nrn3121
- Lee, J. Y., Kawaguchi, Y., Li, M., Kapur, M., Choi, S. J., Kim, H. J., et al. (2015). Uncoupling of Protein Aggregation and Neurodegeneration in a Mouse Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Model. *Neurodegener. Dis.* doi: 10.1159/000437208. [Epub ahead of print].
- Lefebvre, S., Bürglen, L., Reboullet, S., Clermont, O., Burlet, P., Viollet, L., et al. (1995). Identification and characterization of a spinal muscular atrophydetermining gene. *Cell* 80, 155–165.
- Lev, S., Ben Halevy, D., Peretti, D., and Dahan, N. (2008). The VAP protein family: from cellular functions to motor neuron disease. *Trends Cell Biol.* 18, 282–290. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2008.03.006

- Levine, T., and Loewen, C. (2006). Inter-organelle membrane contact sites: through a glass, darkly. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 18, 371–378. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2006.06.011
- Levine, T. P., Daniels, R. D., Gatta, A. T., Wong, L. H., and Hayes, M. J. (2013). The product of C9orf72, a gene strongly implicated in neurodegeneration, is structurally related to DENN Rab-GEFs. *Bioinformatics* 29, 499–503. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts725
- Li, M., Ona, V. O., Guégan, C., Chen, M., Jackson-Lewis, V., Andrews, L. J., et al. (2000). Functional role of caspase-1 and caspase-3 in an ALS transgenic mouse model. *Science* 288, 335–339. doi: 10.1126/science.288.5464.335
- Li, Y. R., King, O. D., Shorter, J., and Gitler, A. D. (2013). Stress granules as crucibles of ALS pathogenesis. J. Cell Biol. 201, 361–372. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201302044
- Liu, S., and Storrie, B. (2012). Are Rab proteins the link between Golgi organization and membrane trafficking? *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 69, 4093–4106. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1021-6
- Lourenco, G. F., Janitz, M., Huang, Y., and Halliday, G. M. (2015). Long noncoding RNAs in TDP-43 and FUS/TLS-related frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD). *Neurobiol. Dis.* 82, 445–454. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.07.011
- Ludolph, A. C., and Brettschneider, J. (2015). TDP-43 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis - is it a prion disease? *Eur. J. Neurol.* 22, 753–761. doi: 10.1111/ene.12706
- Maas, C., Torres, V. I., Altrock, W. D., Leal-Ortiz, S., Wagh, D., Terry-Lorenzo, R. T., et al. (2012). Formation of Golgi-derived active zone precursor vesicles. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 11095–11108. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0195-12.2012
- Machamer, C. E. (2015). The Golgi complex in stress and death. Front Neurosci. 9:421. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00421
- Majcher, V., Goode, A., James, V., and Layfield, R. (2015). Autophagy receptor defects and ALS-FTLD. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 66, 43–52. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2015.01.002
- Malsam, J., and Söllner, T. H. (2011). Organization of SNAREs within the Golgi stack. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 3:a005249. doi : 10.1101/cshperspect.a005249
- Marques, V. D., Barreira, A. A., Davis, M. B., Abou-Sleiman, P. M., Silva, W. A. Jr., Zago, M. A., et al. (2006). Expanding the phenotypes of the Pro56Ser VAPB mutation: proximal SMA with dysautonomia. *Muscle Nerve* 34, 731–739. doi :10.1002/mus.20657
- Marsh, B. J., Mastronarde, D. N., Buttle, K. F., Howell, K. E., and McIntosh, J. R. (2001). Organellar relationships in the Golgi region of the pancreatic beta cell line, HIT-T15, visualized by high resolution electron tomography. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 2399–2406. doi: 10.1073/pnas.051631998
- Martin, N., Jaubert, J., Gounon, P., Salido, E., Haase, G., Szatanik, M., et al. (2002). A missense mutation in Tbce causes progressive motor neuronopathy in mice. *Nat. Genet.* 32, 443–447. doi: 10.1038/ng1016
- Maruyama, H., Morino, H., Ito, H., Izumi, Y., Kato, H., Watanabe, Y., et al. (2010). Mutations of optineurin in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature* 465, 223–226. doi: 10.1038/nature08971
- Matus, S., Valenzuela, V., Medinas, D. B., and Hetz, C. (2013). ER Dysfunction and Protein Folding Stress in ALS. *Int. J. Cell Biol.* 2013:674751. doi: 10.1155/2013/674751
- May, S., Hornburg, D., Schludi, M. H., Arzberger, T., Rentzsch, K., Schwenk, B. M., et al. (2014). C9orf72 FTLD/ALS-associated Gly-Ala dipeptide repeat proteins cause neuronal toxicity and Unc119 sequestration. *Acta Neuropathol.* 128, 485–503. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1329-4
- Mesmin, B., Bigay, J., Moser von Filseck, J., Lacas-Gervais, S., Drin, G., and Antonny, B. (2013). A four-step cycle driven by PI(4)P hydrolysis directs sterol/PI(4)P exchange by the ER-Golgi tether OSBP. *Cell* 155, 830–843. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.09.056
- Miller, E. A., and Schekman, R. (2013). COPII a flexible vesicle formation system. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 25, 420–427. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2013.04.005
- Miller, P. M., Folkmann, A. W., Maia, A. R., Efimova, N., Efimov, A., and Kaverina, I. (2009). Golgi-derived CLASP-dependent microtubules control Golgi organization and polarized trafficking in motile cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1069–1080. doi: 10.1038/ncb1920
- Mitne-Neto, M., Machado-Costa, M., Marchetto, M. C., Bengtson, M. H., Joazeiro, C. A., Tsuda, H., et al. (2011). Downregulation of VAPB expression in motor neurons derived from induced pluripotent stem cells of ALS8 patients. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, 3642–3652. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr284
- Mori, K., Weng, S. M., Arzberger, T., May, S., Rentzsch, K., Kremmer, E., et al. (2013). The C9orf72 GGGGCC repeat is translated into aggregating

- Mórotz, G. M., De Vos, K. J., Vagnoni, A., Ackerley, S., Shaw, C. E., and Miller, C. C. (2012). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-associated mutant VAPBP56S perturbs calcium homeostasis to disrupt axonal transport of mitochondria. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 1979–1988. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds011
- Mourelatos, Z., Adler, H., Hirano, A., Donnenfeld, H., Gonatas, J. O., and Gonatas, N. K. (1990). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis revealed by organelle-specific antibodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 4393–4395.
- Mourelatos, Z., Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., Gurney, M. E., and Dal Canto, M. C. (1996). The Golgi apparatus of spinal cord motor neurons in transgenic mice expressing mutant Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase becomes fragmented in early, preclinical stages of the disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 5472–5477.
- Mourelatos, Z., Hirano, A., Rosenquist, A. C., and Gonatas, N. K. (1994). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Clinical studies in ALS of Guam and experimental studies in deafferented neurons and in beta,beta'-iminodipropionitrile axonopathy. *Am. J. Pathol.* 144, 1288–1300.
- Munro, S. (2011). The golgin coiled-coil proteins of the Golgi apparatus. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 3:a005256. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005256
- Nakamura, N., Lowe, M., Levine, T. P., Rabouille, C., and Warren, G. (1997). The vesicle docking protein p115 binds GM130, a cis-Golgi matrix protein, in a mitotically regulated manner. *Cell* 89, 445–455.
- Nassif, M., Matus, S., Castillo, K., and Hetz, C. (2010). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis pathogenesis: a journey through the secretory pathway. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 13, 1955–1989. doi: 10.1089/ars.2009.2991
- Neumann, M., Sampathu, D. M., Kwong, L. K., Truax, A. C., Micsenyi, M. C., Chou, T. T., et al. (2006). Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 314, 130–133. doi: 10.1126/science.1134108
- Neveling, K., Martinez-Carrera, L. A., Hölker, I., Heister, A., Verrips, A., Hosseini-Barkooie, S. M., et al. (2013). Mutations in BICD2, which encodes a golgin and important motor adaptor, cause congenital autosomaldominant spinal muscular atrophy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 92, 946–954. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.04.011
- Nguyen, M. M., Stone, M. C., and Rolls, M. M. (2011). Microtubules are organized independently of the centrosome in Drosophila neurons. *Neural Dev.* 6:38. doi: 10.1186/1749-8104-6-38
- Nishimura, A. L., Al-Chalabi, A., and Zatz, M. (2005). A common founder for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 8 (ALS8) in the Brazilian population. *Hum. Genet.* 118, 499–500. doi: 10.1007/s00439-005-0031-y
- Nishimura, A. L., Mitne-Neto, M., Silva, H. C., Richieri-Costa, A., Middleton, S., Cascio, D., et al. (2004). A mutation in the vesicle-trafficking protein VAPB causes late-onset spinal muscular atrophy and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 75, 822–831. doi: 10.1086/425287
- O'Reilly, L. A., Ekert, P., Harvey, N., Marsden, V., Cullen, L., Vaux, D. L., et al. (2002). Caspase-2 is not required for thymocyte or neuronal apoptosis even though cleavage of caspase-2 is dependent on both Apaf-1 and caspase-9. *Cell Death Differ.* 9, 832–841. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4401033
- Ohnishi, T., Shirane, M., Hashimoto, Y., Saita, S., and Nakayama, K. I. (2014). Identification and characterization of a neuron-specific isoform of protrudin. *Genes Cells* 19, 97–111. doi: 10.1111/gtc.12109
- Papiani, G., Ruggiano, A., Fossati, M., Raimondi, A., Bertoni, G., Francolini, M., et al. (2012). Restructured endoplasmic reticulum generated by mutant amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-linked VAPB is cleared by the proteasome. *J. Cell Sci.* 125, 3601–3611. doi: 10.1242/jcs.102137
- Parvari, R., Hershkovitz, E., Grossman, N., Gorodischer, R., Loeys, B., Zecic, A., et al. (2002). Mutation of TBCE causes hypoparathyroidism-retardationdysmorphism and autosomal recessive Kenny-Caffey syndrome. *Nat. Genet.* 32, 448–452. doi: 10.1038/ng1012
- Pasinelli, P., Belford, M. E., Lennon, N., Bacskai, B. J., Hyman, B. T., Trotti, D., and Brown, R. H. Jr. (2004). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-associated SOD1 mutant proteins bind and aggregate with Bcl-2 in spinal cord mitochondria. *Neuron* 43, 19–30. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.06.021
- Peeters, K., Litvinenko, I., Asselbergh, B., Almeida-Souza, L., Chamova, T., Geuens, T., et al. (2013). Molecular defects in the motor adaptor BICD2 cause proximal spinal muscular atrophy with autosomal-dominant inheritance. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 92, 955–964. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.04.013

- Peretti, D., Dahan, N., Shimoni, E., Hirschberg, K., and Lev, S. (2008). Coordinated lipid transfer between the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi complex requires the VAP proteins and is essential for Golgi-mediated transport. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 3871–3884. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E08-05-0498
- Pérez-Victoria, F. J., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2009). Dual roles of the mammalian GARP complex in tethering and SNARE complex assembly at the trans-golgi network. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 29, 5251–5263. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00495-09
- Pérez-Victoria, F. J., Mardones, G. A., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2008). Requirement of the human GARP complex for mannose 6-phosphate-receptor-dependent sorting of cathepsin D to lysosomes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 2350–2362. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-11-1189
- Peter, C. J., Evans, M., Thayanithy, V., Taniguchi-Ishigaki, N., Bach, I., Kolpak, A., et al. (2011). The COPI vesicle complex binds and moves with survival motor neuron within axons. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, 1701–1711. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr046
- Pfeffer, S. R. (2013a). Hopping rim to rim through the Golgi. *Elife* 2:e00903. doi: 10.7554/eLife.00903
- Pfeffer, S. R. (2013b). Rab GTPase regulation of membrane identity. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 25, 414–419. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2013.04.002
- Polishchuk, R. S., and Mironov, A. A. (2004). Structural aspects of Golgi function. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 61, 146–158. doi: 10.1007/s00018-003-3353-8
- Polymenidou, M., Lagier-Tourenne, C., Hutt, K. R., Bennett, C. F., Cleveland, D. W., and Yeo, G. W. (2012). Misregulated RNA processing in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain Res.* 1462, 3–15. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.02.059
- Popoff, V., Adolf, F., Brügger, B., and Wieland, F. (2011). COPI budding within the Golgi stack. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 3:a005231. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005231
- Prescott, A.R., Farmaki, T., Thomson, C., James, J., Paccaud, J. P., Tang, B. L., et al. (2001). Evidence for prebudding arrest of ER export in animal cell mitosis and its role in generating Golgi partitioning intermediates. *Traffic* 2, 321–335. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0854.2001.002005321.x
- Puls, I., Jonnakuty, C., LaMonte, B. H., Holzbaur, E. L., Tokito, M., Mann, E., et al. (2003). Mutant dynactin in motor neuron disease. *Nat. Genet.* 33, 455–456. doi: 10.1038/ng1123
- Pun, S., Santos, A. F., Saxena, S., Xu, L., and Caroni, P. (2006). Selective vulnerability and pruning of phasic motoneuron axons in motoneuron disease alleviated by CNTF. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 408–419. doi: 10.1038/nn1653
- Rak, K., Frenz, S., Radeloff, A., Groh, J., Jablonka, S., Martini, R., et al. (2013). Mutation of the TBCE gene causes disturbance of microtubules in the auditory nerve and cochlear outer hair cell degeneration accompanied by progressive hearing loss in the pmn/pmn mouse. *Exp. Neurol.* 250, 333–340. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.10.007
- Ramírez, O. A., and Couve, A. (2011). The endoplasmic reticulum and protein trafficking in dendrites and axons. *Trends Cell Biol.* 21, 219–227. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2010.12.003
- Raoul, C., Buhler, E., Sadeghi, C., Jacquier, A., Aebischer, P., Pettmann, B., et al. (2006). Chronic activation in presymptomatic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) mice of a feedback loop involving Fas, Daxx, and FasL. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 6007–6012. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508774103
- Raoul, C., Estévez, A. G., Nishimune, H., Cleveland, D. W., de Lapeyrière, O., Henderson, C. E., et al. (2002). Motoneuron death triggered by a specific pathway downstream of Fas. Potentiation by ALS-linked SOD1 mutations. *Neuron* 35, 1067–1083. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00905-4
- Ratnaparkhi, A., Lawless, G. M., Schweizer, F. E., Golshani, P., and Jackson, G. R. (2008). A Drosophila model of ALS: human ALS-associated mutation in VAP33A suggests a dominant negative mechanism. *PLoS ONE* 3:e2334. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002334
- Razi, M., Chan, E. Y., and Tooze, S. A. (2009). Early endosomes and endosomal coatomer are required for autophagy. J. Cell Biol. 185, 305–321. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200810098
- Rendón, W. O., Martínez-Alonso, E., Tomás, M., Martínez-Martínez, N., and Martínez-Menárguez, J. A. (2013). Golgi fragmentation is Rab and SNARE dependent in cellular models of Parkinson's disease. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 139, 671–684. doi: 10.1007/s00418-012-1059-4
- Renton, A. E., Majounie, E., Waite, A., Simón-Sánchez, J., Rollinson, S., Gibbs, J. R., et al. (2011). A hexanucleotide repeat expansion in C9ORF72 is the cause of chromosome 9p21-linked ALS-FTD. *Neuron* 72, 257–268. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.010
- Rios, R. M. (2014). The centrosome-golgi apparatus nexus. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., B, Biol. Sci., 369:20130462.

- Rivero, S., Cardenas, J., Bornens, M., and Rios, R. M. (2009). Microtubule nucleation at the cis-side of the Golgi apparatus requires AKAP450 and GM130. *EMBO J.* 28, 1016–1028. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.47
- Robberecht, W., and Philips, T. (2013). The changing scene of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Nature reviews. *Neuroscience* 14:248–264. doi: 10.1038/nrn3430
- Rogalski, A. A., and Singer, S. J. (1984). Associations of elements of the Golgi apparatus with microtubules. J. Cell Biol. 99, 1092–1100. doi: 10.1083/jcb.99.3.1092
- Rusten, T. E., and Simonsen, A. (2008). ESCRT functions in autophagy and associated disease. Cell Cycle 7, 1166–1172. doi: 10.4161/cc.7.9.5784
- Saita, S., Shirane, M., Natume, T., Iemura, S., and Nakayama, K. I. (2009). Promotion of neurite extension by protrudin requires its interaction with vesicle-associated membrane protein-associated protein. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 13766–13777. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M807938200
- Sanders, A. A., and Kaverina, I. (2015). Nucleation and dynamics of Golgi-derived microtubules. *Front Neurosci.* 9:431. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00431
- Scales, S. J., Pepperkok, R., and Kreis, T. E. (1997). Visualization of ER-to-Golgi transport in living cells reveals a sequential mode of action for COPII and COPI. *Cell* 90, 1137–1148.
- Schaefer, A. M., Sanes, J. R., and Lichtman, J. W. (2005). A compensatory subpopulation of motor neurons in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J. Comp. Neurol. 490, 209–219. doi: 10.1002/cne.20620
- Schaefer, M. K., Schmalbruch, H., Buhler, E., Lopez, C., Martin, N., Guénet, J. L., et al. (2007). Progressive motor neuronopathy: a critical role of the tubulin chaperone TBCE in axonal tubulin routing from the Golgi apparatus. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 8779–8789. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1599-07.2007
- Schmalbruch, H., Jensen, H. S., Bjaerg, M., Kamieniecka, Z., and Kurland, L. (1991). A new mouse mutant with progressive motor neuronopathy. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 50, 192–204.
- Schmitt-John, T., Drepper, C., Mussmann, A., Hahn, P., Kuhlmann, M., Thiel, C., et al. (2005). Mutation of Vps54 causes motor neuron disease and defective spermiogenesis in the wobbler mouse. *Nat. Genet.* 37, 1213–1215. doi: 10.1038/ng1661
- Scotter, E. L., Chen, H. J., and Shaw, C. E. (2015). TDP-43 proteinopathy and als: insights into disease mechanisms and therapeutic targets. *Neurotherapeutics* 12, 352–363. doi: 10.1007/s13311-015-0338-x
- Skehel, P. A., Fabian-Fine, R., and Kandel, E. R. (2000). Mouse VAP33 is associated with the endoplasmic reticulum and microtubules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97:1101–1106. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.3.1101
- Smethurst, P., Sidle, K. C., and Hardy, J. (2015). Review: Prion-like mechanisms of transactive response DNA binding protein of 43 kDa (TDP-43) in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 41, 578–597. doi: 10.1111/nan.12206
- Smith, B. N., Ticozzi, N., Fallini, C., Gkazi, A. S., Topp, S., Kenna, K. P., et al. (2014). Exome-wide rare variant analysis identifies TUBA4A mutations associated with familial ALS. *Neuron* 84, 324–331. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.09.027
- Song, C. Y., Guo, J. F., Liu, Y., and Tang, B. S. (2012). Autophagy and Its Comprehensive Impact on ALS. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 122, 695–703. doi: 10.3109/00207454.2012.714430
- Soo, K. Y., Halloran, M., Sundaramoorthy, V., Parakh, S., Toth, R. P., Southam, K. A., et al. (2015). Rab1-dependent ER-Golgi transport dysfunction is a common pathogenic mechanism in SOD1, TDP-43 and FUSassociated ALS. Acta Neuropathol. 130, 679–697. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1468-2
- Sprangers, J., and Rabouille, C. (2015). SEC16 in COPII coat dynamics at ER exit sites. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 43, 97–103. doi: 10.1042/BST20140283
- Sreedharan, J., Blair, I. P., Tripathi, V. B., Hu, X., Vance, C., Rogelj, B., et al. (2008). TDP-43 mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 319, 1668–1672. doi: 10.1126/science.1154584
- Stieber, A., Chen, Y., Wei, S., Mourelatos, Z., Gonatas, J., Okamoto, K., et al. (1998). The fragmented neuronal Golgi apparatus in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis includes the trans-Golgi-network: functional implications. *Acta Neuropathol.* 95, 245–253.
- Stieber, A., Gonatas, J. O., Moore, J. S., Bantly, A., Yim, H. S., Yim, M. B., et al. (2004). Disruption of the structure of the Golgi apparatus and the function of the secretory pathway by mutants G93A and G85R of Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase (SOD1) of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J. Neurol. Sci. 219, 45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2003.12.004
- Stiess, M., Maghelli, N., Kapitein, L. C., Gomis-Rüth, S., Wilsch-Bräuninger, M., Hoogenraad, C. C., et al. (2010). Axon extension occurs independently

of centrosomal microtubule nucleation. *Science* 327, 704–707. doi: 10.1126/science.1182179

- Stoica, R., De Vos, K. J., Paillusson, S., Mueller, S., Sancho, R. M., Lau, K. F., et al. (2014). ER-mitochondria associations are regulated by the VAPB-PTPIP51 interaction and are disrupted by ALS/FTD-associated TDP-43. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 3996. doi:10.1038/ncomms4996
- Strey, C. W., Spellman, D., Stieber, A., Gonatas, J. O., Wang, X., Lambris, J. D., et al. (2004). Dysregulation of stathmin, a microtubule-destabilizing protein, and upregulation of Hsp25, Hsp27, and the antioxidant peroxiredoxin 6 in a mouse model of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 165, 1701–1718. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63426-8
- Suga, K., Hattori, H., Saito, A., and Akagawa, K. (2005). RNA interferencemediated silencing of the syntaxin 5 gene induces Golgi fragmentation but capable of transporting vesicles. *FEBS Lett.* 579, 4226–4234. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.06.053
- Suzuki, H., Kanekura, K., Levine, T. P., Kohno, K., Olkkonen, V. M., Aiso, S., et al. (2009). ALS-linked P56S-VAPB, an aggregated loss-of-function mutant of VAPB, predisposes motor neurons to ER stress-related death by inducing aggregation of co-expressed wild-type VAPB. J. Neurochem. 108, 973–985. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05857.x
- Tang, B. L. (2001). Protein trafficking mechanisms associated with neurite outgrowth and polarized sorting in neurons. J. Neurochem. 79, 923–930.
- Teuling, E., Ahmed, S., Haasdijk, E., Demmers, J., Steinmetz, M. O., Akhmanova, A., et al. (2007). Motor neuron disease-associated mutant vesicle-associated membrane protein-associated protein (VAP) B recruits wild-type VAPs into endoplasmic reticulum-derived tubular aggregates. J. Neurosci. 27, 9801–9815. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2661-07.2007
- Tian, G., Huang, Y., Rommelaere, H., Vandekerckhove, J., Ampe, C., and Cowan, N. J. (1996). Pathway leading to correctly folded beta-tubulin. *Cell* 86, 287–296.
- Tian, G., Lewis, S. A., Feierbach, B., Stearns, T., Rommelaere, H., Ampe, C., et al. (1997). Tubulin subunits exist in an activated conformational state generated and maintained by protein cofactors. J. Cell Biol. 138, 821–832.
- Ting, C. H., Wen, H. L., Liu, H. C., Hsieh-Li, H. M., Li, H., and Lin-Chao, S. (2012). The spinal muscular atrophy disease protein SMN is linked to the Golgi network. *PLoS ONE* 7:e51826. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051826
- Todd, A. G., Lin, H., Ebert, A. D., Liu, Y., and Androphy, E. J. (2013). COPI transport complexes bind to specific RNAs in neuronal cells. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 729–736. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds480
- Tong, J., Huang, C., Bi, F., Wu, Q., Huang, B., and Zhou, H. (2012). XBP1 depletion precedes ubiquitin aggregation and Golgi fragmentation in TDP-43 transgenic rats. J. Neurochem. 123, 406–416. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12014
- Toyoshima, Y., and Takahashi, H. (2014). TDP-43 pathology in polyglutamine diseases: with reference to amyotrphic lateral sclerosis. *Neuropathology* 34, 77–82. doi: 10.1111/neup.12053
- Tsao, W., Jeong, Y. H., Lin, S., Ling, J., Price, D. L., Chiang, P. M., et al. (2012). Rodent models of TDP-43: recent advances. *Brain Res.* 1462, 26–39. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.04.031
- Tudor, E. L., Galtrey, C. M., Perkinton, M. S., Lau, K. F., De Vos, K. J., Mitchell, J. C., et al. (2010). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis mutant vesicleassociated membrane protein-associated protein-B transgenic mice develop TAR-DNA-binding protein-43 pathology. *Neuroscience* 167, 774–785. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.02.035
- Turner, B. J., and Atkin, J. D. (2006). ER stress and UPR in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Curr. Mol. Med. 6, 79–86. doi: 10.2174/156652406775574550
- Turner, J. R., and Tartakoff, A. M. (1989). The response of the Golgi complex to microtubule alterations: the roles of metabolic energy and membrane traffic in Golgi complex organization. J. Cell Biol. 109, 2081–2088.
- Urushitani, M., Ezzi, S. A., Matsuo, A., Tooyama, I., and Julien, J. P. (2008). The endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi pathway is a target for translocation and aggregation of mutant superoxide dismutase linked to ALS. *FASEB J.* 2, 1–12.
- Urushitani, M., Sik, A., Sakurai, T., Nukina, N., Takahashi, R., and Julien, J. P. (2006). Chromogranin-mediated secretion of mutant superoxide dismutase proteins linked to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 108–118. doi: 10.1038/nn1603
- Valenzuela, J. I., and Perez, F. (2015). Diversifying the secretory routes in neurons. *Front. Neurosci.* 9:358. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00358
- Van Deerlin, V. M., Leverenz, J. B., Bekris, L. M., Bird, T. D., Yuan, W., Elman, L. B., et al. (2008). TARDBP mutations in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with TDP-43 neuropathology: a genetic and histopathological analysis. *Lancet Neurol.* 7, 409–416. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70071-1

- van Dis, V., Kuijpers, M., Haasdijk, E. D., Teuling, E., Oakes, S. A., Hoogenraad, C. C., et al. (2014). Golgi fragmentation precedes neuromuscular denervation and is associated with endosome abnormalities in SOD1-ALS mouse motor neurons. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 2:38. doi: 10.1186/2051-5960-2-38
- Veenendaal, T., Jarvela, T., Grieve, A. G., van Es, J. H., Linstedt, A. D., and Rabouille, C. (2014). GRASP65 controls the cis Golgi integrity *in vivo. Biol. Open.* 3, 431–443. doi: 10.1242/bio.20147757
- Veltel, S., Kravchenko, A., Ismail, S., and Wittinghofer, A. (2008). Specificity of Arl2/Arl3 signaling is mediated by a ternary Arl3-effector-GAP complex. FEBS Lett. 582, 2501–2507. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.05.053
- Vinke, F. P., Grieve, A. G., and Rabouille, C. (2011). The multiple facets of the Golgi reassembly stacking proteins. *Biochem. J.* 433, 423–433. doi: 10.1042/BJ20101540
- Vlug, A. S., Teuling, E., Haasdijk, E. D., French, P., Hoogenraad, C. C., and Jaarsma, D. (2005). ATF3 expression precedes death of spinal motoneurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-SOD1 transgenic mice and correlates with c-Jun phosphorylation, CHOP expression, somato-dendritic ubiquitination and Golgi fragmentation. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 22, 1881–1894. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04389.x
- Walker, A., Ward, C., Sheldrake, T. A., Dransfield, I., Rossi, A. G., Pryde, J. G., et al. (2004). Golgi fragmentation during Fas-mediated apoptosis is associated with the rapid loss of GM130. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 316, 6–11. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.02.015
- Wen, H. L., Lin, Y. T., Ting, C. H., Lin-Chao, S., Li, H., and Hsieh-Li, H. M. (2010). Stathmin, a microtubule-destabilizing protein, is dysregulated in spinal muscular atrophy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 19, 1766–1778. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ ddq058
- Wen, H. L., Ting, C. H., Liu, H. C., Li, H., and Lin-Chao, S. (2013). Decreased stathmin expression ameliorates neuromuscular defects but fails to prolong survival in a mouse model of spinal muscular atrophy. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 52, 94–103. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2012.11.015
- Wirth, B., and Martinez-Carrera, A. L. (2015). Dominant spinal mucular atrophy is caused by mutations in BICD2, an important golgin protein. *Front Neurosci.* 9:401. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00401
- Xiang, Y., and Wang, Y. (2010). GRASP55 and GRASP65 play complementary and essential roles in Golgi cisternal stacking. J. Cell Biol. 188, 237–251. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200907132
- Xu, D., and Hay, J. C. (2004). Reconstitution of COPII vesicle fusion to generate a pre-Golgi intermediate compartment. J. Cell Biol. 167, 997–1003. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200408135
- Yau, K. W., van Beuningen, S. F., Cunha-Ferreira, I., Cloin, B. M., van Battum, E. Y., Will, L., et al. (2014). Microtubule minus-end binding protein CAMSAP2 controls axon specification and dendrite development. *Neuron* 82, 1058–1073. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.04.019
- Zhang, D., Iyer, L. M., He, F., and Aravind, L. (2012). Discovery of Novel DENN Proteins: Implications for the Evolution of Eukaryotic Intracellular Membrane Structures and Human Disease. *Front. Genet.* 3:283. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00283
- Zhang, K., Donnelly, C. J., Haeusler, A. R., Grima, J. C., Machamer, J. B., Steinwald, P., et al. (2015). The C9orf72 repeat expansion disrupts nucleocytoplasmic transport. *Nature* 525, 56–61. doi: 10.1038/nature 14973
- Zhu, X., and Kaverina, I. (2013). Golgi as an MTOC: making microtubules for its own good. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 140, 361–367. doi: 10.1007/s00418-013-1119-4
- Zu, T., Liu, Y., Bañez-Coronel, M., Reid, T., Pletnikova, O., Lewis, J., et al. (2013). RAN proteins and RNA foci from antisense transcripts in C9ORF72 ALS and frontotemporal dementia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, E4968–E4977. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1315438110

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Haase and Rabouille. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cytoplasmic dynein and its regulatory proteins in Golgi pathology in nervous system disorders

Dick Jaarsma^{1*} and Casper C. Hoogenraad^{2*}

¹ Department of Neuroscience, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ² Cell Biology, Faculty of Science, Utrecht University, Utrecht, Netherlands

The Golgi apparatus is a dynamic organelle involved in processing and sorting of lipids and proteins. In neurons, the Golgi apparatus is important for the development of axons and dendrites and maintenance of their highly complex polarized morphology. The motor protein complex cytoplasmic dynein has an important role in Golgi apparatus positioning and function. Together, with dynactin and other regulatory factors it drives microtubule minus-end directed motility of Golgi membranes. Inhibition of dynein results in fragmentation and dispersion of the Golgi ribbon in the neuronal cell body, resembling the Golgi abnormalities observed in some neurodegenerative disorders, in particular motor neuron diseases. Mutations in dynein and its regulatory factors, including the dynactin subunit p150Glued, BICD2 and Lis-1, are associated with several human nervous system disorders, including cortical malformation and motor neuropathy. Here we review the role of dynein and its regulatory factors in Golgi function and positioning, and the potential role of dynein malfunction in causing Golgi apparatus abnormalities in nervous system disorders.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Georg Haase, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Andres Couve, University of Chile, Chile Roland Brandt, University of Osnabrück, Germany Monica Mendes Sousa, University of Porto, Portugal

*Correspondence:

Dick Jaarsma d.jaarsma@erasmusmc.nl; Casper C. Hoogenraad c.hoogenraad@uu.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 25 August 2015 Accepted: 09 October 2015 Published: 26 October 2015

Citation:

Jaarsma D and Hoogenraad CC (2015) Cytoplasmic dynein and its regulatory proteins in Golgi pathology in nervous system disorders. Front. Neurosci. 9:397. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00397 Keywords: Golgi, dynein, dynactin, BICD2, Golgin 160, Lis1, transport, neurodegenerative disorders

INTRODUCTION

The Golgi apparatus consists of stacks of biochemically and functionally heterogeneous diskshaped cisternae. In vertebrate cells, the Golgi stacks are laterally connected to form a single continuous membrane system, termed the Golgi ribbon that usually localizes near the centrosome (Klumperman, 2011). Golgi ribbon size and morphology may vary between cell types according to specific requirements of the secretory pathway (Yadav and Linstedt, 2011; Nakamura et al., 2012; Watanabe et al., 2014). In neurons the Golgi ribbon forms an extensive perinuclear network that in multiple neuron types may extend into one or more dendrites (**Figure 1**) (Gardiol et al., 1999; Hanus and Schuman, 2013), and is complemented by Golgi fragments in distal dendrites, designated Golgi outposts (Horton et al., 2005; Ori-McKenney et al., 2012; Quassollo et al., 2015).

The biogenesis and maintenance of the Golgi ribbon structure and position strongly depends on the microtubule cytoskeleton and microtubule motors, in particular cytoplasmic dynein that drives microtubule minus-end transport. Microtubule depolymerization with nocodazole results in the fragmentation of the Golgi ribbon, and the rebuilding of secretion competent ministacks dispersed throughout the cell at endoplasmic reticulum (ER) exit sites. The ministacks are reminiscent of the



Golgi apparatus organization found in non-vertebrate organisms, including plants and Drosophila (Cole et al., 1996; Kondylis and Rabouille, 2009). While radial microtubules emanating from the centrosomal microtubule-organizing center mediate pericentrosomal positioning of the Golgi, the vertebrate Golgi apparatus also is a microtubule-organizing center by itself. Golgi-nucleated microtubules, among other functions, are important for assembly of the Golgi ribbon (Zhu and Kaverina, 2013; Rios, 2014).

Also inhibition of cytoplasmic dynein function results in fragmentation of the Golgi ribbon into dispersed, secretioncompetent, Golgi ministacks (Palmer et al., 2009; Yadav and Linstedt, 2011). In the Golgi apparatus, cytoplasmic dynein drives the bulk of afferent transport of membrane cargo, i.e., transport from the ER to the cis (entry)-side of the Golgi, and retrograde transport from post-Golgi compartments (endosomes, lysosomes) to the trans (exit)-side of the Golgi (Yadav and Linstedt, 2011; Stephens, 2012; Lord et al., 2013; Lu and Hong, 2014). To accommodate its many functions, a repertoire of factors regulates its subcellular recruitment, cargo interactions, and its mechano-chemical properties (Akhmanova and Hammer, 2010; Fu and Holzbaur, 2014; Jha and Surrey, 2015). The uncovering of Golgin160 as an important dynein adaptor for Golgi membranes has provided basic insight into how dynein may maintain Golgi ribbon structure and position (Yadav et al., 2012). However, knowledge about the role of dynein in the coordinated trafficking of pre-, intra, and post-Golgi membranes, and how mutations in dynein and its regulators affect Golgi function, is still very limited. Here we review the role of dynein and its accessory factors in Golgi membrane trafficking. In addition, since mutations in dynein and its regulators are linked to a variety of nervous system disorders, we will discuss the possible link between disease associated mutations and Golgi abnormalities.

CYTOPLASMIC DYNEIN MOTOR-DYNEIN HEAVY CHAIN

Cytoplasmic dynein 1 (hereafter dynein) is a two-headed microtubule motor that is used for nearly all of the minusend directed transport, the other dyneins operating in cilia and flagella to power ciliary and flagellar beating (axonemal dyneins) or intraflagellar transport (dynein 2) (Vallee et al., 2012; Carter, 2013; Roberts et al., 2013). Dynein consists of a dimer of the motor-containing heavy chain (DYNHC1H1) and several smaller accessory subunits (**Figure 2**). The motor domain of DYNHC1H1 is in the C-terminus and consists of a ring of six AAA+ ATPase modules, and a 15 nm stalk domain which is responsible for microtubule binding and generating movement along the microtubules (Vallee et al., 2012; Carter, 2013; Roberts et al., 2013). The N-terminal tail domain is responsible for dimerization and cargo interaction.

Dynein heavy chain knockout mice die before implantation and show dispersed Golgi in early embryonic cells (Harada et al., 1998). Heterozygous DYNC1H1 mutations are associated with a spectrum of nervous system abnormalities, with, roughly, tail domain mutations causing a form of spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) or motor-sensory neuronopathies, motor domain mutations causing cortical malformation, and some mutations causing combined phenotypes (Lipka et al., 2013; Peeters et al., 2015; Scoto et al., 2015). These data indicate that mutations may differentially affect the many cellular dynein functions. A tail mutation causing a motor neuronopathy in mice (*Loa* mice) has



copies of the actin-related protein Arp1, the large subunit p150glued, and 14 additional subunits including one copy of β-actin, Arp11 and p50 dynamitin (Urnavicius et al., 2015). In addition, a few dynein cargo-adaptors are indicated that regulate the interactions with specific cargo's.

been shown to reduce dynein processivity, and to cause impaired retrograde axonal transport, as well as delayed Golgi ribbon reassembly following nocodazole washout (Hafezparast et al., 2003; Vallee et al., 2012). Also mutations in the tail and motor domains associated with combined SMA/cortical malformation cause delayed Golgi ribbon reassembly following nocodazole washout, suggesting impaired Golgi membrane trafficking in many DYNC1H1 patients (Fiorillo et al., 2014). Recently, some dynein tail-mutations (R264L, R598) causing SMA have been found to cause increased binding to the cargo-adaptor BICD2 (see below) (Peeters et al., 2015). Significantly, mutations in BICD2 cause similar motor neuron phenotypes, and are also associated with Golgi abnormalities (Neveling et al., 2013; Peeters et al., 2013).

CYTOPLASMIC DYNEIN MOTOR-DYNEIN ACCESSORY SUBUNITS

The dynein smaller accessory subunits also occur in two copies each, and comprise the intermediate chains (IC), the light-intermediate chains (LIC) and three classes of light chains

(Figure 2). In primates and rodent two genes encode each of the smaller subunits, while additional diversity is generated by alternative splicing of IC, and phosphorylation of IC and LIC isoforms (Pfister et al., 2006; Allan, 2011). The IC acts as a scaffold between the heavy chains and the light chains and is a major binding platform for dynein interacting proteins including dynactin. Of the two IC isoforms, IC1 and IC2, IC2 is expressed in all cells and is essential for all dynein functions in non-neuronal cells including Golgi apparatus function and positioning (Pfister et al., 2006; Palmer et al., 2009; Raaijmakers et al., 2013). IC1 is predominantly expressed in neurons, with different roles for the various IC1 and IC2 isoforms in axonal transport (Pfister, 2015).

The LIC dimer directly attaches to dynein heavy chain with a Ras-like domain, and can bind cargo adapter proteins such as FIP3, RILP, and BICD2 with its C-terminus (Schroeder et al., 2014). The two LIC subtypes, LIC1 and LIC2, assemble as homodimer into two different populations of dynein. "LIC1dynein" and "LIC2-dynein" have been implicated in different functions, but the extent to which they are functionally redundant is uncertain (Allan, 2011; Raaijmakers et al., 2013). A knockdown study suggested specific LIC1 functions in ER-Golgi trafficking (Palmer et al., 2009; Brown et al., 2014), but no Golgi abnormalities were found after LIC1 knockdown by others (Allan, 2011; Tan et al., 2011). Mice, derived from a mutagenesis screen, that were homozygous for a missense mutation (N215Y) in LIC1, and showed mild behavioral changes combined with changes in dendritic morphology also showed abnormalities in Golgi ribbon reassembly following exposure to nocodazole, pointing to a role of LIC1 in Golgi membrane trafficking (Banks et al., 2011). However, LIC1 knockout mice display normal Golgi apparatus, although some evidence suggests a specific role of LIC1 in ER export (Kong et al., 2013). LIC1 knockout mice also show photoreceptor degeneration resulting from impaired dynein dependent transport of Rab11-vesicle trafficking from the Golgi apparatus to the base of the connecting cilium (Kong et al., 2013).

Dynein light chains consists of LL1/2 (also known as LC8-1/2), Roadblock-1/2, and LT1/3 (also known as TCTex1 and TCTex1L or rp3, respectively) that associate with dynein via specific binding sites on the intermediate chains (Pfister et al., 2006; Allan, 2011). The light chains are involved in regulating dynein complex assembly and cargo interactions but in addition may have functions independent of dynein, in particular LL1. Knockdown of LT1 and Roadblock-1 was found to cause Golgi dispersion, while knockdown of LL1 may result in subtle changes in ER to Golgi transport, and LT3 (rp3) knockdown did not alter Golgi markers (Palmer et al., 2009). Another study used rapamycin-inducible ligands that upon dimerization act as molecular traps for LT1 and LL1, respectively (Varma et al., 2008). Both LT1 and LL1 traps induced Golgi dispersion after induction of dimerization. However, despite relatively rapid induction of light-chain inactivation, and, accordingly a dispersion of lysosomes and endosomes within 1h after light chain trap activation, Golgi dispersion was much slower, suggesting that the effect on Golgi fragmentation is indirect (Varma et al., 2008).

REGULATORS OF DYNEIN ACTIVITY-DYNACTIN

Dynactin is a 1 MDalton multiprotein complex of more than 20 subunits that interacts with the dynein tail domain and mediates dynein-cargo interaction, recruits dynein at microtubule plus-ends, and is required for processive movement (i.e., the ability to make multiple steps before releasing the microtubule) of dynein (Jha and Surrey, 2015; Urnavicius et al., 2015). Major dynactin components include a filament of actinrelated protein 1 (Arp1) and a large subunit, p150glued (also designated DCTN1) that mediate dynein interaction (Figure 2) (Urnavicius et al., 2015). P150glued can bind microtubules by itself via its N-terminus that contains a conserved CAP-Gly domain. This domain is dispensable for activation of dynein processivity, but is required for other functions such as recruitment of dynein to microtubule plus-ends (Akhmanova and Hammer, 2010; Fu and Holzbaur, 2014; Jha and Surrey, 2015).

Heterozygous point mutations in the p150glued N-terminus cause rare adult onset neurodegenerative disorders (Lipka

et al., 2013). Mutations associated with a Parkinsonian disorder (Perry syndrome) afflict microtubule binding and may cause the accumulation of cargo in axon terminals, which may be explained by impaired recruitment of dynactin at microtubule plus-ends in axon terminals (Lloyd et al., 2012; Moughamian et al., 2013; Tacik et al., 2014). Instead a mutation (G59S) associated with a motor neuron disease, is thought to afflict p150Glued stability and to more generally impair dynactindynein functions (Lipka et al., 2013). This mutation also may interfere with Golgi apparatus homeostasis, as patient-derived cells show retarded recovery of Golgi after nocodazole treatment (Levy et al., 2006).

Disruption of dynactin or the dynactin/dynein interaction by overexpression of the p50 dynamitin subunit or a dominant p150Glued construct (cc1), respectively is well known to cause Golgi fragmentation and dispersion, and dynactin has been implicated in several steps in ER-to Golgi transport (Yadav and Linstedt, 2011; Lord et al., 2013). Dynactin can directly bind Golgi membranes via its Arp1 subunit that binds BIII spectrin on Golgi membranes (Yadav and Linstedt, 2011). BIII spectrin depletion has been found to cause Golgi fragmentation and impaired Golgi reassembly after nocadozole treatment, consistent with a role in dynein/dynactin function in the Golgi apparatus (Salcedo-Sicilia et al., 2013). Arp1spectrin interaction also is implicated in dynein dependent transport of Golgi membranes in Drosophila during the cellularization of the larvae (Papoulas et al., 2005). Mutations in *βIII-spectrin* are associated with a neurodegenerative disease that affects the cerebellar Purkinje cells (SCA5), and BIII-spectrin-deficient mice or mice expressing SCA5mutant BIII-spectrin develop Purkinje cell degeneration. However, so far there are no neuropathological data indicative of abnormalities in dynein-dependent motility of Golgi membranes in these mice (Armbrust et al., 2014; Clarkson et al., 2014).

Dynactin also can bind specific membrane compartments via its p150glued subunit. P150glued interacts with Sec23 of the COPII vesicle coat complex that sort cargo into budding vesicles at ER exit sites for their delivery at the juxtaposed tubulo-vesicular ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC). Although disruption of this interaction slows-down ER exit, the dynactin-Sec23 binding is not essential for ER-ERGIC trafficking (Watson et al., 2005; Yadav and Linstedt, 2011; Lord et al., 2013). A suggested role for dynactin-Sec23 interaction is to aid in the separation of the nascent COPII vesicle (Bacia et al., 2011). Such a role for dynein/dynactin has been suggested in the formation of retromer-coated vesicles at endosomes. Here p150glued binds SNX6 of the SNX-BAR-retromer to first aid with separation of the retromer-coated cargo and then mediate transport from endosomes to the trans Golgi network (TGN) (Wassmer et al., 2009; Stephens, 2012). Interestingly, the interaction between p150glued and SNX6 is negatively regulated by phosphotidylinositol-4-phosphate, a Golgi-enriched phosphoinositide that strongly binds SNX6. Thus, at the TGN phosphotidylinositol-4-phosphate stimulates the dissociation of p150glued and SNX6, providing a mechanism of cargo release by dynein/dynactin (Niu et al., 2013).

REGULATORS OF DYNEIN ACTIVITY-LIS1, NDE1, AND NDEL1

Lis1, Nde1 (nuclear distribution protein E, also known as NudE) and the paralogue Ndel1 are key dynein regulators that can alter its mechanochemical properties, and are involved in most if not all of its functions (**Figure 2**) (Vallee et al., 2012; Roberts et al., 2013). Lis1 is a 45 kD protein that as a dimer can bind the dynein heavy chain motor domain, and can promote a persistent microtubule bound state by uncoupling ATP hydrolysis cycles from microtubule binding affinity changes (Vallee et al., 2012; Toropova et al., 2014). Lis1 is implicated in dynein recruitment and regulation, and is thought to be especially important for high-load dynein functions, including initiation of axonal transport and high load functions in cell migration and mitosis (Yi et al., 2011; Splinter et al., 2012; Vallee et al., 2012; Raaijmakers et al., 2013).

Lis1-dynein interactions are modulated by Nde1 and Ndel1. Nde1 and Ndel1 are important for many dynein functions, either by regulating the recruitment of Lis1, regulating cargo interaction or via other mechanisms (Torisawa et al., 2011; Vallee et al., 2012). In the nervous system, Nde1 and Ndel1 show a largely complementary spatio-temporal expression in neuronal progenitors and post-mitotic neurons, respectively, indicative of different cellular functions, i.e., roles in neurogenesis vs. neuronal migration/morphogenesis, respectively (Sasaki et al., 2005; Pandey and Smith, 2011). The roles of Lis1 and Nde(l)1 are dosage dependent and their concentrations appear to be limiting for several dynein functions. Accordingly, patients and mice with one inactive Lis1 allele display defects in neuronal migration, while additional reduction of Lis1 or coincident reduction of Nde(l)1 results in more severe phenotypes (Sasaki et al., 2005; Youn et al., 2009).

The roles of Lis1 and Nde(l)1 in regulating dynein in the Golgi apparatus are not well understood. Lis1 or combined Nde1-Ndel1 knockdown result in Golgi fragmentation and dispersion in Hela cells, however some conflicting results have been reported in additional studies (Lam et al., 2010). Drosophila Nde1 was found to associate with Golgi membranes and to be required for dendritic targeting of Golgi outposts (Arthur et al., 2015). Notably, Lis1 also has a role as a structural subunit in a phospholipase A enzyme complex, termed PAFAHIb, which deacylates Golgi phospholipids and contributes to morphological remodeling of Golgi membranes. Some evidence indicate that catalytic PAFAHIb subunits compete with Ndel1 for Lis1 binding, and that Lis1 undergoes conformational changes when it switches from a complex with PAFAHIb subunits to one with Ndel1 (Ha et al., 2012).

ACTIVATION OF CYTOPLASMIC DYNEIN MOTILITY

Although dynein subunits, dynactin and Lis1/Nde(l)1 regulate more general aspects of cargo interaction, an additional level of dynein control is provided by cargo-specific adaptor proteins (Akhmanova and Hammer, 2010; Vallee et al., 2012; Jha and Surrey, 2015). A group of these cargo-specific regulatory factors, including BICD1 and BICD2 (nuclear envelope, Rab6 vesicles), BICD-related protein 1 (Rab6 vesicles), Hook3 (early endosomes), Rab11-FIP3 (Rab11 recycling endosomes), RILP (Rab7 late endosomes/lysosome); TRAK1 and 2 (mitochondria), Spindly (kinetochores) and Golgin160 (Arf1 on Golgi membranes) contain coiled coils that bind dynein and/or dynactin (Figure 2). Recent studies showed that cargo specific adaptor proteins are also essential cofactors that can activate processive motor motility. Biochemical experiments found that mixing purified mammalian dynein and dynactin with the N-terminal fragment of BICD2 (BICD2-N) results in a stable ternary complex that mediates highly processive unidirectional movement. While dynactin alone is not sufficient for dynein activation, BICD2-N is required to link the two complexes together in order to initiate processive minus-end directed motility (Splinter et al., 2012; McKenney et al., 2014; Schlager et al., 2014a). Structural data show that the BICD2-N coiled coil extends between dynactin and the tail of dynein engaging in multiple reciprocal interactions (Urnavicius et al., 2015). Another study has shown that in inactive non-processive dynein, the two motor heads are stacked together, and that processive motility can be induced by separation of the motor heads (Torisawa et al., 2014). Together the data suggests a model where the binding of the cargo adaptor and dynactin induces conformational changes in the motor domains, promoting dissociation of motor heads and thereby activating directional motility (Urnavicius et al., 2015) (Figure 3). Interestingly, recent evidence indicates that different BICD cargo adaptors may differentially regulate speed and processivity of dynein (Schlager et al., 2014b). This can be explained by a mechanism where different adaptors trigger different conformational changes in the dynein motor domains. Thus, different dynein-dynactin cargo adaptors not only differ in cargo binding, but also may differentially modulate motor activity (Schlager et al., 2014b).

DYNEIN REGULATORY FACTORS FOR GOLGI MEMBRANES

Golgin160 has been identified as a dynein cargo adaptor for Golgi membranes (Yadav et al., 2012). Golgin 160 knock-down results in dissociation of dynein from Golgi membranes, fragmentation and dispersion of the Golgi ribbon, and impaired ER to Golgi trafficking of temperature sensitive viral cargo protein (VSVG-GFP). Golgin160 interacts with dynein via its coiled-coil cc7 domain. Like BICD2-N (Hoogenraad et al., 2003), GFP-tagged cc7-domain by itself accumulates at the centrosome, and when attached to mitochondria causes pericentrosomal clustering of mitochondria, indicating that this domain by itself is sufficient to trigger dynein processivity independent of the presence or type of cargo (Yadav et al., 2012). Thus, Golgin160 may coordinate cargo-binding with dynactin-dynein association and initiation of processive motility in a similar way as BICD2. Expression of high levels of BICD2-N or the early endosome cargo-adaptor Hook3 have been shown to cause Golgi dispersion (Hoogenraad et al., 2001; Walenta et al., 2001; Teuling et al., 2008). A possible



FIGURE 3 | Model of regulation of processive dynein/dynactin motility by cargo adaptors. The model is based on findings with the conserved coiled coil protein BICD2 that operates as a dynein-dynactin cargo adaptor for a variety of cargo including Rab6 vesicles, nuclear envelope, and RNA particles (in Drosophila). Upon cargo binding (in this case Rab6 secretory vesicles), BICD2 co-recruits dynein and dynactin and forms a stable ternary complex to initiate processive minus-end movement. The model implies that dynein in the ternary complex experiences conformational changes in the motor domains, in particular the separation of the motor heads.

explanation is that BICD2-N and hook3 can interfere with Golgin160 binding to dynein-dynactin. This would imply that misregulation of non-Golgi cargo adaptors can indirectly cause abnormalities in Golgi ribbon structure and position, and could explain Golgi abnormalities in cells from patients with BICD2 mutations (Neveling et al., 2013; Peeters et al., 2013). There is no evidence, so far, that wild type BICD2 plays a direct role in Golgi membrane trafficking (Yadav and Linstedt, 2011) and, accordingly, there are no obvious abnormalities in Golgi morphology in BICD2 knockout mice (Jaarsma et al., 2014).

Golgin160 attaches to Golgi membranes via binding of its Nterminus to Arf1, a small GTPase that plays a central role in recruiting factors at ERGIC and Golgi membranes, in particular COPI (Altan-Bonnet et al., 2004; Yadav et al., 2012). Thus, dynein recruitment to Golgi membranes is regulated by activation and deactivation of Arf1, coinciding with the recruitment of other Arf1 effectors and the "Golgification" of ERGIC membranes near the ER exit sites (Yadav et al., 2012). The regulation by GTPases is common to other cargo adaptors which operate as adaptors of Rab6 (BICD1/2, BICDR-1), Rab7 (RILP) and Rab11 (Fip3). Golgin160-Arf1 mediates not only inward motility of peripheral ERGIC membranes, but also clustering of Golgi membranes for assembly of the Golgi ribbon, and maintenance of the Golgi ribbon structure and position near the cell center (Nakamura et al., 2012; Yadav et al., 2012). Interestingly, during mitosis, Golgin160 disassociates from Golgi membranes, which contributes to Golgi disassembly into vesicular structures for proper partitioning between daughter cells (Nakamura et al., 2012; Yadav et al., 2012).

ZW10, an adaptor protein involved in dynactin and dynein recruitment to mitotic kinetochores, has been proposed to act as a linker between dynein/dynactin and Golgi membranes. Inhibition of ZW10 by knock-down, anti ZW10 antibody or dominant-negative overexpression causes Golgi fragmentation and dispersal, and reduced minus-end directed motility of Golgi membranes (Varma et al., 2006). However, other studies suggest that ZW10 has a function in the Golgi independent of dynein (Arasaki et al., 2007; Majeed et al., 2014).

Lava lamp is a large coiled-coil protein, identified in Drosophila, which binds a-Spectrin on Golgi membranes and may also act as a dynein/dynactin adaptor for Golgi membranes (Papoulas et al., 2005). In Drosophila, dynein-dependent motility of Golgi is not needed for maintenance of Golgi apparatus structure and position, as Golgi stacks in Drosophila are dispersed throughout the cytoplasm next to ER exit sites, reminiscent of the dispersed Golgi in mammalian cells after microtubule depolymerization or inhibition of dynein/dynactin (Kondylis and Rabouille, 2009). Instead, dynein is required for specialized processes such as cellularization of synctial embryo's (Papoulas et al., 2005) and the development of complex dendritic arbors in neurons (Ye et al., 2007). In neurons, lava lamp regulates dynein-dependent transport of Golgi outposts to distal dendrites. Inhibition of lava lamp results in a shift of Golgi outposts from distal to proximal dendrites and a concomitant distal to proximal shift in dendrite branching (Ye et al., 2007), and a similar redistribution of Golgi outpost and dendritic branches occur in Drosophila with mutations in IC and LIC dynein subunits and Lis1 (Zheng et al., 2008), as

well as Nde1 knock-down (Arthur et al., 2015). Lava lamp knockdown also causes Golgi outposts to appear in axons and these axons start branching. Analysis of mutants of ER-to-Golgi trafficking, and laser damage of individual Golgi outposts further showed that Golgi outposts are particularly important for dendrite arborization in Drosophila (Ye et al., 2007). A recent study showed that the interaction between lava lamp and dynein at dendritic Golgi outposts is regulated by Leucine-rich repeat kinase (Lrrk), the Drosophila homolog of Parkinson's disease-associated Lrrk2 (Lin et al., 2015). Lrrk loss-of-function Drosophila mutants show increased anterograde movement of Golgi outposts and increased dendritic branching. Lrrk suppresses anterograde (proximo-distal) movement of Golgi outposts via phosphorylation of Lava lamp and inhibiting its interaction with dynein (Lin et al., 2015). The significance of the findings on dynein-dependent motility of Golgi outposts in Drosophila for mammalian neurons remains to be established. A mammalian homolog for lava lamp has not been identified (Munro, 2011), and the extent to which dynein is important for Golgi outpost positioning in hippocampal and cortical neurons is not yet known.

PERSPECTIVES

The uncovering of dynein adaptor proteins and regulatory factors has provided basic insight into how dynein mediates Golgi membrane trafficking and maintains Golgi ribbon structure and position (Yadav and Linstedt, 2011; Yadav et al., 2012). Several important research questions remain to be addressed. Are there other adaptors in addition to Golgin160 implicated in dynein-dependent Golgi membrane motility in mammalian cells? For instance, do specialized adaptors operate in specialized Golgi compartments such as dendritic Golgi outposts? Does Golgin160 co-recruit dynein and dynactin in a similar way as BICD2 (Schlager et al., 2014a; Urnavicius et al., 2015)? How is Golgin160-Arf1 binding coordinated with dynein/dynactin recruitment? Analysis of Drosophila BICD showed that cargo binding triggers conformational changes that promote dynein/dynactin binding, thus coordinating cargobinding with dynein recruitment (Liu et al., 2013). How do Lis1 and Nde(l)1 operate in Golgi membrane trafficking? Systematic siRNA-based dissection of dynein regulators in mitosis, indicated that Lis1 and dynactin are differentially involved in different

REFERENCES

- Akhmanova, A., and Hammer, J. A. III. (2010). Linking molecular motors to membrane cargo. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 22, 479–487. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2010.04.008
- Allan, V. J. (2011). Cytoplasmic dynein. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 39, 1169–1178. doi: 10.1042/BST0391169
- Altan-Bonnet, N., Sougrat, R., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (2004). Molecular basis for Golgi maintenance and biogenesis. *Curr.Opin. Cell Biol.* 16, 364–372. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2004.06.011
- Arasaki, K., Uemura, T., Tani, K., and Tagaya, M. (2007). Correlation of Golgi localization of ZW10 and centrosomal accumulation of dynactin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 359, 811–816. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.05.188

mitotic dynein functions. How does dynein-Golgin160 activity cross-talk with other motors, i.e., kinesins and myosin (Barlan et al., 2013)? Knock-down of the kinesin KIF5B results in longer run lengths of ER-to-Golgi membrane carriers, indicating a negative regulation of ER-to Golgi transport by plus-end motors, and the presence of motors of opposite polarity on ER-to-Golgi cargo (Brown et al., 2014). A variety of scaffolds such as huntingtin have been implicated in the coordination of minusand plus-end motors for specific retrograde and anterograde axonal transport cargo's (Maday et al., 2014). How is dyneindvnactin-Golgin160 motoring integrated with the microtubule organization around the Golgi? This question is particularly relevant in developing and adult neurons with their complex Golgi morphologies and microtubule organization (Horton et al., 2005; Kuijpers and Hoogenraad, 2011; Kapitein and Hoogenraad, 2015).

The importance of proper dynein function for the Golgi apparatus in neurons is illustrated by genetic disorders that combine mutations in dynein subunits and regulatory factors, with nervous system abnormalities and abnormalities in the Golgi apparatus. In addition, some evidence indicates that dynein malfunction in the Golgi apparatus is an early feature in neurodegenerative disorders such as Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (van Dis et al., 2014) and Alzheimer's disease (Joshi and Wang, 2015). We have recently found that dysregulation of dynein/dynactin function by BICD2-N overexpression increases Golgi fragmentation in SOD1-ALS mice (van Dis et al., 2014). Knowledge about the role of dynein in and around the Golgi will contribute to our understanding of these disorders.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DJ wrote the manuscript and made the figures; CH wrote and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Internationale Stichting Alzheimer Onderzoek (ISAO #14540, DJ), the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO-ALW-VICI, CH), the Foundation for Fundamental Research on Matter ((FOM) CH)), which is part of the NWO, the Netherlands Organization for Health Research and Development (ZonMW-TOP, CH).

- Armbrust, K. R., Wang, X., Hathorn, T. J., Cramer, S. W., Chen, G., Zu, T., et al. (2014). Mutant beta-III spectrin causes mGluR1alpha mislocalization and functional deficits in a mouse model of spinocerebellar ataxia type 5. J. Neurosci. 34, 9891–9904. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0876-14.2014
- Arthur, A. L., Yang, S. Z., Abellaneda, A. M, and Wildonger, J. (2015). Dendrite arborization requires the dynein cofactor NudE. J. Cell Sci. 128, 2191–2201. doi: 10.1242/jcs.170316
- Bacia, K., Futai, E., Prinz, S., Meister, A., Daum, S., Glatte, D., et al. (2011). Multibudded tubules formed by COPII on artificial liposomes. *Sci. Rep.* 1:17. doi: 10.1038/srep00017
- Banks, G. T., Haas, M. A., Line, S., Shepherd, H. L., Alqatari, M., Stewart, S., et al. (2011). Behavioral and other phenotypes in a cytoplasmic Dynein

light intermediate chain 1 mutant mouse. J. Neurosci. 31, 5483-5494. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5244-10.2011

- Barlan, K., Rossow, M. J., and Gelfand, V. I. (2013). The journey of the organelle: teamwork and regulation in intracellular transport. *Curr. Opin. Biol.* 25, 483–488. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2013.02.018
- Brown, A. K., Hunt, S. D., and Stephens, D. J. (2014). Opposing microtubule motors control motility, morphology and cargo segregation during ER-to-Golgi transport. *Biol. Open* 3, 307–313. doi: 10.1242/bio.20147633
- Carter, A. P. (2013). Crystal clear insights into how the dynein motor moves. J. Cell Sci. 126(Pt 3), 705–713. doi: 10.1242/jcs.120725
- Clarkson, Y. L., Perkins, E. M., Cairncross, C. J., Lyndon, A. R., Skehel, P. A., and Jackson, M. (2014). beta-III spectrin underpins ankyrin R function in Purkinje cell dendritic trees: protein complex critical for sodium channel activity is impaired by SCA5-associated mutations. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 3875–3882. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu103
- Cole, N. B., Sciaky, N., Marotta, A., Song, J., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (1996).Golgi dispersal during microtubule disruption: regeneration of Golgi stacks at peripheral endoplasmic reticulum exit sites. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 7, 631–650. doi: 10.1091/mbc.7.4.631
- Fiorillo, C., Moro, F., Yi, J., Weil, S., Brisca, G., Astrea, G., et al. (2014). Novel dynein DYNC1H1 neck and motor domain mutations link distal spinal muscular atrophy and abnormal cortical development. *Hum. Mutat.* 35, 298–302. doi: 10.1002/humu.22491
- Fu, M. M., and Holzbaur, E. L. (2014). Integrated regulation of motor-driven organelle transport by scaffolding proteins. *Trends Cell Biol.* 24, 564–574. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2014.05.002
- Gardiol, A., Racca, C., and Triller, A. (1999). Dendritic and postsynaptic protein synthetic machinery. J. Neurosci. 19, 168–179.
- Ha, K. D., Clarke, B. A., and Brown, W. J. (2012). Regulation of the Golgi complex by phospholipid remodeling enzymes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1821, 1078–1088. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2012.04.004
- Hafezparast, M., Klocke, R., Ruhrberg, C., Marquardt, A., Ahmad-Annuar, A., Bowen, S., et al. (2003). Mutations in dynein link motor neuron degeneration to defects in retrograde transport. *Science* 300, 808–812. doi: 10.1126/science.1083129
- Hanus, C., and Schuman, E. M. (2013). Proteostasis in complex dendrites. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 638–648. doi: 10.1038/nrn3546
- Harada, A., Takei, Y., Kanai, Y., Tanaka, Y., Nonaka, S., and Hirokawa, N. (1998). Golgi vesiculation and lysosome dispersion in cells lacking cytoplasmic dynein. *J. Cell Biol.* 141, 51–59. doi: 10.1083/jcb.141.1.51
- Hoogenraad, C. C., Akhmanova, A., Howell, S. A., Dortland, B. R., De Zeeuw, C. I., Willemsen, R., et al. (2001). Mammalian Golgi-associated Bicaudal-D2 functions in the dynein-dynactin pathway by interacting with these complexes. *EMBO J.* 20, 4041–4054. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.15.4041
- Hoogenraad, C. C., Wulf, P., Schiefermeier, N., Stepanova, T., Galjart, N., Small, J. V., et al. (2003). Bicaudal D induces selective dynein-mediated microtubule minus end-directed transport. *EMBO J.* 22, 6004–6015. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg592
- Horton, A. C., Rácz, B., Monson, E. E., Lin, A. L., Weinberg, R. J., and Ehlers, M. D. (2005). Polarized secretory trafficking directs cargo for asymmetric dendrite growth and morphogenesis. *Neuron* 48, 757–771. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.11.005
- Jaarsma, D., van den Berg, R., Wulf, P. S., van Erp, S., Keijzer, N., Schlager, M. A., et al. (2014). A role for Bicaudal-D2 in radial cerebellar granule cell migration. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 3411. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4411
- Jha, R., and Surrey, T. (2015). Regulation of processive motion and microtubule localization of cytoplasmic dynein. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 43, 48–57. doi: 10.1042/BST20140252
- Joshi, G., and Wang, Y. (2015). Golgi defects enhance APP amyloidogenic processing in Alzheimer's disease. *Bioessays* 37, 240–247. doi: 10.1002/bies.201400116
- Kapitein, L. C., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2015). Building the neuronal microtubule cytoskeleton. *Neuron* 87, 492–506. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.05.046
- Klumperman, J. (2011). Architecture of the mammalian Golgi. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005181
- Kondylis, V., and Rabouille, C. (2009). The Golgi apparatus: lessons from Drosophila. FEBS Lett. 583, 3827–3838. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.09.048
- Kong, S., Du, X., Peng, C., Wu, Y., Li, H., Jin, X., et al. (2013). Dlic1 deficiency impairs ciliogenesis of photoreceptors by destabilizing dynein. *Cell Res* 23, 835–850. doi: 10.1038/cr.2013.59

- Kuijpers, M., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2011). Centrosomes, microtubules and neuronal development. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 48, 349–358. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2011.05.004
- Lam, C., Vergnolle, M. A., Thorpe, L., Woodman, P. G., and Allan, V. J. (2010). Functional interplay between LIS1, NDE1 and NDEL1 in dynein-dependent organelle positioning. J. Cell Sci. 123(Pt 2), 202–212. doi: 10.1242/jcs.059337
- Levy, J. R., Sumner, C. J., Caviston, J. P., Tokito, M. K., Ranganathan, S., Ligon, L. A., et al. (2006). A motor neuron disease-associated mutation in p150Glued perturbs dynactin function and induces protein aggregation. *J. Cell Biol.* 172, 733–745. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200511068
- Lin, C. H., Li, H., Lee, Y. N., Cheng, Y. J., Wu, R. M., and Chien, C. T. (2015). Lrrk regulates the dynamic profile of dendritic Golgi outposts through the golgin Lava lamp. J. Cell Biol. 210, 471–483. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201411033
- Lipka, J., Kuijpers, M., Jaworski, J., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2013). Mutations in cytoplasmic dynein and its regulators cause malformations of cortical development and neurodegenerative diseases. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 41, 1605–1612. doi: 10.1042/BST20130188
- Liu, Y., Salter, H. K., Holding, A. N., Johnson, C. M., Stephens, E., Lukavsky, P. J., et al. (2013). Bicaudal-D uses a parallel, homodimeric coiled coil with heterotypic registry to coordinate recruitment of cargos to dynein. *Genes Dev.* 27, 1233–1246. doi: 10.1101/gad.212381.112
- Lloyd, T. E., Machamer, J., O'Hara, K., Kim, J. H., Collins, S. E., Wong, M. Y., et al. (2012). The p150(Glued) CAP-Gly domain regulates initiation of retrograde transport at synaptic termini. *Neuron* 74, 344–360. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.02.026
- Lord, C., Ferro-Novick, S., and Miller, E. A. (2013). The highly conserved COPII coat complex sorts cargo from the endoplasmic reticulum and targets it to the golgi. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 5. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a013367
- Lu, L., and Hong, W. (2014). From endosomes to the trans-Golgi network. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 31, 30–39. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2014.04.024
- Maday, S., Twelvetrees, A. E., Moughamian, A. J., and Holzbaur, E. L. (2014). Axonal transport: cargo-specific mechanisms of motility and regulation. *Neuron* 84, 292–309. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.10.019
- Majeed, W., Liu, S., and Storrie, B. (2014). Distinct sets of Rab6 effectors contribute to ZW10-and COG-dependent Golgi homeostasis. *Traffic* 15, 630–647. doi: 10.1111/tra.12167
- McKenney, R. J., Huynh, W., Tanenbaum, M. E., Bhabha, G., and Vale, R. D. (2014). Activation of cytoplasmic dynein motility by dynactin-cargo adapter complexes. *Science* 345, 337–341. doi: 10.1126/science.1254198
- Moughamian, A. J., Osborn, G. E., Lazarus, J. E., Maday, S., and Holzbaur, E. L. (2013). Ordered recruitment of dynactin to the microtubule plus-end is required for efficient initiation of retrograde axonal transport. J. Neurosci. 33, 13190–13203. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0935-13.2013
- Munro, S. (2011). The golgin coiled-coil proteins of the Golgi apparatus. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005256
- Nakamura, N., Wei, J. H., and Seemann, J. (2012). Modular organization of the mammalian Golgi apparatus. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 24, 467–474. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2012.05.009
- Neveling, K., Martinez-Carrera, L. A., Hölker, I., Heister, A., Verrips, A., Hosseini-Barkooie, S. M., et al. (2013). Mutations in BICD2, which encodes a Golgin and important motor adaptor, cause congenital autosomaldominant spinal muscular atrophy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 92, 946–954. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.04.011
- Niu, Y., Zhang, C., Sun, Z., Hong, Z., Li, K., Sun, D., et al. (2013). PtdIns(4)P regulates retromer-motor interaction to facilitate dynein-cargo dissociation at the trans-Golgi network. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 417–429. doi: 10.1038/ncb2710
- Ori-McKenney, K. M., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2012). Golgi outposts shape dendrite morphology by functioning as sites of acentrosomal microtubule nucleation in neurons. *Neuron* 76, 921–930. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.10.008
- Palmer, K. J., Hughes, H., and Stephens, D. J. (2009). Specificity of cytoplasmic dynein subunits in discrete membrane-trafficking steps. *Mol.Biol. Cell* 20, 2885–2899. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E08-12-1160
- Pandey, J. P., and Smith, D. S. (2011). A Cdk5-dependent switch regulates Lis1/Ndel1/dynein-driven organelle transport in adult axons. J. Neurosci. 31, 17207–17219. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4108-11.2011
- Papoulas, O., Hays, T. S., and Sisson, J. C. (2005). The golgin Lava lamp mediates dynein-based Golgi movements during Drosophila cellularization. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 7, 612–618. doi: 10.1038/ncb1264
- Peeters, K., Bervoets, S., Chamova, T., Litvinenko, I., De Vriendt, E., Bichev, S., et al. (2015). Novel mutations in the DYNC1H1 tail domain refine the

genetic and clinical spectrum of dyneinopathies. *Hum. Mutat.* 36, 287–291. doi: 10.1002/humu.22744

- Peeters, K., Litvinenko, I., Asselbergh, B., Almeida-Souza, L., Chamova, T., Geuens, T., et al. (2013). Molecular defects in the motor adaptor BICD2 cause proximal spinal muscular atrophy with autosomal-dominant inheritance. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 92, 955–964. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.04.013
- Pfister, K. K. (2015). Distinct functional roles of cytoplasmic dynein defined by the intermediate chain isoforms. *Exp. Cell Res.* 334, 54–60. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr. 2014.12.013
- Pfister, K. K., Shah, P. R., Hummerich, H., Russ, A., Cotton, J., Annuar, A. A., et al. (2006). Genetic analysis of the cytoplasmic dynein subunit families. *PLoS Genet.* 2:e1. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.0020001
- Quassollo, G., Wojnacki, J., Salas, D. A., Gastaldi, L., Marzolo, M. P., Conde, C., et al. (2015). A RhoA signaling pathway regulates dendritic golgi outpost formation. *Curr. Biol.* 25, 971–982. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2015.01.075
- Raaijmakers, J. A., Tanenbaum, M. E., and Medema, R. H. (2013). Systematic dissection of dynein regulators in mitosis. J. Cell Biol. 201, 201–215. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201208098
- Rios, R. M. (2014). The centrosome-Golgi apparatus nexus. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci* 369. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0462
- Roberts, A. J., Kon, T., Knight, P. J., Sutoh, K., and Burgess, S. A. (2013). Functions and mechanics of dynein motor proteins. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 14, 713–726. doi: 10.1038/nrm3667
- Salcedo-Sicilia, L., Granell, S., Jovic, M., Sicart, A., Mato, E., Johannes, L., et al. (2013). betaIII spectrin regulates the structural integrity and the secretory protein transport of the Golgi complex. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 2157–2166. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.406462
- Sasaki, S., Mori, D., Toyo-oka, K., Chen, A., Garrett-Beal, L., Muramatsu, M., et al. (2005). Complete loss of Ndel1 results in neuronal migration defects and early embryonic lethality. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 7812–7827. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.17.7812-7827.2005
- Schlager, M. A., Hoang, H. T., Urnavicius, L., Bullock, S. L., and Carter, A. P. (2014a). *In vitro* reconstitution of a highly processive recombinant human dynein complex. *Embo J.* 33, 1855–1868. doi: 10.15252/embj. 201488792
- Schlager, M. A., Serra-Marques, A., Grigoriev, I., Gumy, L. F., Esteves da Silva, M., Wulf, P. S., et al. (2014b). Bicaudal d family adaptor proteins control the velocity of Dynein-based movements. *Cell Rep.* 8, 1248–1256. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.07.052
- Schroeder, C. M., Ostrem, J. M., Hertz, N. T., and Vale, R. D. (2014). A Raslike domain in the light intermediate chain bridges the dynein motor to a cargo-binding region. *Elife* 3. doi: 10.7554/elife.03351
- Scoto, M., Rossor, A. M., Harms, M. B., Cirak, S., Calissano, M., Robb, S., et al. (2015). Novel mutations expand the clinical spectrum of DYNC1H1-associated spinal muscular atrophy. *Neurology* 84, 668–679. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000001269
- Splinter, D., Razafsky, D. S., Schlager, M. A., Serra-Marques, A., Grigoriev, I., Demmers, J., et al. (2012). BICD2, dynactin, and LIS1 cooperate in regulating dynein recruitment to cellular structures. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 23, 4226–4241. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E12-03-0210
- Stephens, D. J. (2012). Functional coupling of microtubules to membranes implications for membrane structure and dynamics. J. Cell Sci. 125, 2795–2804. doi: 10.1242/jcs.097675
- Tacik, P., Fiesel, F. C., Fujioka, S., Ross, O. A., Pretelt, F., Castañeda Cardona, C., et al. (2014). Three families with Perry syndrome from distinct parts of the world. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 20, 884–888. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.05.004
- Tan, S. C., Scherer, J., and Vallee, R. B. (2011). Recruitment of dynein to late endosomes and lysosomes through light intermediate chains. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 22, 467–477. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E10-02-0129
- Teuling, E., van Dis, V., Wulf, P. S., Haasdijk, E. D., Akhmanova, A., Hoogenraad, C. C., et al. (2008). A novel mouse model with impaired dynein/dynactin function develops amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)-like features in motor neurons and improves lifespan in SOD1-ALS mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 17, 2849–2862. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddn182
- Torisawa, T., Ichikawa, M., Furuta, A., Saito, K., Oiwa, K., Kojima, H., et al. (2014). Autoinhibition and cooperative activation mechanisms of cytoplasmic dynein. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 16, 1118–1124. doi: 10.1038/ncb3048

- Torisawa, T., Nakayama, A., Furuta, K., Yamada, M., Hirotsune, S., and Toyoshima, Y. Y. (2011). Functional dissection of LIS1 and NDEL1 towards understanding the molecular mechanisms of cytoplasmic dynein regulation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 1959–1965. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.169847
- Toropova, K., Zou, S., Roberts, A. J., Redwine, W. B., Goodman, B. S., Reck-Peterson, S. L., et al. (2014). Lis1 regulates dynein by sterically blocking its mechanochemical cycle. *eLife* 3. doi: 10.7554/elife.03372
- Urnavicius, L., Zhang, K., Diamant, A. G., Motz, C., Schlager, M. A., Yu, M., et al. (2015). The structure of the dynactin complex and its interaction with dynein. *Science* 347, 1441–1446. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4080
- Vallee, R. B., McKenney, R. J., and Ori-McKenney, K. M. (2012). Multiple modes of cytoplasmic dynein regulation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 14, 224–230. doi: 10.1038/ncb2420
- van Dis, V., Kuijpers, M., Haasdijk, E. D., Teuling, E., Oakes, S. A., Hoogenraad, C. C., et al. (2014). Golgi fragmentation precedes neuromuscular denervation and is associated with endosome abnormalities in SOD1-ALS mouse motor neurons. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 2:38. doi: 10.1186/2051-5960-2-38
- Varma, D., Dujardin, D. L., Stehman, S. A., and Vallee, R. B. (2006). Role of the kinetochore/cell cycle checkpoint protein ZW10 in interphase cytoplasmic dynein function. J. Cell Biol. 172, 655–662. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200510120
- Varma, D., Monzo, P., Stehman, S. A., and Vallee, R. B. (2008). Direct role of dynein motor in stable kinetochore-microtubule attachment, orientation, and alignment. J. Cell Biol. 182, 1045–1054. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200710106
- Walenta, J. H., Didier, A. J., Liu, X., and Krämer, H. (2001). The Golgi-associated hook3 protein is a member of a novel family of microtubule-binding proteins. *J. Cell Biol.* 152, 923–934. doi: 10.1083/jcb.152.5.923
- Wassmer, T., Attar, N., Harterink, M., van Weering, J. R., Traer, C. J., Oakley, J., et al. (2009). The retromer coat complex coordinates endosomal sorting and dynein-mediated transport, with carrier recognition by the trans-Golgi network. *Dev. Cell* 17, 110–122. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2009.04.016
- Watanabe, T., Bochimoto, H., Koga, D., Hosaka, M., and Ushiki, T. (2014). Functional implications of the Golgi and microtubular network in gonadotropes. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol.* 385, 88–96. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.10.003
- Watson, P., Forster, R., Palmer, K. J., Pepperkok, R., and Stephens, D. J. (2005). Coupling of ER exit to microtubules through direct interaction of COPII with dynactin. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 7, 48–55. doi: 10.1038/ncb1206
- Yadav, S., and Linstedt, A. D. (2011). Golgi positioning. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005322
- Yadav, S., Puthenveedu, M. A., and Linstedt, A. D. (2012). Golgin160 recruits the dynein motor to position the Golgi apparatus. *Dev. Cell* 23, 153–165. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2012.05.023
- Ye, B., Zhang, Y., Song, W., Younger, S. H., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2007). Growing dendrites and axons differ in their reliance on the secretory pathway. *Cell* 130, 717–729. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.06.032
- Yi, J. Y., Ori-McKenney, K. M., McKenney, R. J., Vershinin, M., Gross, S. P., and Vallee, R. B. (2011). High-resolution imaging reveals indirect coordination of opposite motors and a role for LIS1 in high-load axonal transport. *J. Cell Biol.* 195, 193–201. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201104076
- Youn, Y. H., Pramparo, T., Hirotsune, S., and Wynshaw-Boris, A. (2009). Distinct dose-dependent cortical neuronal migration and neurite extension defects in Lis1 and Ndel1 mutant mice. J. Neurosci. 29, 15520–15530. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4630-09.2009
- Zheng, Y., Wildonger, J., Ye, B., Zhang, Y., Kita, A., Younger, S. H., et al. (2008). Dynein is required for polarized dendritic transport and uniform microtubule orientation in axons. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10, 1172–1180. doi: 10.1038/ncb1777
- Zhu, X., and Kaverina, I. (2013). Golgi as an MTOC: making microtubules for its own good. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 140, 361–367. doi: 10.1007/s00418-013-1119-4

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Jaarsma and Hoogenraad. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Dominant spinal muscular atrophy is caused by mutations in BICD2, an important golgin protein

Lilian A. Martinez-Carrera and Brunhilde Wirth*

Institute of Human Genetics, Institute for Genetics and Center for Molecular Medicine of The University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Spinal muscular atrophies (SMAs) are characterized by degeneration of spinal motor neurons and muscle weakness. Autosomal recessive SMA is the most common form and is caused by homozygous deletions/mutations of the *SMIN1* gene. However, families with dominant inherited SMA have been reported, for most of them the causal gene remains unknown. Recently, we and others have identified heterozygous mutations in *BICD2* as causative for autosomal dominant SMA, lower extremity-predominant, 2 (SMALED2) and hereditary spastic paraplegia (HSP). *BICD2* encodes the Bicaudal D2 protein, which is considered to be a golgin, due to its coiled-coil (CC) structure and interaction with the small GTPase RAB6A located at the Golgi apparatus. Golgins are resident proteins in the Golgi apparatus and form a matrix that helps to maintain the structure of this organelle. Golgins are also involved in the regulation of vesicle transport. *In vitro* overexpression experiments and studies of fibroblast cell lines derived from patients, showed fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus. In the current review, we will discuss possible causes for this disruption, and the consequences at cellular level, with a view to better understand the pathomechanism of this disease.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Georg Haase, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Albena Jordanova, University of Antwerp and Vlaams Instituut voor Biotechnologie, Belgium Odile Boespflug-Tanguy, Paris Diderot University, France

> *Correspondence: Brunhilde Wirth brunhilde.wirth@uk-koeln.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 31 July 2015 Accepted: 09 October 2015 Published: 05 November 2015

Citation:

Martinez-Carrera LA and Wirth B (2015) Dominant spinal muscular atrophy is caused by mutations in BICD2, an important golgin protein. Front. Neurosci. 9:401. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00401 Keywords: BICD2, SMALED2, SMA, Golgi fragmentation, endocytosis, RAB6A, dynein, dynactin

Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) is a diverse group of genetic disorders characterized by aberrant development and/or loss of spinal motor neurons, and muscle weakness without sensory neuron involvement (Wee et al., 2010). SMA is usually classified by the pattern of weakness (i.e., proximal or distal) and mode of inheritance (autosomal recessive, autosomal dominant, X-linked).

Autosomal recessive SMA linked to chromosome 5 (5q-SMA) is the most common form accounting for up to 95% of the SMA cases, and is caused by homozygous deletion/mutation of the survival motor neuron 1 (*SMN1*) gene, localized on chromosome 5q12-q13 (Lefebvre et al., 1995; Wirth, 2000). The 5q-SMA is classified into different types based on onset and severity of symptoms. The most severe form of 5q-SMA (type I) has an onset within the first 6 months of life, permanent inability to seat without support and usually death within 2 years (Iannaccone et al., 1993; Rudnik-Schöneborn et al., 1996). The intermediate form of 5q-SMA (type II) has an onset between 6 and 18 months of life, ability to seat but not to walk and death usually occurs after the age of 2 years. A milder form is the 5q-SMA type III with an onset at around 3 years of age, ability to stand and walk but because of progressive muscle weakness, the patients mostly are wheelchairbound as the disease progresses (Zerres and Rudnik-Schöneborn, 1995; Zerres et al., 1995). The 5q-SMA type IV, also called "adult SMA," is considered the mildest and less severe form with a late onset of around 30 years of age (Zerres et al., 1995). All the mentioned forms of 5q-SMA commonly share proximal muscle weakness with slow progression in case of type II-IV SMA.

In contrast to autosomal recessive 5q-SMA, the autosomal dominant SMA (ADSMA) forms are less frequent, milder, with vague progression and probably, even under-diagnosed. In approx. 70% of individuals with ADSMA the genetic cause is still unknown. However, due to remarkable advances in next generation sequencing and gene discovery, the number of newly described causative genes increases continuously.

Beside autosomal dominant SMA lower extremitypredominant 1 (SMALED1, OMIM #58600) caused by mutations in dynein cytoplasmic 1 heavy chain 1 protein (*DYNC1H1*; OMIM *600112), we and others have recently identified heterozygous variants in *BICD2* (OMIM *609797) as causative for autosomal dominant SMA, lower extremitypredominant, 2, (SMALED2; OMIM #615520) and hereditary spastic paraplegia (HSP) (Neveling et al., 2013; Oates et al., 2013; Peeters et al., 2013).

CLINICAL FEATURES OF INDIVIDUALS CARRYING MUTATIONS IN BICD2

Individuals carrying heterozygous missense variants in BICD2 exhibit muscle weakness and atrophy predominantly of the proximal lower limbs. However, in some cases the distal lower limbs are also affected, and in few others upper limbs are additionally compromised. The initial reasons for clinical counseling are commonly the difficulties in walking (waddling gait and toe walking), and delayed motor milestones. Contractures are reported frequently, and few patients present congenital hip dysplasia. Notoriously, many patients show evident wasting of the lower limbs and a very broad upper body, which resembles a bodybuilder-like shape. Symptoms are usually present at birth or appear in early childhood, but some cases with adult onset have been also described (Table 1; Neveling et al., 2013; Oates et al., 2013; Peeters et al., 2013; Synofzik et al., 2014; Rossor et al., 2015). The course of disease is slowly progressive or non-progressive. Due to the mild phenotype, patients are sometimes diagnosed as SMA type IV, the mildest form of the classical 5q-SMA. However, most cases of SMALED2 present a congenital or early onset with foot deformities and joint contractures, and difficulties when began walking (Frijns et al., 1994; Adams et al., 1998; Oates et al., 2012; Neveling et al., 2013). One infant who died of other causes at 14 months of age showed in the post-mortem examination decreased number of anterior horn cells in the lumber and cervical spine with no peripheral nerve pathology confirming a SMA (Oates et al., 2012).

Two families affected by an HSP phenotype associated to *BICD2* variants, have been described (Oates et al., 2013; Novarino et al., 2014). In the first family, the affected individuals presented features in adulthood, and showed lower-limb spasticity and hyperreflexia as is typical for HSP. It is also reported, a slow progression of contractures, weakness, and wasting (Oates et al., 2013). Regarding the association of this specific variant with the development of HSP but not SMALED2, it would be of particular interest to exclude the involvement of secondary disease-causing genes, resulting then in a multigenic disease, instead of a monogenic form. The second family with HPS

linked to *BICD2* is consanguineous, and the affected individuals carry the homozygous variant in *BICD2*, c.G1823A, p.S608L (Novarino et al., 2014). This variant was identified by whole-exome sequencing in combination with network analysis, and is the only homozygous variant reported in *BICD2* so far.

Numerous experimental attempts have been made leading to a better understanding of the physiological role of BICD2 and yielded first insights into possible effects of variants in *BICD2* on a cellular and molecular level (**Table 2**). However, further investigation is needed to fully understand the pathomechanism of how mutations in BICD2 can cause SMALED2 and rarely HSP-like phenotype. Next, we summarize the mutation spectrum and functional knowledge about BICD2, and focus on Golgi fragmentation as a cellular consequence of certain BICD2 mutations, as a possible mechanism to explain failure in neuronal development and maintenance.

GENETIC SPECTRUM OF PATHOGENIC VARIANTS FOUND IN *BICD2* IN PATIENTS WITH SMALED2

BICD2 localizes in chromosomal region 9q22.31 and encodes a canonical isoform of 824 amino acids. All the variants found in patients with SMALED2 are heterozygous and lead to single amino acid substitutions (**Figure 1**). The most common variant reported is the c.320C>T, p.Ser107Leu, found in 29 of 49 cases corresponding to 5 of 13 families described with SMALED2. This variant is located within a CpG dinucleotide (Neveling et al., 2013; Oates et al., 2013; Peeters et al., 2013; Bansagi et al., 2015; Rossor et al., 2015). The cytosine-guanine (CpG) dinucleotide is considered a hotspot for pathological variants. Cytosine is subject for methylation however, spontaneous deamination of 5-methylcytosine may occur, yielding thymine instead (Shen et al., 1994).

BICD2 IS HIGHLY CONSERVED AMONG SPECIES

Bicaudal-D (BicD) was identified first in Drosophila melanogaster in a mutant screen for dominant maternal-effect proteins. Lossof-function mutations in BicD interfere with the determination of the oocyte, while gain-of-function substitutions (e.g., p.Glu224Lys, p.Phe684Ile) disrupt the establishment of anterior and posterior polarity giving rise to bicaudal (two tails) embryos (Mohler and Wieschaus, 1986; Steward, 1987; Schüpbach and Wieschaus, 1991). BicD null mutations are recessively lethal (Ran et al., 1994). Further studies show that BicD is a component of dynein-based transport and is implicated in the transport of mRNA (e.g., clathrin heavy chain and osk) to specific cellular regions of the fly during oogenesis and embryogenesis (Figure 2; Bullock and Ish-Horowicz, 2001). Experimental evidence suggested that BicD, together with clathrin heavy chain, mediates endocytosis during oocyte development (Vazquez-Pianzola et al., 2014). BicD is also involved in the regulation of bi-directional transport of lipid droplets (Larsen et al., 2008).

02 substitutions.
ö
B
carrying
patients
ED2
SMAL
ď
summary
Clinical
÷

Variant/ Mutation	Onset	x/x	Motor ability	x/y	Muscle weakness	x/y	Muscle atrophy	x/x	Contractures	x/y	Congenital hip dysplasia. x/y	References
c.320C>T p.Ser107Leu	Congenital <3 years 3-12 years	9/29 10/29 10/29	Delayed motor milestones Waddling gait Toe walking	10/29 25/29 7/29	LL prox and distal LL prox Additional UL prox Additional UL distal	18/29 11/29 1/29 2/29	LL prox and distal LL prox Shoulder girdle	18/29 5/29 10/29	Foot Hips Ankles Achiles tendon	15/29 3/29 7/29 4/29	2/29	Neveling et al., 2013 Peeters et al., 2013 Oates et al., 2013
c.563A> C p.Asn188Thr	<3 years	4/5	Delayed motor milestones Waddling gait Toe walking	1/5 2/5 1/5	LL prox	5/5	LL prox	5/5	2		4/5	Neveling et al., 2013
c.565A> T p.lle189Phe	Congenital	1/1	Delayed motor milestones Wheelchair dependent	1/1	LL prox and distal Additional UL	1/1	LL prox and distal	1/1	Ankles, knees and hips	1/1	1/1	Oates et al., 2013
c.1502G>C p.Arg501Pro	Congenital 3–12 years	2/5 3/5	Delayed motor milestones Waddling gait Toe walking	2/5 3/5 3/5	LL prox and distal LL distal	2/5 2/5	LL prox and distal	4/5	Foot Achiles tendon	3/5 3/5	1/5	Oates et al., 2013
c.1523A>C p.Lys508Thr	Adulthood	1/1	Abnormal gait, difficulty walking	1/1	LL prox and distal	1/1	LL distal	1/1	Hips and knees	1/1	N	Oates et al., 2013
c.1604C>T p.Ala535Val	Congenital	2/2	Delayed motor milestones Waddling gait	2/2 2/2	LL prox and distal	2/2	LL prox and distal	2/2	Foot	2/2	1/2	Rossor et al., 2015
c.2108C>T p.Thr703Leu	Congenital	2/2	Difficulty walking Crutch-assisted	2/2 1/2	LL prox and distal Additional UL distal	2/2 2/2	LL prox	2/2	Foot	2/2	N	Neveling et al., 2013
c.2239C>T p.Arg747Cys	3–12 years Adulthood	1/3 2/3	Toe walking Difficulty walking and climbing	3/3 3/3	LL prox	3/3	LL prox	3/3	OL		°Z	Synofzik et al., 2014
c.2321A>G p.Glu774Gly	3–12 years	1/1	Delayed motor milestones Waddling gait	1/1	LL prox and distal	1/1	LL prox and distal	1/1	OL		0 Z	Peeters et al., 2013
v/v x of a total	esera seser n jo	ont feature	11 Invite limbs 11 under lin	our								

TABLE 2 | Summary of possible molecular mechanism involved in SMALED2 due to BICD2 substitutions.

Variant/Mutation	Mechanism proposed	Mechanism proposed by
c.320C>T/ p.Ser107Leu	Higher interaction with DIC and p150Glued subunit of dynactin	Oates et al., 2013; Peeters et al., 2013
c.563A>C/p.Asn188Thr	Slight Golgi fragmentation	Neveling et al., 2013
c.1502G>C/p.Arg501Pro	Higher interaction with DIC and p150Glued subunit of dynactin	Oates et al., 2013
c.2108C>T/p.Thr703Leu	Prominent Golgi fragmentation	Neveling et al., 2013
c.2321A>G/p.Glu774Gly	Less interaction with Rab6a	Peeters et al., 2013



There is only one *BicD* gene in invertebrates, while mammals have two homologs *BICD1* and *BICD2*. BICD1 and BICD2 interact with the dynein-dynactin motor complex (Hoogenraad et al., 2001), and both have been associated with Golgi-ER transport (Matanis et al., 2002). Studies in *Bicd2* knockout mice revealed, that BICD2 has an important role in neuronal cell migration (**Figure 2**) (Jaarsma et al., 2014). The *Bicd2* knockout mice present severe developmental defects of the cerebellar cortex, however other brain regions and spinal cord appear normal (Jaarsma et al., 2014).

BICD2 STRUCTURE AND ORGANIZATION

Studies in *Drosophila* revealed that more than half of the BicD protein consists of heptad repeats. A heptad repeat is a repeating pattern of seven amino acids where hydrophobic residues are preferentially located at positions 1 and 4 (McLachlan and Karn, 1983). These heptad repeats mediate the packaging of one helix against another, forming coiled-coil (CC) structures made up of two or three protein molecules and resulting in homo- or heterodimers or in multimers (Bruccoleri et al., 1986). The BICD protein is predicted to consist of CC domains: the N-terminal domain contains the coiled-coil segment 1 (CC1) and the coiled-coil segment 2 (CC2), and the C-terminal contains the

coiled-coil segment 3 (CC3). Studies in *Drosophila* and mammals suggested, that BICD interacts with itself forming homodimers (Oh et al., 2000; Hoogenraad et al., 2001). In the case of BICD2, the segment 1 of the N-terminal domain (CC1, amino acids 10–321) binds to the C-terminal segment (CC3, amino acids 706–810) (Hoogenraad et al., 2001). A hypothetical model proposes that as a result of this interaction between segments, the soluble free BICD2 folds up, and only when C-terminal segment engages in an interaction with other proteins, the N-terminal segment of the BICD2 becomes available for interaction with other proteins (Hoogenraad et al., 2001). These protein interactions seem to be determining for the cellular distribution of BICD2 and the fulfillment of its specific function (**Figures 1, 2**).

THE ROLE OF BICD2 IN THE GOLGI APPARATUS AND DYNEIN-DYNACTIN COMPLEX

One of the most studied binding partners of BICD2 is the dynein-dynactin complex. Cytoplasmic dynein is the major responsible motor protein for transporting a large variety of cargos toward the minus ends of microtubules (Kardon and Vale, 2009). Dynactin is a protein complex that stimulates dynein processivity and participates in cargo binding (Holleran et al.,



1998; Schroer, 2004). Dynein and dynactin directly bind to each other through the interaction of dynein intermediate chain and dynactin subunit p150 (Vaughan et al., 1995; Waterman-Storer et al., 1995; King et al., 2003). The N-terminal domain of BICD2 binds to the dynein-dynactin complex via interaction with the p50 subunit of the dynactin complex (Hoogenraad et al., 2001). Studies *in vivo* and *in vitro* suggested, that the N-terminus of BICD2 promotes a stable interaction between dynein and dynactin (Splinter et al., 2012). In this context it is particularly interesting to mention that mutations in cytoplasmic dynein DYNC1H1 causes SMALED1 (Harms et al., 2012; Tsurusaki et al., 2012; Peeters et al., 2015). See the Review Jaarsma and Hoogenraad (2015).

The C-terminal segment of BICD2 shows the highest degree of evolutionary conservation and is described as the cargobinding domain (Hoogenraad et al., 2001; Terenzio and Schiavo, 2010). BICD2 is considered a linker protein that acts between a cargo bound to its C-terminal segment and the dynein-dynactin complex associated to its N-terminal segment. The C-terminal segment of BICD2 binds strongly to the active form of the RAB6A GTPase and is responsible for Golgi targeting (Hoogenraad et al., 2001, 2003).

RAB6A is part of a big RAB family of more than 60 members (Zerial and McBride, 2001). RAB proteins shift dynamically between an active membrane-associated GTP-bound form and an inactive cytosolic GDP-bound form (Pfeffer, 2001; Zerial and McBride, 2001). RAB proteins are associated with membranes via geranylgeranyl groups that are attached to cysteine residues at

the C-terminus (Stenmark, 2009). Guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) are responsible for the activation of RAB proteins by catalyzing the exchange of GDP for GTP (Delprato et al., 2004; Stenmark, 2009). Experimental evidence suggested that GEFs are responsible for targeting the RAB proteins to specific membranes (Gerondopoulos et al., 2012; Blümer et al., 2013). The active, membrane-bound RAB proteins are involved in membrane traffic, by binding with specific proteins (Grosshans et al., 2006).

The small GTPase RAB6A is involved in intra-Golgi transport. Several studies support that RAB6A coordinates the retrograde COPI-independent Golgi-ER pathway, which is considered a recycling route for Golgi-resident glycosylation enzymes (Martinez et al., 1997; Girod et al., 1999; White et al., 1999; Storrie et al., 2000). The active form of RAB6A (GTP-bound) recruits BICD2 to the trans-Golgi membrane via direct interaction with the C-terminal domain of BICD2 (Hoogenraad et al., 2001; Matanis et al., 2002; Short et al., 2002; Bergbrede et al., 2009; Matsuto et al., 2015). Recent reports suggest that BICD2 may stabilize the active RAB6A, by inhibiting its GTPase activity and thus increasing the GTP-bound membrane-associated RAB6A (Matsuto et al., 2015). Once the C-terminal segment of BICD2 binds to RAB6A, the N-terminal segment of BICD2 becomes available and recruits the dynein-dynactin complex. This recruitment is considered a critical step for the microtubule retrograde traffic. In this manner, a coordinated action between RAB6A, BICD2 and the dynein-dynactin complex controls COPI-independent Golgi-ER transport (Matanis et al., 2002).

Hence BICD2 has an abundant CC structure, localizes at the Golgi complex, and interacts with a member of the RAB family of GTPases (RAB6A), it is considered to be a golgin (Barr and Short, 2003; Short et al., 2005; Goud and Gleeson, 2010).

Golgins are proteins associated with the Golgi apparatus and help to maintain the organized architecture of this dynamic organelle. One type of golgins consists of resident transmembrane-Golgi proteins which are necessary for tethering membranes together (Barr and Short, 2003). Another type of golgins corresponds to proteins that are recruited to the Golgi apparatus, and are associated with components of the trafficking machinery. BICD2 is included in this last class (Barr and Short, 2003).

MUTATIONS IN BICD2 CAUSE GOLGI FRAGMENTATION

The effects of the BICD2 domains on the integrity of the Golgi apparatus have been studied in detail (Hoogenraad et al., 2001, 2003; Splinter et al., 2012). Although the C-terminal domain targets the BICD2 to the Golgi apparatus, the overexpression of the N-terminal segment perturbs the Golgi organization (Hoogenraad et al., 2001). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus has been associated with inhibition of dynein function (Burkhardt et al., 1997; Harada et al., 1998; Quintyne et al., 1999).

Based on the association of BICD2 with RAB6A and Golgi targeting, we performed immunofluorescent staining of the Golgi apparatus of fibroblast cells derived from the patients carrying heterozygous mutations in *BICD2*.

We observed a prominent fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus in primary fibroblast cells harboring the p.Thr703Leu substitution (C-terminal) and a milder fragmentation in cells with the p.Asn188Thr substitution (N-terminal) (Neveling et al., 2013) (**Figure 3**). The individuals carrying the mutation p.Thr703Leu show a more severe phenotype including congenital contractures, while the individuals carrying the mutation p.Asn188Thr do not present contractures. Thus, in the case of these two cell lines showing Golgi fragmentation, the grade of fragmentation seems to correlate with the severity of the disease (Neveling et al., 2013). Although, Golgi fragmentation is not a common feature in all the cell lines carrying mutations in BICD2 (Oates et al., 2013; Peeters et al., 2013).

The BICD2 mutations p.Thr703Leu and p.Asn188Thr may cause fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus due to conformational changes of BICD2 that alter protein function and affect the structure of the Golgi. How amino acid substitution at the positions Thr703 and Asn188 impact intramolecular interactions and probably protein folding remains elusive, as there is no crystalloid structure of BICD2 or the region harboring these mutations available. The alteration in the Golgi structure could also be a secondary effect of alteration in the microtubule organization. The integrity and positioning of the



FIGURE 3 | The mutations in BICD2, p.Thr703Leu and p.Asn188Thr, triggered Golgi-fragmentation in Primary Fibroblast Cells. (A–C) Modified data as published previously (Neveling et al., 2013), showing the Golgi apparatus of control fibroblasts and patients fibroblasts. The Golgi apparatus was immunostained with antibody against the Golgi marker ML160. (D–F) Magnification in monochrome of (A–C) for better visualization and comparison. Please note the prominent unfolded and disperse structure of the Golgi apparatus in cells carrying the mutation p.Thr703Leu and the intermedium or mild dispersion in the cells carrying the mutations p.Asn188Thr. For detail information and quantification, please read (Neveling et al., 2013).

Golgi apparatus seems to have an important role in neuronal polarization and development (de Anda et al., 2005).

POTENTIAL CONSEQUENCES OF GOLGI FRAGMENTATION ON NEURONAL DEVELOPMENT AND MAINTENANCE

Proper development of neurons is vital to fulfill and maintain the precise connectivity of the nervous system. Neurons are among the most polarized cell types and consist of a cell body from which specialized structures emerge, the neurites. In a very coordinated process, only one of the neurites grows long becoming an axon, while the other neurites acquire dendritic identity (Goslin et al., 1989; Craig and Banker, 1994; Polleux and Snider, 2010).

Previous studies have shown that in completely undifferentiated neurons, the centrosomes, Golgi apparatus and late/recycling endosomes cluster together to the area where the first neurite will form, which is in turn opposite from the plane of the last mitotic division (de Anda et al., 2005). The coordinated activity of these organelles is necessary for the polarization of the neuron.

Besides axon development, it has been suggested that the Golgi apparatus has an important role in dendrite maintenance and shape (Horton and Ehlers, 2003; Lewis and Polleux, 2012; Ori-McKenney et al., 2012). Non-neuronal cells contain one Golgi apparatus while many neurons contain several Golgi, the somatic Golgi and the dendritic Golgi centers called "Golgi outposts." These dendritic Golgi outposts function similarly to the somatic Golgi, providing dendrites with substantial secretory capacity. The Golgi outposts appear during early neuronal differentiation, and may form as fragments derived from somatic Golgi that expand into dendrites, as the dendrites grow (Horton and Ehlers, 2003). The Golgi structure, dynamics and localization seem to have an important effect on neuronal development and maintenance, and an alteration in any of them could trigger degeneration or failure in correct maturation.

REFERENCES

- Adams, C., Suchowersky, O., and Lowry, R. B. (1998). Congenital autosomal dominant distal spinal muscular atrophy. *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 8, 405–408. doi: 10.1016/S0960-8966(98)00042-X
- Bansagi, B., Griffin, H., Ramesh, V., Duff, J., Pyle, A., Chinnery, P. F., et al. (2015). The p.Ser107Leu in BICD2 is a mutation 'hot spot' causing distal spinal muscular atrophy. *Brain.* doi: 10.1093/brain/awv159. [Epub ahead of print].
- Barr, F. A., and Short, B. (2003). Golgins in the structure and dynamics of the Golgi apparatus. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 15, 405–413. doi: 10.1016/S0955-0674(03)00054-1
- Bergbrede, T., Chuky, N., Schoebel, S., Blankenfeldt, W., Geyer, M., Fuchs, E., et al. (2009). Biophysical analysis of the interaction of Rab6a GTPase with its effector domains. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 2628–2635. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M806003200
- Blümer, J., Rey, J., Dehmelt, L., Mazel, T., Wu, Y. W., Bastiaens, P., et al. (2013). RabGEFs are a major determinant for specific Rab membrane targeting. J. Cell Biol. 200, 287–300. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201209113
- Bruccoleri, R. E., Novotny, J., Keck, P., and Cohen, C. (1986). Two-stranded alpha-helical coiled-coils of fibrous proteins: theoretical analysis of supercoil formation. *Biophys. J.* 49, 79–81. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3495(86)83601-3

Additionally to SMALED2, other motor neurodegenerative diseases like ALS, have been associated with Golgi fragmentation (Gonatas et al., 1992; Mourelatos et al., 1994). However, it is still not clear why motor neurons but not other neuronal cells are affected. This effect might be attributable, to specific requirements of motor neurons during development that are different from other neuronal populations.

In conclusion, pathogenic substitutions in BICD2 causes SMALED2 with an autosomal dominant inheritance. Patients with SMALED2 show slowly to non-progressive muscle weakness of proximal and distal mainly of lower extremities, with a quite broad clinical spectrum. The majority of patients show congenital or early onset with foot deformities and joint contractures. However, some patients present a late onset and have very mild and non-progressive appearance. Commonly seems to be a wide aperture of the upper body (body-building shape). BICD2 is a golgin adaptor protein. The various BICD2 substitutions found in patients with SMALED2 impair interaction to other binding partners such as dynein-dynactin, RAB6A etc. and thus impair most likely cellular processes such as axonal transport, vesicular transport, Golgi integrity etc, which however needs further intensive functional studies. It is not understood why these mutations cause specifically loss of spinal motor neurons, since BICD2 is expressed in all neurons, is essential in neuronal migration and in positioning of the nucleus in the cell. There is also a quite broad phenotypic variability even in patients with the same mutation, suggesting the influence of modifying factors, which also need to be investigated.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Community's Seventh Framework Program FP7/2007-2013 under grant agreement no 2012-305121 (Project acronym NeurOmics), Deutsche Forschungsgemeinsschaft (Wi-945/14-2; Wi-945/16-1 and RTG 1960 to BW) and Center for Molecular Medicine Cologne (C11) to BW.

- Bullock, S. L., and Ish-Horowicz, D. (2001). Conserved signals and machinery for RNA transport in *Drosophila* oogenesis and embryogenesis. *Nature* 414, 611–616. doi: 10.1038/414611a
- Burkhardt, J. K., Echeverri, C. J., Nilsson, T., and Vallee, R. B. (1997). Overexpression of the dynamitin (p50) subunit of the dynactin complex disrupts dynein-dependent maintenance of membrane organelle distribution. J. Cell Biol. 139, 469–484. doi: 10.1083/jcb.139.2.469
- Craig, A. M., and Banker, G. (1994). Neuronal polarity. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 17, 267–310. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ne.17.030194.001411
- de Anda, F. C., Pollarolo, G., Da Silva, J. S., Camoletto, P. G., Feiguin, F., and Dotti, C. G. (2005). Centrosome localization determines neuronal polarity. *Nature* 436, 704–708. doi: 10.1038/nature03811
- Delprato, A., Merithew, E., and Lambright, D. G. (2004). Structure, exchange determinants, and family-wide rab specificity of the tandem helical bundle and Vps9 domains of Rabex-5. *Cell* 118, 607–617. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.08.009
- Frijns, C. J., Van Deutekom, J., Frants, R. R., and Jennekens, F. G. (1994). Dominant congenital benign spinal muscular atrophy. *Muscle Nerve* 17, 192–197. doi: 10.1002/mus.880170210
- Gerondopoulos, A., Langemeyer, L., Liang, J. R., Linford, A., and Barr, F. A. (2012). BLOC-3 mutated in Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome is a

Rab32/38 guanine nucleotide exchange factor. *Curr. Biol.* 22, 2135–2139. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2012.09.020

- Girod, A., Storrie, B., Simpson, J. C., Johannes, L., Goud, B., Roberts, L. M., et al. (1999). Evidence for a COP-I-independent transport route from the Golgi complex to the endoplasmic reticulum. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 1, 423–430. doi: 10.1038/15658
- Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., Mourelatos, Z., Chen, Y., Gonatas, J. O., Appel, S. H., et al. (1992). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 140, 731–737.
- Goslin, K., Birgbauer, E., Banker, G., and Solomon, F. (1989). The role of cytoskeleton in organizing growth cones: a microfilament-associated growth cone component depends upon microtubules for its localization. J. Cell Biol. 109, 1621–1631. doi: 10.1083/jcb.109.4.1621
- Goud, B., and Gleeson, P. A. (2010). TGN golgins, Rabs and cytoskeleton: regulating the Golgi trafficking highways. *Trends Cell Biol.* 20, 329–336. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2010.02.006
- Grosshans, B. L., Ortiz, D., and Novick, P. (2006). Rabs and their effectors: achieving specificity in membrane traffic. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 11821–11827. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0601617103
- Harada, A., Takei, Y., Kanai, Y., Tanaka, Y., Nonaka, S., and Hirokawa, N. (1998). Golgi vesiculation and lysosome dispersion in cells lacking cytoplasmic dynein. *J. Cell Biol.* 141, 51–59. doi: 10.1083/jcb.141.1.51
- Harms, M. B., Ori-McKenney, K. M., Scoto, M., Tuck, E. P., Bell, S., Ma, D., et al. (2012). Mutations in the tail domain of DYNC1H1 cause dominant spinal muscular atrophy. *Neurology* 78, 1714–1720. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182556c05
- Holleran, E. A., Karki, S., and Holzbaur, E. L. (1998). The role of the dynactin complex in intracellular motility. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 182, 69–109. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7696(08)62168-3
- Hoogenraad, C. C., Akhmanova, A., Howell, S. A., Dortland, B. R., De Zeeuw, C. I., Willemsen, R., et al. (2001). Mammalian Golgi-associated Bicaudal-D2 functions in the dynein-dynactin pathway by interacting with these complexes. *EMBO J.* 20, 4041–4054. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.15.4041
- Hoogenraad, C. C., Wulf, P., Schiefermeier, N., Stepanova, T., Galjart, N., Small, J. V., et al. (2003). Bicaudal D induces selective dynein-mediated microtubule minus end-directed transport. *EMBO J.* 22, 6004–6015. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg592
- Horton, A. C., and Ehlers, M. D. (2003). Dual modes of endoplasmic reticulumto-Golgi transport in dendrites revealed by live-cell imaging. J. Neurosci. 23, 6188–6199.
- Iannaccone, S. T., Browne, R. H., Samaha, F. J., and Buncher, C. R. (1993). Prospective study of spinal muscular atrophy before age 6 years. DCN/SMA Group. *Pediatr. Neurol.* 9, 187–193. doi: 10.1016/0887-8994(93)90082-N
- Jaarsma, D., and Hoogenraad, C. (2015). Cytoplasmic dynein and its regulatory proteins in Golgi pathology in nervous system disorders. *Front. Neurosci.* 9:397. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00397
- Jaarsma, D., Van den Berg, R., Wulf, P. S., Van Erp, S., Keijzer, N., Schlager, M. A., et al. (2014). A role for Bicaudal-D2 in radial cerebellar granule cell migration. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 3411. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4411
- Kardon, J. R., and Vale, R. D. (2009). Regulators of the cytoplasmic dynein motor. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10, 854–865. doi: 10.1038/nrm2804
- King, S. J., Brown, C. L., Maier, K. C., Quintyne, N. J., and Schroer, T. A. (2003). Analysis of the dynein-dynactin interaction *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 14, 5089–5097. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E03-01-0025
- Larsen, K. S., Xu, J., Cermelli, S., Shu, Z., and Gross, S. P. (2008). BicaudalD actively regulates microtubule motor activity in lipid droplet transport. *PLoS ONE* 3:e3763. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003763
- Lefebvre, S., Bürglen, L., Reboullet, S., Clermont, O., Burlet, P., Viollet, L., et al. (1995). Identification and characterization of a spinal muscular atrophy-determining gene. *Cell* 80, 155–165. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(95) 90460-3
- Lewis, T. L. Jr., and Polleux, F. (2012). Neuronal morphogenesis: golgi outposts, acentrosomal microtubule nucleation, and dendritic branching. *Neuron* 76, 862–864. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.11.019
- Martinez, O., Antony, C., Pehau-Arnaudet, G., Berger, E. G., Salamero, J., and Goud, B. (1997). GTP-bound forms of rab6 induce the redistribution of Golgi proteins into the endoplasmic reticulum. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 94, 1828–1833. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.5.1828

- Matanis, T., Akhmanova, A., Wulf, P., Del Nery, E., Weide, T., Stepanova, T., et al. (2002). Bicaudal-D regulates COPI-independent Golgi-ER transport by recruiting the dynein-dynactin motor complex. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 4, 986–992. doi: 10.1038/ncb891
- Matsuto, M., Kano, F., and Murata, M. (2015). Reconstitution of the targeting of Rab6A to the Golgi apparatus in semi-intact HeLa cells: a role of BICD2 in stabilizing Rab6A on Golgi membranes and a concerted role of Rab6A/BICD2 interactions in Golgi-to-ER retrograde transport. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1853, 2592–2609. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.05.005
- McLachlan, A. D., and Karn, J. (1983). Periodic features in the amino acid sequence of nematode myosin rod. J. Mol. Biol. 164, 605–626. doi: 10.1016/0022-2836(83)90053-0
- Mohler, J., and Wieschaus, E. F. (1986). Dominant maternal-effect mutations of Drosophila melanogaster causing the production of double-abdomen embryos. Genetics 112, 803–822.
- Mourelatos, Z., Hirano, A., Rosenquist, A. C., and Gonatas, N. K. (1994). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus of motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Clinical studies in ALS of Guam and experimental studies in deafferented neurons and in beta, beta'-iminodipropionitrile axonopathy. *Am. J. Pathol.* 144, 1288–1300.
- Neveling, K., Martinez-Carrera, L. A., Hölker, I., Heister, A., Verrips, A., Hosseini-Barkooie, S. M., et al. (2013). Mutations in BICD2, which encodes a golgin and important motor adaptor, cause congenital autosomaldominant spinal muscular atrophy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 92, 946–954. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.04.011
- Novarino, G., Fenstermaker, A. G., Zaki, M. S., Hofree, M., Silhavy, J. L., Heiberg, A. D., et al. (2014). Exome sequencing links corticospinal motor neuron disease to common neurodegenerative disorders. *Science* 343, 506–511. doi: 10.1126/science.1247363
- Oates, E. C., Reddel, S., Rodriguez, M. L., Gandolfo, L. C., Bahlo, M., Hawke, S. H., et al. (2012). Autosomal dominant congenital spinal muscular atrophy: a true form of spinal muscular atrophy caused by early loss of anterior horn cells. *Brain* 135, 1714–1723. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws108
- Oates, E. C., Rossor, A. M., Hafezparast, M., Gonzalez, M., Speziani, F., MacArthur, D. G., et al. (2013). Mutations in BICD2 cause dominant congenital spinal muscular atrophy and hereditary spastic paraplegia. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 92, 965–973. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.04.018
- Oh, J., Baksa, K., and Steward, R. (2000). Functional domains of the *Drosophila* bicaudal-D protein. *Genetics* 154, 713–724.
- Ori-McKenney, K. M., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2012). Golgi outposts shape dendrite morphology by functioning as sites of acentrosomal microtubule nucleation in neurons. *Neuron* 76, 921–930. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.10.008
- Peeters, K., Bervoets, S., Chamova, T., Litvinenko, I., De Vriendt, E., Bichev, S., et al. (2015). Novel mutations in the DYNC1H1 tail domain refine the genetic and clinical spectrum of dyneinopathies. *Hum. Mutat.* 36, 287–291. doi: 10.1002/humu.22744
- Peeters, K., Litvinenko, I., Asselbergh, B., Almeida-Souza, L., Chamova, T., Geuens, T., et al. (2013). Molecular defects in the motor adaptor BICD2 cause proximal spinal muscular atrophy with autosomal-dominant inheritance. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 92, 955–964. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.04.013
- Pfeffer, S. R. (2001). Rab GTPases: specifying and deciphering organelle identity and function. *Trends Cell Biol.* 11, 487–491. doi: 10.1016/S0962-8924(01) 02147-X
- Polleux, F., and Snider, W. (2010). Initiating and growing an axon. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 2:a001925. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect. a001925
- Quintyne, N. J., Gill, S. R., Eckley, D. M., Crego, C. L., Compton, D. A., and Schroer, T. A. (1999). Dynactin is required for microtubule anchoring at centrosomes. *J. Cell Biol.* 147, 321–334. doi: 10.1083/jcb.147.2.321
- Ran, B., Bopp, R., and Suter, B. (1994). Null alleles reveal novel requirements for Bic-D during *Drosophila* oogenesis and zygotic development. *Development* 120, 1233–1242.
- Rossor, A. M., Oates, E. C., Salter, H. K., Liu, Y., Murphy, S. M., Schule, R., et al. (2015). Phenotypic and molecular insights into spinal muscular atrophy due to mutations in BICD2. *Brain* 138, 293–310. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awu356
- Rudnik-Schöneborn, S., Forkert, R., Hahnen, E., Wirth, B., and Zerres, K. (1996). Clinical spectrum and diagnostic criteria of infantile spinal muscular atrophy:

further delineation on the basis of SMN gene deletion findings. *Neuropediatrics* 27, 8–15. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-973741

- Schroer, T. A. (2004). Dynactin. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 759–779. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.20.012103.094623
- Schüpbach, T., and Wieschaus, E. (1991). Female sterile mutations on the second chromosome of *Drosophila* melanogaster. II. Mutations blocking oogenesis or altering egg morphology. *Genetics* 129, 1119–1136.
- Shen, J. C., Rideout, W. M. III, and Jones, P. A. (1994). The rate of hydrolytic deamination of 5-methylcytosine in double-stranded DNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22, 972–976. doi: 10.1093/nar/22.6.972
- Short, B., Haas, A., and Barr, F. A. (2005). Golgins and GTPases, giving identity and structure to the Golgi apparatus. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1744, 383–395. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2005.02.001
- Short, B., Preisinger, C., Schaletzky, J., Kopajtich, R., and Barr, F. A. (2002). The Rab6 GTPase regulates recruitment of the dynactin complex to Golgi membranes. *Curr. Biol.* 12, 1792–1795. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(02)01221-6
- Splinter, D., Razafsky, D. S., Schlager, M. A., Serra-Marques, A., Grigoriev, I., Demmers, J., et al. (2012). BICD2, dynactin, and LIS1 cooperate in regulating dynein recruitment to cellular structures. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 23, 4226–4241. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E12-03-0210
- Stenmark, H. (2009). Rab GTPases as coordinators of vesicle traffic. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10, 513–525. doi: 10.1038/nrm2728
- Steward, R. (1987). Dorsal, an embryonic polarity gene in *Drosophila*, is homologous to the vertebrate proto-oncogene, c-rel. *Science* 238, 692–694. doi: 10.1126/science.3118464
- Storrie, B., Pepperkok, R., and Nilsson, T. (2000). Breaking the COPI monopoly on Golgi recycling. *Trends Cell Biol.* 10, 385–391. doi: 10.1016/S0962-8924(00)01818-3
- Synofzik, M., Martinez-Carrera, L. A., Lindig, T., Schöls, L., and Wirth, B. (2014). Dominant spinal muscular atrophy due to BICD2: a novel mutation refines the phenotype. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 85, 590–592. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2013-306777
- Terenzio, M., and Schiavo, G. (2010). The more, the better: the BICD family gets bigger. EMBO J. 29, 1625–1626. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.78
- Tsurusaki, Y., Saitoh, S., Tomizawa, K., Sudo, A., Asahina, N., Shiraishi, H., et al. (2012). A DYNC1H1 mutation causes a dominant spinal muscular atrophy with lower extremity predominance. *Neurogenetics* 13, 327–332. doi: 10.1007/s10048-012-0337-6
- Vaughan, K. T., Holzbaur, E. L., and Vallee, R. B. (1995). Subcellular targeting of the retrograde motor cytoplasmic dynein. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 23, 50–54. doi: 10.1042/bst0230050

- Vazquez-Pianzola, P., Adam, J., Haldemann, D., Hain, D., Urlaub, H., and Suter, B. (2014). Clathrin heavy chain plays multiple roles in polarizing the *Drosophila* oocyte downstream of Bic-D. *Development* 141, 1915–1926. doi: 10.1242/dev.099432
- Waterman-Storer, C. M., Karki, S., and Holzbaur, E. L. (1995). The p150Glued component of the dynactin complex binds to both microtubules and the actinrelated protein centractin (Arp-1). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 1634–1638. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.5.1634
- Wee, C. D., Kong, L., and Sumner, C. J. (2010). The genetics of spinal muscular atrophies. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 23, 450–458. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0b013e32833e1765
- White, J., Johannes, L., Mallard, F., Girod, A., Grill, S., Reinsch, S., et al. (1999). Rab6 coordinates a novel Golgi to ER retrograde transport pathway in live cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 147, 743–760. doi: 10.1083/jcb.147. 4.743
- Wirth, B. (2000). An update of the mutation spectrum of the survival motor neuron gene (SMN1) in autosomal recessive spinal muscular atrophy (SMA). *Hum. Mutat.* 15, 228–237. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1004(200003)15:3<228::AID-HUMU3>3.0.CO;2-9
- Zerial, M., and McBride, H. (2001). Rab proteins as membrane organizers. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 2, 107–117. doi: 10.1038/ 35052055
- Zerres, K., and Rudnik-Schöneborn, S. (1995). Natural history in proximal spinal muscular atrophy. Clinical analysis of 445 patients and suggestions for a modification of existing classifications. *Arch. Neurol.* 52, 518–523. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1995.00540290 108025
- Zerres, K., Rudnik-Schöneborn, S., Forkert, R., and Wirth, B. (1995). Genetic basis of adult-onset spinal muscular atrophy. *Lancet* 346, 1162. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(95)91835-3

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Martinez-Carrera and Wirth. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Alteration of Golgi Structure by Stress: A Link to Neurodegeneration?

Eduardo A. Alvarez-Miranda^{1*}, Markus Sinnl² and Hesso Farhan^{3,4*}

¹ Department of Industrial Engineering, Universidad de Talca, Curicó, Chile, ² Department of Statistics and Operations Research, University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ³ Biotechnology Institute Thurgau, Kreuzlingen, Switzerland, ⁴ Department of Biology, University of Konstanz, Konstanz, Germany

The Golgi apparatus is well-known for its role as a sorting station in the secretory pathway as well as for its role in regulating post-translational protein modification. Another role for the Golgi is the regulation of cellular signaling by spatially regulating kinases, phosphatases, and GTPases. All these roles make it clear that the Golgi is a central regulator of cellular homeostasis. The response to stress and the initiation of adaptive responses to cope with it are fundamental abilities of all living cells. It was shown previously that the Golgi undergoes structural rearrangements under various stress conditions such as oxidative or osmotic stress. Neurodegenerative diseases are also frequently associated with alterations of Golgi morphology and many stress factors have been described to play an etiopathological role in neurodegenerative diseases. Using a combination of bioinformatics modeling and literature mining, we will investigate evidence for such a tripartite link and we ask whether stress-induced Golgi arrangements are cause or consequence in neurodegeneration.

Keywords: Golgi, Alzheimers disease, neurodegenration, computational modeling, protein-protein interactions, cellular stress response

INTRODUCTION

The Golgi apparatus is an organelle that is best known for its roles in post-translational protein modification and in secretory trafficking. In addition, the Golgi is increasingly being viewed as a signaling hub, which is not only able to respond to environmental factors, but it also able to modulate the outcome of signaling cascades by housing signaling molecules (Farhan and Rabouille, 2011; Cancino and Luini, 2013). As will be discussed later in greater detail, one of the signals that the Golgi is responsive to is cellular stress that was shown to induce prominent alterations of Golgi morphology.

Cells across all organisms have evolved adaptive mechanisms to survive adverse environmental conditions such as limited availability of nutrients, too high or low temperatures, non-physiologic pH, changes in tonicity, exposure to oxidative radicals, or the accumulation of toxic protein species. How cells deal with these stressors determines the fate of the cell, which might be survival, death, or malignant transformation. Therefore, it is not surprising that cellular stress responses were suggested to be involved in a plethora of diseases among them neurodegenerative disorders (Bhat et al., 2015; Coppedè and Migliore, 2015), which are the focus of the current work. Most diseases from that spectrum feature structural and functional alterations of the Golgi apparatus. Because stress signaling also affects the Golgi, we are tempted to speculate that the stress-Golgi connection is relevant for neurodegeneration. However, whether this is the case remains unclear.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Catherine Rabouille, Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Frederic A. Bard, Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, Singapore Antonino Colanzi, National Research Council of Italy, Italy Angelika Hausser, University of Stuttgart, Germany

*Correspondence:

Eduardo A. Alvarez-Miranda ealvarez@utalca.cl; Hesso Farhan hesso.farhan@uni-konstanz.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 18 August 2015 Accepted: 29 October 2015 Published: 12 November 2015

Citation:

Alvarez-Miranda EA, Sinnl M and Farhan H (2015) Alteration of Golgi Structure by Stress: A Link to Neurodegeneration? Front. Neurosci. 9:435. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00435 What has also not been investigated so far is the extent of the connections between stress and Golgi regulators. Another important question in this context is whether the Golgi simply acts as a receiver of stress signals, or whether we can infer evidence for the Golgi sending signals that modulate, stress, neurodegeneration, or both.

The goal of the current work is to use a computational biology approach to build a network of protein-protein interactions (PPI) to identify the extent of connections between stress signaling pathways and putative Golgi regulators. To do so, we will make use of the results of different RNAi screens that uncovered numerous potential regulators of Golgi morphology. The inferred network can be used to search for signatures of relevance for neurodegeneration. We will first review and introduce the relevant literature on the Golgi apparatus in neurodegenerative diseases and then the evidence for stress signaling and its connection to this organelle. We will also briefly introduce the different RNAi screens that were carried out in the past to investigate the secretory pathway and discuss the rationale behind inclusion and exclusion of their hits.

THE GOLGI IN NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES

A cellular event that has been observed in several neurodegenerative diseases is the fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus (Fan et al., 2008). In a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), severe Golgi fragmentation in motoneurons was observed, which was found to be due to loss of the Golgi-localized tubulin-binding cofactor E (TBCE; Bellouze et al., 2014). Depletion of TBCE not only resulted in a defect of microtubules biogenesis at the Golgi, but also affected vesicular transport from the Golgi to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). This paper provides a potential mechanistic link between functional and structural alteration of the Golgi and a neurodegenerative disorder. The link between Golgi fragmentation and ALS was also reported in other studies. A transgenic mouse ALS model expressing mutated superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) displayed an up-regulation of the microtubule-depolymerizing protein stathmin (Strey et al., 2004) and a similar dysregulation of vesicular transport. In addition, Golgi fragmentation was also described as a result of inhibition of ER-to-Golgi trafficking (Cutrona et al., 2013). In Alzheimer's Disease (AD), Golgi fragmentation is linked to the serine/threonine kinase CDK5 shown to phosphorylate Golgi matrix proteins such as GM130 (Sun et al., 2008) and GRASP65 (Joshi et al., 2014). Tau, a microtubule binding protein that forms aggregates in AD was also shown to be phosphorylated by CDK5, an event thought to contribute to formation of neurofibrillary tangles (Castro-Alvarez et al., 2014) as well as leading to Golgi fragmentation (Liazoghli et al., 2005). Phosphorylation of tau subsequent to Golgi fragmentation has also been reported (Jiang et al., 2014). However, while the case of CDK5 in AD is reasonably well understood, we lack a broad and systematic understanding of the signaling pathways that regulate Golgi architecture under conditions relevant to neurodegeneration.

THE GOLGI UNDER STRESS

All organelles of the secretory pathway receive signaling inputs initiated by external stimuli. Thereby, these organelles are capable of sensing the presence or absence of growth factors, nutrients, and amino acids (Farhan et al., 2010; Farhan and Rabouille, 2011; Zacharogianni et al., 2011). Among the signals that the Golgi responds to is cellular stress. Several stresses have been already reported to affect this organelle and alterations induced by osmotic stress were among the first to be reported. Because the plasma membrane is freely permeable to water, cells have evolved evolutionary highly conserved mechanisms to cope with changes in the osmolarity of their surrounding medium. In mammalian cells, hypertonic treatment was reported more than two decades ago to inhibit ER-to-Golgi transport (Docherty and Snider, 1991). Hypotonic stress induces tubulation of Golgi membranes (Lee and Linstedt, 1999), whereas hyperosmotic conditions induce its fragmentation and redistribution of the Golgi back to the ER (Lee and Linstedt, 1999). It remains incompletely understood how these phenomena are generated from a molecular or mechanistic point of view. However, there is experimental evidence that the osmotic shock is perturbing the function of vesicle trafficking machineries, which thereby indirectly results in Golgi fragmentation. For instance, hypoosmotic shock results in a reduction in the number of export sites on the ER (Lee and Linstedt, 1999). Thus, there is less trafficking from the ER to the Golgi, a condition described by others to result in alterations of Golgi structure (Cutrona et al., 2013). The identity of the signaling pathways that lead to these phenomena remains elusive. In addition, hypo-osmotic conditions seemed to also potentiate retrograde transport from the Golgi to the ER (Lee and Linstedt, 1999). Again, how this effect is mediated is totally unclear. Contrary to this, hyperosmotic conditions seemed to only affect anterograde transport from the ER to the Golgi, but did not seem to have any major effect on retrograde transport (Lee and Linstedt, 1999). How different osmotic conditions differentially affect membrane trafficking and what the (patho) physiologic significance of his might be remains to be determined.

Recently, DNA damage induced by camptothecin, doxorubicin, or by ionizing radiation was also shown to induce dispersal of the Golgi (Farber-Katz et al., 2014). Of note, this effect was not related to the induction of apoptosis, a condition that also disrupts the Golgi. In support of the notion that this effect is a pure stress response was the elucidation of the signaling pathway that is behind this phenomenon. DNA damage was shown to activate a kinase called DNA-PK, which in turn phosphorylates the Golgi protein GOLPH3 (Farber-Katz et al., 2014). GOLPH3 is a protein that localizes to the trans-Golgi by binding to phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate. At the Golgi, GOLPH3 mediates an interaction with the actin cytoskeleton by binding to MYO18A (Dippold et al., 2009). Phosphorylation of GOLPH3 by DNA-PK results in increased binding to MYO18A, thereby increasing the tension on Golgi membranes exerted by the actin cytoskeleton, which ultimately leads to Golgi fragmentation. At the same time trafficking from the Golgi to the cell surface is disrupted. This response of the Golgi seems to mediate a resistance of the cell to the DNA damaging agent (Farber-Katz et al., 2014). An important finding of this work was that the Golgi fragmentation phenotype was persistent and was observed to some extent for a month after the damaging agent was removed (Farber-Katz et al., 2014). This observation could be interpreted in two ways: either Golgi fragmentation is a protective (adaptive) response that persists in order to maintain cell fitness for prolonged periods of time. Alternatively, Golgi fragmentation is a pathologic response and a sign that cell fitness is reduced or that the cell is now more prone to other damaging agents.

Altogether, it appears that the Golgi apparatus is subject to extensive regulation by different classes of stressors. We are aware that it might be relevant to discriminate between different types of stress. However, for the sake of simplicity, we will only generally talk about stress and its connection to the Golgi, without going into detail of the different types of stress.

SYSTEMATIC APPROACHES INVESTIGATING REGULATORS OF THE GOLGI

The advent of systems biology opened up new avenues to study various biological processes in a holistic manner. In the current paper we focus on RNAi screens, as these will form the basis for our computational inference strategy. To date two RNAi screens exist that aimed at identifying genes that when depleted result in a structural alteration of the Golgi (Chia et al., 2012; Millarte et al., 2015). We are aware of other screens of the secretory pathway that were recently discussed (Farhan et al., 2010; Zacharogianni et al., 2011; Simpson et al., 2012; Farhan, 2015) and we will discuss here reasons for their (partial) exclusion. Firstly, the Golgi modulating hits from the first kinome and phosphatome screen of the human secretory pathway (Farhan et al., 2010) are included in a more recent work (Millarte et al., 2015). All other hits in that screen did not affect the Golgi and therefore will not be considered for our analysis. The first screen in Drosophila for regulators of the secretory pathway (Zacharogianni et al., 2011) cannot be considered because the structure of the Golgi in fly cells is slightly different from mammalian cells. Indeed, the Golgi in mammalian cells is a single copy organelle that fragments in response to external or internal signals. In Drosophila, there are multiple pairs of Golgi stacks per cell (Kondylis et al., 2007; Kondylis and Rabouille, 2009) and therefore it is very difficult to assess the impact of the Drosophila screen on the mammalian Golgi apparatus. We therefore, decided not include these hits for further analysis.

We first considered the candidates identified by Chia et al. who screened the human kinome and phosphatome searching for regulators of the Golgi. This work revealed 159 Golgiregulating genes, with several enriched sub-networks such as phospholipid metabolism or the acto-myosin cytoskeleton (Chia et al., 2012; **Table 1**). While the enrichment of these modules is not surprising in light of previous research, the work also revealed that several components of mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways are potentially involved in Golgi regulation. This includes the so-called stress-activated MAPK family members, supporting the notion that the Golgi is a stresssensing organelle. Another potential Golgi-regulating MAPK family member is ERK8 (also known as MAPK15). ERK8 was found to partially localize to the Golgi and to negatively regulate O-glycosylation (Chia et al., 2014). Notably, ERK8 was found earlier to mediate the stress response of nutrient deprivation to the ER exit sites (Zacharogianni et al., 2011). Therefore, ERK8 might be considered as a potential link between stress signaling and the Golgi.

Second, we have recently screened a focused library of 103 genes for effects on Golgi structure and identified at least 70 potential regulators of Golgi structure (Millarte et al., 2015; **Table 1**). The goal of that screen was to identify new regulators of cell migration, but it nevertheless serves (together with the Chia screen) as a repository for proteins that affect the Golgi, either directly or indirectly.

A third screen from which we partially derive hits for our computational analysis is from the first full-genome screen in human cells for regulators of secretion (Simpson et al., 2012). While this screen identified over 600 hits that regulate the secretion of a transmembrane cargo protein, we largely lack information on the impact of these hits on Golgi morphology. However, we found 78 hits that were tested for their impact on Golgi structure (**Table 1**) and we will include these into our collection of hits that affect Golgi morphology. All these Golgi modulating hits from the three RNA screens will be used to assemble a network of Golgi regulators, which we will link computationally to genes known to be involved in stress signaling.

HYPOTHESIS

As outlined in the introductory section, it is not clear whether the stress-Golgi connection is relevant for the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative disorders. In **Figure 1**, we schematically illustrate this relationship and the known (black arrows) and unknown connections (red arrows). As can be seen, it is unclear whether and how Golgi alteration contributes to neurodegeneration. What is also unknown is whether Golgi alteration mends or deteriorates stress signaling. Based on this illustration the following hypothetical possibilities exist:

Scenario 1: Golgi fragmentation is only a byproduct of neuronal cell death and has no role in the pathogenesis of ND. **Scenario 2:** The Golgi is altered consequently to stress signaling, but this is only an epiphenomenon that has no further role in the disease.

Scenario 3: The Golgi fragments in response to stress as a response of the cell to fight the stress. Here Golgi fragmentation is a protective event and interfering with this response is not a desired therapeutic option.

Scenario 4: Stress signals results in Golgi fragmentation, which acts as a positive feedback module that enhances stress signaling and enhances neurodegeneration. Here, blocking Golgi fragmentation is a desired therapeutic strategy.

TABLE 1 | List of Golgi regulating proteins identified from RNAi screens.

Α

Hits from	Millarte	et	al.	(2015)
-----------	----------	----	-----	--------

ABL1	MGC45428	RYK
AKAP28	NCOA3	SH3RF1
BCR	NEDD9	SNARK
BLK	NYD-SP25	SRC
BMP2K	P38IP	SSH1
CASP10	PAK4	STK22B
CBL	PARD6A	STK22C
CCM2	PDCD10	STYX
CD44	PIK3C2B	TLR4
CDC42	PLCE1	TMED7
CDK4	PLCG1	TRRAP
CLTC	PLCG2	UNC119
DUSP23	PLK3	ZAP70
FYN	PRKACA	
GOLGA2	PRKCA	
HRAS	PRKCM	
KIT	PRKCZ	
LYN	PSPH	
MAPK1	PTPRC	
MAPK10	PTPRN	
MAPK14	RAC1	
MAPK8IP3	RAF1	
MAPK9	RGS2	
MAPRE1	RIPK1	
MBL2	RP6-213H19.1	

в

Hits from Chia et al. (2012)

ACPT	СНКА	EPM2A	LCP2	NPR2	PPP2R2B	ROS1	ТХК
ACYP1	CKM	ERBB3	MALT1	NRBP1	PPP2R5E	RP6-213H19.1	ULK4
ADCK1	CLK1	EVI1	MAP2K7	NRG3	PPP3R1	RPRD1A	VRK3
ADCK5	COL4A3BP	EXOSC10	MAP3K13	PAG1	PRAGMIN	RPS6KB1	WNK3
AK3L1	CSNK1A1L	FBP2	MAP3K2	PAK1	PRKAG1	RPS6KB2	YSK4
AK7	CSNK1E	FGFR1	MAP3K8	PAK3	PRKAG3	SCYL3	YWHAH
ALPK2	CSNK1G1	FGFR2	MAP4K2	PANK3	PRKCE	SHPK	
ALPP	CSNK1G2	FLT3	MAP4K3	PAPSS1	PRKCSH	SPHK1	
ANGPT4	CSNK2B	GALK1	MAPK11	PAPSS2	PRKX	SQSTM1	
ANP32E	CXCL10	GAP43	MAPK15	PDGFRA	PRPS1L1	SRMS	
AURKB	DCLK2	GTF2H1	MAPKAPK5	PDK4	PTEN	SRPK2	
AXL	DGKD	HCK	MAPKSP1	PFKP	PTK2	STK32A	
BCKDK	DGKQ	HIPK1	MARK4	PHKG1	PTK7	STK36	
BMPR1B	DGKZ	HIPK3	MAST1	PHKG2	PTP4A1	STK4	
BMX	DLG3	HIPK4	MGC16169	PI4KA	PTP4A3	STK40	
BUB1	DMPK	HK1	MGC42105	PI4KB	PTPN14	TAOK2	
CAMK1	DUSP2	IGBP1	MKNK1	PINK1	PTPRA	TESK1	
CCRK	DUSP22	IGF1R	MKNK2	PIP5K1A	PTPRD	TGFBR1	
CDC2	DUSP6	IKBKE	MPP2	PKLR	PTPRF	TNIK	
CDC25A	DUSP8	INPP1	MTMR1	PPM1D	PTPRN2	TNS3	

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

_
D
•

Hits from Chia et al. (2012)

nits ironi Ghia et al.	(2012)						
CDC2L2	EIF2AK2	IPMK	MYO3B	PPM1F	PTPRT	TRIB1	
CDC42BPA	ENPP7	ITK	NEK11	PPM1L	PTPRU	TRPM7	
CDC42BPG	EPHA1	ITPKA	NEK2	PPP1R11	PXK	TSKS	
CDKL2	EPHA8	ITPKB	NLK	PPP1R2P9	RIPK2	TTK	
CDKN1B	EPHB1	KHK	NME2	PPP2CA	ROCK1	TWF2	

С

Hits from Simpson et al. (2012)

ABHD1	GPT	RADIL
ABHD5	GRIN2C	RHOU
AC068775.1	GSG2	RIOK3
ACTR3	IL18R1	RXRA
AKAP5	INADL	SIRT2
AR	INPP5J	SOS2
ARHGAP12	KIF1C	SPRYD4
ARHGAP32	KIF26A	SRSF1
ARHGAP44	KIFAP3	SST
B3GAT2	KIRREL	STC1
C1orf201	KRT6B	SYT1
C1S	LRP4	SYT7
C22orf45	LUC7L3	TALDO1
CCDC124	LVRN	TANC2
CCR4	MAGIX	TM4SF19
CKAP2	MAPK15	TMTC1
CLPB	MAST3	TRIM41
CLSTN3	MXD4	TSPAN1
COPB2	NT5C	TTC37
COPG	NUDT4	TYRO3
CTGF	PLEKHM2	UBE2E1
DENND4C	PML	WDR75
EPDR1	PPFIA1	YY2
FAM177B	PROC	ZNF503
GLRB	PRR4	ZNF512
GPBP1	PTBP1	ZNF830

In scenarios where Golgi alteration is not linked to the disease (scenarios 1, 2), we expect that while Golgi and stress regulators might form a network, this network will be largely devoid of processes of any relevance to neurodegeneration. In the other scenarios the Golgi is on one hand a receiver of signals (in this case stress signals) and then plays either a protective (scenarios 3) or damaging (scenario 4) role. Our approach is compatible with the Golgi being a receiver of signals in the first line, because the computational inference will be based on hits that were identified as potential regulators of Golgi organization. Thus, the Golgi can be considered a received of signals transduced by these regulators. As for the possibilities that the Golgi sends signals, we would like to emphasize that our approach cannot easily distinguish this possibility from others. Nevertheless, as will been discussed below, we inferred few hypothetical cases where the Golgi might respond to stress signaling, to in turn emit signals that contributes to neurodegeneration.

COMPUTATIONAL INFERENCE OF A NETWORK LINKING STRESS PATHWAYS TO REGULATORS OF GOLGI MORPHOLOGY

PPI orchestrate a wide range of biological process and studying PPI networks has become increasingly important and valuable



in solving biological questions. Based on the three RNAi screens discussed above (Section The Golgi in Neurodegenerative Diseases), we have a collection of 320 hits (Table 1) that affect the morphology of the Golgi. In addition, we performed a search of the literature for proteins that were known to be involved in the response to the following types of stress: Osmotic stress, oxidative stress, ER stress (and unfolded protein response), radiation stress, inflammation stress, and DNA damage response producing a list of 76 proteins (Table 2). This list includes canonical components of stress signaling pathways. We are aware of studies that analyzed changes of the proteome in neurons that respond to stress (Herrmann et al., 2013). However, the list of up- and down-regulated proteins represents the end-product of stress signaling, rather than components of stress pathways. Our aim is to investigate stress signaling at the Golgi and therefore, we decided to focus on components of stress signaling pathways.

After removing overlapping proteins between the list of stress and Golgi hits, we obtained an input list containing a total of 389 proteins that form the basis of the network inference. In this paper, the background interactome was built upon the BIOGRID database, which only relies on interactions that are supported by experimental evidence, and it is comprised of 6516 proteins and 174411 interactions. The source file can be obtained freely without the need for a license. In order to infer the network connecting the 389 proteins we looked for the connected subnetworks with the minimum number of proteins required to link them. This search was performed by solving, via mathematical programming techniques, the so-called Steiner Tree problem.

The Steiner Tree problem is a classical problem in the field of Combinatorial Optimization (Magnanti and Wolsey, 1995). A network (in our case the entire human interactome) can be defined as N = N(V,E). V are the nodes (all the human proteins) including a subset of so-called terminal nodes T (that is, the input nodes, i.e., Golgi hits and stress genes). E are the interactions between the nodes (the edges linking the nodes). The Steiner Tree problem finds a sub-network connecting all the elements in T (input nodes) using the minimum possible number of edges. Achieving such connection might require the use of additional nodes that were not originally among the input nodes. These additional nodes are called "Steiner nodes" and in this context

TABLE 2 | Stress-related proteins.

DAXX	FADD	MAPK8
ALKBH8	Fas	MAPK9
ALS2	FXYD2	MAPKAPK2
APOE	GADD45A	MAPKAPK3
ATF4	GPX1	MAPT
ATF6	GPX3	MEF2C
ATM	GPX6	NEFH
BAD	GSK3B	NEFL
BCL2	HSPB1	NEFM
BID	HSPB2	NFATC1
CACNA1A	JUN	NFATC3
CAPN1	JUND	NFE2L2
CAPN2	KEAP1	PAK1
CAPNS1	LPL	PPM1B
CASP12	MAP2K3	PPP2CA
CDC25B	MAP2K4	PRKDC
CDK5	MAP2K6	PRPH
CDK5R1	MAP2K7	RELA
CSNK1D	MAP3K1	SOD1
CSNK2A1	MAP3K11	TRAF2
DDIT3	MAP3K5	TXN
DUSP1	MAP3K7	TXNRD1
DUSP4	MAPK10	ZAK
EEF2K	MAPK11	
ERN1	MAPK12	
ERN2	MAPK13	
	MAPK14	

they can be regarded as proteins that enable a functional linkage among the proteins comprised in T.

To solve this optimization problem, we use mathematical programming techniques; in particular, a specially tailored algorithm able to solve the Steiner Tree problem on the considered interactome in few seconds (Fischetti et al., 2014). Note that if it is not possible to connect all the elements in T, then the algorithms seeks for a sub-network spanning as many elements in T as possible, using as few edges as possible. The network resulting from this inference is depicted in Figure 2A as a typical "hairball" diagram to illustrate the strong connectivity in the network. Of the 389 input nodes, only 28 nodes do not appear in the network due to poor connectivity (proteins that have no known interaction partners). In addition, 57 additional nodes (Steiner nodes) were included to allow formation of a fully connected network, which indicates that stress pathway components and putative Golgi regulators are reasonably well connected.

We next asked which cellular processes are enriched in this network. This can be performed using a functional annotation clustering of gene ontology (GO) terms. However, we decided not to perform this analysis on the large network, because we will not be able to easily determine to which subnetworks a given enriched cellular process belongs. Therefore, we first aimed at de-bulking the large network and search whether it contains sub-networks. We used the ClustNsee plugin in



Cytoscape to search for clusters (Spinelli et al., 2013). The accuracy of the clustering algorithm was verified using a testnetwork containing very closely related proteins regulating COPI vesicle formation, COPII vesicles formation, and nuclear pore components. ClustNsee could faithfully distinguish subnetworks containing the three aforementioned cellular processes (data not shown). Using the clustering algorithm on our network shown in **Figure 2A** revealed the presence of nine clusters, which revealed several processes and signaling pathways of relevance to neurodegeneration (**Figure 2B**). Next we will discuss these nine clusters.

RELEVANCE OF THE INFERRED SUB-NETWORKS FOR NEURODEGENERATION

We analyzed the different clusters using the BinGO plugin into Cytoscape. BinGO determines the statistical enrichment of GO term annotations in biologic networks. We set the threshold to a statistical significance of ≤ 0.01 after Bonferroni correction. Clusters 1, 4, 6, and 9 did not reveal any notable enrichments of cellular processes and will therefore not be discussed further.

Cluster-2 CDK5

The most notable processes is the enrichment of the GO term "regulation of neuron apoptosis" (**Figure 2**) which included the proteins CDK5, CDK5R1, GPX1, and BCL2. As has been outlined above (Section The Golgi in Neurodegenerative Diseases), CDK5 is a serine/threonine kinase that was implicated by several groups to play a role in neurodegeneration (Liu et al., 2015). With respect to the Golgi, CDK5 was shown to phosphorylate the Golgi matrix protein GM130 and to thereby cause fragmentation of this organelle in a model of AD (Sun et al., 2008). CDK5 is also activated in response to neuronal stress and was shown to result in a defect in axonal transport, which is essential for neuronal viability (Klinman and Holzbaur, 2015).

Therefore, the cumulative evidence suggests that stressactivated CDK5 is involved in inducing neurodegeneration as well as Golgi fragmentation. We therefore looked into the local network of CDK5 within this cluster to search for more potential connections. The local interactome of CDK5 includes several other cyclin-dependent kinases, which are well-known to regulate the cell cycle. This explains why cell proliferation was one of the processes that were enriched in Cluster-2. However, neurons are post-mitotic and the presence of CDK5 in the nucleus was shown to play a role in suppressing the cell cycle in neurons (Zhang et al., 2010). The nuclear import of CDK5 is dependent on p27 (labeled as CDKN2B in the network in Figure 3). Inhibition of nuclear localization of CDK5 and its concomitant accumulation in the cytosol is considered an event that triggers neuronal cell death. Treatment of neurons with beta-amyloid, a major pathogenic protein in AD, was shown to disrupt the CDK5-p27 interaction and to result in cytoplasmic accumulation of CDK5 (Zhang et al., 2010). Thus, our approach captured this connection between stress, neurodegeneration and Golgi fragmentation and is therefore an indication that our approach is valid to uncover further evidence for this tripartite connection.

The next question that we asked above is whether the stressinduced Golgi fragmentation is part of the pathologic process. In other words, is the Golgi that receives stress signaling, in turn sending signals that contribute to neurodegeneration? We therefore searched the literature for kinases with known Golgi localization that would be activated by CDK5. Intriguingly, we identified LMTK2 (also known as CPRK) as such a candidate. LMTK2 is kinase with two transmembrane domains that localizes to various intracellular membranes, including the Golgi apparatus and is known to be a target for CDK5 (Kesavapany et al., 2003). LMTK2 is known to bind to and inhibit the protein phosphatase PP1 (Wang and Brautigan, 2002; Manser et al., 2012). Inhibition of PP1 is long considered a contributing factor in the pathogenesis of AD (da Cruz e Silva et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2005). We hypothesize that this is a case where stress signals to the Golgi. This leads to structural and functional changes of this organelle that contribute the neurodegeneration (Figure 3). In the current case, stress activates CDK5, which phosphorylates the neurofilament protein tau, an event of relevance to AD (Stoothoff and Johnson, 2005). Concomitantly, stress signaling also targets the Golgi, leading to its fragmentation (Sun et al.,



2008) and to activation of a protein at the Golgi (LMTK2) that itself contributes to neurodegeneration. Whether this hypothesis is true requires experimental testing. In addition, whether the fragmentation of the Golgi is itself a contributing factor also remains unclear.

APOE

the schematic in Figure 1.

Other processes of interest to neurodegeneration were axonogenesis and the response to axon injury. One of the proteins that plays a role in these processes is APOE, a stressrelevant protein that plays a role in axonogenesis. The human genome encodes for three alleles of ApoE: ApoE2, ApoE3, and ApoE4. The latter allele was linked to AD (Hyman et al., 1996). ApoE4 overexpression in mice results in axonal degeneration (Tesseur et al., 2000). Particles containing Apolipoprotein E (LpE) are produced by astrocytes in the brain and play a crucial role in lipid metabolism in this organ. Apoptosis in response to starvation-stress was prevented by LpE in a manner dependent on a PLCG1-PKC signaling axis (Hayashi et al., 2009). Of note, we have recently identified PLCG1 as a regulator of secretory trafficking and of Golgi structure (Millarte et al., 2015). Therefore, it might be that ApoE-to-PLCG1 signaling is involved in the modulation of neuronal fitness and of stress response. Whether this is the case remains to be tested in the future.

Among the Golgi hits, APOE is connected to TYRO3 and to MAST1. TYRO3 is a transmembrane tyrosine kinase, with unknown relevance for stress signaling. However, TYRO3 overexpression was found to counteract the production of beta-amyloid production and its deletion in mice increases the number of amyloid plaques (Zheng et al., 2012). MAST1 is a microtubule-associated kinase, that is poorly investigated and so far no clear connection between MAST1 and neurodegeneration or stress exists.

Cluster-3: Small GTPases and PAK

In this cluster, we again obtained processes relevant to proliferation as well as mitogenic signaling (insulin signaling). The main proteins within these processes were components of classical growth factor cascades (HRas, receptor tyrosine kinases, etc...). The enrichment of these processes is probably best explained by the fact that these pathways are survival pathways and therefore act to counteract neuronal death. Another interesting biologic process "cell projection organization," which goes in line with the enrichment of axonogenesis in Cluster-2. However, the enrichment of this process here was mainly due to the presence of the cytoskeletal regulator Rac1, which belongs to the Rho family of small GTPases. We noted the presence of other members, regulators and effectors of Rho GTPase signaling were also found here (yellow nodes in **Figure 4**).

We searched for evidence for a role of Rho GTPase signaling in neurodegenerative diseases. The PAK kinases are activated downstream of the two Rho family GTPases Cdc42 and Rac1 (both present in Cluster-3). The two major neuronal isoforms are PAK1 and PAK3, which are both found in the subnetwork depicted in Figure 3B. Mutations of PAK3 were shown to causally underlie nonsyndromic X-linked mental retardation (Allen et al., 1998). PAKs also mediate the pro-survival effect of the Rho family GTPase Rac1 (Johnson and D'Mello, 2005; Loucks et al., 2006). Although the cognitive dysfunction in AD patients correlates well with the formation of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, there is a subset of patients who have only little (or no) signs of such amyloid formation. In general the correlation between the histopathological signs of the disease and the clinical symptoms is far from being linear (Nelson et al., 2009). Therefore, it is likely that another factor contributes to the disease in addition to neuronal cell death. One such factor might be the alteration of neuronal function such as the formation of synapses. Based on our network analysis we suggest that stress signaling affects signaling by Rho GTPases and by PAKs leading to alterations of synaptogenesis, which might manifest itself as cognitive defects. In support of this is the observation that DOCK3, an activator for Rac1 exerts a cyto-protective effect on neuronal cells exposed to oxidative stress (Namekata et al., 2013, 2014). Furthermore, Huntingtininduced neurotoxicity was modulated by Rac1 and PAK2, thus supporting our suggestion that the role of Rho GTPases and PAKs in neurodegeneration should be reexamined in the context of stress signaling.

ALS is a neurodegenerative disease thought to involve inflammation and oxidative stress. The ALS-causing mutant protein Cu(+)/Zn(+) superoxide dismutase SOD1-G93A directly enhances the activity of the main ROS-producing enzyme in microglia, NADPH oxidase 2 (NOX2; Bedard and Krause, 2007). A major activator of NOX2 is the Rho-GTPase family member Rac1 (Hordijk, 2006), implying that Rac1 might be involved in neurodegeneration. Rac1 was also shown to be involved in mediating the neurotoxic effect of 1-42 β-amyloid peptides (Manterola et al., 2013). A similar effect of these amyloidogenic peptides was observed toward Cdc42, an effect that was further shown to affect the actin cytoskeleton (Mendoza-Naranjo et al., 2012). Notably, the GTPase Cdc42 was not only shown to localize to the Golgi, but also to be regulated at this compartment (Baschieri et al., 2014). It is unclear whether stress signaling affects Cdc42 at the Golgi and if so, whether this is of any relevance to neurodegeneration. At the moment, our network inference can only hypothesize about the existence of such a connection and certainly future research on endomembrane signaling of Rho GTPases will reveal more insights.

Cluster-5: Wnt and CK?

From the BinGO analysis of this cluster, we noted the enrichment of Wnt signaling and transforming growth receptor beta (TGFbeta) signaling (Figure 2B). It was proposed previously that Wnt signaling might play a protective role in neurodegeneration (for a review see Arrázola et al., 2015). However, our aim was to search for evidence for the relevance of the connection between Golgi, stress, and neurodegeneration. The enriched proteins within Wnt signaling where two members of the casein kinase 1 (CK1) family (CSNK1G1 and CSNK1G2), which were hits that were found to regulate Golgi structure (Chia et al., 2012). CK1 signaling is in general considered to inhibit Wnt signaling. Together with the notion that Wnt signaling is neuroprotective, it might be that activation of CK1 by stress could facilitate neurodegeneration via inhibition of Wnt signaling. With respect to the Golgi, members of the CK1 family were shown to be important for maintaining Golgi integrity and for trafficking to the Golgi (Greer et al., 2014). Cells stressed by misfolded proteins were shown to exhibit CK1-dependent phosphorylation of parkin (Yamamoto et al., 2005), a protein mutated in Parkinson's disease. Whether alzerations of Golgi structure modulate CK1 activity, or whether the modulation of CK1 activity itself has an impact on the Golgi in neurodegeneration cannot be addressed at the moment. Nevertheless, our network inference should motivate toward research on the role of CK1 signaling and its modulation of endomembrane traffic in neurodegeneration.

TGF-beta1 is known to exert a neuroprotective effect and to counteract neurodegenerative disease such as AD (Caraci et al., 2012). However, what is the connection to the Golgi biology and stress signaling? It was shown that a brief ischemic stress of the brain results in a stronger colocalization of TGFbeta1 with Golgi membranes, indicating a defect in its secretory trafficking



out of the Golgi (Hu et al., 2007). Concomitantly, the study also reported aberrant Golgi morphologies. Therefore, hypoxic stress of in neurons might result in alterations in trafficking of TGF-beta and are therefore expected to result in a reduction in TGF-beta signaling and a loss of its neuroprotective effects. In this scenario, alterations of the Golgi are an active part of the disease process. Whether this mechanism is true, or whether it is relevant for other stresses remains to be elucidated in the future.

Cluster-7: The Androgen Receptor Signaling Pathway

In this cluster, we noted the enrichment of "androgen receptor signaling pathway," prompting us to ask whether androgens play a role in the connection between stress, neurodegeneration, and the Golgi. Androgens are known to play a role in the pathogenesis of different neurodegenerative disorders. Disruption of androgen signaling was suggested to play a role in the pathogenesis of ALS and spinal bulbar muscular atrophy (SBMA), because the expression of the androgen receptor was found to be downregulated in motoneurons of diseased mice (Sheean et al., 2015). Because women are at twice as high risk to develop AD (Viña and Lloret, 2010), it has been speculated whether androgens might not represent a protective factor against this disorder. The exact reason for this sex-difference is unclear. However, the androgen receptor is located on the X chromosome, and an interesting hypothesis would be to test whether the risk for Alzheimer's correlates with the X-inactivation patterns (Ferrari et al., 2013). The androgen receptor was a hit in the full-genome screen for regulators of secretion (Simpson et al., 2012).

Nevertheless, a link to the Golgi is not self-evident. We therefore inspected the network around the androgen receptor in Figure 2A and noted the tyrosine kinase Src among the interaction partners. Members of the Src family were not only shown to reside at the Golgi, but their activation was also shown to result in Golgi fragmentation (Weller et al., 2010). Therefore, stress-induced Src signaling might result in Golgi fragmentation in neurodegenerative disorders. However, what is the biologic consequence of this Src-induced Golgi fragmentation? With respect to trafficking, Src signaling was recently suggested to activate the small GTPase Cdc42 leading to a facilitation of anterograde transport within the Golgi (Park et al., 2015). This is in line with a study that showed that Golgi fragmentation in neurons exposed to beta-amyloid facilitates secretion of amyloid precursors and thereby increases the deposition of toxic protein species outside cells (Joshi et al., 2014). Altogether, we postulate the following hypothesis: the lower levels of androgens in women and the decline of androgen levels in elder men results in reduced signaling by androgen receptor. Whether and how this modulates Src signaling at the Golgi, in particular in the presence of cellular stress requires experimental testing. We suggest that Src signaling is increased, resulting in Golgi fragmentation, which in turn facilitates the progression of the disease.

Cluster-8: NF-kB

Tis cluster revealed the enrichment of NF-kB signaling as well as the positive regulation of interleukin-2 (IL2) production. Although interesting, the enrichment of these pathways is not surprising. These are two well-established pathways downstream of inflammatory stimuli and the notion that neuroinflammation contributes to neurodegenerative disease is well documented (see for instance the very recent review by Steardo et al., 2015). Therefore, we will not discuss this in any further detail.

CONCLUDING REMARK

Our computational inference of a network between stress regulators and RNAi screening hits identified as putative Golgi regulators has revealed a clear enrichment of processes relevant for neurodegeneration. We emphasize, that our work is theoretical in nature and cannot replace the validation using "wet lab" experiments. Further, we stress that we are well aware of the limitation that are imposed by using this list of Golgi regulators, because they were identified in cells that were cultured under optimal growth conditions and therefore we might be missing some potential stress-specific regulators. In addition, the screens were performed in HeLa cells and not in neurons. The Golgi in neurons is different from epithelial cells as it was shown to form so called Golgi outposts far away from the somatic Golgi (Ehlers, 2007). Nevertheless, the fundamental organization of the Golgi is similar as every Golgi is organized as a stack of flattened cisternae and so far the Golgi is always involved in protein sorting and post-translational modification. Therefore, insights obtained from screens in HeLa cells are of potential relevance for the functional organization in neurons. In addition, the stress pathways operating in neurons and other cell types are essentially the same. Therefore, despite these limitations we think that our work will provide a starting point for future investigation on the role tripartite connection between the Golgi, stress signaling and neurodegeneration.

REFERENCES

- Allen, K. M., Gleeson, J. G., Bagrodia, S., Partington, M. W., MacMillan, J. C., Cerione, R. A., et al. (1998). PAK3 mutation in nonsyndromic X-linked mental retardation. *Nat. Genet.* 20, 25–30. doi: 10.1038/1675
- Arrázola, M. S., Silva-Alvarez, C., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2015). How the Wnt signaling pathway protects from neurodegeneration: the mitochondrial scenario. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:166. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00166
- Baschieri, F., Confalonieri, S., Bertalot, G., Di Fiore, P. P., Dietmaier, W., Leist, M., et al. (2014). Spatial control of Cdc42 signalling by a GM130-RasGRF complex regulates polarity and tumorigenesis. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 4839. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5839
- Bedard, K., and Krause, K. H. (2007). The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. *Physiol. Rev.* 87, 245–313. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00044.2005
- Bellouze, S., Schäfer, M. K., Buttigieg, D., Baillat, G., Rabouille, C., and Haase, G. (2014). Golgi fragmentation in pmn mice is due to a defective ARF1/TBCE cross-talk that coordinates COPI vesicle formation and tubulin polymerization. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 5961–5975. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu320
- Bhat, A. H., Dar, K. B., Anees, S., Zargar, M. A., Masood, A., Sofi, M. A., et al. (2015). Oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and neurodegenerative diseases; a mechanistic insight. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 74, 101–110. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2015.07.025
- Cancino, J., and Luini, A. (2013). Signaling circuits on the Golgi complex. *Traffic* 14, 121–134. doi: 10.1111/tra.12022
- Caraci, F., Spampinato, S., Sortino, M. A., Bosco, P., Battaglia, G., Bruno, V., et al. (2012). Dysfunction of TGF-β1 signaling in Alzheimer's disease: perspectives

Our analysis is supportive of a tripartite link between stress, Golgi alteration, and neurodegeneration. In some instances we found hypothetical evidence for a Golgi not only being a receiver of stress signals, but also that stress signaling to the Golgi triggers another signaling event that might deteriorate neurodegeneration (see scenario in **Figure 3**). Another is the de-regulated signaling by Rho family GTPases at the Golgi and the potential consequences for the pathogenesis of neurodegeneration (see Cluster-7 and Cluster-3). These, and other predictions we made should require experimental testing by the research community.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

EA acknowledges the support of the Chilean Council of Scientific and Technological Research, CONICYT, through the grant FONDECYT N.11140060 and through the Complex Engineering Systems Institute (ICM:P-05-004-F, CONICYT:FBO16). MS acknowledges support by the Austrian Research Fund (FWF, Project P 26755-N19). HF is supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation, the German Science Foundation, the Young Scholar Fund of the University of Konstanz and by the Canton of Thurgau. HF would like to than Catherine Rabouille for extensive and inspiring discussions about the role of the Golgi-stress connection in neurodegeneration.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnins. 2015.00435

for neuroprotection. Cell Tissue Res. 347, 291–301. doi: 10.1007/s00441-011-1230-6

- Castro-Alvarez, J. F., Uribe-Arias, S. A., Mejía-Raigosa, D., and Cardona-Gómez, G. P. (2014). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5, a node protein in diminished tauopathy: a systems biology approach. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:232. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00232
- Chia, J., Goh, G., Racine, V., Ng, S., Kumar, P., and Bard, F. (2012). RNAi screening reveals a large signaling network controlling the Golgi apparatus in human cells. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 8, 629. doi: 10.1038/msb.2012.59
- Chia, J., Tham, K. M., Gill, D. J., Bard-Chapeau, E. A., and Bard, F. A. (2014). ERK8 is a negative regulator of O-GalNAc glycosylation and cell migration. *Elife* 3:e01828. doi: 10.7554/elife.01828
- Coppedè, F., and Migliore, L. (2015). DNA damage in neurodegenerative diseases. *Mutat. Res.* 776, 84–97. doi: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2014.11.010
- Cutrona, M. B., Beznoussenko, G. V., Fusella, A., Martella, O., Moral, P., and Mironov, A. A. (2013). Silencing of mammalian Sar1 isoforms reveals COPII-independent protein sorting and transport. *Traffic* 14, 691–708. doi: 10.1111/tra.12060
- da Cruz e Silva, O. A., Fardilham, M., Henriques, A. G., Rebelo, S., Vieira, S., and da Cruz e Silva, E. F. (2004). Signal transduction therapeutics: relevance for Alzheimer's disease. J. Mol. Neurosci. 23, 123–142. doi: 10.1385/JMN:23:1-2:123
- Dippold, H. C., Ng, M. M., Farber-Katz, S. E., Lee, S. K., Kerr, M. L., Peterman, M. C., et al. (2009). GOLPH3 bridges phosphatidylinositol-4- phosphate and actomyosin to stretch and shape the Golgi to promote budding. *Cell* 139, 337–351. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.07.052
- Docherty, P. A., and Snider, M. D. (1991). Effects of hypertonic and sodiumfree medium on transport of a membrane glycoprotein along the secretory

pathway in cultured mammalian cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 146, 34-42. doi: 10.1002/jcp.1041460106

- Ehlers, M. D. (2007). Secrets of the secretory pathway in dendrite growth. *Neuron* 55, 686–689. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.08.009
- Fan, J., Hu, Z., Zeng, L., Lu, W., Tang, X., Zhang, J., et al. (2008). Golgi apparatus and neurodegenerative diseases. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 26, 523–534. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2008.05.006
- Farber-Katz, S. E., Dippold, H. C., Buschman, M. D., Peterman, M. C., Xing, M., Noakes, C. J., et al. (2014). DNA damage triggers Golgi dispersal via DNA-PK and GOLPH3. *Cell* 156, 413–427. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.023
- Farhan, H. (2015). Systems biology of the secretory pathway: what have we learned so far? *Biol. Cell* 107, 205–217. doi: 10.1111/boc.201400065
- Farhan, H., and Rabouille, C. (2011). Signalling to and from the secretory pathway. *J. Cell Sci.* 124, 171–180. doi: 10.1242/jcs.076455
- Farhan, H., Wendeler, M. W., Mitrovic, S., Fava, E., Silberberg, Y., Sharan, R., et al. (2010). MAPK signaling to the early secretory pathway revealed by kinase/phosphatase functional screening. *J. Cell Biol.* 189, 997–1011. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200912082
- Ferrari, R., Dawoodi, S., Raju, M., Thumma, A., Hynan, L. S., Maasumi, S. H., et al. (2013). Androgen receptor gene and sex-specific Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 34, 2077.e19-20. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.02.017
- Fischetti, M., Leitner, M., Ljubic, I., Luipersbeck, M., Monaci, M., Resch, M., et al. (2014). "Thinning out steiner trees a node-based model for uniform edge costs," *Workshop of the 11th DIMACS Implementation Challenge*, 2014 (Providence, RI).
- Greer, Y. E., Westlake, C. J., Gao, B., Bharti, K., Shiba, Y., Xavier, C. P., et al. (2014). Casein kinase 18 functions at the centrosome and Golgi to promote ciliogenesis. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 25, 1629–1640. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E13-10-0598
- Hayashi, H., Campenot, R. B., Vance, D. E., and Vance, J. E. (2009). Protection of neurons from apoptosis by apolipoprotein E-containing lipoproteins does not require lipoprotein uptake and involves activation of phospholipase Cgamma1 and inhibition of calcineurin. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 29605–29613. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.039560
- Herrmann, A. G., Deighton, R. F., Le Bihan, T., McCulloch, M. C., Searcy, J. L., Kerr, L. E., et al. (2013). Adaptive changes in the neuronal proteome: mitochondrial energy production, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and ribosomal dysfunction in the cellular response to metabolic stress. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 33, 673–683. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2012.204
- Hordijk, P. L. (2006). Regulation of NADPH oxidases: the role of Rac proteins. *Circ. Res.* 98, 453–462. doi: 10.1161/01.res.0000204727.46710.5e
- Hu, Z., Zeng, L., Xie, L., Lu, W., Zhang, J., Li, T., et al. (2007). Morphological alteration of Golgi apparatus and subcellular compartmentalization of TGFbeta1 in Golgi apparatus in gerbils following transient forebrain ischemia. *Neurochem. Res.* 32, 1927–1931. doi: 10.1007/s11064-007-9382-1
- Hyman, B. T., Gomez-Isla, T., West, H., Briggs, M., Chung, H., Growdon, J. H., et al. (1996). Clinical and neuropathological correlates of apolipoprotein E genotype in Alzheimer's disease. Window on molecular epidemiology. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 777, 158–165. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1996.tb34414.x
- Jiang, Q., Wang, L., Guan, Y., Xu, H., Niu, Y., Han, L., et al. (2014). Golgin-84associated Golgi fragmentation triggers tau hyperphosphorylation by activation of cyclin-dependent kinase-5 and extracellular signal-regulated kinase. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 1352–1363. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.11.022
- Johnson, K., and D'Mello, S. R. (2005). p21-Activated kinase-1 is necessary for depolarization-mediated neuronal survival. J. Neurosci. Res. 79, 809–815. doi: 10.1002/jnr.20415
- Joshi, G., Chi, Y., Huang, Z., and Wang, Y. (2014). Aβ-induced Golgi fragmentation in Alzheimer's disease enhances Aβ production. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, E1230–E1239. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1320192111
- Kesavapany, S., Lau, K. F., Ackerley, S., Banner, S. J., Shemilt, S. J., Cooper, J. D., et al. (2003). Identification of a novel, membrane-associated neuronal kinase, cyclin-dependent kinase 5/p35-regulated kinase. J. Neurosci. 23, 4975–4983.
- Klinman, E., and Holzbaur, E. L. (2015). Stress-induced CDK5 activation disrupts axonal transport via Lis1/Ndel1/Dynein. *Cell Rep.* 12, 462–473. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.06.032
- Kondylis, V., and Rabouille, C. (2009). The Golgi apparatus: lessons from Drosophila. FEBS Lett. 583, 3827–3838. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.09.048
- Kondylis, V., van Nispen tot Pannerden, H. E., Herpers, B., Friggi-Grelin, F., and Rabouille, C. (2007). The golgi comprises a paired stack that is separated at G2

by modulation of the actin cytoskeleton through Abi and Scar/WAVE. *Dev. Cell* 12, 901–915. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.03.008

- Lee, T. H., and Linstedt, A. D. (1999). Osmotically induced cell volume changes alter anterograde and retrograde transport, Golgi structure, and COPI dissociation. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 10, 1445–1462. doi: 10.1091/mbc.10.5.1445
- Liazoghli, D., Perreault, S., Micheva, K. D., Desjardins, M., and Leclerc, N. (2005). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus induced by the overexpression of wildtype and mutant human tau forms in neurons. *Am. J. Pathol.* 166, 1499–1514. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62366-8
- Liu, F., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., and Gong, C. X. (2005). Contributions of protein phosphatases PP1, PP2A, PP2B and PP5 to the regulation of tau phosphorylation. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 22, 1942–1950. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04391.x
- Liu, S. L., Wang, C., Jiang, T., Tan, L., Xing, A., and Yu, J. T. (2015). The role of Cdk5 in Alzheimer's Disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9369-x. [Epub ahead of print].
- Loucks, F. A., Le, S. S., Zimmermann, A. K., Ryan, K. R., Barth, H., Aktories, K., et al. (2006). Rho family GTPase inhibition reveals opposing effects of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase and Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription signaling cascades on neuronal survival. J. Neurochem. 97, 957–967. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.03802.x
- Magnanti, L., and Wolsey, L. (1995). "Optimal trees," in *Handbooks in Operations Research and Management Science, Vol. 7.*, ed G. Meurant (Elsevier), 503–615. doi: 10.1016/S0927-0507(05)80126-4
- Manser, C., Vagnoni, A., Guillot, F., Davies, J., and Miller, C. C. (2012). Cdk5/p35 phosphorylates lemur tyrosine kinase-2 to regulate protein phosphatase-1C phosphorylation and activity. *J. Neurochem.* 121, 343–348. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2012.07650.x
- Manterola, L., Hernando-Rodríguez, M., Ruiz, A., Apraiz, A., Arrizabalaga, O., Vellón, L., et al. (2013). 1-42 β-amyloid peptide requires PDK1/nPKC/Rac 1 pathway to induce neuronal death. *Transl. Psychiatry.* 3, e219. doi: 10.1038/tp.2012.147
- Mendoza-Naranjo, A., Contreras-Vallejos, E., Henriquez, D. R., Otth, C., Bamburg, J. R., Maccioni, R. B., et al. (2012). Fibrillar amyloid-β1-42 modifies actin organization affecting the cofilin phosphorylation state: a role for Rac1/cdc42 effector proteins and the slingshot phosphatase. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 29, 63–77. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2012-101575
- Millarte, V., Boncompain, G., Tillmann, K., Perez, F., Sztul, E., and Farhan, H. (2015). Phospholipase C γ1 regulates early secretory trafficking and cell migration via interaction with p115. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 26, 2263–2278. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E15-03-0178
- Namekata, K., Kimura, A., Kawamura, K., Guo, X., Harada, C., Tanaka, K., et al. (2013). Dock3 attenuates neural cell death due to NMDA neurotoxicity and oxidative stress in a mouse model of normal tension glaucoma. *Cell Death Differ.* 20, 1250–1256. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2013.91
- Namekata, K., Kimura, A., Kawamura, K., Harada, C., and Harada, T. (2014). Dock GEFs and their therapeutic potential: neuroprotection and axon regeneration. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.* 43, 1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2014.06.005
- Nelson, P. T., Braak, H., and Markesbery, W. R. (2009). Neuropathology and cognitive impairment in Alzheimer disease: a complex but coherent relationship. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 68, 1–14. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181919a48
- Park, S. Y., Yang, J. S., Schmider, A. B., Soberman, R. J., and Hsu, V. W. (2015). Coordinated regulation of bidirectional COPI transport at the Golgi by CDC42. *Nature* 521, 529–532. doi: 10.1038/nature14457
- Sheean, R. K., Weston, R. H., Perera, N. D., D'Amico, A., Nutt, S. L., and Turner, B. J. (2015). Effect of thymic stimulation of CD4+ T cell expansion on disease onset and progression in mutant SOD1 mice. *J. Neuroinflammation*. 12, 40. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0254-3
- Simpson, J. C., Joggerst, B., Laketa, V., Verissimo, F., Cetin, C., Erfle, H., et al. (2012). Genome-wide RNAi screening identifies human proteins with a regulatory function in the early secretory pathway. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 14, 764–774. doi: 10.1038/ncb2510
- Spinelli, L., Gambette, P., Chapple, C. E., Robisson, B., Baudot, A., Garreta, H., et al. (2013). Clust&See: a Cytoscape plugin for the identification, visualization and manipulation of network clusters. *BioSystems* 113, 91–95. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystems.2013.05.010
- Steardo, L. Jr., Bronzuoli, M. R., Iacomino, A., Esposito, G., Steardo, L., and Scuderi, C. (2015). Does neuroinflammation turn on the flame in Alzheimer's disease? Focus on astrocytes. *Front. Neurosci.* 9:259. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00259
- Stoothoff, W. H., and Johnson, G. V. (2005). Tau phosphorylation: physiological and pathological consequences. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1739, 280–297. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2004.06.017
- Strey, C. W., Spellman, D., Stieber, A., Gonatas, J. O., Wang, X., Lambris, J. D., et al. (2004). Dysregulation of stathmin, a microtubule-destabilizing protein, and upregulation of Hsp25, Hsp27, and the antioxidant peroxiredoxin 6 in a mouse model of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 165, 1701–1718. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63426-8
- Sun, K. H., de Pablo, Y., Vincent, F., Johnson, E. O., Chavers, A. K., and Shah, K. (2008). Novel genetic tools reveal Cdk5's major role in Golgi fragmentation in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 3052–3069. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-11-1106
- Tesseur, I., van Dorpe, J., Bruynseels, K., Bronfman, F., Sciot, R., van Lommel, A., et al. (2000). Prominent axonopathy and disruption of axonal transport in transgenic mice expressing human apolipoprotein E4 in neurons of brain and spinal cord. Am. J. Pathol. 157, 1495–1510. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440 (10)64788-8
- Viña, J., and Lloret, A. (2010). Why women have more Alzheimer's disease than men: gender and mitochondrial toxicity of amyloid-beta peptide. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 20(Suppl. 2), S527–S533. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-100501
- Wang, H., and Brautigan, D. L. (2002). A novel transmembrane Ser/Thr kinase complexes with protein phosphatase-1 and inhibitor-2. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 49605–49612. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209335200
- Weller, S. G., Capitani, M., Cao, H., Micaroni, M., Luini, A., Sallese, M., et al. (2010). Src kinase regulates the integrity and function of the Golgi apparatus

via activation of dynamin 2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107, 5863-5868. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0915123107

- Yamamoto, A., Friedlein, A., Imai, Y., Takahashi, R., Kahle, P. J., and Haass, C. (2005). Parkin phosphorylation and modulation of its E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 3390–3399. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M4077 24200
- Zacharogianni, M., Kondylis, V., Tang, Y., Farhan, H., Xanthakis, D., Fuchs, F., et al. (2011). ERK7 is a negative regulator of protein secretion in response to amino-acid starvation by modulating Sec16 membrane association. *EMBO J.* 30, 3684–3700. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2011.253
- Zhang, J., Li, H., and Herrup, K. (2010). Cdk5 nuclear localization is p27dependent in nerve cells: implications for cell cycle suppression and caspase-3 activation. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 14052–14061. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m109. 068262
- Zheng, Y., Wang, Q., Xiao, B., Lu, Q., Wang, Y., and Wang, X. (2012). Involvement of receptor tyrosine kinase Tyro3 in amyloidogenic APP processing and βamyloid deposition in Alzheimer's disease models. *PLoS ONE* 7:e39035. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039035

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Alvarez-Miranda, Sinnl and Farhan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The GOLPH3 pathway regulates Golgi shape and function and is activated by DNA damage

Matthew D. Buschman[†], Mengke Xing[†] and Seth J. Field^{*}

Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Department of Medicine, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, USA

The Golgi protein GOLPH3 binds to PtdIns(4)P and MYO18A, linking the Golgi to the

actin cytoskeleton. The GOLPH3 pathway is essential for vesicular trafficking from the Golgi to the plasma membrane. A side effect of GOLPH3-dependent trafficking is to generate the extended ribbon shape of the Golgi. Perturbation of the pathway results in changes to both Golgi morphology and secretion, with functional consequences for the cell. The cellular response to DNA damage provides an example of GOLPH3-mediated regulation of the Golgi. Upon DNA damage, DNA-PK phosphorylation of GOLPH3 increases binding to MYO18A, activating the GOLPH3 pathway, which consequently results in Golgi fragmentation, reduced trafficking, and enhanced cell survival. The PtdIns(4)P/GOLPH3/MYO18A/F-actin pathway provides new insight into the relationship between Golgi morphology and function, and their regulation.

Keywords: Golgi, phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate, GOLPH3, MYO18A, secretory trafficking, DNA damage, cancer, neurodegenerative disease

Introduction

In many mammalian cell types the Golgi complex appears by light microscopy as an extended ribbon that wraps partially around the nucleus. The ribbon is composed of many subresolution stacks of membrane (as observed by electron microscopy) that are linked via Golgi-associated proteins. From first principles we can conclude that the steady-state appearance of the Golgi reflects the balance of forces applied to it. Changes in the shape of the Golgi presumably reflect alterations in the balance of forces applied to the Golgi. Since at least some of the forces that are applied to the Golgi are likely to be important for its function in vesicle trafficking, changes in trafficking machinery might be expected to lead to changes in Golgi morphology. However, it is important to bear in mind that the morphology of the Golgi varies significantly across species (reviewed in Mowbrey and Dacks, 2009; Wei and Seemann, 2010), suggesting that diverse morphologies can still be fully competent for trafficking.

The GOLPH3 pathway provides a link from the trans-Golgi membrane to the actin cytoskeleton that plays a critical role in anterograde trafficking to the plasma membrane (**Figure 1**). The trans-Golgi is highly enriched in phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate (PtdIns(4)P) (Godi et al., 1999, 2004). In mammalian cells Golgi PtdIns(4)P is produced by the Golgi localized PI-4-kinases, PI-4-kinase-III β (PI4KIII β) and PI-4-kinase-II α (PI4KII α) (Wong et al., 1997; Wang et al., 2003; De Matteis et al., 2005). PtdIns(4)P levels are reduced by the action of the Golgi/ER localized PtdIns(4)P-4-phosphatase, SAC1 (Foti et al., 2001; Schorr et al., 2001). GOLPH3 localizes to the trans-Golgi via its direct interaction with PtdIns(4)P (Dippold et al., 2009). This interaction is mediated by a binding pocket on the hydrophobic face of GOLPH3. Furthermore, GOLPH3's interaction with PtdIns(4)P

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Catherine Rabouille, Hubrecht Institute of the Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Stephan Gasser, National University of Singapore, Singapore Peter Mayinger, Oregon Health & Science University, USA

*Correspondence:

Seth J. Field, Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Department of Medicine, University of California, San Diego, 9500 Gilman Drive, MC-0707, La Jolla, CA 92093, USA sjfield@ucsd.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 31 July 2015 Accepted: 22 September 2015 Published: 07 October 2015

Citation:

Buschman MD, Xing M and Field SJ (2015) The GOLPH3 pathway regulates Golgi shape and function and is activated by DNA damage. Front. Neurosci. 9:362. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00362



and its Golgi localization are conserved from yeast to humans (Dippold et al., 2009; Wood et al., 2009). GOLPH3 also binds tightly and specifically to the unconventional myosin, Myosin 18A (MYO18A) (Dippold et al., 2009; Ng et al., 2013; Taft et al., 2013; Farber-Katz et al., 2014), and MYO18A has been shown to bind to F-actin (Isogawa et al., 2005; Guzik-Lendrum et al., 2013; Taft et al., 2013). Thus, GOLPH3/MYO18A serves to link the PtdIns(4)P-rich trans-Golgi membrane to the actin cytoskeleton.

Perturbations of the GOLPH3 Pathway Alter Trafficking and Golgi Morphology

All of the components of the pathway, PtdIns(4)P, GOLPH3, MYO18A, and F-actin, are required for efficient Golgi-to-plasma membrane trafficking. PtdIns(4)P has been shown to be required for Golgi secretory function across species from yeast to humans (Hama et al., 1999; Walch-Solimena and Novick, 1999; Audhya et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2003). Likewise, GOLPH3 and MYO18A are required for Golgi-to-plasma membrane trafficking as measured by VSVG delivery to the plasma membrane (Dippold et al., 2009), total secretory flux by pulse-chase analysis (Ng et al., 2013), secretion of hepatitis C viral particles (Bishé et al., 2012), and for exit of anterograde trafficking vesicles from the Golgi (Dippold et al., 2009). Finally, F-actin has been demonstrated to be required for Golgi secretory function (Hirschberg et al., 1998; Lázaro-Diéguez et al., 2007). Taken together, the data indicate that the majority of trafficking from the Golgi to the plasma membrane depends on the PtdIns(4)P/GOLPH3/MYO18A/Factin pathway.



Depletion of PtdIns(4)P, GOLPH3, MYO18A, or F-actin results in both a defect in Golgi-to-plasma membrane trafficking and also a striking change in the morphology of the Golgi (Figure 2). The normal Golgi ribbon that extends partially around the nucleus condenses into a compact ball at one end of the nucleus upon interference with any component of the GOLPH3 pathway. For example, depletion of PtdIns(4)P by overexpression of SAC1, siRNA knockdown of GOLPH3 or MYO18A, or depolymerization of F-actin by latrunculin B, all cause Golgi compaction (Dippold et al., 2009). From this and other data (see Dippold et al., 2009) we infer that normally the GOLPH3 pathway exerts a tensile force upon the Golgi that contributes to stretching the Golgi around the nucleus. However, the fact that the GOLPH3 pathway is conserved across species, even those with dramatically different Golgi morphologies, suggests that imparting this shape is not the primary role of the pathway, but rather is a side-effect of its role in GOLPH3dependent Golgi-to-plasma membrane trafficking.

While interfering with the GOLPH3 pathway results in Golgi compaction, increasing the activity of the GOLPH3 pathway causes expansion of the Golgi (**Figure 2**). For example, mild overexpression of GOLPH3 leads to an increasingly extended Golgi ribbon. However, very high levels of overexpression of GOLPH3 result in fragmentation and dispersal of the Golgi throughout the cytoplasm (Ng et al., 2013). Likewise, an increase in PtdIns(4)P at the Golgi by knockdown of SAC1 (Liu et al., 2008) or overexpression of PI4KIII β (Hausser et al., 2005) also result in increases in GOLPH3 pathway activity lead to Golgi extension and mild increases in anterograde trafficking.

However, large increases in GOLPH3 pathway activity result in dramatic Golgi fragmentation and impaired trafficking (Ng et al., 2013; Farber-Katz et al., 2014).

Regulation of Golgi Morphology and Function via the GOLPH3 Pathway

A growing body of evidence demonstrates regulation of Golgi morphology and function via the GOLPH3 pathway (**Figure 1**). For example, growth factor signaling regulates PtdIns(4)P levels at the Golgi by regulating SAC1 localization. In response to growth factor signaling, activated p38/MAPK phosphorylates SAC1, causing it to translocate from the Golgi to the ER (Blagoveshchenskaya et al., 2008). The resulting reduction of PtdIns(4)P-4-phosphatase activity at the Golgi leads to a rise in Golgi PtdIns(4)P levels, with a consequent increase in Golgi-to-plasma membrane trafficking and extension and dispersal of the Golgi.

The Golgi is also regulated by GOLPH3L, a paralog of GOLPH3 that is expressed in highly secretory cells in vertebrates (Ng et al., 2013). GOLPH3L binds to PtdIns(4)P and localizes to the Golgi similarly to GOLPH3. However, unlike GOLPH3, GOLPH3L does not bind to MYO18A, and thus acts as an endogenous dominant-negative inhibitor of the GOLPH3 pathway. Our evidence suggests that GOLPH3L acts as a throttle in highly secretory cells to prevent overly aggressive anterograde trafficking. Correspondingly, overexpression of GOLPH3L impairs GOLPH3 pathway function, resulting in Golgi compaction and impaired Golgi-to-plasma membrane trafficking, similar to the effect of dramatic overexpression of GOLPH3.

Regulation of the Golgi by DNA Damage via the GOLPH3 Pathway

A recent study by our lab identified novel signaling that regulates the Golgi in response to DNA damage (Farber-Katz et al., 2014). We found that DNA damage triggers dramatic fragmentation and dispersal of the Golgi. The mechanism involves activation of the GOLPH3 pathway. In response to DNA damage, the DNAdamage response kinase, DNA-PK, phosphorylates GOLPH3 on a conserved TQ motif. The phosphorylation of GOLPH3, in turn, enhances its physical interaction with MYO18A, increasing GOLPH3 pathway-dependent vesiculation of the Golgi. As a consequence of this increased GOLPH3/MYO18A interaction, the Golgi undergoes dramatic fragmentation and dispersal, resulting in impaired Golgi-to-plasma membrane trafficking. Thus, DNA damage regulates Golgi shape and function by activating the GOLPH3 pathway.

DNA damage has been posited to contribute to the pathophysiology of many human diseases, including cancer (reviewed in Lord and Ashworth, 2012) and neurodegenerative diseases (reviewed in Madabhushi et al., 2014). Whether DNA

damage-induced regulation of the Golgi contributes to the pathophysiology of these diseases remains unknown.

Relationship between Golgi Morphology and Secretory Function

While perturbations of the GOLPH3 pathway result in predictable and consistent changes in both Golgi shape and secretory function, it does not follow that there is a simple relationship between morphology and function. In fact, perturbations of pathways other than the GOLPH3 pathway have been demonstrated to alter Golgi morphology without affecting secretory trafficking. For example, depolymerization of microtubules by treatment with nocodazole leads to Golgi fragmentation and dispersal (Thyberg and Moskalewski, 1999), but does not alter secretory trafficking (Hirschberg et al., 1998). Similarly, depletion of Rab29, or inhibition of Rab29 function by overexpression of the inactive mutant Rab29-T21N results in fragmentation of the Golgi (Wang et al., 2014). However, despite the dramatic change in Golgi morphology, no change is observed in trafficking of VSVG to the plasma membrane.

Thus, we conclude that there is not a simple relationship between Golgi morphology and secretory function that holds under all circumstances. Instead, the effect of a perturbation on the Golgi is dictated by the specific mechanism of the perturbation. However, for perturbations of the GOLPH3 pathway the consequences to Golgi morphology and secretory function are predictable.

Functional Consequences of Altered Golgi

Since changes in Golgi morphology do not directly relate to its trafficking function, it remains unclear whether changes in Golgi morphology always have cellular consequences. However, it seems safe to predict that perturbations of the Golgi that affect Golgi-to-plasma membrane trafficking will have consequences to the cell. The phenotypes associated with perturbation of the GOLPH3 pathway provide strong examples of the importance of Golgi-to-plasma membrane trafficking to overall cell and organismal biology. Notably, GOLPH3 is an oncogene that is frequently amplified and overexpressed in human cancers, and its increased expression predicts poor patient prognosis (Scott et al., 2009 and reviewed in Buschman et al., 2015). Furthermore, other components of the GOLPH3 pathway have been implicated in oncogenesis as well. Increased expression of PI4KIIa protein and PI4KIIIβ mRNA have been detected in cancer cells (Li et al., 2010; Curtis et al., 2012). A recent unbiased computational analysis of data from The Cancer Genome Atlas for breast cancer has identified MYO18A as a cancer driver (Sanchez-Garcia et al., 2014).

PtdIns(4)P and GOLPH3 have been demonstrated to play important roles in regulating cell motility. Knockdown of SAC1, resulting in elevated Golgi PtdIns(4)P levels, leads to increased cell migration (Tokuda et al., 2014). Conversely, knockdown of PI4KIII β , resulting in a reduction of Golgi PtdIns(4)P levels, impairs cell migration. These consequences of modulation of PtdIns(4)P levels are mediated by its downstream effector GOLPH3. Likewise, perturbation of GOLPH3 itself results in similar effects on cell migration. Increased GOLPH3 promotes cell migration and invasion, while depletion of GOLPH3 impairs cell migration (Isaji et al., 2014; Tokuda et al., 2014).

Our recent study on GOLPH3-mediated Golgi dispersal/fragmentation upon DNA damage has revealed an interesting role of the pathway in promoting cell survival (Farber-Katz et al., 2014). We have demonstrated that the GOLPH3-dependent Golgi response to DNA damage is functionally important for cell survival after DNA damage. Depletion of GOLPH3, MYO18A, or DNA-PKcs not only prevents dispersal of the Golgi, but also significantly increases apoptosis and reduces cell survival after treatment with DNAdamaging agents. Conversely, overexpression of GOLPH3 confers a survival advantage to cells after DNA damage. Importantly, this survival advantage caused by GOLPH3 overexpression requires both GOLPH3 localization to the Golgi and its phosphorylation by DNA-PK. Altered Golgi-to-plasma membrane trafficking that occurs upon Golgi fragmentation after DNA damage is believed to be important for the enhanced survival benefit provided by this pathway, although the critical cargoes have not been identified as of yet. The DNA damage response is a well-known driver of cancer progression (reviewed in Lord and Ashworth, 2012). In addition, the resilience against DNA damage conferred by overexpression of GOLPH3 has particular relevance to cancer, as most standard cancer therapeutic regimens include DNA-damaging agents. Therefore, our findings raise hope of using GOLPH3 expression levels as a clinical marker to predict responsiveness to DNA-damaging cancer therapies. Furthermore, novel agents to interfere with the GOLPH3 pathway may have therapeutic benefit when used in combination with standard DNA-damaging therapeutic agents.

Potential Role of the GOLPH3 Pathway in Neurodegenerative Disease

Whether the GOLPH3 pathway plays a role in the pathophysiology of neurodegenerative disease has not been studied. However, some of the known pathophysiology of neurodegenerative disease makes it reasonable to speculate that the GOLPH3 pathway may be involved. First, dysregulation of the Golgi is a common feature of a variety of human neurodegenerative diseases, including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, and Alzheimer's disease. The accompanying articles in this issue of Frontiers in Neuroscience provide detailed reviews of the literature implicating Golgi dysregulation in neurodegenerative disease. We note that the changes in Golgi morphology that are associated with these diseases mimic those seen with perturbations of the GOLPH3 pathway. Moreover, knockout of a Golgi-specific PI-4-kinase, PI4KII α , expected to interfere with GOLPH3 pathway function,

leads to late onset neurodegenerative disease in mice (Simons et al., 2009). These knockout mice develop cerebellar Purkinje cell loss and spinal cord axonal degeneration, which closely resembles hereditary spastic paraplegia. Thus, there is at least reason to speculate a role for the GOLPH3 pathway in neurodegenerative disease.

A second link to the GOLPH3 pathway arises from a substantial body of literature implicating the DNA damage response in neurodegenerative disease. Loss-of-function mutations in various DNA damage repair genes cause a range of neurodegenerative diseases (Madabhushi et al., 2014). For example, the DNA damage activated protein kinases ATM and ATR (paralogs of DNA-PK) are mutated in ataxia-telangectasia and ATR-Seckel syndrome, respectively (McKinnon, 2012). Recent data indicate that DNA breaks occur frequently in neurons (Madabhushi et al., 2015), bolstering the concern that dysregulated DNA damage repair may contribute to disease in neurons.

Our discovery that the Golgi is regulated in response to DNA damage via DNA-PK activation of the GOLPH3 pathway provides a plausible link between the evidence implicating DNA damage and altered Golgi function in neurodegenerative disease.

Concluding Remarks

The appearance of the Golgi, at least in part, is a consequence of the forces that act on it for vesicle trafficking. The GOLPH3 pathway, in particular, demonstrates the relationship between Golgi secretory function and Golgi morphology. As might be expected for a pathway with an important role in Golgi function, the GOLPH3 pathway is a target for regulation by multiple signals. For example, the GOLPH3 pathway is activated in response to DNA damage, with consequences for Golgi shape and trafficking function, as well as cell survival. Since many proteins depend on trafficking from the Golgi for their function, alterations in GOLPH3-dependent Golgito-plasma membrane trafficking have pleiotropic effects on cellular function, significantly impacting biology and human pathophysiology.

Funding

MB is funded by the American Cancer Society by the Lee National Denim Day Postdoctoral Fellowship Award PF-13-367-01-CDD. SF is funded by an Era of Hope Scholar Award from the Breast Cancer Research Program of the Department of Defense W81XWH-10-1-0822 and the Burroughs Wellcome Fund Career Award in the Biomedical Sciences.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Drs. Farber-Katz, Dippold, and Ng, and other members of the Field lab, past, and present, for their scientific discoveries and valuable comments on the manuscript.

References

- Audhya, A., Foti, M., and Emr, S. D. (2000). Distinct roles for the yeast phosphatidylinositol 4-kinases, Stt4p and Pik1p, in secretion, cell growth, and organelle membrane dynamics. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 11, 2673–2689. doi: 10.1091/mbc.11.8.2673
- Bishé, B., Syed, G. H., Field, S. J., and Siddiqui, A. (2012). Role of phosphatidylinositol 4-Phosphate (PI4P) and its binding protein GOLPH3 in hepatitis C virus secretion. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 27637–27647. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.346569
- Blagoveshchenskaya, A., Cheong, F. Y., Rohde, H. M., Glover, G., Knödler, A., Nicolson, T., et al. (2008). Integration of Golgi trafficking and growth factor signaling by the lipid phosphatase SAC1. J. Cell Biol. 180, 803–812. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200708109
- Buschman, M. D., Rahajeng, J., and Field, S. J. (2015). GOLPH3 links the Golgi, DNA damage, and cancer. *Cancer Res.* 75, 624–627. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3081
- Curtis, C., Shah, S. P., Chin, S.-F., Turashvili, G., Rueda, O. M., Dunning, M. J., et al. (2012). The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups. *Nature* 486, 346–352. doi: 10.1038/nature10983
- De Matteis, M. A., Di Campli, A., and Godi, A. (2005). The role of the phosphoinositides at the Golgi complex. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Mol. Cell Res.* 1744, 396–405. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2005. 04.013
- Dippold, H. C., Ng, M. M., Farber-Katz, S. E., Lee, S.-K., Kerr, M. L., Peterman, M. C., et al. (2009). GOLPH3 Bridges phosphatidylinositol-4- phosphate and actomyosin to stretch and shape the Golgi to promote budding. *Cell* 139, 337–351. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.07.052
- Farber-Katz, S. E., Dippold, H. C., Buschman, M. D., Peterman, M. C., Xing, M., Noakes, C. J., et al. (2014). DNA damage triggers Golgi dispersal via DNA-PK and GOLPH3. *Cell* 156, 413–427. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013. 12.023
- Foti, M., Audhya, A., and Emr, S. D. (2001). Sac1 lipid phosphatase and Stt4 phosphatidylinositol 4-Kinase regulate a pool of phosphatidylinositol 4-Phosphate that functions in the control of the actin cytoskeleton and vacuole morphology. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 12, 2396–2411. doi: 10.1091/mbc.12. 8.2396
- Godi, A., Di Campli, A., Konstantakopoulos, A., Di Tullio, G., Alessi, D. R., Kular, G. S., et al. (2004). FAPPs control Golgi-to-cell-surface membrane traffic by binding to ARF and PtdIns(4)P. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 6, 393–404. doi: 10.1038/ncb1119
- Godi, A., Pertile, P., Meyers, R., Marra, P., Di Tullio, G., Iurisci, C., et al. (1999). ARF mediates recruitment of PtdIns-4-OH kinase- β and stimulates synthesis of PtdIns(4,5)P2 on the Golgi complex. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 1, 280–287. doi: 10.1038/12993
- Guzik-Lendrum, S., Heissler, S. M., Billington, N., Takagi, Y., Yang, Y., Knight, P. J., et al. (2013). Mammalian Myosin-18A, a highly divergent myosin. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 9532–9548. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112. 441238
- Hama, H., Schnieders, E. A., Thorner, J., Takemoto, J. Y., and DeWald, D. B. (1999). Direct involvement of phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate in secretion in the yeast saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 34294–34300. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.48.34294
- Hausser, A., Storz, P., Märtens, S., Link, G., Toker, A., and Pfizenmaier, K. (2005). Protein kinase D regulates vesicular transport by phosphorylating and activating phosphatidylinositol-4 kinase IIIβ at the Golgi complex. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 7, 880–886. doi: 10.1038/ncb1289
- Hirschberg, K., Miller, C. M., Ellenberg, J., Presley, J. F., Siggia, E. D., Phair, R. D., et al. (1998). Kinetic analysis of secretory protein traffic and characterization of Golgi to plasma membrane transport intermediates in living cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 143, 1485–1503. doi: 10.1083/jcb.143.6.1485
- Isaji, T., Im, S., Gu, W., Wang, Y., Hang, Q., Lu, J., et al. (2014). An oncogenic protein Golgi phosphoprotein 3 up-regulates cell migration via sialylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 20694–20705. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113. 542688
- Isogawa, Y., Kon, T., Inoue, T., Ohkura, R., Yamakawa, H., Ohara, O., et al. (2005). The N-terminal domain of MYO18A has an ATP-insensitive

actin-binding site†. *Biochemistry* 44, 6190–6196. doi: 10.1021/bi04 75931

- Lázaro-Diéguez, F., Colonna, C., Cortegano, M., Calvo, M., Martínez, S. E., and Egea, G. (2007). Variable actin dynamics requirement for the exit of different cargo from the trans-Golgi network. *FEBS Lett.* 581, 3875–3881. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2007.07.015
- Li, J., Lu, Y., Zhang, J., Kang, H., Qin, Z., and Chen, C. (2010). PI4KII α is a novel regulator of tumor growth by its action on angiogenesis and HIF-1 α regulation. *Oncogene* 29, 2550–2559. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.14
- Liu, Y., Boukhelifa, M., Tribble, E., Morin-Kensicki, E., Uetrecht, A., Bear, J. E., et al. (2008). The Sac1 phosphoinositide phosphatase regulates Golgi membrane morphology and mitotic spindle organization in mammals. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 3080–3096. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-12-1290
- Lord, C. J., and Ashworth, A. (2012). The DNA damage response and cancer therapy. *Nature* 481, 287–294. doi: 10.1038/nature10760
- Madabhushi, R., Gao, F., Pfenning, A. R., Pan, L., Yamakawa, S., Seo, J., et al. (2015). Activity-induced DNA breaks govern the expression of neuronal early-response genes. *Cell* 161, 1592–1605. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.032
- Madabhushi, R., Pan, L., and Tsai, L.-H. (2014). DNA damage and its links to neurodegeneration. *Neuron* 83, 266–282. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014. 06.034
- McKinnon, P. J. (2012). ATM and the molecular pathogenesis of *ataxia* telangiectasia. Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis. 7, 303–321. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-011811-132509
- Mowbrey, K., and Dacks, J. B. (2009). Evolution and diversity of the Golgi body. FEBS Lett. 583, 3738–3745. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.10.025
- Ng, M. M., Dippold, H. C., Buschman, M. D., Noakes, C. J., and Field, S. J. (2013). GOLPH3L antagonizes GOLPH3 to determine Golgi morphology. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 24, 796–808. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E12-07-0525
- Sanchez-Garcia, F., Villagrasa, P., Matsui, J., Kotliar, D., Castro, V., Akavia, U.-D., et al. (2014). Integration of genomic data enables selective discovery of breast cancer drivers. *Cell* 159, 1461–1475. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014. 10.048
- Schorr, M., Then, A., Tahirovic, S., Hug, N., and Mayinger, P. (2001). The phosphoinositide phosphatase Sac1p controls trafficking of the yeast Chs3p chitin synthase. *Curr. Biol.* 11, 1421–1426. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(01) 00449-3
- Scott, K. L., Kabbarah, O., Liang, M.-C., Ivanova, E., Anagnostou, V., Wu, J., et al. (2009). GOLPH3 modulates mTOR signalling and rapamycin sensitivity in cancer. *Nature* 459, 1085–1090. doi: 10.1038/nature 08109
- Simons, J. P., Al-Shawi, R., Minogue, S., Waugh, M. G., Wiedemann, C., Evangelou, S., et al. (2009). Loss of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase 2α activity causes late onset degeneration of spinal cord axons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 11535–11539. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903011106
- Taft, M. H., Behrmann, E., Munske-Weidemann, L.-C., Thiel, C., Raunser, S., and Manstein, D. J. (2013). Functional characterization of human myosin-18A and its interaction with F-actin and GOLPH3. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 30029–30041. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.497180
- Thyberg, J., and Moskalewski, S. (1999). Role of microtubules in the organization of the Golgi complex. *Exp. Cell Res.* 246, 263–279. doi: 10.1006/excr. 1998.4326
- Tokuda, E., Itoh, T., Hasegawa, J., Ijuin, T., Takeuchi, Y., Irino, Y., et al. (2014). Phosphatidylinositol 4-Phosphate in the Golgi apparatus regulates cell-cell adhesion and invasive cell migration in human breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 74, 3054–3066. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2441
- Walch-Solimena, C., and Novick, P. (1999). The yeast phosphatidylinositol-4-OH kinase Pik1 regulates secretion at the Golgi. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 1, 523–525. doi: 10.1038/70319
- Wang, S., Ma, Z., Xu, X., Wang, Z., Sun, L., Zhou, Y., et al. (2014). A role of Rab29 in the integrity of the trans-Golgi network and retrograde trafficking of mannose-6-phosphate receptor. *PLoS ONE* 9:e96242. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0096242
- Wang, Y. J., Wang, J., Sun, H. Q., Martinez, M., Sun, Y. X., Macia, E., et al. (2003). Phosphatidylinositol 4 phosphate regulates targeting of clathrin adaptor AP-1 complexes to the Golgi. *Cell* 114, 299–310. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03) 00603-2

- Wei, J.-H., and Seemann, J. (2010). Unraveling the Golgi ribbon. *Traffic Cph. Den.* 11, 1391–1400. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2010. 01114.x
- Wong, K., Meyers, R., and Cantley, L. C. (1997). Subcellular locations of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase isoforms. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 13236–13241. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.20.13236
- Wood, C. S., Schmitz, K. R., Bessman, N. J., Setty, T. G., Ferguson, K. M., and Burd, C. G. (2009). PtdIns4P recognition by Vps74/GOLPH3 links PtdIns 4kinase signaling to retrograde Golgi trafficking. *J. Cell Biol.* 187, 967–975. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200909063

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Buschman, Xing and Field. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Golgi complex in stress and death

Carolyn E. Machamer*

Department of Cell Biology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

The Golgi complex is a central organelle of the secretory pathway where sorting and processing of cargo occurs. While Golgi structure is important for the efficient processing of secretory cargo, the unusual organization suggests additional potential functions. The Golgi is disassembled after various cellular stresses, and we hypothesize that Golgi disassembly activates a stress signaling pathway. This pathway would function to correct the stress if possible, with irreparable stress resulting in apoptosis. Neurons appear to be particularly sensitive to Golgi stress; early disassembly of the organelle correlates with many neurodegenerative diseases. Here, Golgi stress and potential signaling pathways to the nucleus are reviewed.

Keywords: Golgi complex, disassembly, stress, apoptosis, signaling

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Catherine Rabouille, Hubrecht Institute of the Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Hiderou Yoshida, University of Hyogo, Japan Joachim Seemann, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, USA Philip Woodman, University of Manchester, UK

*Correspondence: Carolyn F. Machamer

machamer@jhmi.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 21 August 2015 Accepted: 19 October 2015 Published: 06 November 2015

Citation:

Machamer CE (2015) The Golgi complex in stress and death. Front. Neurosci. 9:421. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00421

GOLGI STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION

The Golgi complex plays a central role in processing and sorting of biosynthetic cargo in all eukaryotic cells. In mammals, the Golgi complex consists of sets of flattened cisternal membranes arranged in stacks with associated tubules and vesicles, which are usually collected at the microtubule organizing center (MTOC) in a ribbon structure (Klumperman, 2011). This structure is not essential for the known functions of the Golgi, and may suggest additional functions. Golgi structure is also quite dynamic; the organelle is disassembled at mitosis and then reassembled (Wang and Seemann, 2011). The organelle can also accommodate cargo of different shapes and sizes (Machamer, 2013). We previously hypothesized that mammalian Golgi organization may have evolved in part to sense and transduce specific stress signals to the nucleus (Hicks and Machamer, 2005).

Golgi structure in mammalian cells is maintained by the cytoskeleton, and GRASPs and golgins (**Figure 1A**). GRASP65 and GRASP55 form homo- or hetero-oligomers and mediate stacking and can contribute to the Golgi ribbon structure (Ramirez and Lowe, 2009; Xiang and Wang, 2010). The golgin family comprises a group of peripheral Golgi membrane proteins with long coiled coil domains. Some golgins are vesicle tethers, some function in Golgi stack structure, and others may be involved in trafficking of specific cargo molecules (Munro, 2011). Disassembly of the Golgi in mitosis or apoptosis results from reversible phosphorylation of GRASPs and golgins or irreversible cleavage, respectively.

GOLGI DISASSEMBLY AND STRESS

Golgi fragmentation is commonly observed in cells subjected to "stress," including pharmacological and oxidative stress. Fragmentation can be the result of perturbation of microtubules, or phosphorylation or cleavage of Golgi structural proteins. Golgi stacks can be dispersed (mini-stacks) or completely disassembled, depending on the perturbation



caspase-2 cleaves select golgins, and fragments enter the nucleus to perform an unknown function. (3) Phosphorylation of GRASPs and golgins or their cleavage can result in a more complete disassembly of the Golgi, although the consequences for signaling to the nucleus are unknown. (C) With irreparable stress, the Golgi is completely disassembled as the cell undergoes apoptosis.

(Figure 1B). Although the term "Golgi stress" has been frequently used in the literature (e.g., Jiang et al., 2011; Oku et al., 2011; Reiling et al., 2013), there is no clear understanding of what Golgi stress entails. Can Golgi stress be activated in the absence of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress? Similar to the

well-documented unfolded protein response in the ER (Walter and Ron, 2011), a Golgi stress response pathway should serve to help alleviate the stress, and only result in cell death if the stress is irreparable (**Figure 1C**). Pharmacological inhibitors of glycosyltransferases, glycosidases, proton and calcium pumps, and perturbation of luminal pH have all been shown to alter the structure of the Golgi complex. High levels of cargo or large cargo passing through the Golgi may be the most physiological type of stress. But do any of these insults result in outcomes that would help eliminate the stress?

One of the most extensively studied types of cellular stress is pro-apoptotic stress. In apoptosis, extrinsic, or intrinsic pathways lead to programmed disassembly of the cell. Cysteine proteases called caspases are activated and cleave a select set of cellular proteins during programmed cell death. Different types of stress activate specific initiator caspases, which then activate effector caspases (Boatright and Salvesen, 2003). Not all caspases are involved in cell death however.

We previously reported that procaspase-2 is partially localized at the cytoplasmic face of the Golgi complex (Mancini et al., 2000), and golgin-160 and several other golgins are caspase-2 substrates (Mancini et al., 2000; Lowe et al., 2004). Caspase cleavage of golgin-160 is predicted to inhibit its function in promoting efficient trafficking of specific cargo molecules (Bundis et al., 2006; Hicks et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2006). Caspase-2 is an unusual caspase in that it possesses a long prodomain like inititator caspases, but does not activate effector caspases (Fava et al., 2012). Recent evidence suggests nonapoptotic roles for caspase-2 in maintaining genome stability, checkpoint regulation in the cell cycle, response to oxidative stress, tumor suppression and in aging (Olsson et al., 2015).

Another stress that acts at the Golgi complex is inhibition of O-glycosylation. It was shown that treatment of fibroblasts with benzyl 2-acetamido-2-deoxy-a-d-galactopyranoside (GalNAcbn) to inhibit this post-translational modification induced upregulation of HSP47, an ER chaperone (Miyata et al., 2013). HSP47 apparently protects cells from Golgi fragmentation and death when O-glycosylation is blocked because knock-down of HSP47 in GalNAc-bn treated cells led to Golgi vacuolization and eventual apoptosis. Interestingly, caspase-2 appears to be activated here as well. The mechanism by which HSP47 leads to protection is unknown, but it has been reported to be a collagenspecific chaperone (Mala and Rose, 2010). HSP47 may regulate the level of this abundant secretory protein that enters the Golgi, whereas in its absence collagen might accumulate in the Golgi when it cannot be O-glycosylated, resulting in Golgi structural perturbations and eventual apoptosis.

GOLGI-NUCLEUS SIGNALING PATHWAYS

Signals from the nucleus can lead to phosphorylation of Golgi proteins and subsequent Golgi disassembly. For example, GOLPH3 is an oncogene that is upregulated in a number of cancers. It is a peripheral Golgi protein that binds phosphoinositol-4-phosphate at the *trans*-Golgi as well as the myosin Myo18A (Dippold et al., 2009). Normal Golgi ribbon structure is maintained in part by interaction of the Myo18A-GOLPH3 complex with actin, which keeps the ribbon extended. DNA damage results in Golgi fragmentation, which was shown to occur through phosphorylation of GOLPH3 by DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK). Phosphorylated GOLPH3 interacts more strongly with Myo18A and thus leads to Golgi dispersal

(Farber-Katz et al., 2014). Although this dispersal leads to a reduction in cargo traffic through the Golgi, it is not yet clear how this connects to DNA damage or cell survival. Since DNA-PK can activate caspase-2 (Shi et al., 2009), it will be important to determine if caspase-2 cleavage of Golgi proteins contributes to this response.

But can signals from the Golgi lead to changes in gene expression in the nucleus? Membrane-anchored transcription factors can be released from Golgi membranes by site 1 and 2 proteases (Fox and Andrew, 2015), allowing nuclear translocation and transcription of specific genes. However, these transcription factors are trafficked to the Golgi by specific events signaled in the ER. Several golgins contain cryptic nuclear localization signals, and fragments of these proteins (generated by caspases or other proteases) can be targeted to the nucleus. But to date, none of these fragments has been shown to induce gene expression that might alter Golgi function. A caspase cleavage fragment of p115, a vesicle tethering protein localized at the cis-Golgi, is targeted to the nucleus and promotes cell death in a p53dependent pathway (Chiu et al., 2002; How and Shields, 2011). However, cleavage of p115 is not observed in all pro-apoptotic settings (Lowe et al., 2004).

A cryptic nuclear localization signal is present in a fragment of golgin-160 generated by caspase-2 cleavage, and this fragment accumulates in the nucleus when expressed exogenously (Hicks and Machamer, 2002). We hypothesized that Golgi stress leads to low levels of caspase-2 activation, and that the nuclear fragments of golgin-160 participate in a stress repair pathway (Hicks and Machamer, 2005). The nuclear fragments do not resemble transcription factors per se, so may serve as transcriptional enhancers or repressors. Interestingly, cells expressing caspaseresistant golgin-160 were less sensitive to apoptosis induced by ER stress and death receptor ligation compared to cells expressing wild-type golgin-160. However, these cells responded normally to other pro-apoptotic stresses (Maag et al., 2005). Our recent data support the idea that the stable lines expressing caspase-resistant golgin-160 adapted during selection because a block in golgin-160 cleavage prevented normal response to stress. Although it is interesting that only stress within the secretory pathway depends on golgin-160 cleavage, we still lack direct evidence that golgin-160 is cleaved during Golgi stress and mediates subsequent changes in gene expression.

Extended treatment with the ionophore monensin was shown to increase the levels of certain Golgi glycosylation enzymes and vesicle transport components (Oku et al., 2011). Monensin collapses sodium and proton gradients, and thus raises the pH and induces swelling of low pH compartments, including the Golgi complex. The authors identified a "Golgi apparatus stress element" (GASE) in the promoters of several Golgi resident proteins that was required for their upregulation. Further work identified TFE3, a basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor, which binds to the GASE (Taniguchi et al., 2015). They showed that under normal growth conditions, TFE3 was phosphorylated and remained cytoplasmic, but after monensin treatment, TFE3 was dephosphorylated and it was transported to the nucleus. The signaling pathway resulting in dephosphoylation of TFE3 remains to be determined. Nuclear translocation of TFE3 and transcription of GASE-containing genes was also activated when proteoglycan synthesis was inhibited or the CMP-sialic acid transporter was depleted (Taniguchi et al., 2015), suggesting that TFE3 regulation of Golgi homeostasis involves glycosylation. It will be interesting to see if this pathway is activated by increased flux of cargo during differentiation of secretory cells or trafficking of large cargo, or if different regions of the Golgi activate different stress response pathways, as recently proposed (Sasaki and Yoshida, 2015).

Another signaling pathway recently identified that may impact Golgi stress due to pathogen infection involves ADPribosylation factor (ARF)-4 and the transcription factor CREB3 (Reiling et al., 2013). Originally identified through a screen for brefeldin A-resistance, ARF4 levels increase when cells are exposed to Golgi disrupting treatments, and this requires the CREB3 transcription factor. Cells depleted of ARF4 or CREB3 contain increased levels of ARF1, 3, and 5, and are more resistant to infection with Chlamydia and Shigella. These results suggest that ARF4 may be induced by infection with these pathogenic bacteria to promote Golgi structural rearrangements required for efficient growth. How Golgi perturbation activates CREB3 is unknown. An earlier finding of caspase-2 involvement in infection with pathogenic bacteria is also intriguing in this light (Jesenberger et al., 2000).

GOLGI DISRUPTION IN NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES

Golgi fragmentation has been observed for decades in neurons from patients and in animal models of neurodegenerative diseases, including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Alzheimer's disease, Creutzfeld-Jacob disease and spinocerebellar ataxia type 2 (Gonatas et al., 2006). But does the fragmentation induce neuron dysfunction or is it simply a downsteam effect? Most evidence suggests that Golgi disruption occurs prior to cell death or disease phenotypes. In cortical neurons undergoing excitotoxicity or oxidative or nitrosyl stress, Golgi fragmentation precedes cell death, and both fragmentation and death could be blocked when Golgi structure was rescued with expression of a C-terminal GRASP65 fragment (Nakagomi et al., 2008). The C-terminal GRASP65 fragment allows formation of GRASP oligomers but cannot be phosphorylated, which is required for disassembly. Golgi fragmentation usually results in decreased or blocked trafficking to the cell surface. This would be expected to impair cellular function and could contribute to apoptosis.

In cell and animal models of Alzheimer's disease, increased A β processing from the amyloid precursor protein (APP) leads to Golgi fragmentation before cell death (Gonatas et al., 2006). A recent study shows that phosphorylation of GRASP65 by Cdk5 activated by A β (possibly through calcium signaling) results in reversible disassembly of the Golgi complex (Joshi et al., 2014). By contrast to other situations where Golgi fragmentation results

in decreased cargo trafficking, the Wang group has shown that A β -induced fragmentation actually increases cargo trafficking. This results either directly or indirectly in positive feedback, where production of A β is increased and thus increases Golgi fragmentation. However, increased A β processing may block further accumulation of A β . It was recently shown that the intracellular domain of APP (released after A β processing and translocated to the nucleus) leads to reduced levels of machinery required for APP trafficking out of the Golgi, and thus reduced production of A β (Ceglia et al., 2015). Clearly, there is still much to learn about the role of the Golgi complex in Alzheimer's disease.

ACBD3 (also known as GCP60) is upregulated in cell culture models expressing the huntingtin (Htt) protein with expanded polyglutamine repeats, as well as in the brains of mice that model Huntington disease and in the striatum of Huntington's patients (Sbodio et al., 2013). ACBD3 is a ubiquitous peripheral Golgi protein that interacts with golgins and may regulate trafficking of fragments of golgin-160 generated by caspase cleavage (Sbodio et al., 2006). Interestingly, as mentioned above, ACBD3 is one of the genes shown to be upregulated by Golgi stress induced by monensin (Oku et al., 2011), which requires TFE3 (Taniguchi et al., 2015). In striatal neurons, increased levels of ACBD3 may lead to increased neurotoxicity due to its interaction with both Rhes and Htt. Rhes is a small G protein that is associated with Htt pathogenicity. Rhes is specifically expressed in the striatum (unlike Htt, which is widely expressed) and is thus thought to limit the site of degeneration in Huntington's disease to this region of the brain. Caspase-2 cleavage of Htt has also been implicated in pathology (Hermel et al., 2004). It will be interesting to see if any other binding partners of ACBD3 and caspase-2 cleavage at the Golgi are involved in Huntington's pathology.

OUTLOOK

Elucidation of the types of stresses that originate at the Golgi complex as well as the resulting signaling pathways will be required for a complete understanding of the role of this important organelle in neurodegeneration as well as other diseases. The identification of transcription factors that respond to Golgi stress, such as TFE3 and CREB3, will greatly aid the dissection of the signaling pathways. Determining how perturbation of Golgi structure and cleavage fragments of Golgi structural proteins influence gene expression is crucial. Finally, the consequences of Golgi fragmentation on cell homeostasis, including membrane traffic, need to be assessed for each type of Golgi stress uncovered.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Work from the author's lab cited here was supported by the National Institutes of Health (R01 GM42522).

REFERENCES

- Boatright, K. M., and Salvesen, G. S. (2003). Mechanisms of caspase activation. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 15, 725–731. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2003.10.009
- Bundis, F., Neagoe, I., Schwappach, B., and Steinmeyer, K. (2006). Involvement of Golgin-160 in cell surface transport of renal ROMK channel: co-expression of Golgin-160 increases ROMK currents. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 17, 1–12. doi: 10.1159/000091454
- Ceglia, I., Reitz, C., Gresack, J., Ahn, J. H., Bustos, V., Bleck, M., et al. (2015). APP intracellular domain-WAVE1 pathway reduces amyloid-beta production. *Nat. Med.* 21, 1054–1059. doi: 10.1038/nm.3924
- Chiu, R., Novikov, L., Mukherjee, S., and Shields, D. (2002). A caspase cleavage fragment of p115 induces fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus and apoptosis. *J. Cell Biol.* 159, 637–648. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200208013
- Dippold, H. C., Ng, M. M., Farber-Katz, S. E., Lee, S. K., Kerr, M. L., Peterman, M. C., et al. (2009). GOLPH3 bridges phosphatidylinositol-4- phosphate and actomyosin to stretch and shape the Golgi to promote budding. *Cell* 139, 337–351. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.07.052
- Farber-Katz, S. E., Dippold, H. C., Buschman, M. D., Peterman, M. C., Xing, M., Noakes, C. J., et al. (2014). DNA damage triggers Golgi dispersal via DNA-PK and GOLPH3. *Cell* 156, 413–427. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.023
- Fava, L. L., Bock, F. J., Geley, S., and Villunger, A. (2012). Caspase-2 at a glance. J. Cell Sci. 125, 5911–5915. doi: 10.1242/jcs.115105
- Fox, R. M., and Andrew, D. J. (2015). Transcriptional regulation of secretory capacity by bZip transcription factors. *Front. Biol. (Beijing)*. 10, 28–51. doi: 10.1007/s11515-014-1338-7
- Gonatas, N. K., Stieber, A., and Gonatas, J. O. (2006). Fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus in neurodegenerative diseases and cell death. J. Neurol. Sci. 246, 21–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2006.01.019
- Hermel, E., Gafni, J., Propp, S. S., Leavitt, B. R., Wellington, C. L., Young, J. E., et al. (2004). Specific caspase interactions and amplification are involved in selective neuronal vulnerability in Huntington's disease. *Cell Death Differ*. 11, 424–438. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4401358
- Hicks, S. W., Horn, T. A., McCaffery, J. M., Zuckerman, D. M., and Machamer, C.
 E. (2006). Golgin-160 promotes cell surface expression of the Beta-1 adrenergic receptor. *Traffic* 7, 1666–1677. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2006.00504.x
- Hicks, S. W., and Machamer, C. E. (2002). The NH2-terminal domain of Golgin-160 contains both Golgi and nuclear targeting information. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 35833–35839. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M206280200
- Hicks, S. W., and Machamer, C. E. (2005). Golgi structure in stress sensing and apoptosis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1744, 406–414. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2005.03.002
- How, P. C., and Shields, D. (2011). Tethering function of the caspase cleavage fragment of Golgi protein p115 promotes apoptosis via a p53-dependent pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 8565–8576. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.175174
- Jesenberger, V., Procyk, K. J., Yuan, J., Reipert, S., and Baccarini, M. (2000). Salmonella-induced caspase-2 activation in macrophages: a novel mechanism in pathogen-mediated apoptosis. J. Exp. Med. 192, 1035–1046. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.7.1035
- Jiang, Z., Hu, Z., Zeng, L., Lu, W., Zhang, H., Li, T., et al. (2011). The role of the Golgi apparatus in oxidative stress: is this organelle less significant than mitochondria? *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 50, 907–917. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.01.011
- Joshi, G., Chi, Y., Huang, Z., and Wang, Y. (2014). Abeta-induced Golgi fragmentation in Alzheimer's disease enhances Abeta production. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, E1230–E1239. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1320192111
- Klumperman, J. (2011). Architecture of the mammalian Golgi. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 3:a005181. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005181
- Lowe, M., Lane, J. D., Woodman, P. G., and Allan, V. J. (2004). Caspase-mediated cleavage of syntaxin 5 and giantin accompanies inhibition of secretory traffic during apoptosis. J. Cell Sci. 117, 1139–1150. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00950
- Maag, R. S., Mancini, M., Rosen, A., and Machamer, C. E. (2005). Caspase-resistant Golgin-160 disrupts apoptosis induced by secretory pathway stress and ligation of death receptors. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 16, 3019–3027. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E04-11-0971
- Machamer, C. E. (2013). Accommodation of large cargo within Golgi cisternae. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 140, 261–269. doi: 10.1007/s00418-013-1120-y

- Mala, J. G., and Rose, C. (2010). Interactions of heat shock protein 47 with collagen and the stress response: an unconventional chaperone model? *Life Sci.* 87, 579–586. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2010.09.024
- Mancini, M., Machamer, C. E., Roy, S., Nicholson, D. W., Thornberry, N. A., Casciola-Rosen, L. A., et al. (2000). Caspase-2 is localized at the Golgi complex and cleaves golgin-160 during apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. 149, 603–612. doi: 10.1083/jcb.149.3.603
- Miyata, S., Mizuno, T., Koyama, Y., Katayama, T., and Tohyama, M. (2013). The endoplasmic reticulum-resident chaperone heat shock protein 47 protects the Golgi apparatus from the effects of O-glycosylation inhibition. *PLoS ONE* 8:e69732. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069732
- Munro, S. (2011). The golgin coiled-coil proteins of the Golgi apparatus. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3:a005256. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005256
- Nakagomi, S., Barsoum, M. J., Bossy-Wetzel, E., Sütterlin, C., Malhotra, V., and Lipton, S. A. (2008). A Golgi fragmentation pathway in neurodegeneration. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 29, 221–231. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2007.08.015
- Oku, M., Tanakura, S., Uemura, A., Sohda, M., Misumi, Y., Taniguchi, M., et al. (2011). Novel cis-acting element GASE regulates transcriptional induction by the Golgi stress response. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 36, 1–12. doi: 10.1247/csf.10014
- Olsson, M., Forsberg, J., and Zhivotovsky, B. (2015). Caspase-2: the reinvented enzyme. Oncogene 34, 1877–1882. doi: 10.1038/onc.2014.139
- Ramirez, I. B., and Lowe, M. (2009). Golgins and GRASPs: holding the Golgi together. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 770–779. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2009.03.011
- Reiling, J. H., Olive, A. J., Sanyal, S., Carette, J. E., Brummelkamp, T. R., Ploegh, H. L., et al. (2013). A CREB3-ARF4 signalling pathway mediates the response to Golgi stress and susceptibility to pathogens. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 1473–1485. doi: 10.1038/ncb2865
- Sasaki, K., and Yoshida, H. (2015). Organelle autoregulation-stress responses in the ER, Golgi, mitochondria and lysosome. J. Biochem. 157, 185–195. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvv010
- Sbodio, J. I., Hicks, S. W., Simon, D., and Machamer, C. E. (2006). GCP60 preferentially interacts with a caspase-generated golgin-160 fragment. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 27924–27931. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M603276200
- Sbodio, J. I., Paul, B. D., Machamer, C. E., and Snyder, S. H. (2013). Golgi protein ACBD3 mediates neurotoxicity associated with Huntington's Disease. *Cell Rep.* 4, 890–897. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.08.001
- Shi, M., Vivian, C. J., Lee, K. J., Ge, C., Morotomi-Yano, K., Manzl, C., et al. (2009). DNA-PKcs-PIDDosome: a nuclear caspase-2-activating complex with role in G2/M checkpoint maintenance. *Cell* 136, 508–520. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.12.021
- Taniguchi, M., Nadanaka, S., Tanakura, S., Sawaguchi, S., Midori, S., Kawai, Y., et al. (2015). TFE3 is a bHLH-ZIP-type transcription factor that regulates the mammalian Golgi stress response. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 40, 13–30. doi: 10.1247/csf.14015
- Walter, P., and Ron, D. (2011). The unfolded protein response: from stress pathway to homeostatic regulation. *Science* 334, 1081–1086. doi: 10.1126/science.1209038
- Wang, Y., and Seemann, J. (2011). Golgi biogenesis. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3:a005330. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005330
- Williams, D., Hicks, S. W., Machamer, C. E., and Pessin, J. E. (2006). Golgin-160 Is Required for the Golgi Membrane Sorting of the Insulin-responsive Glucose Transporter GLUT4 in Adipocytes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 17, 5346–5355. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E06-05-0386
- Xiang, Y., and Wang, Y. (2010). GRASP55 and GRASP65 play complementary and essential roles in Golgi cisternal stacking. J. Cell Biol. 188, 237–251. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200907132

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Machamer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

ADVANTAGES OF PUBLISHING IN FRONTIERS



FAST PUBLICATION Average 90 days from submission to publication



COLLABORATIVE PEER-REVIEW

Designed to be rigorous – yet also collaborative, fair and constructive



RESEARCH NETWORK Our network increases readership for your article



OPEN ACCESS

Articles are free to read, for greatest visibility



TRANSPARENT

Editors and reviewers acknowledged by name on published articles



GLOBAL SPREAD Six million monthly page views worldwide



COPYRIGHT TO AUTHORS

No limit to article distribution and re-use



IMPACT METRICS Advanced metrics track your article's impact



SUPPORT By our Swiss-based editorial team



EPFL Innovation Park · Building I · 1015 Lausanne · Switzerland T +41 21 510 17 00 · info@frontiersin.org · frontiersin.org